
 

 

  
 
 

 
 

 
GLADSTONE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
CIVIC CENTER COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

February 13, 2024 – 6:30 PM  
6:30 p.m. - CALL TO ORDER  
  

The City of Gladstone is abiding by guidelines set forth in House Bill 2560, which requires the governing body of the public body, to 
extent reasonably possible, to make all meetings accessible remotely through technological means and provide opportunity for 
members of general public to remotely submit oral and written testimony during meetings to extent in-person oral and written 
testimony is allowed. Therefore, this meeting will be open to the public both in person and virtually using the Zoom platform. 
 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89083783910?pwd=QaDWdaP8s41EmIF8_GLaMxpnJulsqw.3iSMu8bCBtWQcR_8  
 
Passcode: 101879 
Or One tap mobile :  +17193594580,,89083783910#,,,,*101879# US;  +17207072699,,89083783910#,,,,*101879# US (Denver) 
 
Or Telephone: 
    Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 
    +1 719 359 4580 US;  +1 720 707 2699 US (Denver) 
 
Webinar ID: 890 8378 3910 
Passcode: 101879 
 
If members of the public would like to comment on an agenda item (either virtually or in person) please email your comments to 
bannick@ci.gladstone.or.us prior to 12:00 p.m. (noon) on February 13, 2024. Individuals attending in person may submit a speaker 
card to the City Recorder prior to the beginning of the meeting. Comments are limited to three (3) minutes. 
 
The City Council will also have Gladstone City Event Announcements during the meeting and Business from the Audience at the end 
of the meeting. To speak during either time, (virtually or in person) please email bannick@ci.gladstone.or.us prior to 12:00 p.m. (noon) 
on February 13, 2024 with your name, topic of discussion and city of residence. Individuals attending in person may submit a speaker 
card to the City Recorder prior to the beginning of the meeting. Comments are limited to three (3) minutes. 
 
ROLL CALL 
FLAG SALUTE 
 
INTRODUCTION – Oath of Office Administered to new Police Officer Oscar Zacarias-Paz and the pinning of 
the badge 
 
AGENDA ADDITIONS OR CORRECTIONS 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
1. Approval of January 9, 2024 Regular Minutes  
2. Approval of  December Bank Balances 
3. Budget Report for Period ending 12-31-2023 
4. Approval of December Check Register  
5. Legal costs for November 2023 
6. Department Head Monthly Reports for January 2024 
 



 

 

CORRESPONDENCE: None 
 
7. REPORT – CITY OF GLADSTONE INCLEMENT WEATHER EVENT DEBRIEF 

City Administrator Betz, Police Chief Schmerber, and Public Works Director Caniparoli will provide a debrief from 
the inclement weather event that occurred January 12-19, 2024 (no attachments) 
 

8. REPORT – CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT UPDATE – Assistant Fire Chief Brian Stewart & Captain Greg 
Ledoux 
 

9. REPORT – 2023 GLADSTONE LIBRARY REPORT – Mitzi Olson – Library Manager & Project Manager Jason 
Varga 
 

10. GLADSTONE CITY EVENT ANNOUNCEMENTS 
This is an opportunity for members of the audience to bring to the Council’s attention any upcoming city events otherwise not listed on the Agenda. Comments 
will be limited to three (3) minutes per person. Speakers may not yield their time to others and must fill out a speaker card available in the back of the room prior 
to making a comment. 

 
REGULAR AGENDA: 

 
11. 2022-2023 FISCAL AUDIT FOR CITY OF GLADSTONE  

Consider acceptance of the 2022-2023 Fiscal Audit  
 
ADJOURN TO GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY MEETING 
 

12. APPROVAL OF JUNE 13, 2023 URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY MINUTES 
 

13. 2022-2023 FISCAL AUDIT FOR GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
Consider acceptance of the 2022-2023 Fiscal Audit for Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency 

ADJOURN 
 

RECONVENE TO REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

14. GLADSTONE INFRASTRUCTURE INFILTRATION AND INFILL REDUCTION PROGRAM 
CONTRACT, PHASE 1 AND PHASE 2 
Consider awarding a public improvement contract to Braun Construction & Design LLC in the amount of 
$1,679,418.75 to complete Phase 1 & 2 of the Gladstone Infiltration and Infill Reduction Program.  
 

15. APPOINTMENTS TO THE GLADSTONE TOWN CENTER STAKEHOLDER ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Consider making appointments to the Gladstone Town Center Stakeholder Advisory Committee 
 

16. RECOMMENDATION FROM THE PARK & RECREATION ADVISORY BOARD REGARDING METRO 
LOCAL SHARE FUNDING PRIORITIES 
Consider approving the recommendation from the Park & Recreation Advisory Board regarding Metro Local 
Share Funding Priorities. 
 

17. METRO’S NATURE IN NEIGHBORHOOD GRANT FOR ALL-INCLUSIVE BIRD BLIND 
Consider endorsing Friends of Gladstone Nature Park’s (FOGNAP) request to apply for Metro’s Nature in 
Neighborhood Grant for an all-inclusive bird blind 
 

BUSINESS CARRIED FORWARD  
 
BUSINESS FROM THE AUDIENCE 
Visitors: This is an opportunity for members of the audience to bring to the Council’s attention any item not otherwise listed on the Agenda. Comments will be limited 
to three (3) minutes per person. Speakers may not yield their time to others and must fill out a speaker card available in the back of the room prior to making a 
comment. 



 

 

 
BUSINESS FROM THE COUNCIL    
 
COUNCIL AGENDA PLANNING DOCUMENT 
 
ADJOURN 

 
Upcoming Meeting Dates: 

 February 27, 2024 – City Council Work Session – 5:30 p.m. 
 March 12, 2024 – City Council Regular Meeting – 6:30 p.m. 

 
MEETING ACCESSIBILITY SERVICES AND AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) NOTICE 

The Civic Center is ADA accessible.  Hearing devices may be requested from the City Recorder at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 
Individuals requiring other assistance must make their request known 48 hours preceding the meeting by contacting the City Recorder 
at bannick@ci.gladstone.or.us. Staff will do their best to respond in a timely manner and to accommodate requests.    





February
Consent Agenda





1



GLADSTONE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES OF JANUARY 9, 2024 
 
Meeting was called to order by Mayor Milch at 6:30 P.M. – (Via Zoom and In Person) 
 
ROLL CALL: 
Mayor Michael Milch, Councilor Alexander, Councilor Garlington, Councilor Huckaby, Councilor 
Roberts, Councilor Cook.  Councilor Reichle arrived via Zoom at 6:42 p.m. 
 
ABSENT: 
None 
 
STAFF: 
Jacque Betz, City Administrator; Chad Jacobs, City Attorney; John Schmerber, Police Chief; Heather 
Austin, Senior Planner; Tami Bannick, City Recorder;  
 
Mayor Milch called the meeting to order.  He explained that the City is abiding by guidelines set forth in 
House Bill 2560, which requires that they make all meetings accessible remotely through technologic means 
and provide the opportunity for the public to participate to the best of their ability.  This meeting will be 
open to the public, both in person and virtually, using the Zoom platform. 
 
OATH OF OFFICE/SWEARING IN OF CITY COUNCILOR CIERRA COOK 
Judge Lindgren administered the Oath of Office to Cierra Cook on the Gladstone City Council to fill the 
vacancy term of Annessa Hartman. Their term ends December 31, 2024. 
 
SELECTION OF COUNCIL PRESIDENT 
Councilor Huckaby nominated Councilor Roberts for Council President, seconded by Councilor Alexander.  
Ms. Bannick took a roll call vote for Council President nomination of Councilor Roberts. Councilor 
Garlington – yes, Councilor Roberts – abstain, Councilor Cook – yes, Council Alexander – yes, Councilor 
Huckaby – yes, Mayor Milch – yes. Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
 
INTRODUCTION 
Police Chief Schmerber introduced new Records Specialist Trevor Benya. 
 
PRESENTATION 
 
Behavioral Health Crisis Program 
Gladstone Police Department would like to move in the direction of having an in-house behavioral health 
specialist (BHS). Milwaukie PD shared their successes over the past year with having one on their team. 
They hired Glen Suchanek, MPD, BHS, and partner with LoveOne to provide needed resources in their 
community.  
 
The reasons for Milwaukie PD choosing this path was to ensure better access to help for people with issues 
related to addiction, houselessness, and mental health; to reduce reliance on the criminal justice system; 
and to minimize uses of force. In addition, this position has created a feeling of support among officers 
knowing they have this tool at their disposal. LoveOne is a community nonprofit that works with 
Milwaukie’s BHU to help provide necessary resources. 
 
Glen has been available to help Gladstone in the past, and when more cities have this position in place, 
there will be more opportunities for overlapping coverage in partner cities.  
 

1 - 1



Mayor Milch verified with Administrator Betz that this is a process Gladstone is working on. Administrator 
Betz advised that Clackamas County will be discussing on January 10th funding the position. If approved, 
Gladstone will be involved in the hiring process, and the agreement will come to Council for approval in 
late February or early March. 
 
AGENDA ADDITIONS OR CORRECTIONS 
None. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Approval of December 12, 2023 Regular Minutes 
2. Approval of November Bank Balances 
3. Budget Report for Period ending 11-30-2023 
4. Approval of November Check Register 
5. Department Head Monthly Reports for December 2023 
 
Councilor Cook requested item #5 be removed from Consent Agenda for discussion. 
 
Councilor Huckaby made a motion to approve Consent Agenda items 1-4.  Motion was seconded by 
Councilor Alexander.  Ms. Bannick took a roll call vote:  Councilor Cook – yes. Councilor Roberts – yes. 
Councilor Garlington – yes. Councilor Huckaby – yes. Councilor Alexander – yes. Councilor Reichle – 
yes. Mayor Milch – yes. Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
 
Councilor Cook requested details on Consent Agenda item 5, section 5, page 29. It was noted that Governor 
Tina Kotek waived approximately $297,000 in fines, and inquired if this will affect the city’s budget. 
Administrator Betz advised there is some impact but it is negligible.  
 
Councilor Cook made a motion to approve Consent Agenda item 5, Department Head Monthly Reports of 
December 2023. Motion was seconded by Councilor Huckaby. Ms. Bannick took a roll call vote:  Councilor 
Roberts – yes. Councilor Cook – yes. Councilor Reichle – yes. Councilor Alexander – yes. Councilor 
Huckaby – yes. Councilor Garlington – yes. Mayor Milch – yes. Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
None. 
 
6. REPORT FROM CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT 

Fire Chief Nick Browne of Clackamas Fire reflected on year 2023 with four key words:  Gratitude, 
Service, Passion, and Grit. He feels gratitude to Clackamas Fire for their service to the community and 
the relationships they have. They are passionate for their work and stand up against hard times to keep 
the community safe.  
 
Clackamas Fire recently graduated an academy of 15 new firefighters which will allow for increased 
staffing at 5 community fire stations, and they are about to start another academy of 12 more 
firefighters. The plan is to bring a little over 100 new firefighters to Clackamas. Their recent application 
process launch received 12,000 hits, and 446 of those applicants will be going forward with the 
interview process.  
 
Assistant Chief Brian Stewart indicated with the increase in staffing and adjustments, there have also 
been some promotions, which include Captain Mike Bauer being promoted to Battalion Chief for 
Gladstone and the surrounding area.  
 

1 - 2



As the weather gets colder, they want to put a reminder out to the public to reach out to Police, Fire, or 
City services for resources. 

 
7. GLADSTONE CITY EVENT ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Robert Everett announced Bingo Night at the Community Center for Friday, January 19, 2024. Tickets 
go on sale at 4:30, doors open at 4:50, and Bingo starts at 5:30. He also gave a reminder that the Clothes 
Closet is open every Saturday from 10:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. for donation or pick up. Currently, the 
closet is only accepting new, unused packages of undergarments and socks.  

 
REGULAR AGENDA 
 
8. DEPARTMENT OF LAND CONSERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT (DLCD) GRANT TO 

ENACT PARKING REFORM AND ESTABLISH A TOWN CENTER IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE (OAR) 660-012-0420-0450: 
Administrator Betz discussed two obligations that need to meet the state’s Climate Friendly and 
Equitable Communities laws. One obligation is parking reform and the Gladstone Town Center. On 
behalf of the city, 3J Consulting applied for and successfully received a grant for $60,000 from the 
Department of Land Conservation and Development to complete the required Climate Friendly and 
Equitable Communities work. Grant policy requires the City Council to accept a grant before moving 
forward.  
 
Heather Austin, Senior Planner from 3J Consulting, provided grant details. This project will overlap 
with the required Metro Town Center work, so they can combine the two projects with delivery dates 
ranging from 18-30 months. A stakeholder advisory committee will be convened and then discussed 
with the Council in February. This committee will need a City Council Representative. The plan is to 
use the city’s Downtown Revitalization Plan from 2017, the Downtown Core overlay from 2023, and 
the new Main Street Affiliate Status to work through the process to make sure the city is complying 
with State and Metro requirements. The consulting firm has requested a market analysis from the DLCD 
rather than Gladstone hiring a subconsultant to do the work. If they do not provide the document, some 
of the grant funds will need to be used to cover the cost if DLCD does not provide additional funding. 
 
Councilor Garlington asked if there was any additional cost outside of the grant funds, and 
Administrator Betz advised that the $60,000 grant funds should cover everything minus her time and 
the Economic Development staff person’s time. Councilor Alexander asked if other grants can be 
applied for once this grant is accepted.  Ms. Austin advised that should not be necessary since the grant 
fully covers the needed work. 
 
It was noted a Council representative volunteer for this project would be discussed in February. 
 
Councilor Roberts made a motion to approve the DLCD grant to enact parking reform and establish a 
town center in accordance with OAR 660-012-0420-0450. Motion was seconded by Councilor 
Huckaby. Ms. Bannick took a roll call vote:  Councilor Garlington – yes. Councilor Roberts – yes. 
Councilor Cook – yes. Councilor Reichle – yes. Councilor Alexander – yes. Councilor Huckaby – yes. 
Mayor Milch – yes.  Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
 

9. UPDATE ON 2023-2024 COUNCIL GOALS 
City Administrator Betz indicated a department head retreat was held in December, and the city has 
four focus areas: Economic Development, Infrastructure, Communications and Engagement, and Parks. 
A comprehensive report is in the Council packet along with an agenda planning calendar. A bid will be 
brought before the Council in February regarding a large infrastructure project, and there will be a lot 
of working happening with parks in 2024 as well.  

1 - 3



 
Mayor Milch provided a brief recap of the process used to formulate the Council Goals during the 
retreat.  He indicated the Council can set over-arching high level goals, however the actual projects to 
achieve those goals are the responsibility of our staff and could not be achieved without staff’s input 
for the development and completion of these goals.   
 
Councilors expressed their appreciation for staff in assisting to achieve these Council goals. 
 
Mayor Milch advised the Council the City has as contractual obligation to evaluate the City 
Administrator on a regular basis in order to make a decision on whether to renew the contract. City 
Administrator Betz’s contact expires on June 30, 2024, and there is an obligation to extend it. He 
believes this detailed City Council Goals report can serve as an evaluation of her performance.   
 
Councilor Roberts agrees and offered to be the Council representation for negotiations.  
 
City Attorney Chad Jacobs advised that as long as the City and City Administrator agree to use this 
report as an evaluation, then this is an appropriate request.  
 
City Administrator Betz thanked the Council and indicated she has a great Management team.  She 
advised she has monthly meetings with each Councilor and receives feedback from those meetings.  
She advised as a credentialed City Manager she will be completing a self-evaluation process through 
ICMA that includes sending out questions to her management team.  Elected officials may also provide 
input. She noted this process is separate from an evaluation process, however, she would be open to 
having conversations regarding extending her contract. 
 
There was a concensus from the Council to proceed. 
 

BUSINESS FROM THE AUDIENCE 
Glenda Shearer:  As a resident of Gladstone, she is disappointed how the Gladstone Police Department 
handled her report of abuse against her son. She feels they did not take the correct steps in collecting 
evidence or having an ethical investigation. This made her feel her concerns were unimportant.  
 
BUSINESS FROM THE COUNCIL 
 
Councilor Garlington: 
Councilor Garlington reminded the public to put leaf debris in their yard debris bin to keep them from 
blocking storm drains.  
 
She attended the school board meeting last month and urged parents to be attentive to the discussions.  
 
The Clackamas County Library Board did not have a meeting in December, but will have one January 18, 
2024.  
 
She attended the Toll meeting at the high school on January 6, 2024 and heard strong opposition. West 
Linn’s Mayor Bialostosky presented a state document showing the large administrative costs for a tolling 
project. Milch offered a solution of a tax based on miles per year, and she feels this is an equitable and fair 
solution.  
 
She congratulated Mayor Milch on a successful Mayor’s Monday on KOIN 6 News, and she pointed out 
that Gladstone made the League of Oregon Cities (LOC) newsletter for their two new murals.  
 

1 - 4



The Tukwila Dinner Group served an Italian Christmas Dinner and completed that with a cookie bar and 
festivities and served about 40 people. She thanked everyone who helped and donated. Their January dinner 
is a barbeque served by the Gladstone Oak Lodge Rotary. Their group helps provide a meal and a familiar 
face and would like to extend the offer to the public for anyone who is interesting in joining.  
 
The Friends of the Gladstone Nature Park are getting ready for their annual plant sale in April.  
 
She welcomed the new members of the boards and commissions and informed everyone that there is still 
an opening on the Traffic Board.  
 
With MLK Day coming up on January 15th, Councilor Garlington shared two quotes: “Be a bush if you 
can’t be a tree; if you can’t be a highway just be a trail; if you can’t be a sun be a star; for it isn’t by the 
size that you win or fail, be the best of whatever you are.”   “Everybody can be great because everybody 
can serve. You only need a heart full of grace and a soul generated by love.”  Take heart that today is a 
service day. 
 
Councilor Roberts: 
Councilor Roberts thanked the Council for appointing him Council President.  
 
He was also at the Tolling discussion and agreed that there were no favorable voices for it. At his request, 
Mayor Bialostosky shared the state document with the tolling administrative costs. 
 
Councilor Cook: 
Councilor Cook gave appreciation for former Council President Huckaby for her service as Council 
President and congratulated Council President Roberts on his appointment.  
 
There will be a Gladstone business mixer/social on January 25, 2024 at 5:30 p.m. at the community center. 
They believe the business community will come together as we build the Gladstone Town Center 
Stakeholder community and hope to see a lot of engagement from that group.  
 
Councilor Reichle: 
Councilor Reichle attended the Parks Board meeting on January 8, 2024, and there was discussion regarding 
the Metro funds that the city has available. They decided to focus on a restroom and shelter at the Gladstone 
Nature Park and backfilling some pathways to create more stability. They are also looking at adding, 
improving, or replacing park shelters. Another focus area is increasing pathways and creating ADA 
accessibility at Max Patterson Park. The Meldrum Bar Park playground structure has been installed. There 
will be a grand opening ceremony to celebrate that in the future. She encouraged anyone involved in the 
RC track at Meldrum Bar Park to attend the Parks Board meetings and provide feedback to the Public 
Works Department as there is a question on how to proceed with that amenity.  
 
Councilor Alexander: 
Councilor Alexander congratulated Council President Roberts on his appointment to Council President.  
 
He did not have anything else because the Fire Chief presented all of the updates he would have provided.  
 
Councilor Huckaby: 
Councilor Huckaby attended the Tolling meeting as well and agrees that nobody was in favor. She feels 
there was great representation there from State Representative Annessa Hartman, the committee, and the 
public.  
 

1 - 5



She gave a reminder that on January 10, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. at the Community Center there will be an event 
from local author Sarah Sanderson called Holding Difficult Truths in Gladstone: Transforming our Broken 
Past into a Hopeful Future.  
 
An update was given from the Leaders for Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion Council.  
 
She gave thanks for Councilor Reichle for her level-headedness and quality leadership on the Parks and 
Recreation Board. 
 
Mayor Milch: 
Concerning the Tolling discussion, he feels there has been a lot of hard work between elected officials at 
all levels of government, particularly County Commissioner Paul Savas and county staff. One point made 
on the Mayor’s Monday on KOIN 6 is that the committee and subcommittee formed were on task to work 
through every aspect of the proposal, and that through this examination, more information came out 
showing that this option was not good for local communities impacted by tolling. The Oregon Legislative 
Information System (OLIS) has a recording of the session. State Representative Annessa Hartman has 
called on ODOT for a full audit of their books to re-examine this issue.  
 
He thanked Councilor Huckaby for reminding everyone of the event on January 10, 2024.  
 
ADJOURN: 
Councilor Roberts made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Motion was seconded by Councilor Huckaby.  
Ms. Bannick took a roll call vote:  Councilor Reichle – yes. Councilor Alexander – yes. Councilor Huckaby 
– yes. Councilor Garlington – yes. Councilor Roberts – yes. Councilor Cook – yes. Mayor Milch – yes.  
Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 8:28 P.M. 
 
Approved by the Mayor this ________ day of ___________________________, 2024. 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

_____________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Michael Milch, Mayor  Tami Bannick, City Recorder     

1 - 6



2



Bank
July

 2023
August
 2023

September
 2023

October
 2023

November
2023

December
 2023

LGIP -City Of Gladstone #4472 25,192,979.55$       25,449,877.99$     25,170,836.81$     24,467,079.91$     28,039,448.67$     29,057,323.10$     

LGIP - Urban Renewal Agency #4650 2,427,381.48            2,438,367.43          2,450,180.17          2,248,798.67          3,064,490.89          3,287,798.75          

Checking Accounts:
General Fund 432,049.63               169,111.09             104,430.92             207,700.44             342,634.77             90,843.34               

Urban Renewal 549,462.65               33,760.33               33,760.60               33,760.88               31,631.15               31,631.41               

Municipal Court 28,242.65                 30,073.80               31,893.41               29,051.19               29,895.73               32,814.18               

Totals 28,630,115.96$       28,121,190.64$     27,791,101.91$     26,986,391.09$     31,508,101.21$     32,500,410.78$     

Bank
January

 2024
February

2024
March
 2024

April
 2024

May
2024

June
2024

LGIP -City Of Gladstone #4472

LGIP - Urban Renewal Agency #4650

Checking Accounts:
General Fund

Urban Renewal

Municipal Court 

Totals -$                           -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         

BANK BALANCES

Month Ending Balance

2 - 1





3



2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 1 of 20

Budget Report
City of Gladstone Account Summary

For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 100 - GENERAL FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 8,240,000.00 0.00 -8,240,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-309999 8,240,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.008,240,000.00 8,240,000.00 -8,240,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES

CURRENT YEAR TAXES 9,959,943.00 4,502,472.22 -5,457,470.78 45.21 %929,869.95100-000-310010 9,959,943.00

PRIOR YEAR TAXES 70,000.00 20,842.30 -49,157.70 29.77 %1,032.71100-000-310050 70,000.00

TRANSIENT LODGING TAX 350,000.00 53,177.70 -296,822.30 15.19 %3,120.43100-000-314045 350,000.00

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES Total: 4,576,492.22934,023.0910,379,943.00 10,379,943.00 -5,803,450.78 44.09%

RptType: 3110 - STATE SHARED TAXES

STATE REVENUE SHARING 310,000.00 38,416.24 -271,583.76 12.39 %0.00100-000-310170 310,000.00

ALCOHOL TAX REVENUE 486,922.00 80,980.01 -405,941.99 16.63 %20,468.25100-000-311010 486,922.00

MARIJUANA TAX 88,955.00 13,027.17 -75,927.83 14.64 %0.00100-000-311015 88,955.00

CIGARETTE TAX REVENUE 17,402.00 3,726.90 -13,675.10 21.42 %667.08100-000-311020 17,402.00

RptType: 3110 - STATE SHARED TAXES Total: 136,150.3221,135.33903,279.00 903,279.00 -767,128.68 15.07%

RptType: 3120 - RIGHT OF WAY FEES

GLADSTONE DISPOSAL FRANCHISE … 275,000.00 37,185.97 -237,814.03 13.52 %0.00100-000-312010 275,000.00

PGE FRANCHISE FEES 1,018,440.00 0.00 -1,018,440.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-312025 1,018,440.00

NW NATURAL GAS FRANCHISE FEE 315,700.00 12,344.37 -303,355.63 3.91 %0.00100-000-312030 315,700.00

COMCAST CABLE TV FRANCHISE FE 280,000.00 33,096.15 -246,903.85 11.82 %0.00100-000-312040 280,000.00

RptType: 3120 - RIGHT OF WAY FEES Total: 82,626.490.001,889,140.00 1,889,140.00 -1,806,513.51 4.37%

RptType: 3130 - LICENSES AND PERMITS

BUSINESS LICENSE FEES 187,500.00 51,440.00 -136,060.00 27.43 %30,650.00100-000-313010 187,500.00

LIQUOR LICENSE RENEWALS 1,000.00 170.00 -830.00 17.00 %0.00100-000-313015 1,000.00

ALARM PERMITS 19,000.00 2,175.00 -16,825.00 11.45 %0.00100-000-313020 19,000.00

PARKING PERMITS 227,000.00 36,960.00 -190,040.00 16.28 %2,123.00100-000-313025 227,000.00

RptType: 3130 - LICENSES AND PERMITS Total: 90,745.0032,773.00434,500.00 434,500.00 -343,755.00 20.88%

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES

RECREATION FEES 14,000.00 2,329.17 -11,670.83 16.64 %0.00100-000-314010 14,000.00

COMMUNITY CENTER BUILDING RE… 13,500.00 5,232.50 -8,267.50 38.76 %320.00100-000-314015 13,500.00

PLANNING APPLICATION FEES 80,000.00 12,673.88 -67,326.12 15.84 %0.00100-000-314020 80,000.00

SOCIAL SERVICES CONTRACT 90,000.00 13,018.80 -76,981.20 14.47 %0.00100-000-314025 90,000.00

LIEN SEARCH FEES 9,500.00 1,500.00 -8,000.00 15.79 %240.00100-000-314030 9,500.00

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES Total: 34,754.35560.00207,000.00 207,000.00 -172,245.65 16.79%

RptType: 3141 - SDC

PARK SDC FEES 0.00 392.67 392.67 0.00 %0.00100-000-314110 0.00

SDC REIMBURSEMENT FEE 0.00 3,669.48 3,669.48 0.00 %0.00100-000-314111 0.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 4,062.150.000.00 0.00 4,062.15 0.00%

RptType: 3150 - GRANTS

POLICE GRANTS 90,000.00 9,353.71 -80,646.29 10.39 %1,525.25100-000-315030 90,000.00

MARINE BOARD MAINTENANCE GR… 0.00 8,840.00 8,840.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-315055 0.00

WES/GOOD NEIGHBOR GRANT 110,250.00 50,000.00 -60,250.00 45.35 %0.00100-000-315065 110,250.00

COMM. CENTER  STATE/LOCAL FU… 0.00 4,005.75 4,005.75 0.00 %0.00100-000-315075 0.00

OTHER GRANTS 100,000.00 0.00 -100,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-315080 100,000.00

RptType: 3150 - GRANTS Total: 72,199.461,525.25300,250.00 300,250.00 -228,050.54 24.05%

3 - 1



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 2 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

RptType: 3260 - FINES AND FORFEITURES

COURT FINES & FORFEITURES 670,000.00 143,724.83 -526,275.17 21.45 %23,439.64100-000-326010 670,000.00

RptType: 3260 - FINES AND FORFEITURES Total: 143,724.8323,439.64670,000.00 670,000.00 -526,275.17 21.45%

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST

INTEREST 565,000.00 608,723.92 43,723.92 107.74 %119,879.99100-000-330100 565,000.00

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST Total: 608,723.92119,879.99565,000.00 565,000.00 43,723.92 107.74%

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER GF RECEIPTS 40,000.00 11,554.23 -28,445.77 28.89 %575.50100-000-360000 40,000.00

NAT'L OPIOID SETTLEMENT FUNDS 140,000.00 9,054.77 -130,945.23 6.47 %0.00100-000-360100 140,000.00

COMMUNITY CENTER MISC. INCO… 5,500.00 3,190.20 -2,309.80 58.00 %2,779.20100-000-362115 5,500.00

TRAM TRIPS 22,000.00 7,317.73 -14,682.27 33.26 %1,125.00100-000-362212 22,000.00

MEAL DONATIONS 40,000.00 17,603.06 -22,396.94 44.01 %1,519.60100-000-362213 40,000.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 48,719.995,999.30247,500.00 247,500.00 -198,780.01 19.68%

RptType: 3700 - OTHER

SALE OF SURPLUS EQUIP/PROPERTY 30,000.00 10,696.76 -19,303.24 35.66 %0.00100-000-371000 30,000.00

RptType: 3700 - OTHER Total: 10,696.760.0030,000.00 30,000.00 -19,303.24 35.66%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 5,808,895.491,139,335.6023,866,612.00 23,866,612.00 -18,057,716.51 24.34%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM ARPA FUND 653,500.00 0.00 -653,500.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399105 653,500.00

TRANSFER IN FROM STREET FUND 584,717.00 0.00 -584,717.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399205 584,717.00

TRANSFER IN FROM URBAN RENE… 590,503.00 212,866.48 -377,636.52 36.05 %0.00100-910-399390 590,503.00

TRANSFER IN FROM SEWER FUND 417,900.00 0.00 -417,900.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399730 417,900.00

TRANSFER IN FROM WATER FUND 523,678.00 0.00 -523,678.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399740 523,678.00

TRANSFER IN FROM STORM WATER 427,101.00 0.00 -427,101.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399750 427,101.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 212,866.480.003,197,399.00 3,197,399.00 -2,984,532.52 6.66%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 212,866.480.003,197,399.00 3,197,399.00 -2,984,532.52 6.66%

Revenue Total: 6,021,761.971,139,335.6027,064,011.00 27,064,011.00 -21,042,249.03 22.25%

Expense

Department: 121 - ADMIN

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 409,752.00 102,862.22 306,889.78 25.10 %16,418.64100-121-431010 409,752.00

CITY RECRDR/HR MGR 390,672.00 51,024.00 339,648.00 13.06 %8,504.00100-121-431020 390,672.00

FINANCE DIRECTOR (.80) 206,542.00 0.00 206,542.00 0.00 %0.00100-121-431030 206,542.00

TOURISM/EC DEV COORDINATOR 127,812.00 24,600.33 103,211.67 19.25 %4,591.28100-121-431035 127,812.00

OFFICE ASSISTANT 154,764.00 38,124.00 116,640.00 24.63 %6,354.00100-121-431070 154,764.00

ACCOUNTING CLERK 182,179.00 45,669.60 136,509.40 25.07 %7,717.60100-121-431500 182,179.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 17,311.00 4,508.28 12,802.72 26.04 %755.62100-121-450500 17,311.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 887,946.00 139,037.68 748,908.32 15.66 %22,923.76100-121-470000 887,946.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 405,826.1167,264.902,376,978.00 2,376,978.00 1,971,151.89 17.07%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 152,700.00 96,839.75 55,860.25 63.42 %21,987.50100-121-500110 152,700.00

MUNICIPAL AUDIT CONTRACT 67,500.00 10,500.00 57,000.00 15.56 %0.00100-121-500120 67,500.00

LEGAL FEES 206,000.00 49,198.80 156,801.20 23.88 %7,199.50100-121-500130 206,000.00

COUNCIL ACTIVITIES 25,000.00 8,436.06 16,563.94 33.74 %496.25100-121-500490 25,000.00

OUTSIDE AGENCY REQUESTS 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-121-500491 10,000.00

PLANNING SERVICES CONTRACT 180,000.00 67,250.00 112,750.00 37.36 %22,159.00100-121-500492 180,000.00

COMM PROMOTIONS/BUSINESS D… 293,000.00 8,972.60 284,027.40 3.06 %0.00100-121-510020 293,000.00

TOURISM PROMOTION/ACTIVITIES 42,000.00 10,147.62 31,852.38 24.16 %1,176.00100-121-510021 42,000.00

BANK CHARGES 8,700.00 383.09 8,316.91 4.40 %0.00100-121-520120 8,700.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 37,000.00 7,100.99 29,899.01 19.19 %3,156.37100-121-520400 37,000.00

CITY NEWSLETTER 85,000.00 18,695.25 66,304.75 21.99 %3,447.09100-121-520450 85,000.00

FIRE & LIABILITY INSURANCE 436,800.00 200,462.76 236,337.24 45.89 %0.00100-121-530000 436,800.00

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 5,000.00 400.90 4,599.10 8.02 %187.15100-121-530200 5,000.00

EMPLOYEE APPRECIATION 8,000.00 1,204.35 6,795.65 15.05 %898.00100-121-540110 8,000.00

3 - 2



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 3 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

PERSONNEL RECRUITMENT 20,000.00 1,459.50 18,540.50 7.30 %359.00100-121-540120 20,000.00

DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 60,000.00 13,267.82 46,732.18 22.11 %0.00100-121-540200 60,000.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 45,000.00 5,972.67 39,027.33 13.27 %202.95100-121-540220 45,000.00

MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-121-540230 2,000.00

PUBLICATIONS & SUBSCRIPTIONS 15,000.00 3,694.19 11,305.81 24.63 %52.00100-121-542000 15,000.00

TELEPHONES 18,500.00 3,805.04 14,694.96 20.57 %639.03100-121-560120 18,500.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 507,791.3961,959.841,717,200.00 1,717,200.00 1,209,408.61 29.57%

Department: 121 - ADMIN Total: 913,617.50129,224.744,094,178.00 4,094,178.00 3,180,560.50 22.32%

Department: 122 - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

IT MANAGER 239,844.00 59,064.00 180,780.00 24.63 %9,844.00100-122-432010 239,844.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 125,511.00 30,232.05 95,278.95 24.09 %5,089.97100-122-470000 125,511.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 89,296.0514,933.97365,355.00 365,355.00 276,058.95 24.44%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL 10,600.00 2,500.00 8,100.00 23.58 %0.00100-122-500110 10,600.00

COMPUTER/TECHNOLOGY SERVICE 247,524.00 52,616.48 194,907.52 21.26 %20,954.35100-122-500210 247,524.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 40,260.00 7,919.92 32,340.08 19.67 %1,389.14100-122-520400 40,260.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 3,000.00 562.84 2,437.16 18.76 %0.00100-122-540220 3,000.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFE… 1,000.00 72.77 927.23 7.28 %0.00100-122-540300 1,000.00

CELL PHONES, PAGERS & RADIOS 71,076.00 15,073.44 56,002.56 21.21 %2,511.42100-122-560110 71,076.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 78,745.4524,854.91373,460.00 373,460.00 294,714.55 21.09%

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

COMPUTER & EQUIPMENT RESERVE 130,499.00 14,741.02 115,757.98 11.30 %16.95100-122-661018 130,499.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 14,741.0216.95130,499.00 130,499.00 115,757.98 11.30%

Department: 122 - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY Total: 182,782.5239,805.83869,314.00 869,314.00 686,531.48 21.03%

Department: 124 - FACILITIES

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 19,846.00 256.67 19,589.33 1.29 %0.00100-124-437050 19,846.00

UTILITY WORKER II 119,296.00 26,001.32 93,294.68 21.80 %5,288.13100-124-437070 119,296.00

OVERTIME 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-124-450100 1,000.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 81,639.00 14,179.71 67,459.29 17.37 %2,887.95100-124-470000 81,639.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 40,437.708,176.08221,781.00 221,781.00 181,343.30 18.23%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 165,500.00 24,226.82 141,273.18 14.64 %4,243.25100-124-500110 165,500.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & RE… 100,000.00 28,101.62 71,898.38 28.10 %3,708.89100-124-520130 100,000.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 2,500.00 0.00 2,500.00 0.00 %0.00100-124-540220 2,500.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFE… 5,000.00 2,059.70 2,940.30 41.19 %188.98100-124-540300 5,000.00

UTILITIES 193,500.00 65,000.82 128,499.18 33.59 %6,171.22100-124-560100 193,500.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 119,388.9614,312.34466,500.00 466,500.00 347,111.04 25.59%

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS 0.00 2,810.00 -2,810.00 0.00 %0.00100-124-641000 0.00

PUBLIC WORKS FACILITY CONSTRU… 4,660,188.00 1,875,705.75 2,784,482.25 40.25 %635,823.21100-124-641005 4,660,188.00

BUILDING RESERVE/REPAIR 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-124-641010 20,000.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 1,878,515.75635,823.214,680,188.00 4,680,188.00 2,801,672.25 40.14%

Department: 124 - FACILITIES  Total: 2,038,342.41658,311.635,368,469.00 5,368,469.00 3,330,126.59 37.97%

Department: 220 - COURT

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

MUNICIPAL COURT CLERK 144,999.00 35,615.34 109,383.66 24.56 %5,935.89100-220-432020 144,999.00

COURT ADMINISTRATOR 187,908.00 46,278.00 141,630.00 24.63 %7,713.00100-220-432035 187,908.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 7,041.00 1,734.12 5,306.88 24.63 %289.02100-220-450500 7,041.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 190,166.00 45,793.16 144,372.84 24.08 %7,707.79100-220-470000 190,166.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 129,420.6221,645.70530,114.00 530,114.00 400,693.38 24.41%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 2,000.00 266.75 1,733.25 13.34 %12.25100-220-500110 2,000.00

PROSECUTING ATTORNEY 85,000.00 21,000.00 64,000.00 24.71 %3,500.00100-220-500132 85,000.00

3 - 3



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 4 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

ATTORNEYS FOR INDIGENT CLIENTS 57,000.00 4,600.00 52,400.00 8.07 %800.00100-220-500134 57,000.00

MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE 84,000.00 21,000.00 63,000.00 25.00 %3,500.00100-220-500136 84,000.00

PRO-TEM JUDGE 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-220-500137 3,000.00

JURY EXPENSES 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-220-500138 1,000.00

COURTROOM SECURITY 21,000.00 3,750.00 17,250.00 17.86 %750.00100-220-500282 21,000.00

BANK CHARGES 12,000.00 2,959.66 9,040.34 24.66 %1,436.13100-220-520120 12,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 12,000.00 2,747.17 9,252.83 22.89 %428.22100-220-520400 12,000.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 4,000.00 978.19 3,021.81 24.45 %0.00100-220-540220 4,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 57,301.7710,426.60281,000.00 281,000.00 223,698.23 20.39%

Department: 220 - COURT Total: 186,722.3932,072.30811,114.00 811,114.00 624,391.61 23.02%

Department: 240 - POLICE

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

POLICE CHIEF 337,464.00 83,112.00 254,352.00 24.63 %13,852.00100-240-432110 337,464.00

POLICE LIEUTENANT 271,116.00 0.00 271,116.00 0.00 %0.00100-240-432130 271,116.00

POLICE DETECTIVE 184,332.00 48,561.28 135,770.72 26.34 %8,060.51100-240-432140 184,332.00

POLICE OFFICER 1,529,200.00 299,521.75 1,229,678.25 19.59 %52,038.99100-240-432160 1,529,200.00

POLICE SERGEANT 642,360.00 157,481.43 484,878.57 24.52 %26,414.06100-240-432170 642,360.00

PROPERTY ROOM TECHNICIAN 59,430.00 14,657.69 44,772.31 24.66 %2,450.25100-240-432182 59,430.00

POLICE RECORDS CLERK 131,004.00 24,241.04 106,762.96 18.50 %1,739.00100-240-432185 131,004.00

OVERTIME 290,000.00 89,284.67 200,715.33 30.79 %16,280.80100-240-450100 290,000.00

TRAFFIC GRANT OVERTIME 80,000.00 16,523.10 63,476.90 20.65 %2,910.39100-240-450110 80,000.00

HOLIDAY PAY 30,000.00 29,077.88 922.12 96.93 %8,004.94100-240-450200 30,000.00

TRAINING OVERTIME 18,000.00 1,228.01 16,771.99 6.82 %0.00100-240-450210 18,000.00

PROFICIENCY PAY 176,563.00 34,695.83 141,867.17 19.65 %5,423.72100-240-450300 176,563.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 8,604.00 8,065.13 538.87 93.74 %1,392.53100-240-450500 8,604.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 2,192,668.00 429,453.09 1,763,214.91 19.59 %71,845.62100-240-470000 2,192,668.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 1,235,902.90210,412.815,950,741.00 5,950,741.00 4,714,838.10 20.77%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 149,350.00 42,496.29 106,853.71 28.45 %3,722.30100-240-500110 149,350.00

PARK  PATROL 19,076.00 8,898.19 10,177.81 46.65 %0.00100-240-500284 19,076.00

SHARE COST CCOM DISPATCH 153,700.00 39,041.24 114,658.76 25.40 %6,506.87100-240-500498 153,700.00

JUVENILE DIVERSION PROGRAM 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-240-510044 5,000.00

OPERATIONAL SUPPLIES AND EXPE… 89,948.00 7,593.77 82,354.23 8.44 %2,384.81100-240-520100 89,948.00

FIREARMS/AMMUNITION 72,080.00 1,088.00 70,992.00 1.51 %280.00100-240-520112 72,080.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 176,960.00 57,235.95 119,724.05 32.34 %4,440.38100-240-520320 176,960.00

RADAR MAINTENANCE REPLACEM… 4,240.00 0.00 4,240.00 0.00 %0.00100-240-520345 4,240.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 37,492.00 6,927.71 30,564.29 18.48 %1,107.03100-240-520400 37,492.00

EMPLOYEE APPRECIATION 12,000.00 527.69 11,472.31 4.40 %0.00100-240-540110 12,000.00

DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 12,000.00 2,116.00 9,884.00 17.63 %1,405.00100-240-540200 12,000.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 58,652.00 9,146.11 49,505.89 15.59 %636.44100-240-540220 58,652.00

UNIFORMS AND SAFETY EQUIPMENT 41,976.00 10,887.57 31,088.43 25.94 %3,110.09100-240-540301 41,976.00

PUBLICATIONS & SUBSCRIPTIONS 5,000.00 611.00 4,389.00 12.22 %0.00100-240-542000 5,000.00

TELEPHONES 21,412.00 4,723.40 16,688.60 22.06 %795.25100-240-560120 21,412.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 191,292.9224,388.17858,886.00 858,886.00 667,593.08 22.27%

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT RESERV… 182,850.00 70,231.78 112,618.22 38.41 %0.00100-240-651000 182,850.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 70,231.780.00182,850.00 182,850.00 112,618.22 38.41%

Department: 240 - POLICE Total: 1,497,427.60234,800.986,992,477.00 6,992,477.00 5,495,049.40 21.41%

Department: 250 - FIRE

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 3,668,444.00 1,111,635.00 2,556,809.00 30.30 %0.00100-250-500110 3,668,444.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 1,111,635.000.003,668,444.00 3,668,444.00 2,556,809.00 30.30%

Department: 250 - FIRE Total: 1,111,635.000.003,668,444.00 3,668,444.00 2,556,809.00 30.30%

Department: 526 - PARKS

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 56,935.00 13,389.46 43,545.54 23.52 %2,279.20100-526-437049 56,935.00

3 - 4



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 5 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 89,310.00 1,155.01 88,154.99 1.29 %0.00100-526-437050 89,310.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 42,343.00 10,167.57 32,175.43 24.01 %1,721.90100-526-437055 42,343.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 0.00 30,212.23 -30,212.23 0.00 %6,051.00100-526-437070 0.00

UTILITY WORKER II 237,712.00 26,834.24 210,877.76 11.29 %218.87100-526-437071 237,712.00

SEASONAL HELP 77,125.00 0.00 77,125.00 0.00 %0.00100-526-439011 77,125.00

OVERTIME 4,000.00 603.42 3,396.58 15.09 %66.31100-526-450100 4,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 163.00 392.32 -229.32 240.69 %67.84100-526-450500 163.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 249,276.00 39,693.41 209,582.59 15.92 %5,175.14100-526-470000 249,276.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 122,447.6615,580.26756,864.00 756,864.00 634,416.34 16.18%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 70,000.00 16,558.72 53,441.28 23.66 %3,144.39100-526-500110 70,000.00

BANK CHARGES 11,200.00 1,784.17 9,415.83 15.93 %0.00100-526-520120 11,200.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & RE… 152,000.00 25,433.41 126,566.59 16.73 %1,760.68100-526-520130 152,000.00

HAZARDOUS TREE REMOVAL 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-526-520132 50,000.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 45,000.00 8,626.99 36,373.01 19.17 %2,055.63100-526-520320 45,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 5,000.00 544.09 4,455.91 10.88 %110.74100-526-520400 5,000.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 2,000.00 77.50 1,922.50 3.88 %0.00100-526-540220 2,000.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFE… 10,000.00 1,200.42 8,799.58 12.00 %41.61100-526-540300 10,000.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-526-540400 1,000.00

UTILITIES 73,300.00 30,616.46 42,683.54 41.77 %924.20100-526-560100 73,300.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 84,841.768,037.25419,500.00 419,500.00 334,658.24 20.22%

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESER… 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00 100.00 %0.00100-526-660100 50,000.00

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJEC… 599,623.00 632.63 598,990.37 0.11 %0.00100-526-676050 599,623.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 50,632.630.00649,623.00 649,623.00 598,990.37 7.79%

Department: 526 - PARKS Total: 257,922.0523,617.511,825,987.00 1,825,987.00 1,568,064.95 14.13%

Department: 527 - RECREATION

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

RECREATION COORDINATOR 20,000.00 4,054.05 15,945.95 20.27 %0.00100-527-435120 20,000.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 7,500.00 1,582.81 5,917.19 21.10 %0.00100-527-470000 7,500.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 5,636.860.0027,500.00 27,500.00 21,863.14 20.50%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

SUMMER PROGRAMS 3,000.00 839.25 2,160.75 27.98 %0.00100-527-510062 3,000.00

SPECIAL EVENTS 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-527-510064 5,000.00

MAINTENANCE & SUPPLIES 2,200.00 0.00 2,200.00 0.00 %0.00100-527-520136 2,200.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 839.250.0010,200.00 10,200.00 9,360.75 8.23%

Department: 527 - RECREATION Total: 6,476.110.0037,700.00 37,700.00 31,223.89 17.18%

Department: 528 - SENIOR CENTER

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

COMMUNITY SERVICES MANAGER 223,061.00 48,313.30 174,747.70 21.66 %0.00100-528-435210 223,061.00

TRAM DRIVER 69,366.00 19,079.39 50,286.61 27.51 %2,410.27100-528-435240 69,366.00

NUTRITION CATERER 112,776.00 27,673.00 85,103.00 24.54 %4,767.00100-528-435250 112,776.00

CENTER ASSISTANT 140,388.00 35,312.29 105,075.71 25.15 %5,763.00100-528-435280 140,388.00

BUILDING MONITOR 4,500.00 708.76 3,791.24 15.75 %287.44100-528-435295 4,500.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 1,404.00 353.12 1,050.88 25.15 %57.63100-528-450500 1,404.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 297,810.00 64,664.25 233,145.75 21.71 %7,111.24100-528-470000 297,810.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 196,104.1120,396.58849,305.00 849,305.00 653,200.89 23.09%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

NUTRITION PROGRAM SUPPLIES 30,000.00 8,413.11 21,586.89 28.04 %385.61100-528-510075 30,000.00

TRAM EXPENSES 14,500.00 28,547.30 -14,047.30 196.88 %208.64100-528-520140 14,500.00

BLDG MAINTENANCE & SUPPLIES 4,000.00 494.00 3,506.00 12.35 %0.00100-528-520200 4,000.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 2,800.00 1,201.34 1,598.66 42.91 %166.49100-528-520320 2,800.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 5,000.00 2,143.97 2,856.03 42.88 %396.83100-528-520400 5,000.00

DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-528-540200 1,000.00

3 - 5



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 6 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

TELEPHONES 3,000.00 735.59 2,264.41 24.52 %123.71100-528-560120 3,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 41,535.311,281.2860,300.00 60,300.00 18,764.69 68.88%

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT RESERV… 0.00 18,168.00 -18,168.00 0.00 %0.00100-528-651000 0.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 18,168.000.000.00 0.00 -18,168.00 0.00%

Department: 528 - SENIOR CENTER Total: 255,807.4221,677.86909,605.00 909,605.00 653,797.58 28.12%

Department: 529 - LIBRARY

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 446,540.00 219,965.00 226,575.00 49.26 %0.00100-529-500110 446,540.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 219,965.000.00446,540.00 446,540.00 226,575.00 49.26%

Department: 529 - LIBRARY Total: 219,965.000.00446,540.00 446,540.00 226,575.00 49.26%

Department: 600 - DEBT SERVICE

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE

DEBT PRINCIPAL 854,265.00 177,775.00 676,490.00 20.81 %0.00100-600-720040 854,265.00

DEBT SERVICE - INTEREST 364,010.00 95,235.76 268,774.24 26.16 %60,144.28100-600-730040 364,010.00

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 273,010.7660,144.281,218,275.00 1,218,275.00 945,264.24 22.41%

Department: 600 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 273,010.7660,144.281,218,275.00 1,218,275.00 945,264.24 22.41%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 821,908.00 0.00 821,908.00 0.00 %0.00100-990-910000 821,908.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00821,908.00 821,908.00 821,908.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.00821,908.00 821,908.00 821,908.00 0.00%

Expense Total: 6,943,708.761,199,655.1327,064,011.00 27,064,011.00 20,120,302.24 25.66%

Fund: 100 - GENERAL FUND Surplus (Deficit): -921,946.79-60,319.530.00 0.00 -921,946.79 0.00%

3 - 6



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 7 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 105 - AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN RESERVE FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3150 - GRANTS

OTHER GRANTS (ARPA) 2,367,344.00 0.00 -2,367,344.00 0.00 %0.00105-000-315080 2,367,344.00

RptType: 3150 - GRANTS Total: 0.000.002,367,344.00 2,367,344.00 -2,367,344.00 0.00%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 0.000.002,367,344.00 2,367,344.00 -2,367,344.00 0.00%

Revenue Total: 0.000.002,367,344.00 2,367,344.00 -2,367,344.00 0.00%

Expense

Department: 150 - ARPA GRANT

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 115,300.00 15,880.00 99,420.00 13.77 %3,500.00105-150-500110 115,300.00

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 17,600.00 24,493.77 -6,893.77 139.17 %0.00105-150-530200 17,600.00

ARPA FUNDING (TBD) 280,944.00 0.00 280,944.00 0.00 %0.00105-150-530210 280,944.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 40,373.773,500.00413,844.00 413,844.00 373,470.23 9.76%

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT 100,000.00 36,717.00 63,283.00 36.72 %35,140.00105-150-660100 100,000.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 36,717.0035,140.00100,000.00 100,000.00 63,283.00 36.72%

Department: 150 - ARPA GRANT Total: 77,090.7738,640.00513,844.00 513,844.00 436,753.23 15.00%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 653,500.00 0.00 653,500.00 0.00 %0.00105-920-899100 653,500.00

TRANSFER OUT TO SEWER FUND 840,000.00 0.00 840,000.00 0.00 %0.00105-920-899730 840,000.00

TRANFER OUT TO STORM WATER F… 360,000.00 0.00 360,000.00 0.00 %0.00105-920-899750 360,000.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.001,853,500.00 1,853,500.00 1,853,500.00 0.00%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.001,853,500.00 1,853,500.00 1,853,500.00 0.00%

Expense Total: 77,090.7738,640.002,367,344.00 2,367,344.00 2,290,253.23 3.26%

Fund: 105 - AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN RESERVE FUND Surplus (Defici… -77,090.77-38,640.000.00 0.00 -77,090.77 0.00%

3 - 7



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 8 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 205 - ROAD AND STREET FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 2,822,000.00 0.00 -2,822,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-000-309999 2,822,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.002,822,000.00 2,822,000.00 -2,822,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES

VEHICLE REGISTRATION FEES 500,000.00 60,702.26 -439,297.74 12.14 %0.00205-000-310060 500,000.00

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES Total: 60,702.260.00500,000.00 500,000.00 -439,297.74 12.14%

RptType: 3110 - STATE SHARED TAXES

STATE HIGHWAY TAXES 1,944,766.00 390,391.40 -1,554,374.60 20.07 %85,394.00205-000-310140 1,944,766.00

RptType: 3110 - STATE SHARED TAXES Total: 390,391.4085,394.001,944,766.00 1,944,766.00 -1,554,374.60 20.07%

RptType: 3120 - RIGHT OF WAY FEES

RIGHT OF WAY - TELECOM 240,000.00 33,043.39 -206,956.61 13.77 %3,212.14205-000-312050 240,000.00

RIGHT OF WAY - OTHER 225,000.00 15,358.02 -209,641.98 6.83 %0.00205-000-312055 225,000.00

ROW LICENSE FEES 1,000.00 400.00 -600.00 40.00 %150.00205-000-312060 1,000.00

RptType: 3120 - RIGHT OF WAY FEES Total: 48,801.413,362.14466,000.00 466,000.00 -417,198.59 10.47%

RptType: 3141 - SDC

TRANSPORTATION SDC'S 0.00 1,445.49 1,445.49 0.00 %0.00205-000-314075 0.00

SDC Reimbursement Fee 0.00 176.73 176.73 0.00 %0.00205-000-314076 0.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 1,622.220.000.00 0.00 1,622.22 0.00%

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER ROAD/STREET RECEIPTS 50,000.00 12,055.00 -37,945.00 24.11 %5,605.00205-000-360000 50,000.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 12,055.005,605.0050,000.00 50,000.00 -37,945.00 24.11%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 513,572.2994,361.145,782,766.00 5,782,766.00 -5,269,193.71 8.88%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM SEWER FUND 462,275.00 0.00 -462,275.00 0.00 %0.00205-910-399730 462,275.00

TRANSFER IN FROM WATER FUND 349,000.00 0.00 -349,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-910-399740 349,000.00

TRANSFER IN FROM STORM WATER 110,500.00 0.00 -110,500.00 0.00 %0.00205-910-399750 110,500.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 0.000.00921,775.00 921,775.00 -921,775.00 0.00%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 0.000.00921,775.00 921,775.00 -921,775.00 0.00%

Revenue Total: 513,572.2994,361.146,704,541.00 6,704,541.00 -6,190,968.71 7.66%

Expense

Department: 305 - ROAD AND STREET

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 56,935.00 13,389.46 43,545.54 23.52 %2,279.20205-305-437049 56,935.00

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 89,310.00 1,155.02 88,154.98 1.29 %0.00205-305-437050 89,310.00

PW UTILITIES MANAGER 60,981.00 14,330.76 46,650.24 23.50 %2,384.94205-305-437051 60,981.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 62,632.00 15,221.81 47,410.19 24.30 %2,567.28205-305-437055 62,632.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 154,764.00 64,618.79 90,145.21 41.75 %11,582.00205-305-437070 154,764.00

UTILITY WORKER II 165,676.00 18,898.48 146,777.52 11.41 %1,535.44205-305-437071 165,676.00

SEASONAL HELP 77,125.00 3,640.88 73,484.12 4.72 %0.00205-305-439011 77,125.00

OVERTIME 10,000.00 1,053.97 8,946.03 10.54 %149.20205-305-450100 10,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 11,727.00 3,356.26 8,370.74 28.62 %535.67205-305-450500 11,727.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 427,801.00 88,815.89 338,985.11 20.76 %14,255.68205-305-470000 427,801.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 224,481.3235,289.411,116,951.00 1,116,951.00 892,469.68 20.10%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 40,000.00 21,687.46 18,312.54 54.22 %824.42205-305-500110 40,000.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & RE… 630,000.00 176,561.69 453,438.31 28.03 %527.47205-305-520130 630,000.00

STREET LIGHT MAINTENANCE 200,000.00 44,797.97 155,202.03 22.40 %7,523.65205-305-520172 200,000.00

TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE 14,000.00 2,646.47 11,353.53 18.90 %465.05205-305-520176 14,000.00

STREET SIGN MAINTENANCE 50,000.00 10,822.95 39,177.05 21.65 %10,822.95205-305-520178 50,000.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 50,000.00 9,020.91 40,979.09 18.04 %543.34205-305-520320 50,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 4,000.00 435.40 3,564.60 10.89 %87.71205-305-520400 4,000.00

3 - 8



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 9 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 2,500.00 77.50 2,422.50 3.10 %0.00205-305-540220 2,500.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFE… 20,000.00 472.44 19,527.56 2.36 %58.60205-305-540300 20,000.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 7,500.00 0.00 7,500.00 0.00 %0.00205-305-540400 7,500.00

UTILITIES 2,500.00 311.04 2,188.96 12.44 %52.31205-305-560100 2,500.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 266,833.8320,905.501,020,500.00 1,020,500.00 753,666.17 26.15%

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESER… 250,000.00 0.00 250,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-305-660100 250,000.00

BIKEWAY & SIDEWALK IMPROVEM… 19,447.00 0.00 19,447.00 0.00 %0.00205-305-675056 19,447.00

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJEC… 1,884,122.00 78,538.89 1,805,583.11 4.17 %0.00205-305-676050 1,884,122.00

RESERVE FROM  SDC'S 596,139.00 0.00 596,139.00 0.00 %0.00205-305-678090 596,139.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 78,538.890.002,749,708.00 2,749,708.00 2,671,169.11 2.86%

Department: 305 - ROAD AND STREET Total: 569,854.0456,194.914,887,159.00 4,887,159.00 4,317,304.96 11.66%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 584,717.00 0.00 584,717.00 0.00 %0.00205-920-899100 584,717.00

TRANSFER OUT TO SEWER FUND 277,555.00 0.00 277,555.00 0.00 %0.00205-920-899730 277,555.00

TRANSFER OUT TO WATER 277,555.00 0.00 277,555.00 0.00 %0.00205-920-899740 277,555.00

TRANSFER OUT TO STORM 277,555.00 0.00 277,555.00 0.00 %0.00205-920-899750 277,555.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.001,417,382.00 1,417,382.00 1,417,382.00 0.00%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.001,417,382.00 1,417,382.00 1,417,382.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 400,000.00 0.00 400,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-990-910000 400,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00%

Expense Total: 569,854.0456,194.916,704,541.00 6,704,541.00 6,134,686.96 8.50%

Fund: 205 - ROAD AND STREET FUND Surplus (Deficit): -56,281.7538,166.230.00 0.00 -56,281.75 0.00%

3 - 9



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 10 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 228 - POLICE LEVY FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 23,000.00 0.00 -23,000.00 0.00 %0.00228-000-309999 23,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.0023,000.00 23,000.00 -23,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES

CURRENT LEVY TAX 1,515,498.00 685,960.03 -829,537.97 45.26 %141,667.42228-000-310020 1,515,498.00

PRIOR YEAR TAXES 10,000.00 3,175.36 -6,824.64 31.75 %157.34228-000-310050 10,000.00

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES Total: 689,135.39141,824.761,525,498.00 1,525,498.00 -836,362.61 45.17%

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST

INTEREST 4,000.00 3,001.21 -998.79 75.03 %2,042.89228-000-330100 4,000.00

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST Total: 3,001.212,042.894,000.00 4,000.00 -998.79 75.03%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 692,136.60143,867.651,552,498.00 1,552,498.00 -860,361.40 44.58%

Revenue Total: 692,136.60143,867.651,552,498.00 1,552,498.00 -860,361.40 44.58%

Expense

Department: 245 - POLICE LEVY

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

POLICE OFFICER 184,338.00 51,437.69 132,900.31 27.90 %8,575.23228-245-432160 184,338.00

SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 184,338.00 0.00 184,338.00 0.00 %0.00228-245-432165 184,338.00

MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE SPECIALIST 137,556.00 24,487.11 113,068.89 17.80 %5,021.00228-245-432180 137,556.00

EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT 161,508.00 40,051.92 121,456.08 24.80 %6,736.92228-245-432195 161,508.00

OVERTIME 30,000.00 4,999.46 25,000.54 16.66 %577.76228-245-450100 30,000.00

HOLIDAY PAY 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 0.00 %0.00228-245-450200 4,000.00

PROFICIENCY PAY 67,507.00 8,256.74 59,250.26 12.23 %1,377.64228-245-450300 67,507.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 0.00 1,124.28 -1,124.28 0.00 %189.74228-245-450500 0.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 490,468.00 79,454.42 411,013.58 16.20 %13,283.88228-245-470000 490,468.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 209,811.6235,762.171,259,715.00 1,259,715.00 1,049,903.38 16.66%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

SHARE COST CCOM DISPATCH 161,386.00 40,634.78 120,751.22 25.18 %6,772.46228-245-500498 161,386.00

SRO EXPENSES 4,000.00 3,228.78 771.22 80.72 %0.00228-245-510032 4,000.00

K-9 EXPENSES 14,000.00 17,482.77 -3,482.77 124.88 %1,570.73228-245-510040 14,000.00

SWAT PROGRAM 8,200.00 0.00 8,200.00 0.00 %0.00228-245-510041 8,200.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 61,346.338,343.19187,586.00 187,586.00 126,239.67 32.70%

Department: 245 - POLICE LEVY Total: 271,157.9544,105.361,447,301.00 1,447,301.00 1,176,143.05 18.74%

Department: 991 - UNAPPROPRIATED BALANCE

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

UNAPPROPRIATED ENDING FUND B… 105,197.00 0.00 105,197.00 0.00 %0.00228-991-990000 105,197.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00105,197.00 105,197.00 105,197.00 0.00%

Department: 991 - UNAPPROPRIATED BALANCE Total: 0.000.00105,197.00 105,197.00 105,197.00 0.00%

Expense Total: 271,157.9544,105.361,552,498.00 1,552,498.00 1,281,340.05 17.47%

Fund: 228 - POLICE LEVY FUND Surplus (Deficit): 420,978.6599,762.290.00 0.00 420,978.65 0.00%

3 - 10



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 11 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 229 - FIRE LEVY FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 160,000.00 0.00 -160,000.00 0.00 %0.00229-000-309999 160,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.00160,000.00 160,000.00 -160,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES

CURRENT LEVY TAX 690,889.00 312,450.11 -378,438.89 45.22 %64,528.54229-000-310020 690,889.00

PRIOR YEAR TAXES 5,000.00 1,446.37 -3,553.63 28.93 %71.67229-000-310050 5,000.00

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES Total: 313,896.4864,600.21695,889.00 695,889.00 -381,992.52 45.11%

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST

INTEREST 6,000.00 6,547.76 547.76 109.13 %2,094.59229-000-330100 6,000.00

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST Total: 6,547.762,094.596,000.00 6,000.00 547.76 109.13%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 320,444.2466,694.80861,889.00 861,889.00 -541,444.76 37.18%

Revenue Total: 320,444.2466,694.80861,889.00 861,889.00 -541,444.76 37.18%

Expense

Department: 255 - FIRE LEVY

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 861,889.00 39,436.45 822,452.55 4.58 %31,793.00229-255-500110 861,889.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 39,436.4531,793.00861,889.00 861,889.00 822,452.55 4.58%

Department: 255 - FIRE LEVY Total: 39,436.4531,793.00861,889.00 861,889.00 822,452.55 4.58%

Expense Total: 39,436.4531,793.00861,889.00 861,889.00 822,452.55 4.58%

Fund: 229 - FIRE LEVY FUND Surplus (Deficit): 281,007.7934,901.800.00 0.00 281,007.79 0.00%

3 - 11



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 12 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 390 - URBAN RENEWAL FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 2,980,000.00 0.00 -2,980,000.00 0.00 %0.00390-000-309999 2,980,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.002,980,000.00 2,980,000.00 -2,980,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES

CURRENT YEAR TAXES 2,129,997.00 1,011,911.15 -1,118,085.85 47.51 %209,151.36390-000-310010 2,129,997.00

PRIOR YEAR TAXES 18,000.00 4,605.46 -13,394.54 25.59 %228.05390-000-310050 18,000.00

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES Total: 1,016,516.61209,379.412,147,997.00 2,147,997.00 -1,131,480.39 47.32%

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST

INTEREST 100,000.00 62,280.44 -37,719.56 62.28 %13,928.71390-000-330100 100,000.00

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST Total: 62,280.4413,928.71100,000.00 100,000.00 -37,719.56 62.28%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 1,078,797.05223,308.125,227,997.00 5,227,997.00 -4,149,199.95 20.63%

Revenue Total: 1,078,797.05223,308.125,227,997.00 5,227,997.00 -4,149,199.95 20.63%

Expense

Department: 410 - URBAN RENEWAL

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 22,000.00 3,480.00 18,520.00 15.82 %1,350.00390-410-500110 22,000.00

MUNICIPAL AUDIT CONTRACT 38,000.00 0.00 38,000.00 0.00 %0.00390-410-500120 38,000.00

FIRE & LIABILITY INSURANCE 69,000.00 0.00 69,000.00 0.00 %0.00390-410-530000 69,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 3,480.001,350.00129,000.00 129,000.00 125,520.00 2.70%

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE

DEBT SERVICE PRINCIPAL 986,320.00 485,896.00 500,424.00 49.26 %0.00390-410-730030 986,320.00

DEBT SERVICE - INTEREST 89,952.00 29,806.60 60,145.40 33.14 %0.00390-410-730040 89,952.00

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 515,702.600.001,076,272.00 1,076,272.00 560,569.40 47.92%

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 590,503.00 245,866.48 344,636.52 41.64 %0.00390-410-899100 590,503.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 245,866.480.00590,503.00 590,503.00 344,636.52 41.64%

Department: 410 - URBAN RENEWAL Total: 765,049.081,350.001,795,775.00 1,795,775.00 1,030,725.92 42.60%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 3,432,222.00 0.00 3,432,222.00 0.00 %0.00390-990-910000 3,432,222.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.003,432,222.00 3,432,222.00 3,432,222.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.003,432,222.00 3,432,222.00 3,432,222.00 0.00%

Expense Total: 765,049.081,350.005,227,997.00 5,227,997.00 4,462,947.92 14.63%

Fund: 390 - URBAN RENEWAL FUND Surplus (Deficit): 313,747.97221,958.120.00 0.00 313,747.97 0.00%

3 - 12



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 13 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 730 - SEWER FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 4,400,000.00 0.00 -4,400,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-000-309999 4,400,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.004,400,000.00 4,400,000.00 -4,400,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES

OAK LODGE SANITARY 1,900,000.00 522,311.93 -1,377,688.07 27.49 %86,955.79730-000-314050 1,900,000.00

TRI-CITY SERVICE DISTRICT 6,505,000.00 1,636,153.72 -4,868,846.28 25.15 %265,219.94730-000-314055 6,505,000.00

CONNECTION FEES 10,000.00 0.00 -10,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-000-314080 10,000.00

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES Total: 2,158,465.65352,175.738,415,000.00 8,415,000.00 -6,256,534.35 25.65%

RptType: 3141 - SDC

SEWER SDCS 20,000.00 0.00 -20,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-000-314110 20,000.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 0.000.0020,000.00 20,000.00 -20,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER SEWER RECEIPTS 482,033.00 1,000.00 -481,033.00 0.21 %300.00730-000-360000 482,033.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 1,000.00300.00482,033.00 482,033.00 -481,033.00 0.21%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 2,159,465.65352,475.7313,317,033.00 13,317,033.00 -11,157,567.35 16.22%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

OPERATING TRANSFERS IN-ARPA RE… 840,000.00 0.00 -840,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-910-399105 840,000.00

TRANSFER IN FROM ROAD & STREET… 277,555.00 0.00 -277,555.00 0.00 %0.00730-910-399205 277,555.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 0.000.001,117,555.00 1,117,555.00 -1,117,555.00 0.00%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 0.000.001,117,555.00 1,117,555.00 -1,117,555.00 0.00%

Revenue Total: 2,159,465.65352,475.7314,434,588.00 14,434,588.00 -12,275,122.35 14.96%

Expense

Department: 703 - SEWER

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

ACCOUNTING CLERK 34,269.00 7,842.00 26,427.00 22.88 %1,307.00730-703-431500 34,269.00

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 56,935.00 13,389.46 43,545.54 23.52 %2,279.20730-703-437049 56,935.00

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 60,560.00 13,906.97 46,653.03 22.96 %2,308.68730-703-437050 60,560.00

PW UTILITIES MANAGER 60,981.00 14,330.76 46,650.24 23.50 %2,384.94730-703-437051 60,981.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 62,632.00 15,221.81 47,410.19 24.30 %2,567.28730-703-437055 62,632.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 71,964.00 18,035.57 53,928.43 25.06 %3,177.00730-703-437070 71,964.00

UTILITY WORKER II 37,216.00 21,796.32 15,419.68 58.57 %3,640.78730-703-437071 37,216.00

UTILITY WORKER III 146,012.00 14,779.45 131,232.55 10.12 %3,330.11730-703-437072 146,012.00

SEASONAL HELP 38,600.00 0.00 38,600.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-439011 38,600.00

OVERTIME 10,000.00 549.77 9,450.23 5.50 %149.20730-703-450100 10,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 6,148.00 1,052.30 5,095.70 17.12 %153.48730-703-450500 6,148.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 351,705.00 75,671.27 276,033.73 21.52 %13,237.47730-703-470000 351,705.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 196,575.6834,535.14937,022.00 937,022.00 740,446.32 20.98%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 64,000.00 10,675.94 53,324.06 16.68 %962.71730-703-500110 64,000.00

OAK LODGE SANITARY DISTRICT 1,193,800.00 366,473.28 827,326.72 30.70 %122,157.76730-703-500456 1,193,800.00

WATER ENVIRONMENT SERVICES (… 2,891,161.00 747,188.61 2,143,972.39 25.84 %121,365.29730-703-500458 2,891,161.00

BANK CHARGES 72,500.00 15,046.09 57,453.91 20.75 %62.23730-703-520120 72,500.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & RE… 100,000.00 8,913.13 91,086.87 8.91 %597.41730-703-520130 100,000.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 57,800.00 10,021.59 47,778.41 17.34 %2,012.08730-703-520320 57,800.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 5,000.00 1,039.28 3,960.72 20.79 %230.31730-703-520400 5,000.00

UTILITY BILLS & POSTAGE 17,500.00 4,697.45 12,802.55 26.84 %715.63730-703-520430 17,500.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 5,000.00 934.94 4,065.06 18.70 %43.34730-703-540220 5,000.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFE… 15,000.00 1,611.39 13,388.61 10.74 %41.61730-703-540300 15,000.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 8,000.00 0.00 8,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-540400 8,000.00

UTILITIES 5,000.00 658.74 4,341.26 13.17 %117.14730-703-560100 5,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 1,167,260.44248,305.514,434,761.00 4,434,761.00 3,267,500.56 26.32%

3 - 13



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 14 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESER… 665,000.00 0.00 665,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-660100 665,000.00

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJEC… 6,648,471.00 44,190.83 6,604,280.17 0.66 %1,343.04730-703-676050 6,648,471.00

RESERVE FROM SDC'S 469,159.00 0.00 469,159.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-678090 469,159.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 44,190.831,343.047,782,630.00 7,782,630.00 7,738,439.17 0.57%

Department: 703 - SEWER Total: 1,408,026.95284,183.6913,154,413.00 13,154,413.00 11,746,386.05 10.70%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 417,900.00 0.00 417,900.00 0.00 %0.00730-920-899100 417,900.00

TRANSFER OUT TO ROAD & STREET … 462,275.00 0.00 462,275.00 0.00 %0.00730-920-899205 462,275.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.00880,175.00 880,175.00 880,175.00 0.00%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.00880,175.00 880,175.00 880,175.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 400,000.00 0.00 400,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-990-910000 400,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00%

Expense Total: 1,408,026.95284,183.6914,434,588.00 14,434,588.00 13,026,561.05 9.75%

Fund: 730 - SEWER FUND Surplus (Deficit): 751,438.7068,292.040.00 0.00 751,438.70 0.00%

3 - 14



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 15 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 740 - WATER FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 6,100,000.00 0.00 -6,100,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-000-309999 6,100,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.006,100,000.00 6,100,000.00 -6,100,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES

WATER SERVICE REVENUE 6,350,000.00 1,599,148.19 -4,750,851.81 25.18 %196,982.94740-000-314060 6,350,000.00

WATER SERVICE CONNECTIONS 10,000.00 890.00 -9,110.00 8.90 %0.00740-000-314080 10,000.00

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES Total: 1,600,038.19196,982.946,360,000.00 6,360,000.00 -4,759,961.81 25.16%

RptType: 3141 - SDC

WATER SDC'S 20,000.00 19,860.80 -139.20 99.30 %0.00740-000-314110 20,000.00

SDC Reimbursement Fee 0.00 1,204.20 1,204.20 0.00 %0.00740-000-314111 0.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 21,065.000.0020,000.00 20,000.00 1,065.00 105.33%

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER WATER RECEIPTS 0.00 -482.50 -482.50 0.00 %0.00740-000-360000 0.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: -482.500.000.00 0.00 -482.50 0.00%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 1,620,620.69196,982.9412,480,000.00 12,480,000.00 -10,859,379.31 12.99%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM ROAD & STREET… 277,555.00 0.00 -277,555.00 0.00 %0.00740-910-399205 277,555.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 0.000.00277,555.00 277,555.00 -277,555.00 0.00%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 0.000.00277,555.00 277,555.00 -277,555.00 0.00%

Revenue Total: 1,620,620.69196,982.9412,757,555.00 12,757,555.00 -11,136,934.31 12.70%

Expense

Department: 704 - WATER

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

ACCOUNTING CLERK 41,123.00 9,410.40 31,712.60 22.88 %1,568.40740-704-431500 41,123.00

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 56,935.00 13,389.46 43,545.54 23.52 %2,279.20740-704-437049 56,935.00

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 62,396.00 14,369.96 48,026.04 23.03 %2,378.64740-704-437050 62,396.00

PW UTILITIES MANAGER 60,981.00 14,218.26 46,762.74 23.32 %2,366.19740-704-437051 60,981.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 62,632.00 15,221.81 47,410.19 24.30 %2,567.28740-704-437055 62,632.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 154,764.00 38,153.60 116,610.40 24.65 %6,354.00740-704-437070 154,764.00

UTILITY WORKER II 155,649.00 37,506.18 118,142.82 24.10 %6,251.03740-704-437071 155,649.00

SEASONAL HELP 38,600.00 0.00 38,600.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-439011 38,600.00

OVERTIME 10,000.00 657.97 9,342.03 6.58 %149.20740-704-450100 10,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 6,746.00 1,425.72 5,320.28 21.13 %219.82740-704-450500 6,746.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 370,175.00 85,096.71 285,078.29 22.99 %14,633.66740-704-470000 370,175.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 229,450.0738,767.421,020,001.00 1,020,001.00 790,550.93 22.50%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 275,000.00 22,297.89 252,702.11 8.11 %2,110.48740-704-500110 275,000.00

METER READING CONTRACT 64,000.00 14,288.52 49,711.48 22.33 %4,763.76740-704-500240 64,000.00

WHOLESALE WATER 1,272,960.00 298,564.88 974,395.12 23.45 %90,840.47740-704-500425 1,272,960.00

BANK CHARGES 72,000.00 14,031.21 57,968.79 19.49 %-42.75740-704-520120 72,000.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & RE… 250,000.00 37,292.23 212,707.77 14.92 %834.09740-704-520130 250,000.00

LABORATORY WATER TESTS 40,000.00 5,730.00 34,270.00 14.33 %1,290.00740-704-520162 40,000.00

FIRE HYDRANT MAINTENANCE & RE… 25,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-520165 25,000.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 45,000.00 10,637.68 34,362.32 23.64 %2,769.89740-704-520320 45,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 6,000.00 1,072.88 4,927.12 17.88 %230.31740-704-520400 6,000.00

UTILITY BILLS & POSTAGE 17,500.00 4,804.23 12,695.77 27.45 %822.41740-704-520430 17,500.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 5,000.00 934.93 4,065.07 18.70 %43.33740-704-540220 5,000.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFE… 15,000.00 1,192.22 13,807.78 7.95 %41.63740-704-540300 15,000.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 15,000.00 0.00 15,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-540400 15,000.00

UTILITIES 50,000.00 11,487.16 38,512.84 22.97 %2,071.76740-704-560100 50,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 422,333.83105,775.382,152,460.00 2,152,460.00 1,730,126.17 19.62%

3 - 15



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 16 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESER… 279,000.00 0.00 279,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-660100 279,000.00

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJEC… 7,018,269.00 12,371.87 7,005,897.13 0.18 %0.00740-704-676050 7,018,269.00

RESERVE FROM SDC'S 657,771.00 0.00 657,771.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-678090 657,771.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 12,371.870.007,955,040.00 7,955,040.00 7,942,668.13 0.16%

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE

2005 BONDED DEBT/PRINCIPAL 347,000.00 0.00 347,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-720040 347,000.00

2005 BONDED DEBT/INTEREST 10,376.00 3,455.10 6,920.90 33.30 %3,455.10740-704-730040 10,376.00

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 3,455.103,455.10357,376.00 357,376.00 353,920.90 0.97%

Department: 704 - WATER Total: 667,610.87147,997.9011,484,877.00 11,484,877.00 10,817,266.13 5.81%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 523,678.00 0.00 523,678.00 0.00 %0.00740-920-899100 523,678.00

TRANSFER OUT TO ROAD & STREET … 349,000.00 0.00 349,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-920-899205 349,000.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.00872,678.00 872,678.00 872,678.00 0.00%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.00872,678.00 872,678.00 872,678.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 400,000.00 0.00 400,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-990-910000 400,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00%

Expense Total: 667,610.87147,997.9012,757,555.00 12,757,555.00 12,089,944.13 5.23%

Fund: 740 - WATER FUND Surplus (Deficit): 953,009.8248,985.040.00 0.00 953,009.82 0.00%

3 - 16



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 17 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 750 - STORM WATER FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 1,875,000.00 0.00 -1,875,000.00 0.00 %0.00750-000-309999 1,875,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.001,875,000.00 1,875,000.00 -1,875,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES

STORM REVENUE 2,010,500.00 491,848.54 -1,518,651.46 24.46 %81,971.78750-000-314060 2,010,500.00

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES Total: 491,848.5481,971.782,010,500.00 2,010,500.00 -1,518,651.46 24.46%

RptType: 3141 - SDC

STORMWATER SDC'S 11,000.00 0.00 -11,000.00 0.00 %0.00750-000-314110 11,000.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 0.000.0011,000.00 11,000.00 -11,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER STORM FUND RESOURC… 187,833.00 0.00 -187,833.00 0.00 %0.00750-000-360000 187,833.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 0.000.00187,833.00 187,833.00 -187,833.00 0.00%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 491,848.5481,971.784,084,333.00 4,084,333.00 -3,592,484.46 12.04%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM ARPA FUND 360,000.00 0.00 -360,000.00 0.00 %0.00750-910-399105 360,000.00

TRANSFER IN FROM ROAD & STREET… 277,555.00 0.00 -277,555.00 0.00 %0.00750-910-399205 277,555.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 0.000.00637,555.00 637,555.00 -637,555.00 0.00%

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 0.000.00637,555.00 637,555.00 -637,555.00 0.00%

Revenue Total: 491,848.5481,971.784,721,888.00 4,721,888.00 -4,230,039.46 10.42%

Expense

Department: 705 - PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

ACCOUNTING CLERK 34,269.00 7,842.00 26,427.00 22.88 %1,307.00750-705-431500 34,269.00

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 56,935.00 13,389.48 43,545.52 23.52 %2,279.20750-705-437049 56,935.00

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 60,560.00 13,865.40 46,694.60 22.90 %2,308.68750-705-437050 60,560.00

PW UTILITIES MANAGER 60,981.00 14,330.64 46,650.36 23.50 %2,384.92750-705-437051 60,981.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 62,632.00 15,221.71 47,410.29 24.30 %2,567.26750-705-437055 62,632.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 71,964.00 18,035.56 53,928.44 25.06 %3,177.00750-705-437070 71,964.00

UTILITY WORKER II 112,157.00 27,935.54 84,221.46 24.91 %6,451.50750-705-437071 112,157.00

UTILITY WORKER III 146,012.00 14,779.41 131,232.59 10.12 %3,330.09750-705-437072 146,012.00

OVERTIME 5,000.00 549.76 4,450.24 11.00 %149.20750-705-450100 5,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 6,148.00 1,052.10 5,095.90 17.11 %153.46750-705-450500 6,148.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 376,348.00 76,737.53 299,610.47 20.39 %13,758.40750-705-470000 376,348.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 203,739.1337,866.71993,006.00 993,006.00 789,266.87 20.52%

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL S… 44,000.00 11,320.59 32,679.41 25.73 %922.40750-705-500110 44,000.00

BANK CHARGES 80,000.00 15,046.72 64,953.28 18.81 %62.22750-705-520120 80,000.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & RE… 60,000.00 13,003.99 46,996.01 21.67 %1,320.93750-705-520130 60,000.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 50,000.00 10,021.27 39,978.73 20.04 %285.21750-705-520320 50,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 5,000.00 1,039.20 3,960.80 20.78 %230.36750-705-520400 5,000.00

UTILITY BILLS & POSTAGE 17,500.00 4,698.88 12,801.12 26.85 %715.84750-705-520430 17,500.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 2,000.00 43.33 1,956.67 2.17 %43.33750-705-540220 2,000.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFE… 6,000.00 1,576.95 4,423.05 26.28 %41.63750-705-540300 6,000.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 7,500.00 0.00 7,500.00 0.00 %0.00750-705-540400 7,500.00

UTILITIES 2,000.00 311.06 1,688.94 15.55 %52.31750-705-560100 2,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 57,061.993,674.23274,000.00 274,000.00 216,938.01 20.83%

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESER… 215,000.00 0.00 215,000.00 0.00 %0.00750-705-660100 215,000.00

3 - 17



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 18 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJEC… 2,302,281.00 12,647.12 2,289,633.88 0.55 %1,257.16750-705-676050 2,302,281.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 12,647.121,257.162,517,281.00 2,517,281.00 2,504,633.88 0.50%

Department: 705 - PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR Total: 273,448.2442,798.103,784,287.00 3,784,287.00 3,510,838.76 7.23%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 427,101.00 0.00 427,101.00 0.00 %0.00750-920-899100 427,101.00

TRANSFER OUT TO ROAD & STREET … 110,500.00 0.00 110,500.00 0.00 %0.00750-920-899205 110,500.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.00537,601.00 537,601.00 537,601.00 0.00%

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.00537,601.00 537,601.00 537,601.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 400,000.00 0.00 400,000.00 0.00 %0.00750-990-910000 400,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00%

Expense Total: 273,448.2442,798.104,721,888.00 4,721,888.00 4,448,439.76 5.79%

Fund: 750 - STORM WATER FUND Surplus (Deficit): 218,400.3039,173.680.00 0.00 218,400.30 0.00%

3 - 18



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 19 of 20

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 801 - MUNICIPAL COURT TRUST FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 40,000.00 0.00 -40,000.00 0.00 %0.00801-000-309999 40,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.0040,000.00 40,000.00 -40,000.00 0.00%

RptType: 3260 - FINES AND FORFEITURES

CITY OF GLADSTONE FINES/FEES 710,000.00 138,496.06 -571,503.94 19.51 %25,531.33801-000-326020 710,000.00

CLACKAMAS COUNTY FINES/FEES 34,000.00 5,566.91 -28,433.09 16.37 %808.41801-000-326030 34,000.00

STATE OF OREGON FINES/FEES 122,000.00 22,656.64 -99,343.36 18.57 %3,575.37801-000-326040 122,000.00

RESTITUTION 3,000.00 -100.00 -3,100.00 3.33 %0.00801-000-326050 3,000.00

BOND 1,000.00 1,328.41 328.41 132.84 %331.41801-000-326060 1,000.00

RptType: 3260 - FINES AND FORFEITURES Total: 167,948.0230,246.52870,000.00 870,000.00 -702,051.98 19.30%

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER COURT FEES 0.00 177.50 177.50 0.00 %0.00801-000-360000 0.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 177.500.000.00 0.00 177.50 0.00%

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 168,125.5230,246.52910,000.00 910,000.00 -741,874.48 18.48%

Revenue Total: 168,125.5230,246.52910,000.00 910,000.00 -741,874.48 18.48%

Expense

Department: 220 - COURT

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CITY OF GLADSTONE FINES & FEES 710,000.00 142,196.89 567,803.11 20.03 %23,389.64801-220-500500 710,000.00

CLACKAMAS COUNTY FINES & FEES 34,000.00 6,198.01 27,801.99 18.23 %783.09801-220-500510 34,000.00

STATE OF OREGON FINES & FEES 122,000.00 24,732.13 97,267.87 20.27 %2,713.15801-220-500520 122,000.00

RESTITUTION 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00 %0.00801-220-500530 3,000.00

BOND - COURT 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00 %0.00801-220-500540 1,000.00

ALL OTHER FEES & FINES 0.00 177.50 -177.50 0.00 %0.00801-220-500550 0.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 173,304.5326,885.88870,000.00 870,000.00 696,695.47 19.92%

Department: 220 - COURT Total: 173,304.5326,885.88870,000.00 870,000.00 696,695.47 19.92%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 40,000.00 0.00 40,000.00 0.00 %0.00801-990-910000 40,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.0040,000.00 40,000.00 40,000.00 0.00%

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.0040,000.00 40,000.00 40,000.00 0.00%

Expense Total: 173,304.5326,885.88910,000.00 910,000.00 736,695.47 19.04%

Fund: 801 - MUNICIPAL COURT TRUST FUND Surplus (Deficit): -5,179.013,360.640.00 0.00 -5,179.01 0.00%

Report Surplus (Deficit): 455,640.31 1,878,084.910.00 0.00 1,878,084.91 0.00%

3 - 19



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2023-2024 Period Ending: 12/31/2023

2/5/2024 11:01:05 AM Page 20 of 20

Fund Summary

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)Fund
Period

Activity
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

100 - GENERAL FUND -921,946.79-60,319.530.00 0.00 -921,946.79

105 - AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN RESERVE FUND -77,090.77-38,640.000.00 0.00 -77,090.77

205 - ROAD AND STREET FUND -56,281.7538,166.230.00 0.00 -56,281.75

228 - POLICE LEVY FUND 420,978.6599,762.290.00 0.00 420,978.65

229 - FIRE LEVY FUND 281,007.7934,901.800.00 0.00 281,007.79

390 - URBAN RENEWAL FUND 313,747.97221,958.120.00 0.00 313,747.97

730 - SEWER FUND 751,438.7068,292.040.00 0.00 751,438.70

740 - WATER FUND 953,009.8248,985.040.00 0.00 953,009.82

750 - STORM WATER FUND 218,400.3039,173.680.00 0.00 218,400.30

801 - MUNICIPAL COURT TRUST FUND -5,179.013,360.640.00 0.00 -5,179.01

Report Surplus (Deficit): 455,640.31 1,878,084.910.00 0.00 1,878,084.91

3 - 20



4



Check Date Check No. Vendor Amount Line Item Description

12/06/2023 94067 Anadyne, LLC 2,090.50               Hearing Testing - PD/PW
12/07/2023 518 Gladstone Municipal Court 50.00                     Parking Cite pmts made online in error - Admin
12/07/2023 519 Smith-Wagar Brucker Consulting Inc. 16,387.50             Financial Services - Admin
12/07/2023 94068 A & A Drilling Inc. 313.00                   Drill Bit Sharpening - PW
12/07/2023 94069 American Medical Response 400.00                   Blood Draws - PD
12/07/2023 94070 Aramark 110.42                   Mat Rental - PW
12/07/2023 94071 BMS Technologies 2,147.10               Utility Bill Printing/Mailing - PW
12/07/2023 94072 Brown & Caldwell 1,568.50               Professional Fees - NPDES - PW
12/07/2023 94073 Buell Recreation LLC 51,577.00             Playground Equipment - PW
12/07/2023 94074 Chris Cakes Northwest LLC 503.00                   Employee Appreciation Breakfast - Admin
12/07/2023 94075 Cintas First Aid Lockbox 302.58                   First Aid/Watercooler - PD/PW/CC/Admin
12/07/2023 94076 Clackamas County Finance Department 15,985.00             ADA Ramp Project Costs - PW
12/07/2023 94077 Comcast 52.55                     Digital TV Recorder - PD
12/07/2023 94078 Craig Lewelling 25.00                     Business License Overpayment Refund - Admin
12/07/2023 94079 Donna Mathews 281.00                   Embroidery - PW
12/07/2023 94080 Gold Wrench 586.95                   Vehicle Maintenance - PD
12/07/2023 94081 Oak Lodge Water Services 1,467.94               Water Purchases - PW
12/07/2023 94082 Pamplin Media Group 2,309.20               Newsletter/Meeting Publication - Admin
12/07/2023 94083 Portland General Electric 14,355.06             Electric Usage/Street Lights - PW
12/07/2023 94084 Ronald Dove 106.78                   UB Refund Replacement Ck. - Admin
12/07/2023 94085 Stein Oil Co. Inc. 5,257.21               Gasoline - PD/PW/CC
12/07/2023 94086 Stericycle 178.59                   Shredding Service - PD
12/07/2023 94087 Terex USA LLC 3,564.18               Crane Maintenance/Inspection - PW
12/07/2023 94088 United States Postal Service 1,279.09               Newsletter Postage - Admin
12/07/2023 94089 Verizon Wireless 2,458.87               Cell Phone/Data Lines - IT
12/07/2023 94090 Water Environment Services 121,335.99           Sewer Billing - PW
12/08/2023 94091-94092 UB Refund Checks 43.59                     UB Refund Checks - PW
12/08/2023 94093 T-Mobile 445.79                   Cell Phone Usage - PW/Admin
12/14/2023 520 3J Consulting, Inc. 9,857.50               Planning Services - Admin
12/14/2023 521 BridgePay Network Solutions, LLC 186.70                   Online UB Payment Fees - PW
12/14/2023 522 Ian Jeffrey Slavin 800.00                   Indigent Defense - CT
12/14/2023 523 P & C Construction 313.67                   Hydrant Permit Refund - PW
12/14/2023 94094 Aramark 19.87                     Mat Rental - PW
12/14/2023 94095 Bob Aamot 200.00                   Rental Deposit Refund - Comm Ctr.
12/14/2023 94096 Clackamas County Benevolent Foundation 500.00                   Donation from Elks - PD
12/14/2023 94097 Clackamas County Sheriff's Office 67.00                     MLE Dinner - PD
12/14/2023 94098 Clackamas ESD 1,282.35               Off Site Data Storage - IT
12/14/2023 94099 Edge Analytical, Inc. 40.00                     Water Testing - PW
12/14/2023 94100 General Equipment Co. 2,830.85               CCTV Camera Repair - PW
12/14/2023 94101 Global Grant Services 3,500.00               Grant Support Services - Admin
12/14/2023 94102 Gold Wrench 2,814.20               Vehicle Maintenance - PD
12/14/2023 94103 Guardian Alliance Technologies, Inc. 240.00                   Investigative Software - PD
12/14/2023 94104 Janet Frese 200.00                   Rental Deposit Refund - Comm Ctr.
12/14/2023 94105 Julie Hisel 200.00                   Rental Deposit Refund - Comm Ctr.
12/14/2023 94106 League of Oregon Cities 20.00                     Job Posting - Admin
12/14/2023 94107 Luxury Restroom Trailers 3,055.00               Portable Restrooms/PW Project - Admin
12/14/2023 94108 North Clackamas County Water 45,978.90             Water Purchases - PW
12/14/2023 94109 One Call Concepts Inc 67.20                     Utility Locates - PW
12/14/2023 94110 Oregon DMV 8.00                       Driving Records - PD
12/14/2023 94111 Oregon Mayors Association 200.00                   Annual Membership - Admin
12/14/2023 94112 Pamplin Media Group 52.00                     Clackamas Review Subscription - Admin
12/14/2023 94113 PORAC Legal Defense Fund 330.00                   Legal Defense Fund - PD
12/14/2023 94114 Rae Gordon Music LLC 250.00                   Live Performance - Comm Ctr.
12/14/2023 94115 Sisul Engineering 2,325.00               Professional Fees - PW
12/14/2023 94116 Stein Oil Co. Inc. 3,962.35               Gasoline - PD/PW/CC
12/14/2023 94117 Stitch n' Embroidery Inc. 1,973.00               Logo Embroidery - PD
12/14/2023 94118 TransUnion Risk and Alternative 81.00                     Data Research - PD
12/14/2023 94119 Trio Community Meals 926.29                   Meal Program Supplies - Comm Ctr.
12/18/2023 94020 Washington Federal Bank 3,455.10               Debt Service Interest - PW
12/20/2023 524 8x8, Inc. 1,767.23               Phone Service - IT
12/20/2023 525 Amazon Capital Services 129.00                   Office Supplies - Admin
12/20/2023 526 Oregon Patrol Service 917.80                   Court/Meeting Security

CHECK REGISTER FOR DECEMBER 2023

4 - 1



Check Date Check No. Vendor Amount Line Item Description
CHECK REGISTER FOR DECEMBER 2023

12/20/2023 527 Quadient Finance, USA 450.00                   Postage - All Depts
12/20/2023 528 Quadient Leasing USA Inc. 416.55                   Postage Meter Rental - All Depts
12/20/2023 529 Satcom Global Ltd. 42.75                     Satelite Phone Access - PD
12/20/2023 94121 Allstream 229.79                   Land Lines - PW
12/20/2023 94122 American Medical Response 600.00                   Blood Draws - PD
12/20/2023 94123 Aramark 51.15                     Mat Rental - PW
12/20/2023 94124 Bravo Land Care & Maintenance 945.00                   Landscape Maintenance - PW
12/20/2023 94125 Buel's Impressions Printing 44.00                     Business Card Printing - PD
12/20/2023 94126 City of Oregon City 35.50                     GIS Services - PW
12/20/2023 94127 Clackamas County Benevolent Foundation 50.00                     Donation from Citizen - PD
12/20/2023 94128 Clackamas County Finance Department 235,296.14           Library Support/Dispatch/Signal Maint - Admin/PD/WP
12/20/2023 94129 Clackamas Steel & Mfg. 147.00                   Steel Tubing - PW
12/20/2023 94130 David M. Corey 420.00                   Post Offer Evaluation - PD
12/20/2023 94131 Northwest Success, Inc. 2,253.31               Janitorial Service - PW
12/20/2023 94132 Office Depot 97.96                     Office Supplies - Admin/CT
12/20/2023 94133 Platt Electric Supply 419.85                   Comm Ctr Light/Ballast - PW
12/20/2023 94134 Security Contractor Services 632.63                   MB Playground Fencing - PW
12/20/2023 94135 Sign Guy 285.00                   Vehicle Graphics - PD
12/20/2023 94136 Traffic Safety Supply Co. Inc. 10,822.95             Street Signs - PW
12/22/2023 94137 VCA NW Veterinary Service 12,970.68             K9 Veterinary Care - PD
12/27/2023 94138 - 94139 Payroll Checks 4,805.07               Payroll Checks
12/28/2023 530 Insight Public Sector 19,672.00             Records/Property-Evidence Software - IT
12/28/2023 531 Metereaders 4,763.76               Metereading - PW
12/28/2023 532 Responder Life 2,500.00               Peer Support - PD
12/28/2023 94140 Backflow Management Inc 8.00                       Backflow Test Letters - PW
12/28/2023 94141 Canon Financial Services, Inc. 1,389.14               Copier Leases/Usage - IT
12/28/2023 94142 Cintas First Aid Lockbox 373.82                   First Aid Supplies/Watercooler - Admin/PD/PW/SC
12/28/2023 94143 Curtis, L. N. Co. 485.08                   Uniforms - PD
12/28/2023 94144 Ferguson Enterprises 804.28                   Comm Ctr. Bathroom Faucet - PW
12/28/2023 94145 J. Thayer Co. 128.45                   Nameplates - Admin
12/28/2023 94146 Norma Alfonso 200.00                   Rental Deposit Refund - Comm Ctr.
12/28/2023 94147 Office Depot 54.61                     Office Supplies - Admin/CT
12/28/2023 94148 Pet Waste Eliminator 459.99                   Pet Waste Bags - PW
12/28/2023 94149 Walter E. Nelson Co. 1,283.36               Janitorial/Paper Products - PW
12/28/2023 533 CIS Trust 66,602.52             Monthly Health Insurance
12/28/2023 534 HRA VEBA Plan 3,343.87               Employer VEBA contribution
12/28/2023 535 MissionSquare Retirement 8,507.19               Voluntary Payroll Deferred Comp
12/28/2023 94150 Axa Equi-Vest 8,894.12               Voluntary Payroll Deferred Comp
12/28/2023 94151 Clackamas Community Federal Credit Union 936.18                   GPA Union Dues
12/28/2023 94152 Equitable 1,463.22               Non-PERS Retirement Pmt
12/28/2023 94153 Equitable Financial Life Insurance Co. 86.00                     Non-PERS Retirement Pmt
12/28/2023 94154 Oregon AFSCME Council #75 1,332.80               AFSCME Union Dues
12/29/2023 536 Jill Tate 418.50                   Transcription - Admin
12/29/2023 94155 Pacific Mobile Structures, Inc. 584.00                   Mobile Office Rental - PW
12/29/2023 94156 Pioneer Animal Hospital 1,235.00               K9 Veterinary Care - PD
12/29/2023 94157 Providence Health Services Oregon 353.00                   Officer Candidate Physical - Admin

Total December 2023 Payments 730,626.62$         

4 - 2



5



Attorneys: July, 2023 Aug, 2023 Sept, 2023 Oct, 2023 Nov, 2023 Dec, 2023 Totals

City Charter -$                 -$               -$               -$                -$               -$                 
Elections 132.50             114.00           -                 -                  -                 246.50             
Finance -                   -                 256.50           -                  342.00           598.50             
General 199.50             1,311.00       759.50           285.00            541.50           3,096.50          
          Meeting Attendance -                   -                 -                 -                  -                 -                   
Governance/City Council 655.50             370.50           456.00           969.00            -                 2,451.00          
          Meeting Attendance 1,852.50         684.00           912.00           427.50            684.00           4,560.00          
Intergovernmental 57.00               114.00           484.50           -                  -                 655.50             
          Meeting Attendance -                   -                 -                 -                  -                 -                   
Land Use/ Community Development 1,054.50         855.00           142.50           572.80            -                 2,624.80          
          Meeting Attendance -                   114.00           -                 -                  -                 114.00             
Parks & Recreation 28.50               -                 -                 -                 28.50               
Personnel/Labor -                   826.50           1,425.00       17,105.50      4,426.00        23,783.00        
          GPA -                   -                 -                 -                  -                 -                   
         City Administration -                   -                 -                 -                  -                 -                   
          Personnel Handbook -                   -                 -                 -                  -                 -                   
          Meeting Attendance -                   -                 -                 -                  -                 -                   
Public Records & Meetings 399.00             -                 -                 513.00            -                 912.00             
Public Safety 199.50             -                 199.50           484.50            -                 883.50             
Public Works 464.50             -                 142.50           -                  370.50           977.50             

Public Works Facility Project 737.00             199.50           -                 -                  -                 936.50             
Real Property Transactions 57.00               -                 -                 -                  -                 57.00               
Risk Management/Litigation 28.50               -                 142.50           57.00              85.50             313.50             
Rights of Way-Telecommunications 4,210.50         1,437.50       562.50           -                  750.00           6,960.50          
Urban Renewal -                   -                 -                 -                  -                 -                   

Total 10,076.00$     6,026.00$     5,483.00$     20,414.30$    7,199.50$     -$               49,198.80$     

ATTORNEY CHARGES

Attorneys: Jan, 2024 Feb, 2024 Mar, 2024 Apr, 2024 May, 2024 June, 2024
Totals for

 Year

City Charter -$                 
Elections 246.50             
Finance 598.50             
General 3,096.50          
          Meeting Attendance -                   
Governance/City Council 2,451.00          
          Meeting Attendance 4,560.00          
Intergovernmental 655.50             
         Meeting Attendance -                   
Land Use/ Community Development 2,624.80          
          Meeting Attendance 114.00             
Parks & Recreation 28.50               
Personnel/Labor 23,783.00        
          GPA -                   
         City Administration -                   
          Personnel Handbook -                   
          Meeting Attendance -                   
Public Records & Meetings 912.00             
Public Safety 883.50             
Public Works 977.50             

Public Works Facility Project 936.50             
Real Property Transactions 57.00               
Risk Management/Litigation 313.50             
Rights of Way-Telecommunications 6,960.50          
Urban Renewal -                   

Total -$                 -$               -$               -$                -$               -$               49,198.80$     

5 - 1





6



 
                 

 Public Works 
 

Staff Report for   

January 2024 
 

       Report Date : January 31, 2024 
To : Jacque M. Betz, City Administrator 

Copy : Mayor and City Council 
From : Darren Caniparoli, Public Works Director 

 
 

WATER: 
 

 Utility billing service orders. 

 Routine coliform sampling, system chlorine residual monitoring  

 Routine pumpstation/reservoir inspections  

 Utility billing door hangers and shut-offs for nonpayment. 

 Call in the city’s Master Meter read to the treatment plant weekly 

 Change the recording charts at the Webster Reservoir Pump Station weekly 

 Investigate meter readings for discrepancies, high usage, leaks, re-reads for 

Utility Billing. 

During the recent ice storm, a power outage in the Ridgegate area caused an 

electrical issue at the Webster pump station. To prevent a loss of pressure to the 

affected area the system functioned properly in pulling off the Oaklodge Water 

District inter-tie, the city remained on the inter-tie until the electrical issue could 

be resolved; which was about 5 days.  

 

 

 

 

Crews assisted multiple residents with water shut offs during the ice 

storm and several days following.    

Crews also responded to assist with shutting off the water at the Lake 

Oswego Intake due to a water line break. (Pictured left)   

 

 

 

6 - 1



 
                 

 

 

 

Crews have stayed busy with plenty of water 

repairs and service replacements recently.   

The service line at 510 E. Arlington was 

replaced due to the significant break in the 

line, which could not be repaired adequately.   

 

 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

It was all hands on deck for a 

water main break on Oatfield Rd. 

just south of Ridgegate Dr.   

Crews were onsite making repairs 

in very cold temperatures right 

before the ice storm hit. Paving 

the area of the repair took place 

following the ice storm when 

ground temperatures were more 

“ideal”.   

 

 

 

 

 

SEWER: 
 

• Following the warm-up from the recent weather event, the sewer department received an alert to a spike in the 
water level at a monitored manhole.  Crews installed a sand bag diversion upstream of that manhole to by-pass the 
high flowing manhole to prevent an overflow into the river.  

• The sewer crew is working on line cleaning in the upper zones of the city; crews are also inspecting sewer mains 
utilizing the CCTV truck after cleaning looking for breaks or areas of concern.  

• Crews continue using the camera truck to locate sewer laterals throughout the town and mark them at the curb with 
a sewer marker.  

6 - 2



 
                 

 

STORM:  
 

 With plowing roads during a storm, it is inevitable that catch basins become blocked.  Following the storm crews 

worked to clear our blocked catch basins allowing water to freely flow again.  

 Crews worked to continuously clear debris from the headwall grates to help prevent flooding during the thaw and 

heavy rains that followed. 

 After receiving several calls regarding a possible sinkhole at 

the intersection of Los Verdes and Webster Rd., crews 

utilized the CCTV truck to inspect the storm line at the 

location.  The inspection found a separated storm line.  

With the pipe separated, rock and sediment were falling into 

the pipe causing the sinkhole. Crews called in emergency 

locates, plated the sinkhole and ordered repair parts so that 

the repair could begin as soon as locates were completed.  

 

 

 

PARKS: 
 

 Trash pick-up & Bathrooms cleaned in all parks two days a week.   

 Pressure washing hard surfaces in all city parks is ongoing. 

 Crews winterized all of the park restrooms and drinking fountains to prevent freezing with the drop in temperatures. 

 Vandalism and graffiti clean-up continues in our city parks, mainly the bathrooms and structures within the parks. 

 
Recently Park Journeyman, Scott Johnson came across some suspicious acting teens near the pit toilet at Meldrum 

Bar Park.  Quickly recognizing that they had tagged the bathroom inside and out, he contacted GPD to make a report 

and give a detailed description of the teens.  GPD responded but did not find the teens in the area, Scott came across 

them leaving the area of the River Place apartments heading towards Portland Ave. contacted Officer Lee Gilliam to 

report the location, after a bit of cat and mouse the teens were apprehended.  The city will be holding them 

accountable for their actions; the hope is that they will not do this again. They caused over $1,000.00 in damage to city 

property; a small snippet of their illegal activities is below.     

  

 

6 - 3



 
                 

 

Following the ice storm we had heavy rains. Much like last months 

heavy rains it resulted in high river levels at the Meldrum Bar Boat 

Ramp.  High water levels cause an influx of organic material 

making its way down the river; logs, fallen trees, twigs, large 

sticks.  Crews work to keep the boat ramp and dock area free of 

debris not only to minimize damage to the dock itself but to 

maintain access to our waterway.  The hours spent cleaning and 

clearing this area is also tracked and reported to the Oregon State 

Marine Board as part of our labor match for the MAPS Grant.  The 

MAPS Grant provides a portion of funding for the boating area of 

Meldrum Bar Park. 

 

STREETS:  

• Pothole repair is in full force around town following the ice storm.  We saw a lot of patches fail or bust out due 
to the use of chains.   

• Storm preparations:  Crews worked to make sure all of our equipment was ready to go, prepping/installing the 
snowplow, sanding box and de-icing apparatus in the proper vehicles. Verified we had sufficient magnesium 
chloride on hand, rock for roadways if needed and chains for all of our vehicles.  

 
In preparation, for the storm crews laid down deicer on all of our snow route roads per our snow and ice response plan. 

This not only helps keep the roads clear longer but it also helps keep the snow and ice from bonding to the road 

making it easier to clear the snow with the snow plow. As part of the planning for the storm, crews were shifted to 24-

hour coverage for the storm, running shifts from Midnight to 

noon until Sunday, January 14th. The entire time the crews 

were monitoring road conditions and plowing and sanding 

when needed.  

On Tuesday January 16th freezing rain hit, crews came in 

early, focusing on our roadways and getting city buildings 

ready to open. Crews shoveled sidewalks at all city facilities, 

laid down deicer to prevent refreezing and crews continued 

this through Wednesday January 17th.  

 

 

 

6 - 4



 
                 

 

ADMINISTRATION: 
 

• Completed the Clackamas County WES annual sanitary sewer system I/I member annual report, which will be 

submitted to DEQ. 

• Completed the end of year water main extension summary and submitted to OHA DWS. 

• Assisted a fire flow test at Arlington St and Bellevue Ave. 

• Working on developing a scope of work for the water system unidirectional flushing program design RFP. 

• Working on implementing Hillside Church Preschool development conditions of approval. 

• Working on completing Gladstone’s Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdiction Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan 
Addendum. The final draft is posted on the City website for public review and comments. 

• Working with our members of the Regional Water Providers Consortium and Clackamas River Water Providers to 
enhance water supply interconnectedness and emergency management planning. 

• Clackamas County Building Permit plan reviews, approvals and release letters. 

• Continued development of ROW procedures and rollout of the new ROW Ordinance. ROW Licensing is now 

managed by administration within the Public Works. 

• Approval and issuance of 12 ROW Permits in January with 19 closed out with final tolling inspections. 

• Attended regulatory meetings as required 

• ROW Inspections for private and commercial work within the ROW. 

• Managed the Evergreen Lane Stormline project RPF, issued two addenda items. RFP will close February 7th. 

• System Development Charges, calculations for five private developments and 1 commercial property.   

 

 

 

 

 
 

                                                                         
 
 
 

 

“Good teams become great ones when the members trust each other enough 
to surrender the me for the we.” 
                                                                        ~ Phil Jackson 

         
    

6 - 5



6 - 6



6 - 7



6 - 8



6 - 9



6 - 10



6 - 11



6 - 12



6 - 13



6 - 14



6 - 15



6 - 16



6 - 17



6 - 18



6 - 19



6 - 20



6 - 21



6 - 22



6 - 23



6 - 24



6 - 25



 

City of Gladstone Monthly Planning Report 

January 2024 
PUBLIC CONTACTS/PLANNING ACTIONS 

 

CUSTOMER 
CONTACT/ 

 

Jan 

 

Feb 

 

Mar 

 
April 

 
May 

 
June 

 
July 

 
Aug 

 
Sept 

 
Oct 

 
Nov 

 
D0ec 

YEAR-
TO-DATE 

TOTALS Planning 
Actions 

Customer 
Service 
Counter 
Contacts 

 
0 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
0 

Customer 
phone/email 
Contacts 

 
47 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

47 

Building 
Permits with 
Land Use 
Review 

 

15 

         
  

 

15 

Code 
Compliance 
Review 

0            0 

Pre-application 
Conferences 

1            1 

Administrative 
Decisions 

0            0 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTIONS/DECISIONS 

• Planning Commission canceled due to inclement weather 
 

CITY COUNCIL LAND USE ACTIONS/DECISIONS 

• No City Council Land Use Actions/Decisions in January 2024 

 

PRE-APPLICATION CONFERENCES 

• Lake Oswego Raw Water Intake Facility- Docking station for emergency generators 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PERMITS 

• No Administrative Permits 

 

 

 

 6 - 26



BUILDING PERMITS WITH LAND USE REVIEW 

Date Address Per Permit # Description 

01/02/24 8405 Cason Rd Rd B0558923 Addition to an existing home meeting all required 

dimensional standards. (2nd review) 

1/1/2024 6635 Canterbury DR  B0633923 Replacement of existing deck with new deck 

meeting all dimensional standards. 

01/08/24 19405 McLoughlin Blvd B0658023 Mazda Dealership on-building sign replacements- 4 

new on-building signs all meeting code standards. 

01/08/24 275 W Ipswich St B0210923 Addition of 3 dwelling units to site with one 

dwelling- meets requirements for quadplex (four 

dwelling units on one property). (10th review) 

01/08/24 6703 Park Way  B0620923 
Replacement of an existing deck on a home 

meeting all required dimensional standards. 

01/08/24 740 82ND Drive B0323723 Addition of interior wall to office commercial 

building in the High Rocks Small Business Park. No 

external site or building changes. No applicable 

zoning regulations. (2nd review) 

01/08/24 530 E Gloucester St B0635823 Conversion of a garage to a bedroom, bathroom 

and den accessible internally to the existing home. 

No change to existing building footprint. 

01/08/24 

 

 

19800 Oatfield Rd B0560323 Gladstone Park Conference Center covered 

meeting area- approved by Planning Commission 

in 2023. Meeting all conditions of approval required 

for building permit issuance. (2nd review) 

01/11/24 430 Arlington St B0674223 Addition of a 2nd story dormer/bathroom to an 

existing single-household residential structure 

meeting all required dimensional standards. 

01/16/24 

 

01/29/24 

320 Harvard Ave B0023523 Demolish garage and build second dwelling to 

create duplex on property. Setbacks not met as 

shown. Requested revised site plan. 

Reviewed again. Setbacks still not met. 

1/18/24 435 W Clarendon St B0001024 Conversion of an existing house to a duplex. 

Setbacks not met as shown. Building height not 

shown. Requested revised site plan. 

01/19/24 1085 Portland Ave B0515823 Convert existing office building into a coffee shop. 

All dimensional standards met. 

01/19/24 19795 McLoughlin Blvd B0014824 Sign permits for on-building signs at Taco Bell. 

Building frontage lengths not provided. Requested 

revised plans. 

01/22/24 305 W Gloucester St B0680123 Remodel and expansion of existing house to 

convert one single-household structure into a 

triplex. Setbacks not met. Requested revised plans. 

    

FUTURE ITEMS/PROPERTY UPDATES 
Date Topic 

02-20-24 Planning Commission public hearings regarding Home Occupation Code 
Language Update and The Arlington Tap Room Design Review 

  
 

Page 2 6 - 27



The 
Gladstone 
Community  
Center

Prepared by: Michelle Prusso

Monthly 
Report

January 
2024

6 - 28



918 registered people checked into 
The Gladstone Community Center

 

The Gladstone Community Center had a busy January! We used this month to reflect on 
the year 2023, but also to plan for the upcoming year, 2024. We have some amazing 

activities, programs, and events planned, and we can't wait to share them with our 
community. We are looking forward to another year of success and growth!

1,297 Seniors Received Home Bound 

Meals 

226 Individuals Came to the Center 

for Congregate Meals

232 Home Bound Seniors Received 

Food Boxes 

We answer 1,000's of calls each month! 
This month we took numerous calls in 
the following categories:

 Information and   
Assistance

Reassurance

Case Management

We have 8 volunteers staffing our 

front desk 5 days a week 

8 to 4

We sent out 2394 pounds of food to homebound 
seniors! 
We received generous donations from our 
community, Gleaners, and Gladstone Food Bank.

Monthly 

Revenue? 

Congregate Meal Donations

Home Bound Meal Donations 

Rentals

Transportation Donations

$973.00 

$1,071.25

$980.00

$562.00

Volunteers

Volunteers recorded 

518 hours for January! 

We currently 

have over 100 

volunteers

Clackamas County 
Funds

$5,895.72

Volunteers do various tasks including 
kitchen, dining service, thrift shop, 
food deliveries, food pickups, 
instructors, clerical, front desk, 
cleaning, gardening, and advocacy 
work. 

Rentals For January

4

Chair Exercise Group

What happened this month at The Gladstone Community Center?

6 - 29



19% of Adults 

Living In 

Gladstone are 

65+

Number of Participants

Transportation & Trips

Games & Activities

Chair Exercise &Tai Chi

Community School Class

Socializing

Lunch

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

What Activities Did Participants Do At The Gladstone Community 

Center?

We Offer Evidence Based 
Programs! 

EBPs are research-supported 
programs to promote health and 
prevent disease and include 

components for behavior change 
and self-management. EBP 

participants build skills to take 
control of their health, from 

lowering the risk of falls to better 
managing chronic conditions, 

engaging in physical activity, and 
proactively managing mental 

health.

          The Center also offered many community-based classes and programs this month. 

AARP Safe Driving Class
Foot Clinic
Blood pressure readings
Music at lunch
SMART Reading Lunch N Learn
Health care Lunch N Learn from ElderPlace
Law Talks
Book Talk from Sarah Sanderson 
Tech support
Movie and rootbeer floats
Community bingo
 Gainell, director of SMART & Diane, Volunteer

  
The Gladstone Community Center initiated a "revolving art wall" 

approximately six months ago. This has proven to be an outstanding 
method of introducing new members to the Community Center while 
simultaneously showcasing the work of various artists. Each artist is 
given a one-month time slot to exhibit their art, and we have already 

booked most of 2024. 

Revolving 
Art Wall

6 - 30



P R I O R I T I Z E D  P R O J E C T S

The Community Center is promoting its rentals 

through social media ads, newsletters, and building 

signage.

Deanna collaborated with AARP to simplify the tax 

service we offer at The Center every Friday starting 

February 2nd. We have introduced a new call 

system and given priority to Gladstone residents.  

P R I O R I T I E S

Michelle P. Has started a Music Memory Group 

consisting of volunteers. They hope to offer music 

that elicits emotions and memories to help provide a 

link to a person's past and promote interconnection 

with Alzheimer's and dementia.

Volunteer Music Memory Group

Lunch N Learn Providence ElderPlace

January 2024 new activities! 

Walking Group ~ Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays
Bunco ~ Mondays
Bridge Club ~ Fridays

We are having a fantastic beginning to the 
year 2024 with our ongoing and new 
activities. Our Crochet Group is growing 
bigger every week and we have initiated 
some Center-run groups that we hope will be 
successful. As always, we aim to add more 
activities and enhance the existing ones in 
the future! Crochet Group

6 - 31



Winter Weather

             
            

  

The Gladstone Community Center is proud to report that 
throughout all the ice, snow, and storms this month we provided 
hot or frozen meals for each day to our Home Bound Seniors! 

There were some disruptions in the Adventure Trips 
schedule this month due to time off and icy roads. 

However, we took our patrons to Lakewood Theater to 
watch "A Tomb With A View" and also had a fun outing to 
Value Village in Tigard. We followed this up with lunch at 

Banning's Restaurant and Pie House.

Gladstone Public Works 
did an excellent job of 
clearing and de-icing 

The Center's parking lot.

Michelle M. Our transportation driver, helped patrons with 
shopping and doctor appointments as soon as the roads 

were clear.

Transportation

6 - 32



Working With 
Gladstone 

School District

John Wetten 
Elementary 
School Pen Pal 
Program

Gladstone High 
School Youth 
Transition 
Program

John and Merilee 
Wetten gift 
endowment

We are excited to announce that we will be starting our second year of the Pen 
Pal program this month! Fourth-grade classes from John Wetten Elementary 
School and our Home Bound Meal participants will be exchanging letters 
throughout the entire school year. Last year, we organized an ice cream social 
where all the participants and students met. John Wetten himself joined us, and 
we received a generous donation from our local Baskin Robbins to provide the 
ice cream. Wendy Wilson, a dedicated volunteer, makes all this happen every 
year!

The Youth Transition Program (YTP) assists high school students with 
diagnosed disabilities in preparing for competitive employment after 
graduation.

Partnerships

Meet and Greet Pen Pals 

6 - 33



THANK 
YOU

The Gladstone Community Center 

1050 Portland Ave

Gladstone Oregon 97027

503-655-7701

https://www.ci.gladstone.or.us/sc

6 - 34



 

 GLADSTONE MUNICIPAL COURT FROM JANUARY 2024 
 

General Court Information from January 2024 
 

 27 traffic citations filed  
 41 violations disposed 
 3 misdemeanors filed  
 5 misdemeanors disposed 
 6 payment agreements entered 
 22 warrants were issued 
 34 payment reminders were mailed to defendants 
 11 driver’s licenses were requested suspended  
 12 driver’s licenses were released 
 30 cases were sent to collections 
 0 cases were sent to the Department of Revenue 
 0 Jury trial was held 
 $12,915.00 in violation fees assessed 
 $16,203.81 in violation fees paid 
 $5,555.00 in misdemeanor fees assessed 
 $7,372.17 in misdemeanor fees paid 
 $397.36 collection with Department of Revenue 
 $8,244.05 collected with The Western Agency  

 

 

Tr
af

fic
 C

ite
s I

ss
ue

d 
20

22
 

Tr
af

fic
 C

ite
s I

ss
ue

d 
20

23
 

Tr
af

fic
 C

ite
s I

ss
ue

d 
20

24
 

Tr
af

fic
 V

io
l D

isp
 2

02
2 

Tr
af

fic
 V

io
l D

isp
 2

02
3 

Tr
af

fic
 V

io
l D

isp
 2

02
4 

M
isd

. I
ss

ue
d 

20
22

 

M
Isd

. I
ss

ue
d 

20
23

 

M
isd

. I
ss

ue
d 

20
24

 

M
isd

. D
isp

. 2
02

2 

M
Isd

. D
isp

. 2
02

3 

M
isd

. D
isp

. 2
02

4 

Pa
rk

in
g 

20
22

 

Pa
rk

in
g 

20
23

 

Pa
rk

in
g 

20
24

 

Jan 78 120 27 97 132 41 2 2 3 3 10 5 0 1 137 
Feb 86 64  115 173  13 9  8 6  0 1  
Mar 62 129  122 92  3 3  8 6  1 21  
Apr 118 84  93 166  13 8  2 8  3 4  
May 76 69  189 109  4 10  9 9  40 14  
Jun 118 64  150 122  13 10  8 12  13 3  
Jul 42 61  160 111  2 11  9 13  61 7  
Aug 37 59  111 99  16 12  12 10  21 6  
Sep 35 40  76 59  5 7  8 11  5 17  
Oct 37 31  32 57  4 12  3 4  5 38  
Nov 67 49  64 74  4 18  9 3  2 169  
Dec 99 22  62 60  4 9  3 10  0 95  
Total 855 792 27 1271 1254 41 83 111 3 82 102 5 151 376 137 

 
 
 

6 - 35



 

 GLADSTONE MUNICIPAL COURT FROM JANUARY 2024 
 

TRAFFIC FINE & FEES ASSESSED AND PAID BY YEAR 

 
Tr

af
fic

 F
ee

s 
A

ss
es

se
d 

20
22

 

Tr
af

fic
 F

ee
s 

A
ss

es
se

d 
20

23
 

Tr
af

fic
 F

ee
s 

A
ss

es
se

d 
20

24
 

Tr
af

fic
 F

ee
s 

Pa
id

 2
02

2 

Tr
af

fic
 F

ee
s 

Pa
id

 2
02

3 

Tr
af

fic
 F

ee
s 

Pa
id

 2
02

4 

Jan 35,192.50 39,830.00 12,915.00 18,573.88 24,445.59 16,203.81 
Feb 30,750.00 58,120.00  25,724.67 19,848.78  
Mar 33,126.10 22,835.00  36,100.00 21,799.95  
Apr 28,805.00 50,087.50  26,349.01 45,057.40  
May 57,275.00 37,620.00  27,039.72 25,258.81  
Jun 38,788.00 39,330.00  42,927.32 29,711.23  
July 51,636.25 36,920.00  24,562.98 21,100.71  
Aug 28,160.00 33,645.00  25,312.14 21,492.13  
Sept 31,143.00 20,765.00  23,137.49 23,599.95  
Oct 24,148.77 25,622.70  9,505.00 22,156.65  
Nov 17,975.00 19,735.00  20,958.48 21,490.14  
Dec 16,775.00 21,709.23  28,268.41 23,528.86  
       
Total $393,774.62 $406,219.43 $12,915.00 $308,459.10 $299,490.20 $16,203.81 

 
MISDEAMNOR FINE & FEES ASSESSED AND PAID BY YEAR 

 

 
M

isd
em

ea
no

r 
Fe

es
 A

ss
es

se
d 

20
22

 

M
isd

em
ea

no
r 

Fe
es

 A
ss

es
se

d 
20

23
 

 
M

isd
em

ea
no

r 
Fe

es
 A

ss
es

se
d 

20
24

 

 
M

isd
em

ea
no

r 
Fe

es
 P

ai
d 

20
22

 

M
isd

em
ea

no
r 

Fe
es

 P
ai

d 
20

23
 

  
M

isd
em

ea
no

r 
Fe

es
 P

ai
d 

20
24

 

Jan 2,136.00 14,109.00 5,555.00 3,771.92 2,944.52 7,372.17 
Feb 6,511.00 10,168.00  10,412.41 5,025.10  
Mar 5,831.62 6,775.00  6,955.75 4,709.73  
Apr 963.00 12,564.00  6,962.43 10,229.69  
May 7,062.00 5,293.92  1,841.15 8,143.54  
Jun 7,183.00 9,794.00  9,152.68 6,316.30  
July 7,921.38 12,359.10  3,411.36 3,803.50  
Aug 8,991.00 13,131.75  2,149.64 4,873.64  
Sept 6,868.00 10,323.80  2,668.68 7,261.55  
Oct 4,155.73 1,826.00  6,588.00 6,512.99  
Nov 8,535.00 1,990.00  3,654.71 3,690.74  
Dec 2,580.00 9,210.00  2,552.88 6,556.25  
       
Total $68,737.73 $107,544.57 $5,555.00 $60,121.61 $70,067.55 $7,372.17 

 

6 - 36



7







8



 

 
CLACKAMAS 

FIRE DISTRICT  
REPORT 

8 - 1





                
    Here for you 
 

 

FIRE CHIEF’S REPORT 
January 2024

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Jan. 18: CFD, TVFR, and CCSO providing mutual 
aid to Estacada Fire. An individual was stranded 
below Faraday Bridge and rescued with a rope 
system. 

Jan. 2: Clackamas fighters on scene of a 
residen al fire in Milwaukie.  

 On January 1st, Clackamas Fire increased staffing 
with a fourth person – either a firefighter or 
apparatus operator – at the following community 
fire sta ons: #1 – Town Center, #8 Clackamas, #14 
Boring, #19 Damascus, and #15 John Adams 
(Oregon City)   
 

 During the snowstorm, Clackamas Fire responded to 
more than double the usual number of calls. 
Clackamas Fire responded to 1193 incidents. This 
consisted of 1898 apparatus responses as many calls 
required mul ple apparatus. The fire district 
established an incident management plan and 
coordinated with our partners (e.g., law 
enforcement, county disaster managers, AMR) to 
ensure our communi es were protected by all those 
who serve them. 
 

 Clackamas Fire public educators and firefighters 
con nued their educa on and risk reduc on efforts 
at schools across the district. Jan. 23: Firefighters in Sandy training on 

vehicle stabiliza on and extrica on. 
Stabilizing the vehicle makes it safer for 
everyone and allows our extrica on tools 
to be more effec ve.  

8 - 2



Fire Incidents in Gladstone 

 

Arrived to an ex nguished car engine fire. Owner had just had his car serviced and put 
the fire out with a fire ex nguisher. 

 

Chimney fire contained to chimney/fire box. 

 

Single-story structure fire with heavy smoke and zero visibility. Seat of fire was in the 
kitchen/cooktop. 

 

**Technical issue with repor ng system. No report available. 

 

Exterior fire adjacent to structures. Improper disposal of ashes. 

 

 Miscellaneous fire. Brique es/ashes in garbage can. 

8 - 3



8 - 4



8 - 5



9



9 - 1





G
LA

DS
TO

N
E 

PU
BL

IC
 L

IB
RA

RY
 U

PD
AT

E
G

la
ds

to
ne

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il 

M
ee

tin
g

Fe
br

ua
ry

 1
3,

 2
02

4

9 - 2



To
da

y’
s P

re
se

nt
at

io
n

•
Li

br
ar

y 
tim

el
in

e 
an

d 
st

at
ist

ic
s

•
Pr

og
ra

m
 h

ig
hl

ig
ht

s
•

Li
br

ar
y 

pr
oj

ec
t u

pd
at

e

9 - 3



G
la

ds
to

ne
 L

ib
ra

ry
 S

ta
tis

tic
s

FY
 2

0/
21

FY
 2

1/
22

FY
 2

2/
23

Ci
rc

ul
at

io
n

10
1,

10
8

13
6,

27
0

13
7,

60
6

Do
w

nl
oa

de
d 

eB
oo

ks
 &

 
eA

ud
io

bo
ok

s
   

17
,5

05
   

16
,6

03
   

 1
7,

81
8

Su
m

m
er

 re
ad

in
g 

fin
ish

er
s

   
   

  1
33

   
   

  1
77

   
   

   
17

0

Do
or

 c
ou

nt
5,

35
6

31
,3

83
35

,4
43

In
te

rn
et

 se
ss

io
ns

19
7

2,
94

4
3,

66
0

Se
ed

 c
he

ck
ou

ts
3,

14
3

3,
00

5
3,

56
0

9 - 4



Pr
og

ra
m

 H
ig

hl
ig

ht
s

•
Ad

di
tio

na
l s

to
ry

tim
es

 (i
nc

lu
di

ng
 S

pa
ni

sh
)

•
Sn

ac
k 

an
d 

St
ea

m
•

Ta
ke

 a
nd

 M
ak

e 
Ki

ds
’ c

ra
ft

s
•

Pa
rt

ne
re

d 
w

ith
 th

e 
Ci

ty
 a

t t
he

ir 
su

m
m

er
 sp

ec
ia

l  
  

ev
en

ts
 in

 th
e 

pa
rk

•
St

or
yW

al
k 

at
 th

e 
Gl

ad
st

on
e 

N
at

ur
e 

Pa
rk

•
Pa

rt
ic

ip
at

ed
 in

 C
ity

 H
al

lo
w

ee
n 

ev
en

t
•

Ad
ul

t c
ra

ft
 c

la
ss

es
•

Lu
nc

h 
an

d 
Le

ar
n 

se
rie

s a
t G

la
ds

to
ne

 C
om

m
un

ity
 

Ce
nt

er
•

Ro
ck

 R
ea

de
r b

oo
k 

cl
ub

•
M

us
ic

al
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
s

•
Ga

rd
en

in
g 

cl
as

se
s 

•
Se

ed
s f

or
 S

ha
rin

g
•

Gl
ad

st
on

e 
N

at
ur

e 
Pa

rk
 A

rb
or

 D
ay

•
Gl

ad
st

on
e 

Co
m

m
un

ity
 F

es
tiv

al
 

9 - 5



Li
br

ar
y 

Pr
oj

ec
t 

U
pd

at
e

•
De

sig
n

•
Co

st
 &

 F
un

di
ng

 U
pd

at
es

•
Sc

he
du

le
•

N
ex

t S
te

ps

9 - 6



a

G
la

ds
to

ne
 L

ib
ra

ry
 P

ro
je

ct
 T

im
el

in
e

De
sig

n 
Do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n 

– 
Su

m
m

er
 2

02
2

Ab
at

em
en

t a
nd

 D
em

ol
iti

on
 o

f O
ld

 C
ity

 H
al

l –
 F

al
l 2

02
2

Pr
oj

ec
t B

ud
ge

t/
GM

P 
Ap

pr
ov

al
 –

 S
pr

in
g 

20
23

St
ar

t C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
– 

Su
m

m
er

 2
02

3 
– 

Su
m

m
er

 2
02

4

9 - 7



3D
 O

ve
ra

ll 
Vi

ew

Fe
at

ur
es

•
St

ru
ct

ur
al

 S
te

el
 F

ra
m

e
•

M
ix

tu
re

 o
f c

on
cr

et
e 

flo
or

in
g 

an
d 

ca
rp

et
in

g
•

VR
F 

He
at

in
g/

Co
ol

in
g 

Sy
st

em
•

En
er

gy
 e

ffi
ci

en
t L

ED
 li

gh
tin

g
•

Lo
w

-fl
ow

 p
lu

m
bi

ng
 fi

xt
ur

es
•

Ro
of

to
p 

So
la

r P
an

el
s

•
Ch

ild
re

n’
s A

re
a

•
Te

en
’s 

Ar
ea

•
Se

ed
 L

ib
ra

ry
•

Sp
ac

e 
fo

r F
rie

nd
s o

f t
he

 
Li

br
ar

y
•

Co
m

m
un

ity
 M

ee
tin

g 
Ro

om
•

Co
ur

ty
ar

d 
w

ith
 se

at
in

g

9 - 8



Vi
ew

 o
f L

ib
ra

ry
 fr

om
 E

nt
ra

nc
e

9 - 9



Te
en

s’
 A

re
a

9 - 10



Ch
ild

re
n’

s A
re

a

9 - 11



Ex
te

rio
r B

ui
ld

in
g 

M
at

er
ia

ls

9 - 12



Ex
te

rio
r v

ie
w

 fr
om

 P
or

tla
nd

 &
 D

ar
tm

ou
th

 In
te

rs
ec

tio
n

9 - 13



Co
m

m
un

ity
 R

oo
m

 E
nt

ry

9 - 14



Vi
ew

 fr
om

 P
or

tla
nd

 A
ve

9 - 15



Co
ur

ty
ar

d

9 - 16



Fu
nd

in
g

St
at

e 
AR

PA
* 

Fu
nd

s  
 

 
 

$0
.5

0 
m

ill
io

n
Co

un
ty

 A
RP

A*
 F

un
ds

 
 

 
 

$6
.8

5 
m

ill
io

n
Be

gi
nn

in
g 

Fu
nd

 B
al

an
ce

  
 

 
$0

.3
0 

m
ill

io
n 

Co
un

ty
 G

en
er

al
 F

un
d*

* 
 

 
 

$2
.4

0 
m

ill
io

n 
To
ta
l 

 
 

 
 

 
 

$1
0.
05

M
 

*A
m

er
ic

an
 R

es
cu

e 
Pl

an
 A

ct
**

W
ill

 in
cr

ea
se

/d
ec

re
as

e 
w

he
n 

fin
al

 p
ro

je
ct

 c
os

t i
s d

et
er

m
in

ed

9 - 17



ht
tp

s:
//

sh
ar

e.
ea

rt
hc

am
.n

et
/t

J9
0C

oL
m

q7
Tz

rY
39

6Y
d8

8J
fT

bB
dP

_y
cX

Q
3v

Yl
tU

3I
0o

!/
gl

ad
st

on
e_

lib
ra

ry
/g

la
ds

to
ne

_p
u

bl
ic

_l
ib

ra
ry

_j
ob

si
te

_c
am

er
a/

vi
ew

_1
 - 

Jo
b 

Si
te

 C
am

er
a

9 - 18



W
ha

t’s
 N

ex
t?

U
pc

om
in

g 
M

ile
st

on
es

•
De

ve
lo

p 
an

d 
su

bm
it 

RF
P 

fo
r P

ub
lic

 A
rt

 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
•

O
rd

er
 o

w
ne

r f
ur

ni
sh

ed
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t a
nd

 
fu

rn
ish

in
gs

•
Es

tim
at

ed
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

is 
Au

gu
st

 2
02

4

9 - 19



Q
ue

st
io

ns
?

9 - 20





10



 
 
 

GLADSTONE 
CITY 

EVENT  
ANNOUNCEMENTS 

10 - 1



February
Regular Agenda



11



11 - 1



 

Focused on Your Wants and Understanding Your Needs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 30, 2024 

 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Council, and Audit Committee 

City of Gladstone, Oregon 

  

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 

activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Gladstone, 

Oregon for the year ended June 30, 2023. We did not audit the financial statements of the North 

Clackamas County Water Commission, which is a joint venture investment of the City of 

Gladstone, Oregon and is audited by other auditors. Professional standards require that we provide 

you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, as 

well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have 

communicated such information in our letter to you dated August 22, 2023. Professional standards 

also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit.  

 

Significant Audit Matters  

 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  

 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 

significant accounting policies used by City of Gladstone are described in Note 1 to the financial 

statements. As described in Note 14 to the financial statements, the City of Gladstone implemented 

one new accounting pronouncement issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

(GASB). The pronouncement was: 

 

• GASB Statement No. 96 Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements 

 

We noted no transactions entered into by City of Gladstone during the year for which there is a 

lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in 

the financial statements in the proper period.  

 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and 

are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 

assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 

of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 

affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimate(s) 

affecting the City’s financial statements were: 

 

Management’s estimate of the accumulated depreciation is based on historical cost or 

estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed and donated capital assets are recorded 

at estimated fair market value at the date of donation.  
 

11 - 2



 

Page 2 of 5 

Management’s estimate of the compensated absences payable is based on current wages. 
 

Management’s estimate of the net pension liability and post employment benefits other 

than pension (OPEB) liability/asset are calculated based on information that was 

determined by an actuary. 

 

Management’s estimate of the City’s portion of the investment in joint venture in North 

Clackamas County Water Commission (NCCWC) is based on the draft financial statements 

and analysis of the historical changes, as NCCWC’s Audited Annual Financial Report was 

not issued as of the date of this letter.  

 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that 

it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 

financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were:  

 

The disclosure of Capital Assets in Note 5 to the financial statements summarizes the 

changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 

The disclosure of Long Term Debt Obligations in Note 8 to the financial statements 

summarizes the changes in long term debt for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 

The disclosure of the Joint Venture in Note 6 to the financial statements summarizes the 

joint venture known as the North Clackamas County Water Commission. 
 

The disclosure of the City’s Pension Plan in Note 9 to the financial statements describes 

the City’s Pension Plan benefits, contributions, pension assets, liabilities, expense, deferred 

outflows/inflows of resources, and actuarial assumptions/projections. 
 

The disclosure of the City’s Post Employment Benefits Other than Pensions (OPEB) in 

Note 10 to the financial statements describes the City’s OPEB Plan benefits, contributions, 

OPEB asset, liability, expense, deferred outflows/inflows of resources, and actuarial 

assumptions/projections. 

 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

 

Significant Unusual Transactions  

 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to communicate to you 

significant unusual transactions identified during our audit. No significant unusual transactions 

were identified during the audit.  

 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  

 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 

completing our audit. 

 

 

11 - 3



 

Page 3 of 5 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  

 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 

during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate 

level of management. Management corrected some of the misstatements. We also noted known 

and likely uncorrected misstatements of the financial statements with a total financial statement 

effect of $44,580. The uncorrected misstatements or the matters underlying them could potentially 

cause future period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though, in our judgment, 

such uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements under audit. In addition, 

none of the corrected or uncorrected misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures were 

material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit’s financial statements taken 

as a whole.  

 

Disagreements with Management  

 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, 

or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the 

financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 

arose during the course of our audit. 

 

Management Representations 

 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 

representation letter dated January 30, 2024. 

 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 

accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation 

involves application of an accounting principle to City of Gladstone’s financial statements or a 

determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 

professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the 

consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other 

accountants. 

 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 

auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as City of Gladstone’s auditors. 

However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our 

responses were not a condition to our retention. 

 

Other Matters 

 

We applied certain limited procedures to the management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary 

comparison schedules, schedule of the proportionate share of net pension liability, schedule of 

11 - 4



 

Page 4 of 5 

contributions – pension, schedule of the proportionate share of OPEB – RHIA, schedule of 

contributions to OPEB – RHIA, schedule of changes in total OPEB liability and related ratios – 

implicit rate subsidy and schedule of contributions to OPEB – implicit rate subsidy,  which are 

required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our 

procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the 

information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 

inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 

basic financial statements. We did not audit the management’s discussion and analysis, schedule 

of the proportionate share of net pension liability, schedule of contributions – pension, schedule 

of the proportionate share of OPEB – RHIA, schedule of contributions to OPEB – RHIA, schedule 

of changes in total OPEB liability and related ratios – implicit rate subsidy and schedule of 

contributions to OPEB – implicit rate subsidy and do not express an opinion or provide any 

assurance on this information.  

 

We were engaged to report on the budgetary comparison schedules, as listed in the table of contents 

under RSI, is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relate directly to the 

underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such 

information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 

statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 

information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 

financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 

procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America.  

 

We were engaged to report on the other supplementary information, as listed in the table of 

contents, which accompany the financial statements but is not RSI. With respect to this 

supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, 

content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing 

it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation 

to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary 

information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 

financial statements themselves. 

 

We were not engaged to report on the introductory section, which accompany the financial 

statements but is not RSI. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures 

applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion 

or provide any assurance on it. 

 

Restriction on Use 

 

This information is intended solely for the use of Honorable Mayor, City Council, and Audit 

Committee and management of City of Gladstone and is not intended to be, and should not be, 

used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

 

 

11 - 5



 

Page 5 of 5 

If you should have any questions or comments, we would be pleased to discuss this report with 

you at your convenience. 

 

Respectfully, 

 
Merina+Co 

Tualatin, Oregon 

Focused on Your Wants and Understanding Your Needs 

11 - 6



 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON 

 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AND SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

For the Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30, 2023 

 
with 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11 - 7



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 
INTRODUCTORY SECTION         
City Officials .................................................................................................................................... i 
 
FINANCIAL SECTION 
Independent Auditor’s Report ..........................................................................................................1 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis .........................................................................................4 
 
Basic Financial Statements..........................................................................................................12 
 Government-Wide Financial Statements: 

 Statement of Net Position ....................................................................................................13 
 Statement of Activities ........................................................................................................14 
Fund Financial Statements: ........................................................................................................16 
  Governmental Funds: 
     Balance Sheet .................................................................................................................17 

  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances ........................19 
  Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in                     

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities ....................21 
 Proprietary Funds: ...............................................................................................................22 

 Statement of Net Position ..............................................................................................23 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position .................................24 
 Statement of Cash Flows ...............................................................................................25 

 Fiduciary Funds: ..................................................................................................................26 
 Statement of Fiduciary Net Position .............................................................................27 
 Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position ...........................................................28 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements ........................................................................................29 
 
Required Supplementary Information ......................................................................................61 
 Budgetary Comparison Schedules: 

 Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual:  
General Fund .......................................................................................................................62 
Road and Street Fund ..........................................................................................................63 
Police and Communications Special Levy Fund .................................................................64 
Fire and Emergency Services Special Levy Fund ...............................................................65 

 Urban Renewal Agency Fund .............................................................................................66 
 Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability ............................................67 
 Schedule of Contributions – Pension .........................................................................................68 
 Schedule of the Proportionate Share of OPEB – RHIA ............................................................69 
 Schedule of Contributions to OPEB – RHIA ............................................................................70 
 Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios – Implicit Rate Subsidy ....71 
 Schedule of Contributions to OPEB – Implicit Rate Subsidy ...................................................72 
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information .......................................................................73 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11 - 8



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 
 

Other Supplementary Information ............................................................................................74 
      Combining Balance Sheet – General Fund ..........................................................................75 

    Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Other Financing Sources 
             (Uses and Changes in Fund Balance – General Fund ...................................................76 

 
Budgetary Comparison Schedules..............................................................................................77 
 Combining Statements – General Fund: 

Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual - General Fund .........................................78 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual:  

 American Rescue Plan Reserve Fund ...........................................................................79 
 Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual: 

Enterprise Funds: ...............................................................................................................80 
 Water Fund ....................................................................................................................81 

 Sewer Fund ....................................................................................................................82 
 Storm Water Fund .........................................................................................................83
  

AUDIT COMMENTS AND DISCLOSURES 
 Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance and on Internal Control over Financial 
 Reporting Based on Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
 Oregon State Regulation ..........................................................................................................84 

 
 

11 - 9



 

 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

11 - 10



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON 
CITY OFFICIALS 
June 30, 2023 

i 

City Officials Term Expires 
 Michael Milch, Mayor December 31, 2026 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
  
Council Members 
 Vanessa Huckaby, President December 31, 2026 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 Mindy Garlington December 31, 2024 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 

 Greg Alexander December 31, 2024 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 

 Veronica Reichle December 31, 2026 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 Cierra Cook December 31, 2024 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 Luke Roberts December 31, 2026 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 
City Administrator  
 Jacque Betz   
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027   
 
Finance Consultant 

Cathy Brucker 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 
 

11 - 11



 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

11 - 12



 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 

11 - 13



 

 

 

Focused on Your Wants and Understanding Your Needs 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

The Honorable Mayor, City Council, and Audit Committee 

City of Gladstone, Oregon 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinions 

 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major 

fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Gladstone, Oregon, as of and for the year ended June 

30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise City of Gladstone, Oregon’s 

basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the 

aggregate remaining fund information of City of Gladstone, Oregon, as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes 

in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, for the year then ended in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

 

Basis for Opinions 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 

(GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 

Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City of Gladstone, 

and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 

audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinions. 

 

Change in Accounting Principle  

 

As discussed in Note 14 to the financial statements, the City of Gladstone adopted new accounting guidance, GASB 

Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. Our opinion is not modified with 

respect to this matter. 

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

 

City of Gladstone, Oregon’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 

design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 

considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Gladstone's ability to continue as a going 

concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may 

raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

 

 

 

 

11 - 14



 

2 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they 

would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the City of Gladstone's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 

substantial doubt about the City of Gladstone's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 

period of time. 

 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we 

identified during the audit. 

 

Required Supplementary Information 

 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required supplementary 

information, such as management’s discussion and analysis and schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in 

fund balance – budget and actual, as listed in the table of contents under required supplementary information, be 

presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, 

although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 

who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 

appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 

management’s discussion and analysis, schedule of the proportionate share of net pension liability, schedule of 

contributions – pension, schedule of the proportionate share of OPEB – RHIA, schedule of contributions to OPEB – 

RHIA, schedule of changes in total OPEB liability and related ratios – implicit rate subsidy, and schedule of 

contributions to OPEB – implicit rate subsidy, as listed in the table of contents under required supplementary 

information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 

consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 

information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 

knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 

any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 

express an opinion or provide any assurance.  

 

11 - 15



 

3 

The schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance – budget and actual, as listed in the table of 

contents under required supplementary information, are the responsibility of management and were derived from 

and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 

Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements 

and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 

accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 

themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 

States of America.  In our opinion, this information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 

financial statements as a whole. 

 

Other Supplementary Information 
 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 

City of Gladstone, Oregon’s basic financial statements. The accompanying other supplementary information, as 

listed in the table of contents including the combining and budget and actual schedules are presented for purposes of 

additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the 

responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 

records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 

procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 

comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 

the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 

accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the other 

supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 

basic financial statements as a whole. 

 

Other Information 
 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information comprises 

the introductory section but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 

opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or 

any form of assurance thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and 

consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements, or 

the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude 

that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

Other Reporting Required by Oregon Minimum Standards 

 

In accordance with Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, we have also issued our 

report dated January 30, 2024, on our consideration of City of Gladstone, Oregon’s compliance with certain 

provisions of laws and regulations, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon 

Administrative Rules. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and the results 

of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on compliance. 

 
For Merina+Co 

Tualatin, Oregon 

January 30, 2024 

11 - 16



4 

June 30, 2023 
City of Gladstone 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Management staff of the City of Gladstone offers this executive summary of financial activities of the 
City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.  

Financial Highlights 

The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City of Gladstone exceeded the sum of its 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $49,629,506 
(net position). Of this amount, $29,173,987 is the City’s net investment in capital assets, $10,081,136 
is restricted for specific purposes, and $10,374,383 (unrestricted) may be used to meet the City’s 
obligations to creditors and to meet service expectations by its citizens. The City’s total net position 
increased by $3,568,410 from the prior year.  

The City’s governmental activities reported total net position of $29,238,312. Of this amount, 
$(3,126,399) is the unrestricted balance. Due to the long-term perspective of net position, this negative 
balance reflects the amount to be resolved with future resources, such as long-term debt and deferred 
inflows.    

The City’s business-type activities reported total net position of $20,391,194. Of this amount, 
$13,500,782 is unrestricted and thus available for spending at the City’s discretion.  

The City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $15,200,213 a decrease 
of $(1,019,236) compared to the prior year. The decrease is primarily due to increased spending in 
capital outlay projects in Highways and streets and the General fund, along with repayment of debt 
on the Public Works Facility financing. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is intended to serve as an introduction to the 
City of Gladstone’s basic financial statements. The basic financial statements are comprised of three 
components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to 
the basic financial statements. The report also contains required and other supplementary information 
in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

These two statements present an overview of the City's finances, in a manner similar to the private 
sector. Each statement presents highly condensed, entity-wide information and uses the full accrual 
basis of accounting. 

The Statement of Net Position presents information on the City’s total assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, with the resulting difference between them 
presented as net position. Over time, increases or decreases to net position may serve as a useful 
indicator of whether the City's financial position is improving or deteriorating. The financial position 

11 - 17



 

5 

of the City is best indicated by changes in cash flow and cash reserves as described in the Financial 
Analysis section of the City’s most recent budget. 
 
The Statement of Activities focuses on the change in net position over the last year. All changes in 
net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless 
of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for 
some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g. uncollected taxes and earned 
but unused vacation leave). Governmental activities of the City of Gladstone report on general 
government, public safety, highways and streets, culture and recreation and urban renewal functions. 
Urban renewal is considered a component of the City of Gladstone even though it publishes separate 
financial statements and management discussion and analysis. Business-type activities consist of 
water, sewer and storm water operations. 
 
Fund Financial Statements. A fund is a group of related accounts that is used to maintain control 
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Gladstone, 
like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance 
with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City of Gladstone can be divided into 
three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.  
 
Governmental Funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term 
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available 
at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term 
financial requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By 
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the City’s near term financial 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and change in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison 
between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The City of Gladstone maintains five individual governmental funds. Information is presented 
separately in the governmental balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, Road and Street Fund, Police and 
Communications Special Levy Fund, Fire and Emergency Services Special Levy Fund, and Urban 
Renewal Agency Fund.  All of these funds are considered to be major funds.  
 
Proprietary Funds. Proprietary funds represent three segments of operations, water, sewer, and storm 
water, used to account for activities that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private 
business enterprises. The intent is that the costs of providing these services to the general public on a 
continuing basis be financed primarily through user charges. 
 
Fiduciary Funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity 
or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments and/or other funds. The 
Municipal Court Fund is custodial in nature and does not involve measurement of results of 

11 - 18



 

6 

operations. 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements. Notes to the basic financial statements provide additional 
information that is essential to a full understanding of the information provided in the government-
wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Required Supplementary Information. Required supplementary information includes financial 
information and disclosures that are required by the GASB but are not considered part of basic 
financial statements.  
 
Other Supplementary Information.  Other supplementary information contains the combining 
schedules for the General Fund and American Rescue Plan Act fund, along with the budgetary 
comparison schedule for the General Fund expenditures, American Rescue Plan Act Fund and the 
proprietary funds. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indictor of a government’s financial 
position. Assets exceeded liabilities by $49,585,076 at the close of the most recent fiscal year. 
 
The following table reflects a Summary of Net Position for these fiscal years: 

 
 

 A large portion of the City of Gladstone’s net position reflect its investment in capital assets (e.g. 
land, buildings, machinery, and equipment) less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is 
still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these 
assets do not have financial liquidity easily available for future spending. Although the City’s 
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources 
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Cash and investments 15,923,207$  15,989,839$  10,694,652$  8,596,644$    26,617,859$  24,586,483$  
Restricted cash and investments 1,748,845       1,590,450       1,266,449       1,251,266       3,015,294       2,841,716       
Other assets 742,179          837,386          4,210,077       4,006,781       4,952,256       4,844,167       
Capital assets 28,384,166    26,670,041    6,129,588       6,426,023       34,513,754    33,096,064    

Total assets 46,798,397    45,087,716    22,300,766    20,280,714    69,099,163    65,368,430    

Deferred outflows 2,495,300       3,152,161       455,765          483,550          2,951,065       3,635,711       

Total assets and deferred outflow of resources 49,293,697$  48,239,877$  22,756,531$  20,764,264$  72,050,228$  69,004,141$  

Current liabilities 1,905,900$    1,836,788$    655,110$        804,324$        2,561,010$    2,641,112$    
Long-term liabilities 13,870,804    13,591,229    1,377,064       1,215,323       15,247,868    14,806,552    

Total liabilities 15,776,704    15,428,017    2,032,174       2,019,647       17,808,878    17,447,664    

Deferred inflows 4,278,681       4,942,541       333,163          552,840          4,611,844       5,495,381       

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 23,566,399    21,682,917    5,607,588       5,738,023       29,173,987    27,420,940    
Restricted 8,798,312       8,162,799       1,282,824       1,264,008       10,081,136    9,426,807       
Unrestricted (3,126,399)     (1,976,397)     13,500,782    11,189,746    10,374,383    9,213,349       

Total net position 29,238,312    27,869,319    20,391,194    18,191,777    49,629,506    46,061,096    

Total liabilities and deferred inflows
of resources and net position 49,293,697$  48,239,877$  22,756,531$  20,764,264$  72,050,228$  69,004,141$  

    Totals        Business type Activities       Governmental Activities

Summary of Net Position

11 - 19



 

7 

cannot be used to pay these liabilities. The restricted net position is attributable to assets that are 
legally restricted for specific purposes, such as Urban Renewal Agency, system development charges 
and the street and road revenues.  The remaining balance of $(3,126,399) is unrestricted net position, 
and reflects the long-term perspective of resources necessary to meet long-term obligations and 
deferred inflows. 

  
The following table summarizes revenues and expenses for fiscal years 2023 and 2022: 
 

 
 
Governmental Activities. Governmental activities increased the City of Gladstone’s net position 
by $1,368,993. 
 
Business-type Activities. Business-type activities increased the City of Gladstone’s net position 
by $2,199,417. 
 
 
 
 
 

Governmental and Proprietary Activities

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Receipts
   Program Receipts 
      Charges for services 824,514$        796,649$        7,747,082$    7,376,536$    8,571,596$    8,173,185$    
      Grants and contributions 438,837          326,622          -                  -                  438,837          326,622          
   General receipts
       Property tax 6,899,043       6,695,372       -                  -                  6,899,043       6,695,372       
       Franchise fees and public service tax 2,701,282       2,765,796       -                  -                  2,701,282       2,765,796       
       Interest 863,410          136,871          -                  -                  863,410          136,871          
       Other 742,880          (603,821)        (342,783)        2,385              400,097          (601,436)        
           Total receipts 12,469,966$  10,117,489$  7,404,299$    7,378,921$    19,874,265$  17,496,410$  

Expenses
   Governmental activities
      General government 3,186,459$    2,653,172$    -$                    -$                    3,186,459$    2,653,172$    
      Public safety 6,185,111       5,885,239       -                       -                       6,185,111       5,885,239       
      Highways and streets 1,000,265       980,877          -                       -                       1,000,265       980,877          
      Culture and recreation 198,715          1,078,889       -                       -                       198,715          1,078,889       
      Urban renewal 1,186,882       9,483              -                       -                       1,186,882       9,483              

Business type activities
Water -                       -                       1,687,831       1,009,247       1,687,831       1,009,247       
Sewer -                       -                       2,467,107       2,893,491       2,467,107       2,893,491       
Storm -                       -                       437,915          293,085          437,915          293,085          

           Total expenses 11,757,432$  10,607,660$  4,592,853$    4,195,823$    16,350,285$  14,803,483$  
  Change in net position before transfers 712,534          (490,171)        2,811,446       3,183,098       3,523,980       2,692,927       

Transfers 656,459$        319,769$        (656,459)$      (319,769)$      -$                    -$                    
Equity income (loss) in joint venture -                       -                       44,430            46,346            44,430            46,346            

Changes in net position 1,368,993       (170,402)        2,199,417       2,909,675       3,568,410       2,739,273       

Beginning net position 27,869,319    28,039,788    18,191,777    15,282,102    46,061,096    43,321,890    
   Restatement -                       (67)                  -                       -                       -                       (67)                  
Beginning net position-restated 27,869,319    28,039,721    18,191,777    15,282,102    46,061,096    43,321,823    

Ending net position 29,238,312$  27,869,319$  20,391,194$  18,191,777$  49,629,506$  46,061,096$  

    Totals        Business type Activities       Governmental Activities

11 - 20



 

8 

Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds 
 
Governmental Funds. The focus of the City of Gladstone’s governmental funds is to provide 
information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such 
information is useful in assessing the City of Gladstone’s financial requirements. In particular, 
unassigned fund balance may serve as useful measure of a government’s net resources available 
for spending at the end of the fiscal year as they have not been limited to use for a particular 
purpose. 
At the end of the fiscal year, the City of Gladstone’s governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $15,200,213. 

 
 General Fund decreased by 3.6 percent under the previous year fund balance, mainly due 

to the capital outlay acquisition.  The majority of revenues have returned to pre-pandemic 
levels, except there is relatively little increase in State shared revenues over the past year. 
Due to the enhanced cash balance from the unspent ARPA funds and Public Works Facility 
financing, along with interest rate increases within the Local Government Investment Pool, 
interest revenues grew by 648.1 percent.  Expenditures have stayed within appropriation, 
with ARPA grants funds mostly committed but still unspent in the amount of $2.4 million. 

 Road and Street Fund decreased 18.1 percent under the previous year, and continues to 
realize reduced right of way fees from telecomm collections. An updated ordinance has 
been adopted to ensure all funds owed are collected. Highway user taxes and vehicle 
registration revenues both experienced a small decrease over the previous year, also.  
Capital outlay increased tremendously this year, with some large paving/preservation 
projects completed. 

 The Police and Communications Special Levy Fund experienced an increase of 254.3 
percent, translating to only $27,069 in fund balance.  This fund is budgeted to expend its 
annual revenue, to enhance and support police services within the General Fund.   

 The Fire and Emergency Services Special Levy Fund decreased by 56.3 percent from the 
previous year, as it is budgeted to also expend revenues in support of the intergovernmental 
agreement with Clackamas Fire District #1. 

 The Urban Renewal Agency Fund increased by 5.9 percent from annual tax revenues.  
These revenues will be more than sufficient to finance the debt retirement from the Civic 
Buildings debt service. Funds were also utilized to demolish the former City Hall, in 
preparation of the site for the library facility currently under construction by Clackamas 
County. 

 
Proprietary Funds. The City’s proprietary funds are enterprise funds and fiduciary funds. An 
enterprise fund is used to account for activities for which a fee is charged to external users for 
services. These funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail. Fiduciary funds do not involve results of operations and 
are custodial in nature.  

General 
Fund 

Road and 
Street Fund

Police and 
Communications 

Special Levy Fund

Fire and 
Emergency 

Services 
Special 

Levy Fund

Urban 
Renewal 

Agency Fund
Total 

Governmental
Beginning Fund Balance 9,360,347$ 3,635,426$ 10,643$              390,054$ 2,822,979$ 16,219,449$ 
Increase (decrease) current year (335,165)    (658,512)    27,069                (219,656)  167,028      (1,019,236)   
Ending Fund Balance as of 

June 30, 2023 9,025,182$ 2,976,914$ 37,712$              170,398$ 2,990,007$ 15,200,213$ 

11 - 21



 

9 

Water Fund Sewer Fund Storm Water Fund
Total Business 

Type

Beginning Fund Balance 10,503,268$       5,775,426$         1,913,083$               18,191,777$        
Increase (decrease) - current year 824,012               889,105               486,300                    2,199,417             
Ending Fund Balance as of 
June 30, 2023 11,327,280$       6,664,531$         2,399,383$               20,391,194$        

 
 All business type funds had steady gains due to consistent rate increases in user fees over 

the past few years.  Increases now approximate the cost of living index for the past two 
years at 4.0 percent. Storm water realized the largest impact of 25.4 percent, with Water at 
7.8 percent and Sewer at 15.4 percent. These funds have allowed capital planning for much 
needed system improvements throughout the City infrastructure.  Project improvements, 
especially in the Sewer and Storm Water Funds, are currently under construction for 
infiltration and inflow. 

 
Budgetary Highlights 

The City had appropriation increases, approved through two budget resolutions, during the year 
ended June 30, 2023. First, the City Council approved on December 13, 2022 adjustments to the 
General Fund for Traffic-related State grants and two Community Center grants, also received 
from the State of Oregon. Subsequent budget effects included General Fund revenues adjustments, 
Police Overtime and Community Center capital outlay. 

Then, on May 9, 2023, the Urban Renewal Agency Board approved a budget amendment to 
increase appropriations for the demolition of the former City Hall building, offset by Contingency.  
Estimates came in higher than anticipated for removal of the building, necessitating the budget 
resolution. Appropriations lapse as of year-end. 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 
The following tables compare capital assets and changes in capital assets as of June 30, 2023 and 
June 30, 2022:  

 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Land 7,001,656$    6,498,106$    129,414$      640,964$      7,131,070$    7,139,070$    
Work in progress 777,513        277,817        773,262        473,412        1,550,775      751,229        
Buildings 15,602,928    15,849,549    6,874            7,084            15,609,802    15,856,633    
Vehicles & equipment 560,850        634,335        234,422        295,517        795,272        929,852        
Intangible assets 25,562          52,342          3,352            12,632          28,914          64,974          
Infrastructure 4,288,422      3,348,397      4,982,264      4,996,414      9,270,686      8,344,811      
Leased equipment 66,969          9,495            -                   -                   66,969          9,495            
Subscription based assets 60,266          -                   -                   -                   60,266          -                   

Total 28,384,166$  26,670,041$  6,129,588$    6,426,023$    34,513,754$  33,096,064$  

Capital Assets at Year End
(Net of Depreciation)

Governmental Activities Business Type Activities Total Government

11 - 22



 

10 

 
Infrastructure improvements have increased this year due to the construction of the Public Works 
Facility and significant road improvements within the governmental activities.  Improvements to 
infrastructure within the Sewer and Storm Water systems are reflected in the business type 
activities, and will continue to be a focus in the next fiscal year. 
 
Long-term Debt. At June 30, 2023, the City had business-type bonded debt outstanding of 
$522,000 compared to $688,000 at June 30, 2022. State statutes limit the amount of general 
obligation debt an Oregon city may issue to 3% of total real market value of all taxable property 
within its boundary. The current debt limitation for the City of Gladstone is approximately $67.1 
million.  
 
At June 30, 2023, the City had governmental activities debt outstanding of notes payable for 
$9,068,955 and leases payable of $105,093.  No new debt was assumed within the 2022-23 fiscal 
year, other than leases and subscription based assets. More information on the debt is available in 
Note 8, Long Term Debt within the notes to the financial statements. 
 
The City implemented GASB Statement 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements (SBITAs), that increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by 
requiring recognition of certain assets and liabilities for SBITAs that were previously classified as 
annual operating expenditures or expenses. A SBITA is defined as a contract that conveys control 
of the right to use a vendor’s IT software as specified in the contract for a period of time in an 
exchange or exchange like transaction. This GASB effects both the presentation of financial 
statements on the current financial resource measurement focus and the economic resources 
measurement focus. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget. The Gladstone community is part of the Portland 
Metropolitan area and business, employment and other factors generally do not directly affect the 
City’s financial conditions. Gladstone has virtually no vacant land and has limited potential for 
significant increase in property tax revenue from “qualifying improvements” as allowed by 
property tax limitation commonly known as Measure 50.  However, infill development is 
occurring, along with the start of a formalized downtown revitalization.   
 
On November 2, 2021 the Gladstone voters approved up to $5 million for the financing and 
reconstruction/remodeling of the Public Works Facility to be located on the existing property.  The 
new Civic Center buildings are located beside this facility, creating a cohesive and attractive 
municipal complex for the City.   Building of this project is well underway, on-time and within 
budget, with completion anticipated in June 2024. 
 
The current biennium budget continues recovery from the global health crisis and resulting, 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Beginning balance 26,670,041$  27,730,709$  6,426,023$    6,162,834$    33,096,064$  33,893,543$  
Additions 2,652,439      462,342        687,050        591,551        3,339,489      1,053,893      
Depreciation (709,275)       (851,749)       (322,916)       (320,382)       (1,032,191)    (1,172,131)    
Deletions (229,039)       (671,261)       (660,569)       (7,980)           (889,608)       (679,241)       

Ending balance 28,384,166$  26,670,041$  6,129,588$    6,426,023$    34,513,754$  33,096,064$  

Changes in Capital Assets

Governmental Activities Business Type Activities Total Government

11 - 23



 

11 

devastating economic impacts.  The City was able to secure several grants, with the latest being 
the American Rescue Plan Agreement (ARPA) funding for $2.7 million.  To date, most of the 
funds have been committed for specific use.  Furthermore, the City falls under the $10 million cap 
of a non-entitlement unit (NEU) so will be liable for less reporting and regulation with the federal 
government.  These funds will be fully expended within the 2023-2025 biennium. 
 
City Council and the Management Team participated in a robust discussion and planning meeting 
to review the current goals and determine realignment for the current community context.  Out of 
this goal setting retreat the following four goals were finalized, with significant strategies 
developed: 

 Economic Development 
 Infrastructure 
 Communications and Engagement 
 Parks 

 
The complete report has been included in the City of Gladstone Biennial Budget for 2023-2025 
detailing the emphasis on goal incorporation into the budget development. 
 
Requests for Information. The City’s financial statements are designed to present to City 
taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general overview of the finances and 
accountability of Gladstone.  If you have any questions about the report, or need additional 
information, please contact Cathy Brucker, Finance Consultant, at 18505 Portland Ave., 
Gladstone, OR 97027; (503) 479-6860; or finance@ci.gladstone.or.us. 
 
 

11 - 24



 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

11 - 25



 

 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

11 - 26



     Government-Wide Financial Statements

     Fund Financial Statements

- Governmental Funds

- Proprietary Funds

- Fiduciary Funds

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The basic financial statements include interrelated sets of financial statements as required by the

GASB.  The sets of statements include:

In addition, the notes to the basic financial statements are included to provide information that is

essential to a user’s understanding of the basic financial statements.

12

11 - 27



 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

11 - 28



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2023

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total

ASSETS:

Current assets:

Cash and investments 15,829,436$        10,694,652$        26,524,088$        

Cash with county treasurer 93,771                 -                          93,771                 

Accounts receivable 435,939               762,826               1,198,765            

Property tax receivable 95,466                 -                          95,466                 

Interest receivable 3,961                   -                          3,961                   

Prepaid expenses 117,156               178,168               295,324               

Other current assets -                          82,234                 82,234                 

Total current assets 16,575,729          11,717,880          28,293,609          

Noncurrent assets:

Restricted cash and investments 1,748,845            1,266,449            3,015,294            

Net OPEB asset 89,657                 16,375                 106,032               

Investment in joint venture -                          3,170,474            3,170,474            

Capital assets:

Non depreciable 7,779,169            902,676               8,681,845            

Depreciable, net 20,477,762          5,226,912            25,704,674          

Lease assets, net 66,969                 -                          66,969                 

Subscription based assets, net 60,266                 -                          60,266                 

  Total noncurrent assets 30,222,668          10,582,886          40,805,554          

Total assets 46,798,397          22,300,766          69,099,163          

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

Deferred outflow related to pension 2,438,288            445,353               2,883,641            

Deferred outflow related to OPEB 57,012                 10,412                 67,424                 

Total deferred outflows of resources 2,495,300            455,765               2,951,065            

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 49,293,697$        22,756,531$        72,050,228$        

LIABILITIES:

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 400,345$             354,830$             755,175$             

Interest payable 63,413                 5,168                   68,581                 

Accrued compensated absences 393,693               100,534               494,227               

Bonds payable - current maturity 907,268               173,000               1,080,268            

Leases payable - current 15,697                 -                          15,697                 

Subscription based payable - current 8,889                   -                          8,889                   

Other current liabilities 116,595               21,578                 138,173               

       Total current liabilities 1,905,900            655,110               2,561,010            

Noncurrent liabilities:

Net pension liability 5,242,745            957,586               6,200,331            

OPEB liability 385,865               70,478                 456,343               

Noncurrent portion of bonds payable 8,161,687            349,000               8,510,687            

Noncurrent portion of leases payable 52,204                 -                          52,204                 

Noncurrent portion of subscription based payable 28,303                 -                          28,303                 

Total noncurrent liabilities 13,870,804          1,377,064            15,247,868          

Total liabilities 15,776,704          2,032,174            17,808,878          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

Deferred inflow related to pension 1,758,576            321,204               2,079,780            

Deferred inflow related to OPEB 65,483                 11,959                 77,442                 

Deferred inflow related to grant funds 2,454,622            -                          2,454,622            

Total deferred inflows of resources 4,278,681            333,163               4,611,844            

NET POSITION:

Net investment in capital assets 23,566,399          5,607,588            29,173,987          

Restricted for:

OPEB benefits 89,657                 16,375                 106,032               

American rescue plan act funding 2,454,622            -                          2,454,622            

Street operations 2,376,424            -                          2,376,424            

System development 887,602               1,266,449            2,154,051            

Urban Renewal development 2,990,007            -                          2,990,007            

Unrestricted (3,126,399)           13,500,782          10,374,383          

Total net position 29,238,312          20,391,194          49,629,506          

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position 49,293,697$        22,756,531$        72,050,228$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

13

11 - 29



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Operating

Charges for Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions

Governmental activities:

General government 2,927,141$           495,658$              289,753$              

Public safety 6,185,111             328,856                22,155                  

Highways and streets 1,000,265             -                            -                            

Urban and renewal 198,715                -                            -                            

Culture and recreation 1,186,882             -                            92,969                  

Interest on long-term debt 259,318                -                            -                            

Total governmental activities 11,757,432           824,514                404,877                

Business-type activities:

Water Fund 1,687,831             2,735,244             -                            

Sewer Fund 2,467,107             4,055,113             -                            

Storm Water Fund 437,915                956,725                -                            

Total business type activities 4,592,853             7,747,082             -                            

Total government 16,350,285$         8,571,596$           404,877$              

General revenues:

       Property taxes

       Public service taxes

Franchise fees

Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs

Interest and investment earnings

Gain (loss) in joint venture

Miscellaneous

Gain (loss) on sale/transfer of capital assets

Transfers in (out)

Total general revenues and transfers

                Change in net position

Net position - beginning

Net position - ending

Taxes:

Program Revenues

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

14

11 - 30



Business

Governmental Type

Activities Activities Total

(2,141,730)$          -$                          (2,141,730)$          

(5,834,100)            -                            (5,834,100)            

(1,000,265)            -                            (1,000,265)            

(198,715)               -                            (198,715)               

(1,093,913)            -                            (1,093,913)            

(259,318)               -                            (259,318)               

(10,528,041)          -                            (10,528,041)          

-                            1,047,413             1,047,413             

-                            1,588,006             1,588,006             

-                            518,810                518,810                

-                            3,154,229             3,154,229             

(10,528,041)          3,154,229             (7,373,812)            

6,899,043             -                            6,899,043             

1,619,109             -                            1,619,109             

1,082,173             -                            1,082,173             

33,960                  -                            33,960                  

863,410                -                            863,410                

-                            44,430                  44,430                  

190,533                168,767                359,300                

552,347                (511,550)               40,797                  

656,459                (656,459)               -                            

11,897,034           (954,812)               10,942,222           

1,368,993             2,199,417             3,568,410             

27,869,319           18,191,777           46,061,096           

29,238,312$         20,391,194$         49,629,506$         

Net Expense Revenue and 

Change in Net Position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

15

11 - 31



General Fund 

Road and Street Fund

Police and Communications Special Levy Fund

Fire and Emergency Services Special Levy Fund

Urban Renewal Agency Fund

The Road and Street Fund accounts for revenues from state gasoline taxes apportioned from the

State of Oregon.

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Major Governmental Funds

The General Fund accounts for the financial resources of the City which are not accounted for in

any other fund. Principal sources of revenue are property taxes, franchise fees, and state shared

revenues. Primary expenditures are for police protection, fire protection, maintenance of parks,

operation of the library and senior center, and general administration. 

The Urban Renewal Agency Fund accounts for property tax revenue received for the rehabilitation

of blighted and deteriorated areas within the City’s designated urban renewal area.

The Police and Communications Special Levy Fund accounts for the receipts and expenditure of

taxes received from a five year local option levy. Proceeds from the levy will be used to increase

police personnel.

The Fire and Emergency Services Special Levy Fund accounts for the receipt and expenditure of

taxes received from a five year local option levy. Proceeds from the levy will be used to increase

fire personnel and to increase current services.

16

11 - 32



 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

11 - 33



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

June 30, 2023

General Fund 

Road and Street 

Fund

Police and 

Communications 

Special Levy Fund

Cash and investments 10,323,557$        2,314,564$          36,997$               

Restricted cash and investments 1,148,355            600,490               -                           

Cash with county treasurer 65,027                 -                           9,907                   

Accounts receivable 130,963               64,476                 -                           

Property taxes receivable 66,064                 -                           10,066                 

Interest receivable 2,781                   -                           424                      

Due from other governments 111,489               129,011               -                           

Prepaid expenses 127,156               -                           -                           

    Total assets 11,975,392$        3,108,541$          57,394$               

LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable 268,529$             130,760$             1,056$                 

Other current liabilities 114,284               867                      1,444                   

    Total liabilities 382,813               131,627               2,500                   

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

Unavailable revenues - property taxes 112,775               -                           17,182                 

Unavailable revenues - other 2,454,622            -                           -                           

Total deferred inflows of resources 2,567,397            -                           17,182                 

FUND BALANCES:

Non-Spendable:

Prepaids 127,156               -                           -                           

Restricted:

Street operations -                           2,376,424            -                           

System development 287,112               600,490               -                           

Urban renewal development -                           -                           -                           

Committed:

Business development and promotion 444,968               -                           -                           

Tourism promotion and activities 311,243               -                           -                           

Assigned:

Capital projects  105,032               -                           -                           

Police services -                           -                           37,712                 

Fire and emergency services -                           -                           -                           

Library board 17,456                 -                           -                           

Unassigned 7,732,215            -                           -                           

    Total fund balance 9,025,182            2,976,914            37,712                 

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 11,975,392$        3,108,541$          57,394$               

Right-to-use equipment

Right-to-use software

Deferred outflows of resources-pension

Net OPEB benefit resource

Deferred outflow of resources - OPEB

Unavailable revenue - property taxes

Accrued compensated absences

Net pension liability

Net OPEB liability

Deferred inflows of resources - pension

Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB

Long-term debt obligations

Lease financings

Subscription based financings

          Net position of governmental activities

ASSETS:

Accrued interest payable

Capital assets used in governmental activities

Right-to-use software prepayment

Other assets are not available to pay for current-period 

expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds: 

Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, including accrued 

liabilities and bonds payable are not due and payable in the 

current period and, therefore, are not reported in funds:

Assets not financial resources and, therefore not reported in the 

funds:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

17

11 - 34



Fire and Emergency 

Services Special 

Levy Fund

Urban Renewal 

Agency Fund

Total 

Governmental

168,990$                  2,985,328$          15,829,436$        

-                               -                           1,748,845            

4,513                        14,324                 93,771                 

-                               -                           195,439               

4,585                        14,751                 95,466                 

137                           619                      3,961                   

-                               -                           240,500               

-                               -                           127,156               

178,225$                  3,015,022$          18,334,574$        

-$                             -$                         400,345$             

-                               -                           116,595               

-                               -                           516,940

7,827                        25,015                 162,799               

-                               -                           2,454,622            

7,827                        25,015                 2,617,421            

-                               -                           127,156               

-                               -                           2,376,424            

-                               -                           887,602               

-                               2,990,007            2,990,007            

-                               -                           444,968               

-                               -                           311,243               

-                               -                           105,032               

-                               -                           37,712                 

170,398                    -                           170,398               

-                               -                           17,456                 

-                               -                           7,732,215            

170,398                    2,990,007            15,200,213          

178,225$                  3,015,022$          

28,256,931          

66,969                 

60,266                 

(10,000)                

2,438,288            

89,657                 

57,012                 

162,799               

(393,693)              

(63,413)                

(5,242,745)           

(385,865)              

(1,758,576)           

(65,483)                

(9,068,955)           

(67,901)                

(37,192)                

29,238,312$        

Capital assets used in governmental activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

18

11 - 35



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

General Fund 

Road and Street 

Fund

Police and 

Communications 

Special Levy Fund

REVENUES:

Property taxes 4,816,117$         -$                        733,745$             

Public service taxes 428,361              1,190,748           -                           

Franchise and right of way fees 892,294              189,879              -                           

Grants 404,878              -                          -                           

Charges for services 106,292              -                          -                           

Licenses and permits 195,904              -                          -                           

Fines and forfeitures 328,856              -                          -                           

Special assessments 188,579              4,883                  -                           

Contributions and donations 33,960                -                          -                           

Interest 755,769              -                          5,701                   

Miscellaneous 164,533              26,000                -                           

Total revenues 8,315,543           1,411,510           739,446               

EXPENDITURES:

Current:

General government 2,458,439           -                          -                           

Public safety 4,810,316           -                          631,587               

Highways and streets -                          810,667              -                           

Urban and renewal -                          -                          -                           

Culture and recreation 1,082,249           -                          -                           

Capital outlay 1,133,246           1,028,937           -                           

Debt service:

     Principal 396,509              -                          -                           

     Interest 198,766              -                          -                           

    Total expenditures 10,079,525         1,839,604           631,587               

    Revenues over (under) expenditures (1,763,982)          (428,094)             107,859               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Sale of capital assets 76,504                -                          -                           

Proceeds from lease and SBITA obligation 139,276              -                          -                           

Transfers in 1,213,037           386,523              -                           

Transfers out -                          (616,941)             (80,790)                

    Total other financing sources (uses) 1,428,817           (230,418)             (80,790)                

Net changes in fund balances (335,165)             (658,512)             27,069                 

9,360,347           3,635,426           10,643                 

FUND BALANCES, ENDING 9,025,182$         2,976,914$         37,712$               

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

19

11 - 36



Fire and Emergency 

Services Special 

Levy Fund

Urban Renewal 

Agency Fund

Total 

Governmental

334,216$               1,065,293$       6,949,371$        

-                         -                       1,619,109          

-                         -                       1,082,173          

-                         -                       404,878             

-                         -                       106,292             

-                         -                       195,904             

-                         -                       328,856             

-                         -                       193,462             

-                         -                       33,960               

17,665                   84,275              863,410             

-                         -                       190,533             

351,881                 1,149,568         11,967,948        

-                             -                       2,458,439          

571,537                 -                       6,013,440          

-                             -                       810,667             

-                             198,715            198,715             

-                             -                       1,082,249          

-                             -                       2,162,183          

-                             471,789            868,298             

-                             66,666              265,432             

571,537                 737,170            13,859,423        

(219,656)                412,398            (1,891,475)         

-                             -                       76,504               

-                             -                       139,276             

-                             -                       1,599,560          

-                             (245,370)          (943,101)            

-                             (245,370)          872,239             

(219,656)                167,028            (1,019,236)         

390,054                 2,822,979         16,219,449        

170,398$               2,990,007$       15,200,213$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

20

11 - 37



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (1,019,236)$           

1,704,125              

(50,328)                  

Proceeds from lease and SBITA obligations (139,276)                

Repayment on lease and SBITA obligations 46,056                   

Principal repayment on long-term debt 868,298                 

Accrued compensated absences (67,321)                  

Accrued interest payable 6,113                     

Net OPEB obligations 19,905                   

Net pension liability 657                        

Change in net position of governmental activities 1,368,993$      

The statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances report capital 

outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets 

is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.  This 

is the amount by which capital outlay exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current financial 

resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Some revenue reported in the statement of activities do not provide current

financial resources in the governmental funds.

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases, SBITAs) provide current financial resources 

to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the 

current financial resources of government funds. This amount is the net effect of these 

differences in the treatment of long-term debt.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

21

11 - 38



FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Proprietary Funds

Enterprise Funds

These funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to
private business enterprises. The intent of the governing body is that the costs of providing the

services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed primarily through user charges.  

Water Fund

The Water Fund accounts for the City’s water utility operations.

Sewer Fund

The Sewer Fund accounts for the City’s sewer utility operations.

Storm Water Fund

The Storm Water Fund accounts for the City’s storm water operations.

22

11 - 39



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2023

Water Fund Sewer Fund Storm Water Fund Total

ASSETS:

Current assets:

Cash and investments 5,009,032$           3,942,768$           1,742,852$           10,694,652$         

Trade accounts receivable 276,522 387,354 98,950 762,826

Prepaids 178,168  -  - 178,168

Due from other agency  - 57,564 24,670 82,234

    Total current assets 5,463,722 4,387,686 1,866,472 11,717,880

Noncurrent assets:

Restricted cash 657,771                484,342                124,336 1,266,449

Net OPEB asset 5,800 7,586 2,989 16,375

Investment in joint venture 3,170,474  -  - 3,170,474

Capital assets:

   Non-depreciable 154,811 588,711 159,154 902,676

   Depreciable 2,852,982 1,950,039 423,891 5,226,912

    Total noncurrent assets 6,841,838 3,030,678 710,370 10,582,886

    Total assets 12,305,560 7,418,364 2,576,842 22,300,766

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension 157,749 206,311 81,293 445,353

Other post employment benefits 3,687 4,824 1,901 10,412

Total deferred outflows of resources 161,436 211,135 83,194 455,765

Total assets & deferred outflows of resources 12,466,996$         7,629,499$           2,660,036$           22,756,531$         

LIABILITIES:

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 93,540$                249,110$              12,180$                354,830$              

Interest payable 5,168  -  - 5,168

Accrued payroll payable  - 430  - 430

Accrued compensated absences 15,700 84,834  - 100,534

Bonds payable - current maturity 173,000  -  - 173,000

Other 21,148  -  - 21,148

             

    Total current liabilities 308,556 334,374 12,180 655,110

Noncurrent liabilities:

OPEB liability 24,964 32,649 12,865 70,478

Bonds payable  349,000  -  - 349,000

Net pension liability 339,187 443,605 174,794 957,586

    Total noncurrent liabilities 713,151 476,254 187,659 1,377,064

    Total liabilities 1,021,707 810,628 199,839 2,032,174

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension 113,774 148,799 58,631 321,204

Other post employment benefits 4,235 5,541 2,183 11,959

Total deferred inflows of resources 118,009 154,340 60,814 333,163

NET POSITION:

Net investment in capital assets 2,485,793 2,538,750 583,045 5,607,588

Restricted for:

OPEB benefits 5,800 7,586 2,989 16,375

System development 657,771 484,342 124,336 1,266,449

Unrestricted 8,177,916             3,633,853             1,689,013             13,500,782

    Total net position 11,327,280           6,664,531             2,399,383             20,391,194           

Total liabilities, deferred inflows & net position   12,466,996$         7,629,499$           2,660,036$           22,756,531$         

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

23

11 - 40



PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Water Fund Sewer Fund Storm Water Fund Total

OPERATING REVENUES:

Service charges 2,735,244$           4,038,486$           956,725$                7,730,455$           

System development charge  - 16,627                   - 16,627

Miscellaneous 1,050 101,873                65,844 168,767

    Total operating revenues 2,736,294 4,156,986 1,022,569 7,915,849

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Purchases 581,349 1,966,265  - 2,547,614

Salaries and fringe benefits 722,613 198,276 309,729 1,230,618

Contract charges 71,408 31,058 21,657 124,123

Maintenance and repairs 85,057 71,673 28,156 184,886

Utilities 23,749 3,399 2,713 29,861

Depreciation 144,139 146,146 26,445 316,730

Supplies 49,180 50,290 49,215 148,685

    Total operating expenses 1,677,495 2,467,107 437,915 4,582,517

    Operating income (loss) 1,058,799 1,689,879 584,654 3,333,332

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

Interest expense (10,336)                  -  -  (10,336)

Gain (loss) on transfer of capital assets  -  (511,550)  -  (511,550)

Gain (loss) in joint venture 44,430  -  - 44,430

    Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 34,094  (511,550)  - (477,456)               

Income before transfers 1,092,893 1,178,329 584,654 2,855,876

TRANSFERS:

Transfers in (out)  (268,881)  (289,224)  (98,354)  (656,459)

    Change in net position 824,012 889,105 486,300 2,199,417

    

NET POSITION, BEGINNING 10,503,268 5,775,426 1,913,083 18,191,777

NET POSITION, ENDING 11,327,280$         6,664,531$           2,399,383$           20,391,194$         

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

24

11 - 41



PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Water Fund Sewer Fund Storm Water Fund Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash received from customers 2,675,034$    4,099,873$    991,065$     7,765,972$    

Cash paid to employees for salaries and benefits (447,708) (395,243) (210,891) (1,053,842) 

Cash paid to suppliers and others (813,717) (2,215,655) (208,967) (3,238,339) 

  Net cash provided by operating activities 1,413,609 1,488,975 571,207 3,473,791 

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL  FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES:

Transfers in (out) (268,881) (289,224) (98,354) (656,459) 

Net cash provided (used) by non-capital financing activities (263,198) (289,224) (98,354) (650,776) 

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED

 FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of capital assets (25,396) (287,432) (219,017) (531,845) 

Principal paid on capital debt (166,000) - - (166,000) 

Interest paid on capital debt (11,979) - - (11,979) 

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities (203,375) (287,432) (219,017) (709,824) 

  Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 947,036 912,319 253,836 2,113,191 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING 4,719,767 3,514,791 1,613,352 9,847,910 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, ENDING 5,666,803$    4,427,110$    1,867,188$     11,961,101$    

COMPRISED AS FOLLOWS:

Unrestricted 5,009,032$    3,942,768$    1,742,852$     10,694,652$    

Restricted 657,771 484,342 124,336 1,266,449 

  Total cash and cash equivalents 5,666,803$    4,427,110$    1,867,188$     11,961,101$    

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET

CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating Income (loss) 1,058,799$    1,689,879$    584,654$     3,333,332$    

Adjustments:

  Depreciation 144,139 146,146 26,445 316,730 

  Decrease (increase) in:

  Accounts receivable (61,259) (57,113) (31,504) (149,876) 

  Prepaids (5,357) - - (5,357) 

Deferred outflows related to pension (130,392) 200,953 (42,776) 27,785 

  Increase (decrease) in:

  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,382 (92,970) (107,226) (197,814) 

  Accrued compensated absences 8,121 30,213 (774) 37,560 

Deferred inflows related to pension 82,518 (316,800) 14,605 (219,677) 

Pension liability 298,921 (90,907) 122,369 330,383 

  OPEB obligation 15,737 (20,426) 5,414 725 

  Net cash provided by operating activities 1,413,609$    1,488,975$    571,207$     3,473,791$    

NON-CASH INFORMATION:

Interfund capital asset transfer -$   (511,550)$    (511,550)$     

Increase (decrease) in joint venture 44,430 - - 44,430 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

25

11 - 42



FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fiduciary Funds

These funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent for 
individuals, private organizations, other governments and/or other funds. Agency Funds are 
custodial in nature and do not involve measurement of results.

Municipal Court Trust Fund

The Municipal Court Trust Fund accounts for resources received and held by the City in a fiduciary 
capacity.  

26

11 - 43



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

FIDUCIARY FUND

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

June 30, 2023

Municipal Court 

Trust Fund

ASSETS:

Cash and investments 36,661$                

Accounts receivable 2,768                    

Total assets 39,429                  

NET POSITION:

Restricted:

Individuals and organizations 39,429                  

Total net position held in trust 39,429$                

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

27

11 - 44



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Municipal Court 

Trust Fund

ADDITIONS:

City of Gladstone fines and fees 304,822$              

Clackamas County fines and fees 13,224                  

State of Oregon fines and fees 49,835                  

Bond (10,949)                 

Other court fees 603                       

Total additions 357,535                

DEDUCTIONS:

City of Gladstone fines and fees 325,597                

Clackamas County fines and fees 13,462                  

State of Oregon fines and fees 50,536                  

Other court fees 368                       

Total deductions 389,963                

Change in net position (32,428)                 

NET POSITION, BEGINNING 71,857                  

NET POSITION, ENDING 39,429$                

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

28

11 - 45



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

29 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
The financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to government units. GAAP 
statements include all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. 
The more significant accounting policies of the City are described below.  

A. Description of Reporting Entity 
The City was incorporated in 1911. The City is a municipal corporation that operates under the voter-
approved City of Gladstone, Oregon charter of 1984. Under the charter, the City is governed by an 
elected mayor and six council members who comprise the City Council. 

As required by GAAP, these financial statements present the City and its component unit (Gladstone 
Urban Renewal Agency), an entity for which the City is considered to be financially accountable.  

Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency 
The Agency was formed to plan, direct, and manage certain projects within Gladstone. Pursuant to ORS 
457.055, the City Council has been appointed governing body of the Agency. The Urban Renewal 
Agency Fund is reported as governmental fund type and is considered a blended component unit within 
the City’s financial statements.  The Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency has a June 30 year-end. 
Complete financial statements for the Agency may be obtained at the City of Gladstone – City Hall, 
18505 Portland Avenue, Gladstone, Oregon 97027. 

Based on the criteria from Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The 
Financial Reporting Entity, as amended by GASB Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain 
Organizations are Component Units, and GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: 
Omnibus an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14 and No. 34, the Gladstone Seniors Foundation, a 
nonprofit 501(c)(3), and Gladstone Public Library Foundation, a nonprofit 501(c)(3), are considered 
discretely presented component units. These discretely presented component units are not considered 
material in relation to the City of Gladstone and accordingly, have not been included in the City’s 
financial report. 

North Clackamas County Water Commission 

The City is a ten percent partner with the Sunrise Water Authority and the Oak Lodge Water District in 
the North Clackamas County Water Commission, a joint venture. The purpose of this joint venture is to 
operate, maintain, and enhance a regional water supply system with water rights from the Clackamas 
River and to cooperatively conduct water resource planning.  The City reports its participation in the 
joint venture on the equity method, consistent with GAAP (see Note 6). 
 
B. Basic Financial Statements 
Basic financial statements are presented at both the government-wide and fund financial level. Both 
levels of statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business-type. Governmental 
activities, which are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported 
separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for 
support. 
 

11 - 46



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

30 

Government-wide statements 
The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the City as a 
whole. These statements include all the financial activities of the City, except for fiduciary activities. 
Eliminations have been made to minimize the double-counting of internal activities.  

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
each function of the City’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically 
associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. 
Indirect expense allocations that have been made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of 
activities. Program revenues include (a) fees, fines, and charges paid by the recipients of goods or 
services offered by the programs, and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Taxes and other items not properly included 
among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 

Fund financial statements 
These statements display information at the individual fund level. Each fund is considered to be a 
separate accounting entity. Funds are classified and summarized as governmental, proprietary, and 
fiduciary, even though the latter are excluded from government-wide financial statements. 

C. Basis of Presentation 
The financial transactions of the City are recorded in individual funds. Each fund is accounted for by 
providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, fund balance, revenues and expenditures/expenses. 
The various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial statements. 

GAAP sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, 
deferred inflows of resources, revenues or expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the 
governmental and proprietary combined) for the determination of major funds. Non-major funds are 
combined in a column in the fund financial statements and detailed in supplementary information. 

The City reports all governmental funds as major funds: 

The General Fund accounts for the financial resources of the City which are not accounted for in any 
other fund. Principal sources of revenue are property taxes, franchise fees, American Rescue Plan Act 
(ARPA) grant funding and state shared revenues. Primary expenditures are for police protection, fire 
protection, maintenance of parks, operation of the library and senior center, and general administration. 
The ARPA grant funds are budgeted separately, but are reported as part of the General Fund. 
The Road and Street Fund accounts for revenues from state gasoline taxes apportioned from the State of 
Oregon. 
The Urban Renewal Agency Fund accounts for property tax revenue received for the rehabilitation of 
blighted and deteriorated areas within the City’s designated urban renewal area. 
The Police and Communications Special Levy Fund accounts for the receipts and expenditure of taxes 
received from a five-year local option levy.  Proceeds from the levy are used to support the costs of 
additional police personnel.  

11 - 47



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

31 

The Fire and Emergency Services Special Levy Fund accounts for the receipts and expenditure of taxes 
received from a five-year local option levy.  Proceeds from the levy are used to support the costs of 
additional fire personnel and equipment purchases.  

The City reports each of its three proprietary funds as major funds. These funds are used to account for 
operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises. The intent 
of the governing body is that the costs of providing the services to the general public on a continuing 
basis be financed primarily through user charges. The City reports the following proprietary funds: 

 Water Fund 
 Sewer Fund 
 Storm Water Fund 

Fiduciary Funds reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The fiduciary category is 
split into four classifications: pension trust funds, investment trust funds, private-purpose trust funds, 
and agency funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets the City holds in a trustee capacity or 
as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments, and other funds. The City’s only 
fiduciary fund is an agency fund. Agency funds are purely custodial (assets equal liabilities) and thus do 
not involve measurement of results of operations. The City reports the Municipal Court Trust Fund as a 
fiduciary fund. 

D. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
Measurement focus is a term used to describe which transactions are recorded with the various financial 
statements. Basis of accounting refers to when transactions are recorded regardless of the measurement 
focus. 

The Government-Wide Financial Statements and the Proprietary Funds Financial Statements are 
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting, as 
are the fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar 
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have 
been met. 

Governmental Fund Financial Statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as 
they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For 
this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end 
of the current fiscal period. Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the 
current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as 
revenues of the current fiscal period. Only the portion of special assessments receivable due within the 
current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period. All other 
revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City.  
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, 
long-term compensated absences are recorded only when payment is due. 

A deferred inflow of resources arises in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet when potential revenue 
does not meet both the measurable and available criteria for recognition in the current period. This 

11 - 48



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

32 

unavailable revenue consists primarily of uncollected property taxes and assessments not deemed 
available to finance operations of the current period. In the government-wide Statement of Net Position, 
with a full accrual basis of accounting, revenue must be recognized as soon as it is earned regardless of 
its availability. Thus, the deferred inflow of resources created on the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet 
for unavailable revenue is eliminated. Note that deferred inflow of resources may also arise outside the 
scope of measurement focus and basis of accounting, such as when the City receives resources before it 
has a legal claim to them. For instance, when grant monies are received prior to the incurrence of 
qualifying expenditures. 

Similar to the way its revenues are recorded, governmental funds only record those expenditures that 
affect current financial resources. Vested compensated absences are recorded as expenditures only to the 
extent that they are expected to be liquidated with expendable financial resources. In the government-
wide financial statements, however, with a full accrual basis of accounting, all expenditures affecting 
the economic resource status of the government must be recognized, thus, the expense and related 
accrued liability for long term portions of compensated absences must be included. 

Since the governmental fund statements are presented on a different measurement focus and basis of 
accounting than the government-wide statements’ governmental column, a reconciliation is necessary to 
explain the adjustments needed to transform the fund-based financial statements into the governmental 
column of the government-wide presentation. This reconciliation is part of the basic financial statements.  

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services, and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principle ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 
the City’s Water, Sewer and Storm Water Funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The 
Water, Sewer and Storm Water Funds also recognize fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new 
customers to the City’s utility systems as operating revenue. Operating expenses for proprietary funds 
include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and overheads, and depreciation on capital 
assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and 
expenses.  
 
E. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the City considers cash equivalents as all highly liquid debt 
instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less.  

Investments included in cash and cash equivalents are reported at fair value. The City invests in the State 
of Oregon Local Government Investment Pool, which is authorized by Oregon Revised Statutes. Interest 
earned from pooled investments is allocated based on a fund’s portion of the total investment balance. 
The City maintains depository insurance under Federal depository insurance funds and state and 
financial institution collateral pools for its cash deposits and investments, except the Local Government 
Investment Pool, which is exempt from statutes requiring such insurance. 

F. Investments 
Investments are stated at share value, which approximates fair value. The City holds one 24 month 
certificate of deposit at OnPoint Community Credit Union, for the benefit of the Gladstone Public 
Library.  The certificate had a balance of $17,455 as of June 30, 2023, a fixed interest rate of 0.15% and 
a maturity date of July 26, 2023. 

11 - 49



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

33 

G. Restricted Cash and Investments 
Assets whose use is restricted to specific purposes by state statute are segregated on the balance sheet. 

H. Fund Balance 
In the fund financial statements, fund balance for governmental funds is reported in classifications that 
comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on 
the specific purpose for which amounts in the funds can be spent. Fund balance is reported in five 
components – non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned. 

Non-Spendable – Includes amounts not immediately converted to cash, such as prepaid items. 
Restricted – Includes amounts that are restricted by external creditors, grantors or contributors, or 
restricted by enabling legislation.  
Committed – Includes amounts that have been committed by resolution of the City Council which is 
the City’s “highest level of decision-making authority.” Committed amounts may not be used for any 
other purpose unless the City Council removes the constraint by similar Council action. Commitments 
of fund balance must be made prior to the end of the fiscal year. 
Assigned – Includes amounts assigned for specific purposes by Council action. In accordance with the 
City’s adopted fund policy, adopted by resolution, amounts may be assigned by the City Administrator. 
Unassigned – This is the residual classification in the General Fund used for those balances not assigned 
to another category.  Deficit balances in other governmental funds are also reported as unassigned. 

I. Use of Restricted Resources 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources, as they are needed. When unrestricted resources 
(committed, assigned and unassigned) are available for use it is the City’s policy to use committed 
resources first, then assigned, and then unassigned as they are needed. 

J. Receivables and Payables 
Property taxes receivable in the governmental fund types, which have been collected within sixty days 
following year end, are considered measurable and available and are recognized as revenues in 
governmental funds. All other property taxes receivable for the governmental fund types are offset by 
deferred inflows of resources and, accordingly, have not been recorded as revenue. Property taxes 
become a lien against the property as of July 1 each year and are payable in three installments on 
November 15, February 15 and May 15 following the lien date. All property taxes receivable are due 
from property owners within the City.  

Activity between funds that represent lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the 
fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e. the current portion of interfund loans) 
or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e. the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding 
balances between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds”. Any residual balances outstanding 
between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide 
financial statements as “internal balances.” 

Receivables of the proprietary funds are recognized as revenue when earned, including services provided 
but not billed. Management believes that any uncollectible accounts included in the governmental fund 

11 - 50



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

34 

receivable balances are not significant, and therefore no provision for uncollectible accounts has been 
made. No provision for uncollectible accounts has been made for receivables in proprietary funds as 
management believes balances are collectable. 

K. Capital Assets and Depreciation 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g. roads, street 
lights, etc.), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the 
government-wide financial statements and in the proprietary fund statements. Capital assets are charged 
to expenditures as purchased in the governmental fund statements, and capitalized in the proprietary fund 
statements. Capital assets are recorded at historical cost, or estimated historical cost if actual cost is 
unknown. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair market value at the time received.  

Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of $5,000 or more, and 
having useful lives extending beyond a single reporting period. Additions or improvements and other 
capital outlays that significantly extend the useful life of an asset, or that significantly increase the 
capacity of an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are expensed as 
incurred. 

Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is expensed. 
No interest costs were capitalized during the year ended June 30, 2023.  

Depreciation on exhaustible assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the Statement of Activities with 
accumulated depreciation included in the balances reported in the Statement of Net Position and is 
provided on the straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives: 

 Building and improvements - 50 years  
 Supply and distribution systems (including utility plant infrastructure) - 50 years 
 Machinery and equipment – 5-10 years 
 

L. Lease Assets and Subscription-based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs) 
Lease assets are assets which the City leases for a term of more than one year.  The value of leases are 
determined by the net present value of the leases at the City’s incremental borrowing rate at the time of 
the lease agreement, amortized over the term of the agreement. 
 
SBITAs are a contract that conveys control of the right to use a vendor’s information technology 
software, alone or in combination with tangible capital assets, as specified in the contract for a period of 
time.  As with leases, the value of the contract is determine by the net preset value at the borrowing rate 
at the time, amortized over the term of the agreement. 
 
M. Investments Accounted for by the Equity Method 
The City’s investment in the North Clackamas County Water Commission is accounted for under the 
equity method, as prescribed by GAAP for joint ventures. Under the equity method, the investment in 
the joint venture is increased or decreased by the City’s equity in the increase or decrease in the net 
position of the joint venture. Profit on operating transactions between the City and the joint venture is 
eliminated in the calculation of this equity interest. Non-operating transactions increase or decrease the 
investment in the joint venture. 

11 - 51



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

35 

N. Compensated Absences 
Accumulated vested vacation pay is accrued as it is earned. For governmental funds, accumulated vested 
vacation pay is maintained separately and represents a reconciling item between the fund-level and 
government-wide presentations. No liability is recorded for non-vesting accumulating rights to receive 
sick pay benefits. Sick pay, which does not vest, is recorded in all funds when leave is taken. 

Funds used to liquidate accrued compensated absences included the General Fund, Road and Street Fund, 
Police Communications Special Levy Fund, Fire and Emergency Services Special Levy Fund, Water 
Fund, Sewer Fund and Storm Water Fund.  

O. Long-Term Obligations 
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 
Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are 
reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed in the period 
incurred. 

P. Leases and Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs) Payable 
In the government-wide financial statements, leases and SBITAs payable are reported as liabilities in the 
Statement of Net Position.  In the governmental fund financial statements, the present value of lease and 
SBITA payments are reported as other financing sources. 
Q. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred outflows 
of resources.  This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net assets that 
applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expenditure/expense) 
until then.  The City has two items that qualify for reporting in this category, the deferred amounts 
relating to pensions and other post-employment benefits. These amounts are deferred and recognized as 
an outflow of resources in the period when the City's recognizes these expenses/expenditures. Deferred 
outflows are included in the government-wide Statement of Net Position and the proprietary funds 
Statement of Net Position, if applicable. 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred inflows 
of resources.  This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net assets that applies 
to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The 
City has four items that qualify for reporting in this category. Unavailable revenue from property taxes 
and grant funds are reported in the governmental funds balance sheet. These amounts are deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period an amount becomes available. The City also reports 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and other post-employment benefits.  These amounts 
are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period when the City's recognizes pension 
and other post-employment benefits income. Deferred inflows are included in the government-wide 
Statement of Net Position and the proprietary funds Statement of Net Position, if applicable. 

 
R. Pension 

11 - 52



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

36 

R. Pension 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
Oregon Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) and additions to/deductions from OPERS's 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by OPERS. For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and 
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

S. Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions (OPEB) 
 For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
City’s two separate plans the Implicit Rate Subsidy and Oregon Public Employees Retirement Systems 
(OPERS) and additions to/deductions from Implicit Rate Subsidy and OPERS's fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by Implicit Rate Subsidy and OPERS. For 
this purpose, Implicit Rate Subsidy and OPERS recognizes benefit payments when due and payable in 
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value, except for money market 
investments and participating interest-earning investment contracts that have a maturity at the time of 
purchase of one year or less, which are reported at cost. 

T. Net Position  
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary funds financial statements, net position is 
reported in three categories: net investment in capital assets; restricted net position; and unrestricted net 
position. Net investment in capital assets represents capital assets less accumulated depreciation, less 
outstanding principal of capital-related debt. Net investment in capital assets does not include the unspent 
proceeds of capital debt. Restricted net position represents net position restricted by parties outside of 
the City (such as creditors, grantors, contributors, laws, and regulations of other governments).  The 
remaining net position is considered unrestricted. 

U. Accounting Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires that management make 
estimates and assumptions which affect the reporting amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

2. Cash and Investments 
At June 30, 2023 investments of the City consist of the following: 

 Weighted   
 Average  Fair 
 Maturity (Years)  Value 
Investments in the State Treasurer’s Local 
Government Investment Pool 

  
0.00 

  
$      29,312,608 

Certificate of deposit        1.95          17,455 
     $      29,330,063 

 

11 - 53



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

37 

The City does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of 
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.  

B. Credit risk 
State statutes authorize the City to invest in general obligations of the U.S. Government and its 
agencies, certain bonded obligations of Oregon municipalities, bank repurchase agreements, bankers’ 
acceptances, and the State Treasure’s Oregon Local Government Investment Pool, among others. The 
State Treasurer’s Investment Pool operates in accordance with appropriate state laws and regulations, 
but is not regulated by other laws, organizations or regulations. The reported value of the Pool is the 
same as the fair value of Pool shares. Investments are regulated by the Oregon Short-Term Fund Board 
and approved by the Oregon Investment Council (ORS 294.805 to 294.895). The Pool is not registered 
with the SEC as an investment company and is unrated. The City also invests in U.S. government 
obligations and agency obligation and commercial paper with a Standard & Poor’s rating of A or better.  

C. Concentration of credit risk 
The City does not currently have an investment policy for concentration of credit risk. 

D. Custodial credit risk – deposits 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned. 
The City does not have a deposit policy addressing custodial credit risk. The Federal Depository 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) provides insurance for the City’s deposits up to $250,000 for the 
combined total of all deposit accounts at each financial institution.  The remaining deposits are covered 
by the Public Funds Collateralization program (PFCP) of the State of Oregon in accordance with ORS 
295. Depositories qualified under this program are required to pledge collateral against any public funds 
deposits in excess of deposit insurance amounts. This provides additional protection for public funds in 
the event of a bank failure or loss. ORS 295 sets the specific value of the collateral, as well as the types 
of collateral that are acceptable. ORS 295 creates a shared liability structure for participating 
depositories, better protecting public funds though still not guaranteeing that all funds are 100% 
protected. As of June 30, 2023, the book value of the City’s deposits was $209,319 and the bank balance 
was $444,238. None of the City’s bank balances were exposed to custodial credit risk as they were fully 
insured or collateralized under PFCP. 

E. Custodial credit risk – investments 
For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the City will not 
be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an 
outside party. At June 30, 2023, the City had no investments exposed to custodial credit risk. 

F. Restricted Deposits 
Restricted cash and investments represent system development charges and transportation impact fees 
collected by the City which can be expended only for capital improvement projects.  Also included are 
committed funds generated for business development and tourism promotion by business license and 
transient lodging tax revenue, along with park improvement fees generated by parking fees at City parks.  

 

3.   Accounts Receivable 

2023 

As of June 30, 2023, the book value of the City’s deposits was $209,319 and the bank balance 

11 - 54



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

38 

Accounts receivable represent the uncollected amounts due and payable as of June 30, 2023 from specific 
sources.  At June 30, 2023 the uncollected amounts due were: 

Transient lodging fees 36,577$       
Franchise fees 94,385         
Miscellaneous 27,364         
Right of way fees 64,477         
State shared revenues 213,136       

Total Governmental Funds 435,939$     

Water utilities 276,522$     
Sewer utilities 387,354       
WES contribution - sewer 57,564         
Storm water utilities 98,950         
WES contribution - storm 24,670         

Total Business Type Funds 845,060$     
 

4. Interfund Transfers 
Transfers between funds during the year were as follows: 
 

Transfers In Transfers Out
Governmental Funds

General Fund 1,213,037$ -$           
Road & Street Fund 386,523      616,941      
Police/Communications Fund -                80,790        
Urban Renewal Fund -                245,370      

Total Governmental Funds 1,599,560   943,101      

Proprietary Funds
Water Fund 113,292      382,173      
Sewer Fund 113,292      402,516      
Storm Water Fund 113,292      211,646      

Total Proprietary Funds 339,876      996,335      

Total All Funds 1,939,436$ 1,939,436$  

 
Transfers for services between funds are utilized to provide support for various city programs in 
accordance with budgetary authorizations. These transfers cover administrative services, provide for 
additional funding for reserve purposes, contribute towards the cost of capital projects, and provide for 
other operational resources. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, all City transfers are classified under 
operating transfers in/out for financial reporting purposes.  
  

11 - 55



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

39 

5. Capital Assets 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 is as follows: 

 

Depreciation/amortization expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as 
follows: 

 
 

Beginning Ending 
  Primary Government Balance Additions Deletions Balance

Capital assets, non-depreciable:
Land 6,498,106$    511,550$       (8,000)$         7,001,656$    
Construction in progress 277,817         558,011         (58,315)         777,513         

Total capital assets, non-depreciable 6,775,923      1,069,561      (66,315)         7,779,169      

Capital assets, depreciable:
Intangible assets 347,400         -                   (114,584)       232,816         
Buildings, structures and improve 18,668,214    228,647         (570,650)       18,326,211    
Equipment 1,710,777      39,123          (1,143,824)     606,076         
Vehicles 3,021,887      107,622         (601,433)       2,528,076      
Infrastructure 4,851,843      1,053,210      -                   5,905,053      
Right-to-use leased equipment 19,575          76,443          (15,102)         80,916          
Right-to-use subscription software -                   77,833          -                   77,833          
  Total capital assets, depreciable 28,619,696    1,582,878      (2,445,593)     27,756,981    

Total assets 35,395,619    2,652,439      (2,511,908)     35,536,150    

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Intangible assets (295,058)       (26,780)         114,584         (207,254)       
Buildings, structures and improve (2,818,665)     (347,361)       442,743         (2,723,283)     
Equipment (1,506,904)     (42,097)         1,143,824      (405,177)       
Vehicles (2,591,425)     (143,316)       566,616         (2,168,125)     
Infrastructure (1,503,446)     (113,185)       -                   (1,616,631)     
Right-to-use leased equipment (10,080)         (18,969)         15,102          (13,947)         
Right-to-use subscription software -                   (17,567)         -                   (17,567)         
   Total accumulated depreciation (8,725,578)     (709,275)       2,282,869      (7,151,984)     

Net depreciable capital assets 19,894,118    873,603         (162,724)       20,604,997    

Net capital assets 26,670,041$  1,943,164$    (229,039)$      28,384,166$  

Governmental activities:
General government 313,264$       
Public safety 130,483         
Roads and highways 169,840         
Culture and recreation 95,688          
      Total depreciation/amortization expense 709,275$       

11 - 56



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

40 

 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the business-type activities as follows: 

 

A land transfer valued at $511,550 was made from Business Activities to the General Government, as 
shown in the Additions and Deletions columns in the above schedules. 

6. Joint Venture 
The City is a member of the North Clackamas County Water Commission (NCCWC), a joint venture in 
which the City has a ten percent interest and the Sunrise Water Authority and the Oak Lodge Water 
Services Authority hold forty-eight and forty-two percent interests, respectively. The Board of 
Commissioners consists of seven members: the Boards of Commissioners for Sunrise Water Authority 
and Oak Lodge Water Services Authority select three commissioners each, and the Gladstone City 
Council selects one commissioner. 

Business-type activities
Beginning 
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending 
Balance

Capital assets, non-depreciable:
Land 640,964$       -$                 (511,550)$      129,414$       
Construction in progress 473,412         455,055         (155,205)       773,262         

Total capital assets, non-depreciable 1,114,376      455,055         (666,755)       902,676         
Capital assets, depreciable:
Intangible assets 21,658          -                   -                   21,658          
Buildings 106,113         -                   -                   106,113         
Equipment 205,682         -                   -                   205,682         
Vehicles 719,744         30,000          -                   749,744         
Infrastructure 11,776,487    201,995         -                   11,978,482    
  Total capital assets, depreciable 12,829,684    231,995         -                   13,061,679    

Total 13,944,060    687,050         (666,755)       13,964,355    

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Intangible assets (9,026)           (9,280)           -                   (18,306)         
Buildings (99,029)         (210)              -                   (99,239)         
Equipment (195,240)       (9,224)           6,186            (198,278)       
Vehicles (434,669)       (88,057)         -                   (522,726)       
Infrastructure (6,780,073)     (216,145)       -                   (6,996,218)     
   Total accumulated depreciation (7,518,037)     (322,916)       6,186            (7,834,767)     

Net depreciable capital assets 5,311,647      (90,921)         6,186            5,226,912      

Net capital assets 6,426,023$    364,134$       (660,569)$      6,129,588$    

Business-type activities:
Water 144,139$ 
Sewer 152,332   
Storm Water 26,445     
      Total depreciation expense - Business Activities 322,916$ 

11 - 57



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

41 

As of the date of this report, the NCCWC Annual Financial Report for June 30, 2023 was not issued, so 
an estimate was necessary for the City’s net position.  This estimate will be trued-up in the following 
year.  The City’s net position in the joint venture as of June 30, 2023 was estimated at $3,170,474, with 
an estimated net gain of $44,430. The City had water purchases from the Commission of $561,873 for 
the year ended June 30, 2023, which is an increase of $31,554 over the previous year. The Commission 
has not completed a true-up for the last four years. 

Separate financial statements for the North Clackamas County Water Commission can be obtained from 
the Commission at 14496 SE River Road, Milwaukie, Oregon 97267. 

7. Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Deferred inflows of resources related to unavailable revenue presented on the Governmental Funds 
Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2023 consist of the following: 
 

 
 

8. Long Term Debt 
 
A. Changes in General Long-Term Liabilities 
During the year ended June 30, 2023, long-term liability activity was as follows: 

The current amount due of $177,775 for the FF&C (2018) was remitted and received by the lender by June 30, 2023.  The 
payment was recorded as a prepaid asset, and will be applied on July 1, 2023. 

Urban Police & Fire & Emergency
General Renewal Communications Services Special

Fund Fund Special Levy Fund Levy Fund Total

Property Taxes 112,775$       25,015$      17,182$                 7,827$              162,799$       
Other - Grant Funds 2,454,622      -             -                        -                   2,454,622      

2,567,397$    25,015$      17,182$                 7,827$              2,617,421$    

Amounts
Beginning Ending Due Within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Governmental Activities

Note payable - FF&C (2022) 4,959,682$       -$                223,912$           4,735,770$      243,597$       
Note payable - FF&C (2018) 2,512,030         -                  172,598             2,339,432        177,775         
Note payable - URA (2018) 2,465,542         -                  471,789             1,993,753        485,896         

Total Notes 9,937,254         -                  868,299             9,068,955        907,268         

Compensated absences 326,371            393,693           326,371             393,693           393,693         
Total Governmental Activities 10,263,625$      393,693$         1,194,670$         9,462,648$      1,300,961$    

Accrued Interest
Previous Int Amt of Next Date through Days to Accrued

Pmt Date Int Payment which accrued Accrue Interest
2022 FF&C Note payable 6/1/2023 60,144$           6/30/2023 29                   9,690$           
2018 FF&C Note payable 2/1/2023 35,091             6/30/2023 149                 29,048           
2018 URA Note payable 2/1/2023 29,807             6/30/2023 149                 24,674           

125,042$         63,411$         

11 - 58



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

42 

 
 

B. Direct Borrowings 
Governmental Activities    

On April 21, 2022, the City directly borrowed $5,000,000 for reconstruction/remodeling of the Public 
Works Facility within the Governmental Activities.  The Full Faith and Credit Note is secured by the 
City’s full faith and credit taxing power, but shall not entitle the lender to any lien on, or pledge of 
specific properties or revenue of the City.  The borrowing carries an interest rate of 2.54 percent.  Interest 
is payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, and principal is payable annually on 
June 1 through 2039.  Payments will be funded by the General Fund at 10.0 percent, and the balance in 
equal internal transfers from the Road and Street, Water, Sewer and Storm Sewer Fund at 22.5 percent, 
respectively. 
 
The City may prepay all or any portion of the note, with forty-five days’ prior written notice, in multiples 
of $5,000, without premium, on any payment date on or after June 1, 2028, including accrued interest. 
Payments will be applied interest first, then principal to reduce the outstanding balance. If less than the 
full balance is paid, the prepayments will be applied to the principal balance in inverse order of 
maturities, and an updated payment schedule will be supplied by the lender. The borrowing contains an 
event of default clause that allows the lender to increase the interest rate by 1.5 percent on the outstanding 
balance. However, the amounts due from the City shall not be subject to acceleration. 
On July 31, 2018, the City directly borrowed, in two separate transactions, a total of $6,800,000 for 
construction of a new City Hall and Police Station within the Governmental Activities.  Each transaction 
is described separately below: 

a. $3,000,000 – General Fund Full Faith & Credit Note Payable – secured by the City’s full 
faith and credit and taxing power, but shall not entitle the lender to any lien on, or pledge 
of, specific properties or revenue of the City.  The borrowing carries an interest rate of 
3.00 percent. Interest is payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 of each year, 
and principal is payable annually on August 1 through 2029. 
 

b. $3,800,000 – Urban Renewal Agency Note Payable – secured by the Master Borrowing 
Declaration for the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency.  Funds will be collected annually 
by the “Divide the Taxes” revenue as will be assessed through the Urban Renewal 
Agency.  The borrowing carries an interest rate of 2.99 percent. Interest is payable semi-
annually on February 1 and August 1 of each year, and principal is payable annually on 
August 1 through 2026. 

 

Amounts
Beginning Ending Due Within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Business-type Activities

Bonds 688,000$          -$                166,000$           522,000$         173,000$       

 Compensated absences 63,096              100,534           63,096               100,534           100,534         
Total Business-type Activities 751,096$          100,534$         229,096$           622,534$         273,534$       

Accrued Interest
Previous Int Amt of Next Date through Days to Accrued

Pmt Date Int Payment which accrued Accrue Interest
2015 FF&C Obligations 1/1/2023 5,168$             6/30/2023 180                 5,168$           

11 - 59



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

43 

The City may prepay all or any portion of each note, with prepayment applied first to accrued interest 
and then to principal. Both of the borrowings contain an event of default clause that allows the lender to 
increase the interest rate by 5.00%, if not cured within five days, while the event of default continues. 
However, the amounts due from the City shall not be subject to acceleration.  
C. Advanced Refunding 
The City issued $1,614,000 of general obligation bonds at interest rate 1.98%. The proceeds were used 
to advance refund $1,570,000 of the Series 2005 bonds.  Proceeds of $1,596,290 were deposited in an 
irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide funds for the future debt service payment on the 
refunded bonds. As a result, the Series 2005 of water bonds are considered defeased and the liability for 
those bonds has been removed from the statement of net position.   
The refunding was undertaken to reduce its total debt service payments over 10 years by $1,784,974 and 
to obtain an economic gain (difference between the present values of the debt service payments on the 
old and new debt) of $26,290 with a city contribution of $19,156 for a net savings of $7,134.  
 
D. Bonds Payable  
The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major 
capital improvements. These bonds are reported in the proprietary funds if they are expected to be repaid 
from proprietary fund revenues. General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith 
and credit of the City.  

Business-Type Activities 
 
During 2015-2016, the City issued $1,614,000 in full faith and credit obligations to 
refund the 2005 bond for the water treatment plant and for capital improvements to 
the City’s water system. The bonds carry interest rate is 1.98%.  Interest is payable 
semiannually on January 1 and July 1 of each year. Bond principal is payable 
annually through July 2025. 
 
1. Future Principal and Interest 
 
Future maturities of debt principal and interest at June 30, 2023, are as follows: 

 

 

 

Fiscal
Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2024 907,268$      240,154$         173,000$   8,623$       1,080,268$        248,777$      
2025 933,317        213,808          174,000     5,188         1,107,317          218,995        
2026 960,118        186,701          175,000     1,733         1,135,118          188,434        
2027 984,168        158,863          -                -                984,168            158,863        
2028 966,367        130,938          -                -                966,367            130,938        

2029-2033 2,316,070     384,067          -                -                2,316,070          384,067        
2034-2038 1,646,775     172,651          -                -                1,646,775          172,651        

2039 354,872        9,014              -                -                354,872            9,014           

9,068,955$   1,496,196$      522,000$   15,543$     9,590,955$        1,511,739$   

Governmental Activities TotalBusiness Type Activities

11 - 60



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

44 

2. Leases Payable 

 
 

3. Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements  Payable 
 

 

Original Outstanding Outstanding
Amount June 30, 2022 Additions Decrease June 30, 2023

Governmental Activities

Postage meter
Interest at 0.29%, payment $484 quarterly, due 2023 9,599$          1,449$          -$           1,449$        -$              
Interest at 3.36%, payment $417 quarterly, due 2028 7,639            -               7,639          353            7,286            

Copier leases:
Interest at 0.29%, payment $1,372 quarterly, due 2023 27,235          2,743            -             2,743          -               
Interest at 0.29%, payment $401 quarterly, due 2023 7,954            1,994            -             1,994          -               
Interest at 0.29%, payment $282 quarterly, due 2025 5,593            3,366            -             1,119          2,247            
Interest at 3.68%, payment $446 quarterly, due 2028 24,359          -               24,359        2,240          22,119          

Laptop computers
Interest at 4.059%, payment $10,000 annually, due 2027 44,445          -               44,445        8,196          36,249          

126,824$       9,552$          76,443$      18,094$      67,901$        

Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Police Analytical software; interest at 3.52%, 
$15,000 prepaid in full 2023, terminates 2025. -$                     15,000$    15,000$        -$                     

Body worn cameras equipment and software; 
interest at 3.01%, initial payment of $25,641, 
annual payments of principal and interest of 
$10,008, terminates 2027 -                       62,833      25,641          37,192             

-$                     77,833$    40,641$        37,192             

Principal Interest Total

2024 8,889$             1,119$      10,008$        
2025 9,156               852           10,008          
2026 9,432               576           10,008          
2027 9,716               292           10,008          
Total 37,192$           2,840$      40,032$        

Subscriptions

Future Maturities are as follows: Fiscal
Year Principal Interest

2024 15,697$        2,453$        
2025 16,265          1,884          
2026 15,729          1,293          
2027 16,341          681            
2028 3,869            59              

67,901$        6,370$        

Governmental Activities

11 - 61



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

45 

9. Pension Plan 
A. Plan Description 
1. Employees of the City are provided with pensions through the Oregon Public Employees Retirement 

System (OPERS) a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, the Oregon 
Legislature has delegated authority to the Public Employees Retirement Board to administer and 
manage the system. All benefits of the System are established by the legislature pursuant to ORS 
Chapters 238 and 238A. Tier One/Tier Two Retirement Benefit plan, established by ORS Chapter 
238, is closed to new members hired on or after August 29, 2003. The Pension Program, established 
by ORS Chapter 238A, provides benefits to members hired on or after August 29, 2003. OPERS 
issues a publicly available Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and Actuarial Valuation that can 
be obtained at http://www.oregon.gov/pers/Pages/Financials/Actuarial-Financial-Information.aspx. 

B. Benefits Provided 

1. Tier One/Tier Two Retirement Benefit ORS Chapter 238 

Pension Benefits  

The PERS retirement allowance is payable monthly for life. It may be selected from 13 retirement 
benefit options. These options include survivorship benefits and lump-sum refunds. The basic benefit 
is based on years of service and final average salary. A percentage (2.0 percent for police and fire 
employees, 1.67 percent for general service employees) is multiplied by the number of years of 
service and the final average salary. Benefits may also be calculated under either a formula plus 
annuity (for members who were contributing before August 21, 1981) or a money match computation 
if a greater benefit results. Monthly payments must be a minimum of $200 per month or the member 
will receive a lump-sum payment of the actuarial equivalent of benefits to which he or she is entitled. 

Under Senate Bill 1049, passed during the 2019 legislative session, the salary included in the 
determination of Final Average Salary will be limited for all members beginning in 2021. The limit 
will be equal to $210,582 in 2022, and will be indexed with inflation in later years. 

A member is considered vested and will be eligible at minimum retirement age for a service 
retirement allowance if he or she has had a contribution in each of five calendar years or has reached 
at least 50 years of age before ceasing employment with a participating employer (age 45 for police 
and fire members). General service employees may retire after reaching age 55. Police and fire 
members are eligible after reaching age 50. Tier One general service employee benefits are reduced 
if retirement occurs prior to age 58 with fewer than 30 years of service. Police and fire member 
benefits are reduced if retirement occurs prior to age 55 with fewer than 25 years of service. Tier 
Two members are eligible for full benefits at age 60. The ORS Chapter 238 Defined Benefit Pension 
Plan is closed to new members hired on or after August 29, 2003. 

Death Benefits  

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives a lump-sum refund of the member’s 
account balance (accumulated contributions and interest). In addition, the beneficiary will receive a 
lump-sum payment from employer funds equal to the account balance, provided one or more of the 

11 - 62



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

46 

following conditions are met:  

 the member was employed by a PERS employer at the time of death,  
 the member died within 120 days after termination of PERS-covered employment, 
 the member died as a result of injury sustained while employed in a PERS-covered 

job, or 
 the member was on an official leave of absence from a PERS-covered job at the time 

of death. 

Disability Benefits  

A member with 10 or more years of creditable service who becomes disabled from other than duty-
connected causes may receive a non-duty disability benefit. A disability resulting from a job-incurred 
injury or illness qualifies a member (including PERS judge members) for disability benefits 
regardless of the length of PERS-covered service. Upon qualifying for either a non-duty or duty 
disability, service time is computed to age 58 (55 for police and fire members) when determining the 
monthly benefit.  

Benefit Changes After Retirement 

After Retirement Members may choose to continue participation in a variable equities investment 
account after retiring and may experience annual benefit fluctuations due to changes in the market 
value of equity investments. Under ORS 238.360 monthly benefits are adjusted annually through 
cost-of-living changes. The COLA is capped at 2.0 percent. 

2. OPSRP/Defined Benefit Pension Program (OPSRP DB)  

Pension Benefits  

The Pension Program (ORS Chapter 238A) provides benefits to members hired on or after August 
29, 2003. This portion of OPSRP provides a life pension funded by employer contributions. Benefits 
are calculated with the following formula for members who attain normal retirement age:  

Police and fire: 1.8 percent is multiplied by the number of years of service and the final 
average salary. Normal retirement age for police and fire members is age 60 or age 53 with 
25 years of retirement credit. To be classified as a police and fire member, the individual 
must have been employed continuously as a police and fire member for at least five years 
immediately preceding retirement.  

General service: 1.5 percent is multiplied by the number of years of service and the final 
average salary. Normal retirement age for general service members is age 65, or age 58 with 
30 years of retirement credit.  

Under Senate Bill 1049, passed during the 2019 legislative session, the salary included in the 
determination of final average salary will be limited for all members beginning in 2021. The limit 
will be equal to $210,582 in 2022, and will be indexed with inflation in later years. 

A member of the OPSRP Pension Program becomes vested on the earliest of the following dates: the 

11 - 63



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

47 

date the member completes 600 hours of service in each of five calendar years, the date the member 
reaches normal retirement age, and, if the pension program is terminated, the date on which 
termination becomes effective.  

Death Benefits  

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the spouse or other person who is constitutionally required 
to be treated in the same manner as the spouse, receives for life 50 percent of the pension that would 
otherwise have been paid to the deceased member.  

Disability Benefits  

A member who has accrued 10 or more years of retirement credits before the member becomes 
disabled or a member who becomes disabled due to job-related injury shall receive a disability 
benefit of 45 percent of the member’s salary determined as of the last full month of employment 
before the disability occurred.  

Benefit Changes After Retirement  

Under ORS 238A.210 monthly benefits are adjusted annually through cost-of-living changes. Under 
current law, the cap on the COLA in fiscal year 2015 and beyond will vary based on 1.25 percent on 
the first $60,000 of annual benefit and $750 plus 0.15 percent on annual benefits above $60,000. 

OPSRP Individual Account Program (OPSRP IAP)  

Pension Benefits  

The Individual Account Program (IAP) is a defined contribution pension plan. An IAP member 
becomes vested on the date the employee account is established or on the date the rollover account 
was established. If the employer makes optional employer contributions for a member, the member 
becomes vested on the earliest of the following dates: the date the member completes 600 hours of 
service in each of five calendar years, the date the member reaches normal retirement age, the date 
the IAP is terminated, the date the active member becomes disabled, or the date the active member 
dies.  

Upon retirement, a member of the OPSRP Individual Account Program (IAP) may receive the 
amounts in his or her employee account, rollover account, and vested employer account as a lump-
sum payment or in equal installments over a 5-, 10-, 15-, 20-year period or an anticipated life span 
option. Each distribution option has a $200 minimum distribution limit. 

Death Benefits  

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives in a lump sum the member’s 
account balance, rollover account balance, and vested employer optional contribution account 
balance. If a retired member dies before the installment payments are completed, the beneficiary may 
receive the remaining installment payments or choose a lump-sum payment.  

 

11 - 64



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

48 

Recordkeeping  

OPERS contracts with VOYA Financial to maintain IAP participant records. 

C. Contributions 
 

1. Employer Contributions 

PERS funding policy provides for monthly employer contributions at actuarially determined rates. 
These contributions, expressed as a percentage of covered payroll, are intended to accumulate 
sufficient assets to pay benefits when due. This funding policy applies to the PERS Defined Benefit 
Plan and the Other Postemployment Benefit Plans. Employer contribution rates during the period 
were based on the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation. The rates based on a percentage of payroll, 
first became effective July 1, 2021. Effective January 1, 2020, Senate Bill 1049 required employers 
to pay contributions on re-employed PERS retirees’ salary as if they were an active member, 
excluding IAP (6 percent) contributions.  Employer contributions for the year ended June 30, 2023 
were $872,093, excluding amounts to fund employer specific liabilities. The rates in effect for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 were 24.43 percent for Tier One/Tier Two General Service Member, 
24.43 percent for Tier One/Tier Two Police and Fire, 18.38 percent for OPSRP Pension Program 
General Service Members, 22.74 percent for OPSRP Pension Program Police and Fire Members. 

2.  Employee Contributions 

Beginning January 1, 2004, all employee contributions were placed in the OPSRP Individual 
Account Program (IAP), a defined contribution pension plan established by the Oregon Legislature. 
Prior to that date, all member contributions were credited to the Defined Benefit Pension Plan. 
Member contributions are set by statute at 6.0 or 7.0 percent of salary and are remitted by 
participating employers. The contributions are either deducted from member salaries or paid by the 
employers on the member behalf. The IAP member accounts represent member contributions made 
on or after January 1, 2004, plus earnings allocations less disbursements for refunds, death benefits, 
and retirements. As permitted, the City has opted to pick-up the contributions on behalf of 
employees; contributions were $222,947 for the year ended June 30, 2023. 

 
D. Pension Assets, Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and 

Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions  

At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $6,200,331 for its proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used 
to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020 
rolled forward to June 30, 2022. The City's proportion of the net pension liability was based on a 
projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected 
contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2022, the City's proportion 
was 0.0405 percent, which was increased from its proportion of 0.0394 measured as of June 30, 2021. 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City's recognized pension expense (income) of $132,701. At June 
30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

11 - 65



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

49 

 

 
The $872,093 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the City’s 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in the year ended June 30, 2024.  Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 
E. Actuarial Assumptions 

The employer contribution rates effective July 1, 2021, through June 30, 2023 were set using the entry 
age normal actuarial cost method. For the Tier One/Tier Two component of the PERS Defined Benefit 
Plan, this method produced an employer contribution rate consisting of (1) an amount for normal cost 
(the estimated amount necessary to finance benefits earned by the employees during the current service 
year), (2) an amount for the amortization of unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities, which are being 
amortized over a fixed period with new unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities being amortized over 20 
years.  

For the OPSRP Pension Program component of the PERS Defined Benefit Plan, this method produced 
an employer contribution rate consisting of (a) an amount for normal cost (the estimated amount 
necessary to finance benefits earned by the employees during the current service year), (b) an amount 
for the amortization of unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities, which are being amortized over a fixed 
period with new unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities being amortized over 16 years.  

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the 

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual 
experience 300,976$                  38,666$                  
Changes of assumptions 972,865                    8,888                     
Net difference between projected and actual 
earnings on investments -                              1,108,499               
Changes in proportion 728,075                    322,012                  
Differences between employer contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 9,632                       601,715                  
Total (prior to post-MD contributions) 2,011,548                 2,079,780               
Contributions subsequent to the MD 872,093                    -                            

Total 2,883,641$               2,079,780$             

Year ended June 30:
2024 41,078$         
2025 (204,135)       
2026 (451,270)       
2027 547,104         
2028 (1,009)           

Total (68,232)$       

11 - 66



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

50 

following actuarial assumptions:  

 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of projected benefits and 
assumptions about the probability of events far into the future. Actuarially determined amounts are 
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are 
made about the future. Experience studies are performed as of December 31 of even numbered years. 
The methods and assumptions shown above are based on the 2020 Experience Study which reviewed 
experience for the four-year period ending on December 31, 2020. 

F. Long-term Expected Rate of Return 

To develop an analytical basis for the selection of the long-term expected rate of return assumption, in 
May 2019 the PERS Board reviewed long-term assumptions developed by both Milliman’s capital 
market assumptions team and the Oregon Investment Council’s (OIC) investment advisors. The table 
below shows Milliman’s assumptions for each of the asset classes in which the plan was invested at that 
time based on the OIC long-term target asset allocation. The OIC’s description of each asset class was 
used to map the target allocation to the asset classes shown below. Each asset class assumption is based 

Valuation Date
Measurement Date
Experience Study Report
Actuarial Cost Method
Actuarial Assumptions:

Inflation Rate
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 6.90 percent
Discount Rate
Projected Salary Increases
Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA)

Mortality

6.90 percent
3.40 percent overall payroll growth

Health retirees and beneficiaries:  Pub-2010 
Healthy Retiree, sex distinct, generational with
Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job
category adjustments and set-backs as
described in the valuation.

Active Members: Pub-2010 Employee, sex
distinct, generational with Unisex, Social
Security Data Scale, with job category
adjustments and set-backs as described in the
valuation.

Disabled retirees: Pub-2010 Disable Retiree,
sex distinct, generational with Unisex, Social
Security Data Scale, with job category
adjustments and set-backs as described in the
valuation.

Blend of 2.00% COLA and grade COLA
(1.25%/0.15%) in accordance with Moro 
decision, blend based on service.

2.40 percent

December 31, 2020

2020, published July 24, 2021
Entry Age Normal

June 30, 2022

11 - 67



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

51 

on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, and includes adjustment for the inflation assumption. 
These assumptions are not based on historical returns, but instead are based on a forward-looking capital 
market economic model. 

 

 
G. Depletion Date Projection 

GASB 68 generally requires that a blended discount rate be used to measure the Total Pension Liability 
(the Actuarial Accrued Liability calculated using the Individual Entry Age Normal Cost Method). The 
long-term expected return on plan investments may be used to discount liabilities to the extent that the 
plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is projected to cover benefit payments and administrative expenses. A 20-
year high quality (AA/Aa or higher) municipal bond rate must be used for periods where the Fiduciary 
Net Position is not projected to cover benefit payments and administrative expenses. Determining the 
discount rate under GASB 68 will often require that the actuary perform complex projections of future 
benefit payments and pension plan investments. GASB 68 (paragraph 67) does allow for alternative 

Asset Class/Strategy Low Range High Range Target Allocation
Debt Securities 15.0% 25.0% 20.0%
Public Equity 25.0% 35.0% 30.0%
Real Estate 7.5% 17.5% 12.5%
Private Equity 15.0% 27.5% 20.0%
Risk Parity 0.0% 3.5% 2.5%
Real Assets 2.5% 10.0% 7.5%
Diversifying Strategies 2.5% 10.0% 7.5%
Opportunity Portfolio 0.0% 5.0% 0.0%

Total 100.0%

Asset Class Target Allocation Return (Geometric)

Global Equity 30.62% 5.85%
Private Equity 25.50% 7.71%
Core Fixed Income 23.75% 2.73%
Real Estate 12.25% 5.66%
Master Limited Partnerships 0.75% 5.71%
Infrastructure 1.50% 6.26%
Commodities 0.63% 3.10%
Hedge Fund of Funds - Multistrategy 1.25% 5.11%
Hedge Fund Equity - Hedge 0.63% 5.31%
Hedge Fund - Macro 5.62% 5.06%
US Cash -2.50% 1.76%

Total 100.00%

Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.40%

11 - 68



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

52 

evaluations of projected solvency, if such evaluation can reliably be made. GASB does not contemplate 
a specific method for making an alternative evaluation of sufficiency; it is left to professional judgment. 

The following circumstances justify an alternative evaluation of sufficiency for PERS: 
 PERS has a formal written policy to calculate an Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC), 

which is articulated in the actuarial valuation report. 
 The ADC is based on a closed, layered amortization period, which means that payment of the 

full ADC each year will bring the plan to a 100% funded position by the end of the amortization 
period if future experience follows assumption. 

 GASB 68 specifies that the projections regarding future solvency assume that plan assets earn 
the assumed rate return and there are no future changes in the plan provisions or actuarial methods 
and assumptions, which means that the projections would not reflect any adverse future 
experience which might impact the plan’s funded position. 

Based on these circumstances, it is our independent actuary’s opinion that the detailed depletion date 
projections outlined in GASB 68 would clearly indicate that the Fiduciary Net Position is always 
projected to be sufficient to cover benefit payments and administrative expenses. 
H. Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90 percent for the Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions 
from plan members and those of the contributing employers are made at the contractually required rates, 
as actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments for the Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension 
liability. 
I. Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 

Discount Rate 

The following presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 
discount rate of 6.90 percent, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.90 percent) or 1-
percentage-point higher (7.90 percent) than the current rate: 

 

J. Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 
OPERS financial report.  

 

1% Decrease (5.90%) Discount Rate (6.90%) 1% Increase (7.90%)

10,995,750$                  6,200,331$                    2,186,786$                  
City's proportionate share of the 
net pension liability (asset)

11 - 69



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

53 

K. Changes in Plan Provisions During the Measurement Date 

There were no changes during the measurement period that require disclosure. 

L. Changes in Plan Provisions Subsequent to Measurement Date 
 

There were no changes subsequent to the June 30, 2022 measurement period that require disclosure. 
 
10.  Post Employment Benefits Other than Pensions 

The other postemployment benefits (OPEB) for the City combines two separate plans. The City provides 
an implicit rate subsidy for retiree health insurance premiums, and a contribution to the State of Oregon’s 
PERS cost-sharing multiple-employer defined health insurance benefit plan. 

A. Financial Statement Presentation 
The City’s two OPEB plans are presented in the aggregate on the Statement of Net Position.  The 
amounts on the financial statements relate to the plans as follows:  

 
B. Implicit Rate Subsidy 

1. Plan Description 

The City’s single-employer defined benefit postemployment healthcare plan is administered by 
CityCounty Insurance Services (CIS).  Benefit provisions are established through negotiations between 
the City and representatives of collective bargaining units or through resolutions passed by City Council. 
No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of Statement 75.  

Implicit Rate 
Subsidy PERS RHIA Plan

Total OPEB on 
Financials

Net OPEB Asset -$                       106,032$            106,032$            

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Change in Assumptions 7,024                  830                     7,854                  
Difference in Expected and Actual 
Experience 18,142                -                         18,142                
Difference in Earnings -                         -                         -                         
Change in Proportionate Share -                         958                     958                     
Contributions After MD 39,867                603                     40,470                

Net OPEB Liability (456,343)             -                         (456,343)             

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Difference in Expected and Actual 
Experience (12,120)               (2,873)                 (14,993)               
Difference in Earnings -                         (8,086)                 (8,086)                 
Change in Assumptions (47,872)               (3,534)                 (51,406)               
Change in Proportionate Share -                         (2,957)                 (2,957)                 

OPEB Expense/(Income)* 41,629                (15,209)               26,420                
*Included in program expenses on Statement of Activities

11 - 70



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

54 

The City’s postemployment healthcare plan administrator issues a publicly available financial report that 
includes financial statements and required supplementary information for CIS. This report may be 
obtained through their website at: https://www.cisoregon.org/About/TrustDocs.  

2. Benefits Provided 

The plan provides eligible retirees and their dependents under age 65 the same health care coverage at 
the same premium rates as offered to active employees. The retiree is responsible for the premiums. As 
of the valuation date of July 1, 2022, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:  

 

3. Total OPEB Liability, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 

The City’s net OPEB liability of $456,343 was measured as of June 30, 2022, and was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2022.  
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized OPEB expense from this plan of $41,629 
and the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to this 
OPEB plan from the following sources: 

 
 
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB of $39,867 resulting from the City’s contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the 
year ended June 30, 2024.  The amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

 
Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs   

The net OPEB liability in the July 1, 2022 valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise 
specified: 

 

Active employees 43
Eligible retirees 4
Spouses of ineligible retirees 1

Total participants 48

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual 
experience 18,142$                    12,120$                    
Changes of assumptions 7,024                        47,872                      
Total (prior to post-MD contributions) 25,166                      59,992                      
Contributions subsequent to the MD 39,867                      -                               

Total 65,033$                    59,992$                    

11 - 71



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

55 

 
 

 

4. Changes in the Net OPEB Liability 

 

Year ended June 30:
2024 (3,252)$                
2025 (3,252)                  
2026 (3,252)                  
2027 (2,972)                  
2028 (2,686)                  

Thereafter (19,412)                
Total (34,826)$              

Actuarial Cost Method
Actuarial Assumptions:

Inflation Rate
Discount Rate
Projected Salary Increases
Retiree Healthcare Participation

Mortality

3.50 percent overall payroll growth

Health retirees and beneficiaries: Pub-2010
General and Safety Employee and Healthy
Retiree tables, sex distinct for members and
dependents, with a one-year setback for male
general service employees and female safety
employees.
Healthcare cost trend rate: 
Medical and vision: 4.25 percent per year
increasing to 6.75 percent.

Dental: 4.00 percent per year

35% of eligible employees 60% of male 
members and 35% of female members will elect 
spouse coverage.

Entry Age Normal

2.50 percent
3.54 percent

Net OPEB 
Liability 

Balance as of June 30, 2022 497,138$       
Changes for the year:

Service cost 33,673           
Interest on total OPEB liability 11,209           
Effect of changes to benefit terms -                     
Effect of economic demographic gains or losses (13,599)          
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs (48,203)          
Benefit payments (23,875)          

Balance as of June 30, 2023 456,343$       

11 - 72



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

56 

5. Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability  

The following presents the City’s OPEB liability, as well as what the liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.54 percent) or 1-percentage-point 
higher (4.54 percent) than the current discount rate. A similar sensitivity analysis is then presented for 
changes in the healthcare trend assumption. 

 
C. PERS Retirement Health Insurance Account 

1. Plan Description 

The City contributes to the PERS Retirement Health Insurance Account (RHIA) for each of its eligible 
employees. RHIA is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit other postemployment benefit 
plan administered by PERS.  RHIA pays a monthly contribution toward the cost of Medicare companion 
health insurance premiums for eligible retirees.  ORS 238.420 established this trust fund.  Authority to 
establish and amend the benefit provisions of RHIA reside with the Oregon Legislature.  The plan is 
closed to new entrants hired after August 29, 2003.  PERS issues publicly available financial statements 
and required supplementary information.  That report may be obtained by writing to Oregon Public 
Employees Retirement System, PO Box 23700, Tigard, OR 97281-3700, or online at  
http://www.oregon.gov/pers/Pages/Financials/Actuarial-Financial-Information.aspx. 

2. Benefits Provided 

Because RHIA was created by enabling legislation (ORS 238.420), contribution requirements of the plan 
members and the participating employers were established and may be amended only by the Oregon 
Legislature. ORS require that an amount equal to $60 or the total monthly cost of Medicare companion 
health insurance premiums coverage, whichever is less, shall be paid from the RHIA established by the 
employer, and any monthly cost in excess of $60 shall be paid by the eligible retired member in the 
manner provided in ORS 238.410.  To be eligible to receive this monthly payment toward the premium 
cost, the member must: (1) have eight years or more of qualifying service in PERS at the time of 
retirement or receive a disability allowance as if the member had eight years or more of creditable service 
in PERS, (2) receive both Medicare Parts A and B coverage, and (3) enroll in a PERS-sponsored health 
plan. A surviving spouse or dependent of a deceased PERS retiree who was eligible to receive the subsidy 

Discount Rate:

1% Decrease (2.54%)
Current Discount 

Rate (3.54%)
1% Increase 

(4.54%)

493,251$                   456,343$                   422,898$                  

Healthcare Cost Trend:

1% Decrease
Current Health Care 

Trend Rates 1% Increase

415,027$                   456,343$                   504,317$                  

Net OPEB Liability

Net OPEB Liability

11 - 73



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

57 

is eligible to receive the subsidy if he or she (1) is receiving a retirement benefit or allowance from PERS 
or (2) was insured at the time the member died and the member retired before May 1, 1991. 

3. Contributions 

PERS funding policy provides for employer contributions at actuarially determined rates. These 
contributions, expressed as a percentage of covered payroll, are intended to accumulate sufficient assets 
to pay benefits when due.  Employer contribution rates for the period were based on the December 31, 
2019 actuarial valuation. The rates based on a percentage of payroll, first became effective July 1, 2021. 
The City contributed 0.05% of PERS-covered salaries for Tier One/Tier Two members to fund the 
normal cost portion of RHIA benefits and 0.00% of all PERS-covered salaries to amortize the unfunded 
actuarial accrued liability over a fixed period with new unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities being 
amortized over 20 years. The City’s total contribution for the year ended June 30, 2023 was $603. 

4. OPEB Assets, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to OPEB 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported an asset of $106,032for its proportionate share of the OPERS net 
OPEB asset. The net OPEB asset was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the net OPEB asset used to 
calculate the net OPEB asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020 rolled 
forward to June 30, 2022. The City’s proportion of the net OPEB asset was based on the City’s 
contributions to the RHIA program during the measurement period relative to contributions from all 
participating employers. At June 30, 2022, the City’s proportionate share was 0.0298%, which is an 
increase from its proportion of 0.0278% as of June 30, 2021. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized OPEB income from this plan of $15,209. At June 
30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
this OPEB plan from the following sources: 

 
 
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB of $603 resulting from the City’s contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an increase in the net OPEB asset in the year 
ended June 30, 2024.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual 
experience -$                             2,873$                      
Changes of assumptions 830                           3,534                        
Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on investments -                               8,086                        
Changes in proportionate share 958                           2,957                        
Total (prior to post-MD contributions) 1,788                        17,450                      
Contributions subsequent to the MD 603                           -                               

Total 2,391$                      17,450$                    

11 - 74



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

58 

 

5. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

The net OPEB asset in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the actuarial 
methods and assumptions are the same as listed above in Note 9 – Pension Plan Actuarial Assumptions. 

6. Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

Are the same as listed above in Note 9 – Pension Plan Long-term Expected Rate of Return. 

7. Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the net OPEB liability was 6.90% for the RHIA Plan.  The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and those contributing 
employers are made at the contractually required rates, as actuarially determined.  Based on those assumptions, 
the RHIA plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments for the RHIA Plan was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the net 
OPEB liability. 

8. Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) to changes in the 
discount rate 

The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) calculated using the 
discount rate of 6.90%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) would 
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.90%) or 1-percentage-point 
higher (7.90%) than the current rate: 

 

 

Year ended June 30:
2024 (7,240)$                
2025 (5,909)                  
2026 (5,103)                  
2027 2,590                   
2028 -                          

Total (15,662)$              

Discount Rate: 1% Decrease (5.90%)
Current Discount 

Rate (6.90%) 1% Increase (7.90%)

(95,566)$                    (106,032)$                  (115,006)$                   Net OPEB Asset

11 - 75



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

59 

9. OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued OPERS 
financial report. 

10. Changes in Plan Provisions Subsequent to Measurement Date 

There were no changes during the June 30, 2022 measurement period that require disclosure.  
 
11. Changes in Plan Provisions Subsequent to Measurement Date 

There were no changes subsequent to the June 30, 2022 measurement period that require disclosure. 

11.   Agreements with Service Districts 
The City has agreements with certain service districts to collect and process City sewage. General terms 
of these agreements are as follows: 

 The City will process and review all permit applications for hookup and inspection thereof; operate 
and maintain local collection facilities; bill and collect use charges and bill and collect connection 
charges. 

 The City will collect and remit all connections charges to the service districts, except for a portion 
to reimburse administrative costs. 

 The City or the service districts may terminate the agreements upon 30 to 180 days notice. 

Payments of $1,966,265 were made to the service districts during fiscal year 2023 under these 
agreements. 

12.  Risk Management 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft, damage or destruction of assets, errors 
and omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters. Except for unemployment compensation, the 
City purchases commercial insurance to minimize its exposure to these risks. There has been no 
reduction in commercial insurance coverage from fiscal year 2022 to 2023. Workers compensation 
claims are insured through incurred loss retrospective policies. Settled claims have not exceeded this 
commercial coverage for any of the past three years.  

13.  Contingency 
Management of the City believes that total amount of liability, if any, which may arise from claims and 
lawsuits pending against the City beyond which is covered by insurance, would not have a material effect 
on the City’s financial condition. 

14.  Accounting Pronouncements 
The City implemented GASB Statement 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements 
(SBITAs) that increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of 
certain assets and liabilities for SBITAs that were previously classified as annual operating expenditures 
or expenses. A SBITA is defined as a contract that conveys control of the right to use a vendor’s IT 

11 - 76



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  
 

60 

software as specified in the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange like transaction. 
This GASB effects both the presentation of financial statements on the current financial resource 
measurement focus and the economic resources measurement focus. 
 
15.  Commitments 
 
The City contracted with P & C Construction for a progressive design build of the Gladstone Public 
Works Facility.  As of June 30, 2023, Phase 1- Preconstruction and Phase 2 - Design-Build were 83.0% 
complete, with $81,985 left on that portion of the contract.  Phase 3 – Construction will commence in 
July for a total contract of $3,923,706.  The project is on-time and within budget, estimated completion 
is June, 2024.  
 
On June 20, 2023, check #93519 was issued to BHGAH Hotels in the amount of $20,000, that applied 
to a settlement agreement for a pump station malfunction.   As of this date, the check remains uncleared.  
After discussion with the attorneys, a stop- payment has been placed and the check reissued and sent by 
certified mail. 
 
As of September 24, 2023, the City entered into a five year subscription based information technology 
agreement with Public Safety Technology Solution with an asset value of $12,743.   
 
16.  Subsequent Events 
 
On November 7, 2023, the voters of the City renewed both the Police and Communications and Fire and 
Emergency  Services special levies  by  82% and 87% approval, respectively.  There was no increase in 
the current levy rates of $0.61 and $0.39 per $1,000.  This will ensure adequate funding for these services 
for the next five years. 

11 - 77



 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

11 - 78



 

 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

11 - 79



 Budgetary Comparison Schedules

- General Fund

- Road and Street Fund

- Police and Communications Special Levy Fund

- Fire and Emergency Services Special Levy Fund

- Urban Renewal Agency Fund

 Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

 Schedule of Retirement Plan Contributions

 Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Asset

 Schedule of OPEB Plan Contributions - Net OPEB Asset

 Schedule of changes in total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

 Schedule of OPEB Plan Contributions - Implicit Rate Subsidy

 Notes to the Required Supplementary Information

Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures that are required

by the GASB but are not considered a part of the basic financial statements.

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

61

11 - 80



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with

Final Budget

REVENUES: 

Property taxes 9,390,726$    9,390,726$     4,621,694$    4,816,117$     9,437,811$     47,085$     

Public service taxes 784,303 784,303           423,871 428,361 852,232          67,929 

Franchise fees 1,553,000        1,553,000        831,846 892,294 1,724,140       171,140           

Grants 2,672,800        389,485           272,971 117,624 390,595          1,110 

Charges for services 134,500 134,500           95,353 106,292 201,645          67,145 

Licenses and permits 649,500 649,500           205,612 195,904 401,516          (247,984)          

Fines and forfeitures 705,000 705,000           334,116 328,856 662,972          (42,028) 

Special assessments 250,000 250,000           161,568 188,579 350,147          100,147           

Contributions and donations 29,000 29,000 23,651 33,960 57,611 28,611 

Interest 195,000 195,000           116,622 755,769 872,391          677,391           

Miscellaneous 80,000 81,813 6,555 164,533 171,088          89,275 

  Total revenues 16,443,829      14,162,327      7,093,859        8,028,289          15,122,148     959,821           

EXPENDITURES:

General government 7,327,228        4,877,913        2,061,728        2,171,185          4,232,913       645,000           

Public safety 10,199,194      10,290,194      4,907,764        4,810,316          9,718,080       572,114           

Cultural and recreation 2,132,343        2,415,077        965,811           1,082,249          2,048,060       367,017           

Capital outlay 1,845,764        6,829,332        266,343           993,970 1,260,313       5,569,019        

Debt service:

  Principal 340,168           604,398           207,889           396,509 604,398          - 

     Interest 150,646           290,732           91,944 198,766 290,710          22 

Contingency 1,028,731        745,997           - - - 745,997           

Total expenditures 23,024,074      26,053,643      8,501,479        9,652,995          18,154,474     7,899,169        

Revenues over (under) expenditures (6,580,245)       (11,891,316)     (1,407,620)       (1,624,706)         (3,032,326)     8,858,990        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Sale of capital assets 30,000 30,000 21,902 76,504 98,406 68,406 

Debt proceeds - 5,000,000 5,000,000        - 5,000,000 - 

Debt issuance costs - (51,000) (50,077) - (50,077) 923 

Transfers in 1,700,245        2,062,316        804,979 1,213,037          2,018,016       (44,300) 

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,730,245        7,041,316        5,776,804        1,289,541          7,066,345       25,029 

Net changes in fund balances (4,850,000)       (4,850,000)       4,369,184        (335,165) 4,034,019       8,884,019        

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING 4,850,000        4,850,000        4,991,163        9,360,347          4,991,163       141,163           

FUND BALANCES, ENDING -$   -$  9,360,347$    9,025,182$     9,025,182$     9,025,182$     

2021-2023 Biennium

Budget for the

62

11 - 81



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

ROAD AND STREET FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with

Final Budget

REVENUES:

Public service taxes 2,187,551$      2,187,551$      1,290,284$      1,190,748$      2,481,032$  293,481$         

Franchise and right of way fees 576,500           576,500           219,795           189,879           409,674       (166,826)          

Special assessments 20,000             20,000             -                       4,883               4,883           (15,117)            

Miscellaneous 60,000             60,000             25,220             26,000             51,220         (8,780)              

Total revenues 2,844,051        2,844,051        1,535,299        1,411,510        2,946,809    102,758           

EXPENDITURES:

Personnel service 1,029,397        1,029,397        418,757           467,292           886,049       143,348           

Materials and service 1,084,500        1,084,500        403,148           343,375           746,523       337,977           

Capital outlay 2,844,680        2,753,709        213,789           1,028,937        1,242,726    1,510,983        

Contingency 400,000           400,000           -                       -                   -                   400,000           

Total expenditures 5,358,577        5,267,606        1,035,694        1,839,604        2,875,298    2,392,308        

Revenues over (under) expenditures (2,514,526)       (2,423,555)       499,605           (428,094)          71,511         2,495,066        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 817,025           817,025           368,522           386,523           755,045       (61,980)            

Transfers out (1,202,499)       (1,293,470)       (529,433)          (616,941)          (1,146,374)   147,096           

Total other financing sources (uses) (385,474)          (476,445)          (160,911)          (230,418)          (391,329)      85,116             

Net changes in fund balances (2,900,000)       (2,900,000)       338,694           (658,512)          (319,818)      2,580,182        

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING 2,900,000        2,900,000        3,296,732        3,635,426        3,296,732    396,732           

FUND BALANCES, ENDING -$                 -$                 3,635,426$      2,976,914$      2,976,914$  2,976,914$      

2021-2023 Biennium

Budget for the

63

11 - 82



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

POLICE AND COMMUNICATIONS SPECIAL LEVY FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with

Final Budget

REVENUES:

Property taxes 1,432,016$            1,432,016$            704,123$               733,745$               1,437,868$           5,852$                   

Interest 2,000                    2,000                    1,740                    5,701                    7,441                   5,441                    

Total revenues 1,434,016             1,434,016             705,863                739,446                1,445,309            11,293                  

EXPENDITURES:

Personnel service 1,197,926             1,197,926             627,227                601,778                1,229,005            (31,079)                 

Materials and service 178,450                178,450                137,834                29,809                  167,643               10,807                  

Contingency 63,798                  63,798                  -                            -                            -                           63,798                  

Total expenditures 1,440,174             1,440,174             765,061                631,587                1,396,648            43,526                  

Revenues over (under) expenditures (6,158)                   (6,158)                   (59,198)                 107,859                48,661                 54,819                  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers out (133,842)              (133,842)              (53,052)                 (80,790)                 (133,842)              -                            

Total other financing sources (uses) (133,842)              (133,842)              (53,052)                 (80,790)                 (133,842)              -                            

Net changes in fund balances (140,000)              (140,000)              (112,250)              27,069                  (85,181)                54,819                  

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING 140,000                140,000                122,893                10,643                  122,893               (17,107)                 

FUND BALANCES, ENDING -$                           -$                           10,643$                 37,712$                 37,712$                37,712$                 

Budget for the

2021-2023 Biennium

64

11 - 83



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

FIRE AND EMERGENCY SERVICES SPECIAL LEVY FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with

Final Budget

REVENUES:

Property taxes 653,536$          653,536$          320,724$          334,216$          654,940$             1,404$              

Interest 5,000                5,000                2,419                17,665              20,084                 15,084              

Total revenues 658,536            658,536            323,143            351,881            675,024               16,488              

EXPENDITURES:

Personnel service 413,562            413,562            142,540            -                        142,540               271,022            

Materials and service 72,000              72,000              14,774              571,537            586,311               (514,311)          *

Capital outlay 307,000            307,000            5,377                -                        5,377                   301,623            

Contingency 49,363              49,363              -                        -                        -                           49,363              

Total expenditures 841,925            841,925            162,691            571,537            734,228               107,697            

Revenues over (under) expenditures (183,389)          (183,389)          160,452            (219,656)          (59,204)                124,185            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers out (71,611)            (71,611)            (25,843)            -                        (25,843)                45,768              

Total other financing sources (uses) (71,611)            (71,611)            (25,843)            -                        (25,843)                45,768              

Net changes in fund balances (255,000)          (255,000)          134,609            (219,656)          (85,047)                169,953            

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING 255,000            255,000            255,445            390,054            255,445               445                   

FUND BALANCES, ENDING -$                      -$                      390,054$          170,398$          170,398$             170,398$          

* appropriations adopted at Operations level

2021-2023 Biennium

Budget for the

65

11 - 84



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with

Final Budget

REVENUES:

Property taxes 2,104,839$      2,104,839$      1,010,047$      1,065,293$      2,075,340          (29,499)$          

Grants 26,000             26,000             -                      -                      -                         (26,000)            

Interest -                      -                      16,090             84,275             100,365             100,365           

Total revenues 2,130,839        2,130,839        1,026,137        1,149,568        2,175,705          44,866             

EXPENDITURES:

Materials and service 199,000           239,000           9,483               198,715           208,198             30,802             

Debt service:

     Principal 929,881           929,881           458,092           471,789           929,881             -                      

     Interest 147,235           147,235           80,454             66,666             147,120             115                  

Contingency 2,603,909        2,563,909        -                      -                      -                         2,563,909        

Total expenditures 3,880,025        3,880,025        548,029           737,170           1,285,199          2,594,826        

Revenues over (under) expenditures (1,749,186)       (1,749,186)       478,108           412,398           890,506             2,639,692        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers out (490,814)          (490,814)          (245,404)          (245,370)          (490,774)            40                    

Total other financing sources (uses) (490,814)          (490,814)          (245,404)          (245,370)          (490,774)            40                    

Net changes in fund balances (2,240,000)       (2,240,000)       232,704           167,028           399,732             2,639,732        

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING 2,240,000        2,240,000        2,590,275        2,822,979        2,590,275          350,275           

FUND BALANCES, ENDING -$                    -$                    2,822,979$      2,990,007$      2,990,007$        2,990,007$      

2021-2023 Biennium

Budget for the

66

11 - 85



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

For the Last Ten Fiscal Years
1

(b/c) 

City's 

(a) (b) Plan fiduciary 

City's City's (c) net position as 

Measurement proportion of proportionate share City's a percentage of 

Date  the net pension  of the net pension covered the total pension 

June 30, liability (asset) liability (asset) payroll liability 

2022 0.04049326% 6,200,331$              4,761,545$              130.22% 84.5%

2021 0.03940855% 4,715,816                4,380,604                107.65% 87.6%

2020 0.00362742% 7,916,431                4,249,906                186.27% 75.8%

2019 0.04139676% 7,160,648                4,132,382                173.28% 80.2%

2018 0.03299445% 4,998,225                3,992,008                125.21% 82.1%

2017 0.02986788% 4,026,202                3,530,528                114.04% 83.1%

2016 0.31341150% 4,705,034                3,028,865                155.34% 80.5%

2015 0.02869354% 1,647,429                3,142,527                52.42% 91.9%

2014 0.02677427% (606,896)                 3,152,443                -19.25% 103.6%

2013 0.02869354% 673,613                   2,233,312                30.16% 92.0%

NOTES TO SCHEDULE

Changes of Assumptions:

proportionate share 

of the net pension 

liability (asset) as a 

percentage of its 

covered payroll 

Changes in Benefit Terms:

The 2013 Oregon Legislature made a series of changes to PERS that lowered projected future benefit payments from the System. These changes

included reductions to future Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) made through Senate Bills 822 and 861. Senate Bill 822 also required the

contribution rates scheduled to be in effect from July 2013 to June 2015 to be reduced. The Oregon Supreme Court decision in Moro v. State of

Oregon, issued on April 30, 2015, reversed a significant portion of the reductions the 2013 Oregon Legislature made to future System Cost of Living

Adjustments (COLA) through Senate Bills 822 and 861. This reversal increased the total pension liability as of June 30, 2015 compared to June 30,

2014 total pension liability.

The PERS Board adopted assumption changes that were used to measure the June 30, 2016 total pension liability and June 30, 2018 total pension

liability. For June 30, 2016, the changes included the lowering of the long-term expected rate of return to 7.50 percent and lowering of the assumed

inflation to 2.50 percent. For June 30, 2018, the long-term expected rate of return was lowered to 7.20 percent. For June 30, 2021, the long-term

expected rate of return was lowered to 6.90 percent, and the inflation rate was lowered from 2.5 to 2.4 percent. In addition, the healthy mortality

assumption was changed to reflect an updated mortality improvement scale for all groups, and assumptions were updated for merit increases, unused

sick leave, and vacation pay were updated.

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were actuarial determined at December 31 and rolled forward to the measurement date. 

67

11 - 86



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS - PENSION 

For the Last Ten Fiscal Years
1

(b) (b/c) 

(a) Contributions in  (a-b) (c) Contributions 

Year Statutorily relation to the  Contribution City's as a percent 

Ended required statutorily required deficiency covered of covered 

June 30, contribution contribution (excess) payroll payroll 

2023 872,093$             872,093$             -$                         4,010,402$          21.75%

2022 992,558               992,558               -                           4,761,545            20.85%

2021 844,458               844,458               -                           4,380,604            19.28%

2020 780,267               780,267               -                           4,249,906            18.36%

2019 524,556               524,556               -                           4,132,382            12.69%

2018 542,067               542,067               -                           3,992,008            13.58%

2017 354,011               354,011               -                           3,530,528            10.03%

2016 305,104               305,104               -                           3,028,865            10.07%

2015 733,439               733,439               -                           3,142,527            23.34%

2014 764,158               764,158               -                           3,152,443            24.24%

NOTES TO SCHEDULE

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods Used to Set the Actuarially Determined Contributions 

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were actuarial determined at December 31 and rolled forward to the measurement date. 

Actuarial valuation December 31, 2019 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2015 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2011

Effective July 2021 - June 2023 July 2019 - June 2021 July 2017 - June 2019 July 2015 - June 2017 July 2013 - June 2015 

Actuarial cost method Projected Unit Credit

Amortization method

Asset valuation method

Remaining amortization periods N/A

Actuarial assumptions:

Inflation rate 2.40 percent

Projected salary increases 3.40 percent

Investment rate of return 6.90 percent 7.20 percent 7.50 percent 7.75 percent 8.00 percent

Entry Age Normal

Level percentage of payroll

Market Value

20 years

2.50 percent 2.75 percent

3.50 percent

68

11 - 87



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF OPEB - RHIA

(b/c)

City's 

(a) (b) Plan fiduciary 

City's City's net position as 

Measurement proportion of proportionate share (c) a percentage of 

Date  the net OPEB  of the net OPEB Covered the total OPEB 

June 30, liability (asset) liability (asset) payroll liability 

2022 0.02984025% (106,032)$              4,761,545$        -2.23% 194.6%

2021 0.02789945% (95,807)                  4,380,604$        -2.19% 183.9%

2020 0.02979869% (60,718)                  4,249,906          -1.43% 150.1%

2019 0.03233891% (62,490)                  4,132,382          -1.51% 144.4%

2018 0.03390207% (37,844)                  3,992,008          -0.95% 124.0%

2017 0.03037003% (12,675)                  3,530,528          -0.36% 108.9%

2016 0.02767864% 7,516                     3,028,865          0.25% 94.15%

NOTES TO SCHEDULE

The PERS Board adopted assumption changes that were used to measure the June 30, 2021 total OPEB liability. The changes

include the lowering of the long-term expected rate of return from 7.20 to 6.90 percent and the inflation rate from 2.5 to 2.4

percent. In addition, the healthy healthcare participation and cost trend rates, and healthy mortality assumptions were changed to

reflect an updated trends and mortality improvement scale for all groups.

For the Last Ten Fiscal Years
1

proportionate 

share of the net 

OPEB liability 

(asset) as a 

percentage of its 

covered payroll 

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were actuarial determined at December 31 and rolled forward to the measurement

date.

1
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend

has been compiled, information is presented only for the years for which the required supplementary information is available.

Changes of Assumptions:

69

11 - 88



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO OPEB - RHIA

(b) (b/c) 

(a) Contributions in (a-b) Contributions 

Year Contractually relation to the Contribution (c) as a percent 

Ended determined actuarially required deficiency Covered of covered 

June 30, contribution contribution (excess) payroll payroll 

2023 603$                     603$                     -$                         4,010,402$          0.02%

2022 735                       735                       -                            4,761,545            0.02%

2021 746                       746                       -                            4,380,604            0.02%

2020 2,128                    2,128                    -                            4,249,906            0.05%

2019 16,028                  16,028                  -                            4,132,382            0.35%

2018 16,415                  16,415                  -                            3,992,008            0.34%

NOTES TO SCHEDULE

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods Used to Set the Actuarially Determined Contributions 

For the Last Ten Fiscal Years
1

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were actuarial determined at December 31 and rolled forward to the measurement date. 

1
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend has been

compiled, information is presented only for the years for which the required supplementary information is available. 

Actuarial valuation: December 31, 2019 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2015 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2011

Effective: July 2021 - June 2023 July 2019 - June 2021 July 2017 - June 2019 July 2015 - June 2017 December 31, 2011

Actuarial cost method: Projected Unit Credit

Amortization method:

Amortization period:

Asset valuation method:

Remaining amortization periods: N/A

Actuarial assumptions

Inflation rate 2.40 percent

Projected salary increases 3.40 percent

Investment rate of return 6.90 percent 7.20 percent 7.50 percent 7.75 percent 8.00 percent

Healthcare cost trend rates

Entry Age Normal

Level percentage of payroll, closed

10 years

Market value

10 years

2.50 percent 2.75 percent

3.75 percent3.50 percent

None. Statute stipulates $60 monthly payment for healthcare insurance

20 years

70

11 - 89



2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Total OPEB Liability

Service Interest 33,673$     32,709$     28,330$     25,425$     37,095$     37,095$     

Interest 11,209 11,028 16,034 16,899 20,130 18,962 

Changes of benefit terms - - - - - - 

Differences between economic/demographic 

gains or losses (13,599)           - 27,862 - - - 

Changes of assumptions (48,203)           1,605 (2,207) 10,725 - - 

Benefit payment (23,875)           (28,844)           (38,010) (206,544)         (23,363)           (22,017) 

Net change in total OPEB liability (40,795)           16,498 32,009 (153,495)         33,862 34,040 

Total OPEB liability - beginning 497,138          480,640          448,631          602,126          568,264          534,224 

Total OPEB liability - ending 456,343$     497,138$     480,640$     448,631$     602,126$     568,264$     

Covered-employee payroll 4,010,402$     4,761,545$    4,380,604$     4,249,906$     4,132,382$     3,992,008$    

CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS - IMPLICIT RATE SUBSIDY 
For the Last Ten Fiscal Years

1

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of 

covered-employee payroll 10.44% 10.97% 10.56% 14.24%11.38% 14.57%

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were actuarial determined at July 1 and rolled forward to the measurement date. 

1
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend has been

compiled, information is presented only for the years for which the required supplementary information is available. 

71

11 - 90



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO OPEB - IMPLICIT RATE SUBSIDY

(b) (b/c) 

(a) Contributions in (a-b) Contributions 

Year Actuarially relation to the Contribution (c) as a percent 

Ended determined actuarially required deficiency Covered of covered 

June 30, contribution contribution (excess) payroll payroll 

2023 39,867$            39,867$                    -$                            4,010,402$             0.99%

2022 23,875              23,875                      -                              4,761,545               0.50%

2021 8,259                8,259                        -                              4,380,604               0.19%

2020 38,710              38,710                      -                              4,249,906               0.66%

2019 23,363              23,363                      -                              4,132,382               1.71%

2018 22,017              22,017                      -                              3,992,008               3.44%

2017 23,634              23,634                      -                              3,530,528               0.67%

NOTES TO SCHEDULE

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods Used to Set the Actuarially Determined Contributions 

Actuarial valuation:

Effective:

Actuarial cost method:

Amortization method:

Amortization period:

Asset valuation method:

Remaining amortization periods:

Actuarial assumptions:

Inflation rate

Projected salary increases

5.8 years 6.8 years 7.7 years

For the Last Ten Fiscal Years
1

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were actuarial determined at July 1 and rolled forward to the measurement date. 

1
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirements to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend has been 

compiled, information is presented only for the years for which the required supplementary information is available. 

July 1, 2020 July 1, 2018 July 1, 2016

June 30, 2020 and 2021 June 30, 2018 and 2019 June 30, 2016 and 2017

Entry Age Normal

Level percentage of payroll, closed

Market value

20 years

2.50 percent

3.50 percent

72

11 - 91



CITY OF GLADSTONE 
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
June 30, 2023 
 

73 

1. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

A. Budgetary Information 
On or before June 30 of each year, the City enacts a resolution approving the budget, appropriating the 
expenditures, and levying the property taxes. Prior to enacting this resolution, the proposed budget is 
presented to a budget committee consisting of members of the City Council and a like number of 
interested citizens. The budget committee presents the budget to the City Council for budget hearings 
prior to enactment of the resolution. The City budgets all funds, except the Fiduciary Funds, as required 
by Oregon Local Budget Law. The basis of budgeting for all major funds is the same as GAAP. 

The resolution authorizing appropriations for each fund sets the legal level of control by which 
expenditures cannot legally exceed appropriations. Total expenditures by department as established by 
the resolution are the legal level of control for the General Fund. Expenditure categories of division 
operations, operating transfers, and contingency are the legal level of control for all other funds. The 
detail budget document, however, is required to contain more specific information for the above 
mentioned expenditure categories. Unexpected additional resources may be added to the budget through 
the use of a supplemental budget, with some exceptions.  A supplemental budget requires hearings before 
the public, publications in newspapers, and adoption by the City Council. Management may modify 
original and supplemental budgets by the use of appropriation transfers between the legal levels of 
control within a fund. Such transfers require approval by the City Council. The City had appropriation 
transfers, approved through supplemental or budget transfer resolutions, during the year ended June 30, 
2023. 

The City Council approved on December 13, 2022 adjustments to the General Fund for Traffic-related 
State grants and two Community Center grants, also received from the State of Oregon. Subsequent 
budget effects included General Fund revenues adjustments, Police Overtime and Community Center 
capital outlay. 

On May 9, 2023, the Urban Renewal Agency Board approved a budget amendment to increase 
appropriations for the demolition of the former City Hall building.  Estimates came in higher than 
anticipated for removal of the building, necessitating the budget resolution. Appropriations lapse as of 
year-end. 

Expenditures exceeded appropriation levels in the year ended June 30, 2023 in the following 
departments: 

 General Fund    Library Department   $  2,209 
 Police Levy Fund  Operations   $20,272 

11 - 92



 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

11 - 93



 

 

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

11 - 94



     Combining  Balance Sheet - General Fund

     Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Other

        Financing Sources (Uses) and Change in Fund Balance - General Fund

These financial schedules include the following:

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Other supplementary information includes financial schedules not required by the GASB, nor a 

basic financial statements, but are presented for purposes of additional anaylsis.

74

11 - 95



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - GENERAL FUND 

June 30, 2023

General Fund -

Budgetary Basis

American Rescue

Plan Reserve Fund -

Budgetary Basis

Total General Fund 

- GAAP Basis

Cash and investments 7,903,466$           2,420,091$             10,323,557$         

Restricted cash and investments 1,148,355             -                              1,148,355             

Cash with county treasurer 65,027                  -                              65,027                  

Accounts receivable 130,963                -                              130,963                

Property taxes receivable 66,064                  -                              66,064                  

Interest Receivable 2,781                    -                              2,781                    

Due from other governments 111,489                -                              111,489                

Prepaid Expenses 127,156                -                              127,156                

    Total assets 9,555,301$           2,420,091$             11,975,392$         

LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable 268,529$              -$                            268,529$              

Other current liabilities 114,284                -                              114,284                

    Total liabilities 382,813                -                              382,813

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

Unavailable revenues - property taxes 112,775                -                              112,775                

Unavailable revenues - other 34,531                  2,420,091               2,454,622             

Total deferred inflows of resources 147,306                2,420,091               2,567,397             

FUND BALANCES:

Non-Spendable:

Prepaids 127,156                -                              127,156                

Restricted:

System development 287,112                -                              287,112                

Committed:

Business Development and Promotion 444,968                -                              444,968                

Tourism Promotion and Activities 311,243                -                              311,243                

Assigned:

Capital projects  105,032                -                              105,032                

Library board 17,456                  -                              17,456                  

Unassigned 7,732,215             -                              7,732,215             

    Total fund balance 9,025,182             -                              9,025,182             

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 9,555,301$           2,420,091$             11,975,392           

ASSETS:

75

11 - 96



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - GENERAL FUND

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

General Fund -

Budgetary Basis

American Rescue

Plan Reserve Fund -

Budgetary Basis

Total General 

Fund - 

GAAP Basis

REVENUES:

Property taxes 4,816,117$         -$                              4,816,117$          

Public service taxes 428,361              -                                428,361               

Franchise and right of way fees 892,294              -                                892,294               

Grants 117,624              287,254                    404,878               

Charges for services 106,292              -                                106,292               

Licenses and permits 195,904              -                                195,904               

Fines and forfeitures 328,856              -                                328,856               

Special assessments 188,579              -                                188,579               

Contributions and donations 33,960                -                                33,960                 

Interest 755,769              -                                755,769               

Miscellaneous 164,533              -                                164,533               

Total revenues 8,028,289           287,254                    8,315,543            

EXPENDITURES:

Current:

General government 2,171,185           287,254                    2,458,439            

Public safety 4,810,316           -                                4,810,316            

Culture and recreation 1,082,249           -                                1,082,249            

Capital outlay 993,970              -                                993,970               

Debt service:

     Principal 396,509              -                                396,509               

     Interest 198,766              -                                198,766               

    Total expenditures 9,652,995           287,254                    9,940,249            

    Revenues over (under) expenditures (1,624,706)         -                                (1,624,706)           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Sale of capital assets 76,504                -                                76,504                 

Transfers in 1,213,037           -                                1,213,037            

    Total other financing sources (uses) 1,289,541           -                                1,289,541            

Net changes in fund balances (335,165)            -                                (335,165)              

9,360,347           -                                9,360,347            

FUND BALANCES, ENDING 9,025,182$         -$                              9,025,182$          

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING 

76

11 - 97



 General Fund Schedule of Expenditures

 American Rescue Plan Reserve Fund

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULES

Pursuant to the provisions of Oregon Revised Statute, an individual schedule of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances - budget and actual be displayed for each fund where 
legally adopted budgets are required.

These Budgetary Comparison schedules include the following:

77

11 - 98



SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with 

Final Budget

General Administration:

   Personnel services 1,855,261$       1,686,754$       655,062$          706,287$              1,361,349$            325,405$          

   Materials and services 4,165,445         1,884,637         849,418            884,052                1,733,470              151,167            

Subtotal 6,020,706         3,571,391         1,504,480         1,590,339             3,094,819              476,572            

Information Technology:

   Personnel services 330,494            330,494            165,635            169,450                335,085                 (4,591)              

   Materials and services 329,801            329,801            146,319            152,742                299,061                 30,740              

Capital outlay 96,635              96,635              4,377                25,275                  29,652                   66,983              

Subtotal 756,930            756,930            316,331            347,467                663,798                 93,132              

Facilities:

   Personnel services 190,227            190,227            56,837              58,270                  115,107                 75,120              

   Materials and services 456,000            456,000            188,457            200,384                388,841                 67,159              

Capital outlay 340,000            5,289,000         96,049              471,284                567,333                 4,721,667         

Subtotal 986,227            5,935,227         341,343            729,938                1,071,281              4,863,946         

Municipal Court:

   Personnel services 482,695            482,695            236,549            246,591                483,140                 (445)                 

   Materials and services 268,740            268,740            113,306            117,287                230,593                 38,147              

Subtotal 751,435            751,435            349,855            363,878                713,733                 37,702              

Police:

   Personnel services 5,194,527         5,285,527         2,592,188         2,376,474             4,968,662              316,865            

   Materials and services 837,378            837,378            272,926            473,791                746,717                 90,661              

Capital outlay 172,500            172,500            61,861              99,664                  161,525                 10,975              

Subtotal 6,204,405         6,295,405         2,926,975         2,949,929             5,876,904              418,501            

Fire:

   Personnel services 2,609,204         2,609,204         1,106,912         -                        1,106,912              1,502,292         

   Materials and services 806,650            806,650            585,883            1,596,173             2,182,056              (1,375,406)       

Capital outlay 350,000            350,000            48,906              254,279                303,185                 46,815              

Subtotal 3,765,854         3,765,854         1,741,701         1,850,452             3,592,153              173,701            

Parks:

   Personnel services 794,767            794,767            267,947            276,935                544,882                 249,885            

   Materials and services 381,900            381,900            185,913            157,001                342,914                 38,986              

Capital outlay 886,629            846,197            55,150              89,605                  144,755                 701,442            

Subtotal 2,063,296         2,022,864         509,010            523,541                1,032,551              990,313            

Recreation:

   Personnel services 66,000              66,000              645                   5,179                    5,824                     60,176              

   Materials and services 10,200              10,200              2,598                3,522                    6,120                     4,080                

Subtotal 76,200              76,200              3,243                8,701                    11,944                   64,256              

Community Center:

   Personnel services 363,036            645,770            279,146            379,247                658,393                 (12,623)            

   Materials and services 98,260              98,260              23,224              46,314                  69,538                   28,722              

Capital outlay -                       75,000              -                       53,863                  53,863                   21,137              

Subtotal 461,296            819,030            302,370            479,424                781,794                 37,236              

Library:

   Materials and services 418,180            418,180            206,338            214,051                420,389                 (2,209)              

Subtotal 418,180            418,180            206,338            214,051                420,389                 (2,209)              

    Total expenditures 21,504,529$     24,412,516$     8,201,646$       9,057,720$           17,259,366$          7,153,150$       

2021-2023 Biennium

Budget for the

CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

GENERAL FUND 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

78

11 - 99



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN RESERVE FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with 

Final Budget

REVENUES:

Grants -$                     2,737,344$      30,000$           287,254           317,254         2,420,090$     

Total revenues -                       2,737,344        30,000              287,254           317,254         2,420,090       

EXPENDITURES:

Personnel service -                       -                       -                       185,551           185,551         (185,551)         *

Materials and service -                       1,527,344        30,000              101,703           131,703         1,395,641       

Total expenditures -                       1,527,344        30,000              287,254           317,254         1,210,090

Revenues over (under) expenditures -                       1,210,000        -                       -                       -                     1,210,000       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers out -                       (1,210,000)       -                       -                       -                     1,210,000       

Total other financing sources (uses) -                       (1,210,000)       -                       -                       -                     1,210,000       

Net changes in fund balances -                       -                       -                       -                       -                     -                       

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING -                       -                       -                       -                       -                     -                       

FUND BALANCES, ENDING -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                   -$                    

* appropriations adopted at Operations level

2021-2023 Biennium

Budget for the

79

11 - 100



Enterprise Budgetary Comparison schedules include the following:

 Water Fund

 Sewer Fund

 Storm Water Fund

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULES

Pursuant to the provisions of Oregon Revised Statute, an individual schedule of revenues,

expenditures, and changes in fund balances - budget and actual be displayed for each fund where

legally adopted budgets are required.

Enterprise Funds 

80

11 - 101



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

WATER FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with 

Final Budget

REVENUES:

Service charges 5,200,000$      5,200,000$      2,587,612$      2,735,244$            5,322,856$           122,856$               

Connection and installation fees 10,000             10,000             548                  -                           548                     (9,452)                  

System development charges 50,000             50,000             -                       -                           -                      (50,000)                

Miscellaneous -                       -                       -                       1,050                   1,050                  1,050                   

Total revenues 5,260,000        5,260,000        2,588,160        2,736,294             5,324,454            64,454                 

EXPENDITURES:

Personnel service 1,115,039        1,115,039        313,846           447,708                761,554               353,485                

Materials and service 2,014,000        2,014,000        809,989           810,743                1,620,732            393,268                

Capital outlay 4,940,006        4,849,035        78,228             25,398                 103,626               4,745,409             

Debt service:

     Principal 331,000           331,000           165,000           166,000                331,000               -                           

     Interest 27,235             27,235             13,622             10,336                 23,958                 3,277                   

Contingency 400,000           400,000           -                       -                           -                          400,000                

Total expenditures 8,827,280        8,736,309        1,380,685        1,460,185             2,840,870            5,895,439             

Revenues over (under) expenditures (3,567,280)       (3,476,309)       1,207,475        1,276,109             2,483,584            5,959,893             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 278,405           278,405           117,663           113,292                230,955               (47,450)                

Transfers out (579,125)          (670,096)          (272,094)          (382,173)              (654,267)             15,829                 

Total other financing sources (uses) (300,720)          (391,691)          (154,431)          (268,881)              (423,312)             (31,621)                

Net changes in fund balances (3,868,000)       (3,868,000)       1,053,044        1,007,228             2,060,272            5,928,272             

3,868,000        3,868,000        4,019,873        5,072,917             4,019,873            151,873                

-$                     -$                     5,072,917$      6,080,145$           6,080,145$          6,080,145$           

Expenditures/

Revenues Expenses

Total revenue and expenditures above 2,736,294$          1,460,185$           

Operating transfers in/out 113,292               382,173                

Expenditures capitalized -                          (25,398)                

Compensated absences -                          8,121                   

Debt service principal payments -                          (166,000)              

Depreciation expense -                          144,139                

Net pension activity -                          250,268                

Net OPEB asset -                          (4,982)                  

Net OPEB obligation -                          21,498                 

Equity in net income/loss of joint venture 44,430                 -                           

Total revenues and expenses - generally accepted accounting principles 2,894,016$          2,070,004             

Change in net position 824,012$              

Budget for the

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING- BUDGETARY BASIS

FUND BALANCES, ENDING - BUDGETARY BASIS

2021-2023 Biennium

81

11 - 102



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

SEWER FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with 

Final Budget

REVENUES:

Service charge 7,835,000$      7,835,000$      3,857,313$      4,038,486$            7,895,799$           60,799$                 

Connection and installation fees 10,000             10,000             -                       -                       -                      (10,000)                

System development charge 20,000             20,000             6,093               16,627                  22,720                 2,720                    

Miscellaneous 4,000               4,000               2,385               101,873                104,258               100,258                

Total revenues 7,869,000        7,869,000        3,865,791        4,156,986             8,022,777            153,777                

EXPENDITURES:

Personnel service 822,122           822,122           375,324           395,365                770,689               51,433                  

Materials and service 4,205,029        4,205,029        1,985,444        2,102,685             4,088,129            116,900                

Capital outlay 4,411,696        5,530,725        318,405           307,431                625,836               4,904,889             

Contingency 400,000           400,000           -                       -                           -                          400,000                

Total expenditures 9,838,847        10,957,876      2,679,173        2,805,481             5,484,654            5,473,222             

Revenues over (under) expenditures (1,969,847)       (3,088,876)       1,186,618        1,351,505             2,538,123            5,626,999             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 278,405           1,488,405        117,663           113,292                230,955               (1,257,450)           

Transfers out (628,558)          (719,529)          (287,130)          (402,516)              (689,646)             29,883                  

Total other financing sources (uses) (350,153)          768,876           (169,467)          (289,224)              (458,691)             (1,227,567)           

Net changes in fund balances (2,320,000)       (2,320,000)       1,017,151        1,062,281             2,079,432            4,399,432             

2,320,000        2,320,000        2,460,024        3,477,175             2,460,024            140,024                

-$                     -$                     3,477,175$      4,539,456$           4,539,456$          4,539,456$           

Expenditures/

Revenues Expenses

Total revenue and expenditures above 4,156,986$          2,805,481$           

Operating transfers in/out 113,292               402,516                

Expenditures capitalized -                          (287,431)              

Compensated absences -                          30,091                  

Depreciation expense -                          146,146                

Gain/loss on transfer of capital assets -                          511,550                

Net pension activity -                          (210,526)              

Net OPEB asset -                          3,273                    

Net OPEB obligation -                          (19,927)                

Total revenues and expenses - generally accepted accounting principles 4,270,278$          3,381,173             

Change in net position 889,105$              

Budget for the

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING- BUDGETARY BASIS

FUND BALANCES, ENDING - BUDGETARY BASIS

2021-2023 Biennium

82

11 - 103



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON

STORM WATER FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final

1st Year

FY 2021-22

2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total

Variance with 

Final Budget

REVENUES:

Service charge 1,898,000$      1,898,000$      924,970$         956,725$               1,881,695$           (16,305)$                

System development charge 11,000             11,000             -                       -                           -                      (11,000)                

Miscellaneous -                       -                       -                       65,844                  65,844                 65,844                  

Total revenues 1,909,000        1,909,000        924,970           1,022,569             1,947,539            38,539                  

EXPENDITURES:

Personnel service 567,711           567,711           246,373           210,891                457,264               110,447                

Materials and service 206,000           206,000           130,328           101,685                232,013               (26,013)                *

Capital outlay 2,009,471        1,918,500        186,938           219,073                406,011               1,512,489             

Contingency 200,000           200,000           -                       -                           -                          200,000                

Total expenditures 2,983,182        2,892,211        563,639           531,649                1,095,288            1,796,923             

Revenues over (under) expenditures (1,074,182)       (983,211)          361,331           490,920                852,251               1,835,462             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers in 278,405           278,405           117,663           113,292                230,955               (47,450)                

Transfers out (244,223)          (335,194)          (113,534)          (211,646)              (325,180)             10,014                  

Total other financing sources (uses) 34,182             (56,789)            4,129               (98,354)                (94,225)               (37,436)                

Net changes in fund balances (1,040,000)       (1,040,000)       365,460           392,566                758,026               1,798,026             

1,040,000        1,040,000        1,220,604        1,586,064             1,220,604            180,604                

-$                     -$                     1,586,064$      1,978,630$           1,978,630$          1,978,630$           

Expenditures/

Revenues Expenses

Total revenue and expenditures above 1,022,569$          531,649$              

Operating transfers in/out 113,292               211,646                

Expenditures capitalized -                          (219,017)              

Compensated absences -                          (774)                     

Depreciation expense -                          26,445                  

Net pension liability -                          93,616                  

Net OPEB Asset -                          (1,924)                  

Net OPEB liability -                          7,920                    

Total revenues and expenses - generally accepted accounting principles 1,135,861$          649,561                

Change in net position 486,300$              

* appropriations adopted at Operations level

Budget for the

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING- BUDGETARY BASIS

FUND BALANCES, ENDING - BUDGETARY BASIS

2021-2023 Biennium

83

11 - 104



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AUDIT COMMENTS AND DISCLOSURES 
 

11 - 105



 

 
Focused on Your Wants and Understanding Your Needs 

84 
 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

ON COMPLIANCE AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 

REPORTING BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH OREGON STATE REGULATION 

 

The Honorable Mayor, City Council, and Audit Committee 

City of Gladstone, Oregon 

 

We have audited the basic financial statements of City of Gladstone, Oregon, as of and for the year ended June 30, 

2023 and have issued our report thereon dated January 30, 2024. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing 

standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the provisions of the Minimum Standards of Audits 

of Oregon Municipal Corporations, prescribed by the Secretary of State.  

 

Compliance 

 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether City of Gladstone, Oregon’s financial statements are free of 

material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 

and grant agreements, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) as specified  in the Oregon 

Administrative Rules 162-010-0000 through 162-010-0330 of the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal 

Corporations, as set forth below, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial 

statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, 

and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 

 

We performed procedures to the extent we consider necessary to address the required comments and disclosures which 

included, but were not limited to, the following:  

 

• Deposits of public funds with financial institutions (ORS Chapter 295). 

• Indebtedness limitations, restrictions, and repayments. 

• Budgets legally required (ORS Chapter 294). 

• Insurance and fidelity bonds in force or required by law. 

• Programs funded from outside sources.  

• Highway revenues used for public highways, roads, and streets.  

• Authorized investment of surplus funds. (ORS Chapter 294). 

• Public contracts and purchasing (ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, and 279C). 

• Accountability for collecting or receiving money by elected officials. The City does not have any elected 

officials collecting or receiving money.  

 

In connection with our testing, nothing came  to our attention that caused us to believe the City was not in substantial 

compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, including the provisions of 

Oregon Revised Statutes as specified  in the Oregon Administrative Rules 162-010-0000 through 162-010-0330 of 

the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations except as follows. 

 

 

11 - 106



 

85 

Expenditures in the following funds exceeded appropriations for the year ended June 30, 2023: 

 Fund Budget Category Amount  

 General Library $ 2,209 

 Police & Communications Levy Operations $ 20,272 

 

Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered City of Gladstone, Oregon’s internal 

control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Gladstone, Oregon’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not 

express an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Gladstone, Oregon’s internal control.  

 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 

employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 

misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 

control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will 

not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination 

of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 

by those charged with governance. 

 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 

was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 

deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 

consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

 

Purpose of this Report 

 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 

results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 

compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Minimum Standards of Audits of 

Oregon Municipal Corporations, prescribed by the Secretary of State, in considering the entity’s internal control and 

compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
For Merina+Co 

Tualatin, Oregon 

January 30, 2024 

 

11 - 107









12



GLADSTONE CITY COUNCIL/URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY MEETING MINUTES OF JUNE 
13, 2023 
 
Meeting was called to order at approximately 7:22 P.M. 
 
ROLL CALL:                                                                                                                                                                     
Mayor Michael Milch, Councilor Alexander, Councilor Garlington, Councilor Huckaby, Councilor 
Reichle, Councilor Roberts, Councilor Cook 
 
ABSENT:                                                                                                                                                                                
None.                                                                                                                                                                             
 
STAFF:                                                                                                                                                                                
Jacque Betz, City Administrator; Cathy Brucker, Finance Consultant; David Doughman, City Attorney; 
Tami Bannick, City Recorder 
 
Mayor Milch called the meeting to order. 
 
REGULAR AGENDA: 
 

17. APPROVAL OF MAY 9, 2023 URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY MEETING MINUTES:                                   
Councilor Reichle made a motion to approve the May 9, 2023 meeting minutes.  Motion was 
seconded by Councilor Huckaby.   Ms. Bannick took a roll call vote:  Councilor  Reichle – yes. 
Councilor Alexander – yes. Councilor Huckaby – yes.  Councilor Cook – yes.  Councilor Roberts 
– yes.  Councilor Garlington – yes.  Mayor Milch – yes.  Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
 

18. PUBLIC HEARING – RESOLUTION UR-72 – ADOPTING THE 2023–2025 GLADSTONE 
URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY BIENNIUM BUDGET AND DECLARATION OF TAX 
INCREMENT FOR THE 2023 -2025 TAX YEARS: 
Ms. Brucker said this is the adoption of the biennium Urban Renewal Agency budget and 
declaration of tax increment for the 2023-2025 tax years.  State law requires that the Urban Renewal 
Board adopt a budget prior to the end of the fiscal year, which ends June 30th, 2023.  This is the 
budget that came from the Budget Committee and the tax rate. The overall budget is $5,227,996 
for the biennium.  The tax increment remains unchanged as far as the calculation that is applied 
against the Urban Renewal amount.  They are requesting the maximum amount of revenue that 
may be raised by dividing the taxes method under Section 1c, Article XI of the Oregon Constitution.  
There are zero dollars being requested that would be raised through the imposition of a special levy.  
Staff is recommending adoption of Resolution UR-72. 
 
Mayor Milch said that there was opportunity for community participation regarding this during the 
Budget Committee meetings and also in tonight’s meeting. 

 
Councilor Roberts made a motion to open the public hearing.  Motion was seconded by Councilor 
Alexander.  Ms. Bannick took a roll call vote:  Councilor Cook – yes. Councilor Reichle – yes.  
Councilor Alexander – yes.  Councilor Huckaby – yes.  Councilor Garlington – yes.  Councilor 
Roberts – yes.  Mayor Milch – yes.  Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 

 
Mayor Milch opened the public hearing. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:                                                                                                                                             
None. 

12 - 1



 
Councilor Reichle made a motion to close the public hearing.  Motion was seconded by Councilor 
Alexander.  Ms. Bannick took a roll call vote:  Councilor Roberts – yes. Councilor Garlington – 
yes.  Councilor Huckaby – yes.  Councilor Alexander – yes.  Councilor Reichle – yes.  Councilor 
Cook – yes.  Mayor Milch – yes.  Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
 
Mayor Milch closed the public hearing. 
 
Councilor Alexander made a motion to adopt Resolution UR-72, adopting the 2023-2025 biennium 
budget in the sum of $5,227,997.  Motion was seconded by Councilor Huckaby. Ms. Bannick took 
a roll call vote:  Councilor Alexander – yes.  Councilor Huckaby – yes.  Councilor Garlington – 
yes.  Councilor Roberts – yes.  Councilor Cook – yes.  Councilor Reichle – yes.  Mayor Milch – 
yes.  Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
 
Councilor Roberts made a motion to adopt UR-72, declaring the tax increments remain unchanged 
for both tax years 2023-24 and 2024-25.  The Urban Renewal Agency of the Gladstone Urban 
Renewal District hereby resolves to request the maximum amount of revenue that may be raised by 
dividing the taxes under Section 1c, Article XI of the Oregon Constitution and $0.00 as the amount 
to be raised through the imposition of a special levy.  Motion was seconded by Councilor Reichle.  
Ms. Bannick took a roll call vote:  Councilor Garlington – yes.  Councilor Roberts – yes.  Councilor 
Cook – yes.  Councilor Reichle – yes.  Councilor Alexander – yes.  Councilor Huckaby – yes.  
Mayor Milch – yes.  Motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
 

ADJOURN:     
 
(There was no motion or vote taken to adjourn the meeting.) 
 
Mayor Milch adjourned the meeting at approximately 7:33 P.M.   
 
Approved by the Mayor this ________ day of ___________________________, 2023. 
 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________________                  ______________________________________       
Michael Milch, Mayor                                                       Tami Bannick, City Recorder     

 

12 - 2



13



13 - 1



 

Focused on Your Wants and Understanding Your Needs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 30, 2024 

 

To the Agency Officials and Audit Committee 

Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency 

Gladstone, Oregon  

  

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities and the major fund of the 

Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency, a component unit of the City of Gladstone, Oregon for the year 

ended June 30, 2023. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about 

our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, as well as certain information 

related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in 

our letter to you dated August 22, 2023. Professional standards also require that we communicate 

to you the following information related to our audit.  

 

Significant Audit Matters  

 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  

 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 

significant accounting policies used by the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency are described in 

Note 1 to the financial statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application 

of existing policies was not changed during 2023. 

 

We noted no transactions entered into by the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency during the year 

for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have 

been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period.  

 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and 

are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 

assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 

of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 

affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. There were no significant estimates 

affecting the Agency. 

 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 

financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosure affecting the financial statements was:  

 

The disclosure of Long Term Debt in Note 6 to the financial statements summarizes the 

changes in debt for the year ended June 30, 2023.  

 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

13 - 2



 

Page 2 of 3 

Significant Unusual Transactions  

 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to communicate to you 

significant unusual transactions identified during our audit. No significant unusual transactions 

were identified during the audit. 

 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  

 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 

completing our audit. 

 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 

during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level 

of management. No misstatements were noted during the audit.  

 

Disagreements with Management  

 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, 

or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the 

financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 

arose during the course of our audit. 

 

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report  

 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances 

that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report. No circumstances exist that would affect 

the form and content of our auditor’s report. 

 

Management Representations  

 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 

representation letter dated January 30, 2024. 

 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants  

 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 

accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation 

involves application of an accounting principle to the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency’s 

financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on 

those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to 

determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such 

consultations with other accountants. 

 

 

13 - 3



 

Page 3 of 3 

Other Audit Findings or Issues  

 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 

auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Gladstone Urban Renewal 

Agency’s auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 

relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 

 

Other Matters 

 

We applied certain limited procedures to the management’s discussion and analysis, which is 

required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our 

procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the 

information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 

inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 

basic financial statements. We did not audit the management’s discussion and analysis, and do not 

express an opinion or provide any assurance on this information. 

 

We were not engaged to report on the introductory section, which accompany the financial 

statements but is not RSI. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures 

applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion 

or provide any assurance on it. 

 

Restriction on Use 

 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Agency Officials, Audit Committee, and 

management of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency and is not intended to be, and should not 

be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

 

If you should have any questions or comments, we would be pleased to discuss this report with 

you at your convenience. 

 

Respectfully, 

 
Merina+Co 

Tualatin, Oregon 

Focused on Your Wants and Understanding Your Needs 

 

 

 

13 - 4



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 

(A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON) 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

For the Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30, 2023 

 
with 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

7624 SW MOHAWK STREET • TUALATIN, OR 97062 
PHONE: (503) 723-0300 • FAX: (503) 723-9946 • WWW.MERINA.COM 

    
 
 
 

13 - 5



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 Page  
  

INTRODUCTORY SECTION 
 
Principal Officials ............................................................................................................................... i 
 
 
FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report ............................................................................................................ 1 
 
Management Discussion and Analysis .............................................................................................. 4 
 
Basic Financial Statements 
 
Statement of Net Position .................................................................................................................. 8 
 
Statement of Activities ....................................................................................................................... 9 
 
Balance Sheet – Governmental Fund ............................................................................................... 10 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in  

Fund Balance – Governmental Funds  ....................................................................................... 11 
  
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities ....................................... 12 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
   Budget And Actual  ................................................................................................................... 13 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements .......................................................................................... 14 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report Required by Oregon State Regulations ................................... 21 
 

13 - 6



 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

13 - 7



 

 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

13 - 8



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
LIST OF PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS 
June 30, 2023 
 

i 
 

Officials Term Expires 
 
 Michael Milch December 31, 2026 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027  
 
 Vanessa Huckaby, President December 31, 2026 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 Mindy Garlington December 31, 2024 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 Greg Alexander December 31, 2024 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 Veronica Reichle December 31, 2026
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 Cierra Cook December 31, 2024 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
  
 Luke Roberts December 31, 2026 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
 
Administrator 
 Jacque Betz 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
 
Finance Consultant 

Cathy Brucker 
 Gladstone, Oregon 97027 
  
 
 

13 - 9



 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

13 - 10



 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 

13 - 11



 

 

 

Focused on Your Wants and Understanding Your Needs 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

The Agency Officials 

Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency 

Gladstone, Oregon 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinions 

 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities and the major fund of the Gladstone Urban 

Renewal Agency, a component unit of the City of Gladstone, Oregon, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, 

and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Gladstone Urban Renewal 

Agency’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

respective financial position of the governmental activities and the major fund of the Gladstone Urban Renewal 

Agency, as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 

Basis for Opinions 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 

(GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 

Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Gladstone Urban 

Renewal Agency, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 

relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinions. 

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

 

Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 

financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 

and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 

considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency's ability to 

continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 

information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

13 - 12



 

2 

Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they 

would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 

substantial doubt about the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency's ability to continue as a going concern for a 

reasonable period of time. 

 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we 

identified during the audit. 

 

Required Supplementary Information 

 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required supplementary 

information, such as management’s discussion and analysis, be presented to supplement the basic financial 

statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 

statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of 

financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 

context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the management’s discussion and analysis in accordance 

with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 

management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 

management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during 

our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 

information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 

provide any assurance.  

 

Other Information 
 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information comprises 

the introductory section but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 

opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or 

any form of assurance thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and 

consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements, or 

the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude 

that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

 

 

 

13 - 13



 

3 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

Other Reporting Required by Oregon Minimum Standards 

 

In accordance with Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, we have also issued our 

report dated January 30, 2024, on our consideration of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency’s compliance with 

certain provisions of laws and regulations, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified in 

Oregon Administrative Rules. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and 

the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on compliance. 

 
For Merina+Co 

Tualatin, Oregon 

January 30, 2024 

13 - 14



 

4 
 

 
 

June 30, 2023 
Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
Management staff of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency offers this executive summary of the 
financial activities of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.  
 
Financial Highlights 
  
The assets of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most 
recent fiscal year by $1,021,269 (net position). This amount partially represents the Agency’s portion 
of the Notes Payable debt on the Gladstone Civic Center, completed in April, 2020.  The ending net 
position from the previous year of $390,145 has increased by $631,124 over the past year.  The 
Gladstone Civic Center was recorded as a physical asset of the City of Gladstone Governmental 
Activities, so did not increase assets within the Agency. 

 
As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency’s governmental fund 
reported a total ending fund balance of $2,990,007. The difference between the $631,124 increase in 
unrestricted net position and the ending fund balance of $2,990,007 is comprised of 
uncollected/unavailable property taxes and notes payable. 
  
REPORT LAYOUT 

This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is intended to serve as an introduction to the 
Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency’s basic financial statements. The basic financial statements are 
comprised of three components: 1) entity-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 
3) notes to the basic financial statements. The report also contains other supplementary data in 
addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
These two statements present an overview of the Agency's finances, in a manner similar to the private 
sector. Each statement presents highly condensed, entity-wide information and uses the full accrual 
basis of accounting. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on the Agency’s total assets and liabilities, with 
the resulting difference between the two presented as net position. Over time, increases or decreases 
to net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the Agency's financial position is improving 
or deteriorating. 
 
  

13 - 15



 

5 
 

 
 
The statement of activities focuses on the change in net position from the prior year. The costs of the 
Agency's programs are presented and show to what extent governmental activities are subsidized by 
taxes and other general revenues. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
Following the government-wide statements is a section containing fund financial statements. The 
Agency's General Fund is presented in its own column. A "Budgetary Comparison Statement" is 
included as part of the basic financial statements. 
 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the financial data 
provided in the entity-wide and fund financial statements. Completing the document is a report by the 
independent certified public accountant, as required by statute. 
 
AGENCY AS A WHOLE 
 
Entity-wide Financial Statements 
 
Statement of net position at June 30, 2023. As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a 
useful indictor of the Agency’s financial position. Assets exceeded liabilities by $1,021,269 at the 
close of the most recent fiscal year. 
 
By far the largest portion of the Agency’s assets is cash and investments which have financial liquidity 
easily available for future spending.  With the April 2020 completion of the Gladstone Civic Center 
construction, cash and investments are increasing in the 2022-23 year as illustrated below. 
 
The following table reflects a summary of net position for fiscal years 2022-23 and 2021-22. 
 

2023 2022 Total Change

Cash and investments 2,985,328$   2,819,559$  165,769$      
Due from other governments 14,324         2,372          11,952         
Property tax receivable 14,751         33,452        (18,701)        
Interest receivable 619             304            315              
           Total Assets 3,015,022     2,855,687    159,335        

Notes payable 1,993,753     2,465,542    471,789        
Total Liabilities 1,993,753     2,465,542    471,789        

   Net position:
            Restricted 1,021,269$   390,145$     631,124$      

as of June 30,
Summary Statement of Net Position

 
 
  

13 - 16



 

6 
 

The following table reflects a Statement of Activities for fiscal years 2022-23 and 2021-22. 
 

2023 2022 Total Change
REVENUES

General Revenues 
Property tax 1,057,600$  1,015,631$   41,969$       
Interest 84,275        16,090         68,185         

Total receipts 1,141,875    1,031,721    110,154       

EXPENSES
Division operations 510,751      335,341       175,410       

Total expenses 510,751      335,341       175,410       

Increase in net position 631,124      696,380       (65,256)        

Beginning net position 390,145      (306,235)      696,380       

Ending net position 1,021,269$  390,145$     631,124$     

Summary Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30,

 
 
Governmental Activities. Governmental activities increased the Gladstone Urban Renewal 
Agency’s net position by $631,124 with the collection of property taxes and payment of debt funds 
to the City.  Payment was also made for the demolition of the former City Hall building, enabling 
the construction of a new library facility in cooperation with Clackamas County. 
 
Financial Analysis of the Agency’s funds 
 
Governmental Fund. The focus of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency’s governmental fund 
is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. 
Such information is useful in assessing the Agency’s financial requirements. In particular, 
unrestricted net position may serve as useful measure of a government’s net resources available 
for spending at the end of the fiscal year. The $2,990,007 ending fund balance is fully available 
for Urban Renewal Development and retirement of annual debt service. 
 
Budgetary Highlights. The Agency’s General Fund original legal appropriations totaled 
$3,880,025, with a final budget of $3,920,025. On May 9, 2023, the Urban Renewal Agency 
approved a budget amendment to increase appropriations for the demolition of the former City 
Hall building.  Estimates came in higher than anticipated for removal of the building, necessitating 
the budget resolution. Appropriations lapse at year-end. 
 
Capital Assets. The Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency has no capital assets. Upon completion of 
street improvements or building construction, the assets are transferred to the City of Gladstone. 
 
Long-term Debt. At the end of the fiscal year, the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency had an 
ending balance of $1,993,753 in notes payable outstanding for the construction of the Civic Center  
facility, completed in 2020.  Further information on this issue may be found in Note 6 - Long Term 
Debt in the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
 
  

13 - 17



 

7 
 

In response to 1997 state legislation, the Gladstone City Council, acting as officials of the 
Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency, at its April 1998 meeting, authorized $23,000,000 in maximum 
indebtedness (adjusted for future inflation) for projects that could be financed over the next 30 
years.  As of June 30, 2023 the adjusted maximum indebtedness was $23,589,427 with a remaining 
amount of $2,072,641. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget. The future finances of the Agency will largely be 
expended on the future debt service of the Civic Center Project, retiring as of the 2026-27 fiscal 
year.  With completion of the project, further analysis and needs of the Agency are under  
evaluation.  With that in mind, the City has contracted with urban renewal specialists to review the 
feasibility of expansion, and/or reconfiguration of the district boundaries.   
 
Requests for Information. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report 
or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to City staff at 18505 Portland 
Avenue, Gladstone, 97027 or call 503.479.6860.  
 
 
 
 

13 - 18



 

 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

13 - 19



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2023

Governmental 
Activities

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,985,328$    
Cash with County Treasurer 14,324           
Property taxes receivable 14,751           
Interest receivable 619                

Total assets 3,015,022      

LIABILITIES:
Notes payable - current maturity 485,896         
Noncurrent portion of notes payable 1,507,857      

Total liabilities 1,993,753      

NET POSITION:
      Restricted:

    Urban Renewal Development 1,021,269$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
813 - 20



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Net
Revenue

(Expenses)
and 

Changes in
Expenses Net Position

EXPENSES:
Governmental activities:

Community development 444,085$        (444,085)$        
Interest 66,666            (66,666)            

Total program expenses (510,751)          

GENERAL REVENUES:
Property taxes 1,057,600        
Interest 84,275             

Total general revenues 1,141,875        

Change in net position 631,124           

NET POSITION, BEGINNING 390,145           

NET POSITION, ENDING 1,021,269$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
913 - 21



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY
BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUND
June 30, 2023

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,985,328$    
Cash with County Treasurer 14,324           
Property taxes receivable 14,751           
Interest receivable 619                

Total assets 3,015,022$    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

Unavailable revenue - property taxes 25,015           

Total deferred inflows of resources 25,015           

FUND BALANCE:
Restricted 2,990,007      

Total fund balance 2,990,007      

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 3,015,022$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are 
different because:

Total fund balance 2,990,007$    

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and, 
therefore, are deferred in the fund 25,015           

Accrued liabilities and notes payable are not due and payable in the current period 
and, therefore, are not reported in the fund (1,993,753)     

Net position of governmental activities 1,021,269$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
1013 - 22



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE - GOVERNMENTAL FUND
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

REVENUES:
Property taxes 1,065,293$       
Interest on investments 84,275              

Total revenues 1,149,568         

EXPENDITURES:
Materials and services 198,715            
Contributions - City of Gladstone 245,370            
Debt service:

Principal 471,789            
Interest 66,666              

Total expenditures 982,540            

Net change in fund balance 167,028            

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING 2,822,979         

FUND BALANCE, ENDING 2,990,007$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
1113 - 23



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE OF GOVERNMENTAL FUND
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Net change in fund balance - total governmental fund 167,028$           

Some revenue reported in the statement of activities do not provide current 
financial resources in the government fund (7,693)                

Repayment of long term debt - principal payments 471,789             

Changes in net position of governmental activities 631,124$           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
1213 - 24



CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON
URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actual Actual

Original Final
1st Year

FY 2021-22
2nd Year

FY 2022-23 Total
Variance with
Final Budget

REVENUES:
Property taxes 2,104,839$       2,104,839$       1,010,047$       1,065,293$       2,075,340           (29,499)$           
Grants 26,000              26,000              -                        -                        -                          (26,000)             
Interest -                        -                        16,090              84,275              100,365              100,365            

Total revenues 2,130,839         2,130,839         1,026,137         1,149,568         2,175,705           44,866              

EXPENDITURES:
Materials and service 199,000            239,000            9,483                198,715            208,198              30,802              
Debt service:
     Principal 929,881            929,881            458,092            471,789            929,881              -                        
     Interest 147,235            147,235            80,454              66,666              147,120              115                   
Contingency 2,603,909         2,563,909         -                        -                        -                          2,563,909         

Total expenditures 3,880,025         3,880,025         548,029            737,170            1,285,199           2,594,826         

Revenues over (under) expenditures (1,749,186)        (1,749,186)        478,108            412,398            890,506              2,639,692         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers to the City of Gladstone (490,814)           (490,814)           (245,404)           (245,370)           (490,774)             40                     

Total other financing sources (uses) (490,814)           (490,814)           (245,404)           (245,370)           (490,774)             40                     

Net changes in fund balances (2,240,000)        (2,240,000)        232,704            167,028            399,732              2,639,732         

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING 2,240,000         2,240,000         2,590,275         2,822,979         5,413,254           3,173,254         

FUND BALANCES, ENDING -$                      -$                      2,822,979$       2,990,007$       5,812,986$         5,812,986$       

Budget for the
2021-2023 Biennium

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
1313 - 25



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  

14 

(1) Description of the Agency and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The financial statements of the Agency have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). GAAP statements include 
all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  
 
A. Description of Reporting Entity 

The Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency (the Agency) (a component unit of the City of Gladstone) 
was organized October 11, 1988 under the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes, Chapter 457, to 
provide rehabilitation of blighted and deteriorated areas within the Agency’s designated urban 
renewal area. The fiscal year ended June 30, 1998 was the first year property taxes were levied by 
the Agency. As provided by ORS 457, the City Council of the City of Gladstone is designated as 
the governing body of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency. Principle funding sources are 
property tax revenues and interest earnings. Fiscal and accounting functions are handled by 
personnel of the City of Gladstone. 
 
The Agency is a legally separate entity governed by the City of Gladstone. The Agency Officials 
are not financially accountable for any other governmental entity. Financial accountability is 
determined in accordance with criteria set forth in GAAP, primarily on the basis of authority to 
appoint voting majority of an organization’s governing body, ability to impose its will on that 
organization, the potential for that organization to provide specific benefits or impose specific 
financial burdens and that organization’s fiscal dependency. The Agency is a blended component 
unit of the City of Gladstone and, as such is included in the financial statements of the City of 
Gladstone for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
The Agency has no component units. 
 
B. Basic Financial Statements 

The Agency’s financial operations are presented at both the agency-wide and fund financial levels. 
All activities of the Agency are categorized as governmental. 

Agency-wide financial statements 

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the Agency 
as a whole.  
 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues 
for the Agency’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated 
with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. The 
Agency reports no indirect expenses. The Agency reports no program revenues. Taxes and other 
items not properly included among program revenues are reported as general revenues. 

Fund financial statements 

These statements display information at the individual fund level. The fund is considered to be a 
separate accounting entity. Funds are classified and summarized as governmental, proprietary, and 
fiduciary. Currently the Agency has only one fund of the governmental fund type. 

13 - 26



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  

15 

 

C. Basis of Presentation 

The financial transactions of the Agency are recorded in the General Fund. The fund is accounted 
for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its assets, liabilities, 
deferred inflows of resources, fund balance, revenues and expenditures.  

The GASB 34 model sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, revenues or expenditures of either fund 
category) for the determination of major funds. For purposes of presentation, the Agency’s fund 
is presented as a major fund. 

General Fund - The General Fund is used to record expenditures related to capital improvements 
projects. Major sources of revenue are specific taxes that are legally restricted to expenditures for 
specific purposes.  
 
D. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

Measurement focus is a term used to describe which transactions are recorded with the various 
financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to when transactions are recorded regardless of the 
measurement focus. 

The Agency-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses 
are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and 
similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the 
provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon 
as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current 
period. For this purpose, the Agency considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 
60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  

Since the governmental fund statements are presented on a different measurement focus and basis 
of accounting than the agency-wide statements, a reconciliation is necessary to explain the 
adjustments needed to transform the fund based financial statements into the agency-wide 
presentation. These reconciliations are part of the basic financial statements. 

E. Cash and Investments 

The Agency considers cash equivalents as all highly liquid investments with an original maturity 
of three months or less. Investments included in cash and cash equivalents are reported at fair 
value.  
 
 
 

13 - 27



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  

16 

 

F. Receivables and Property Tax Calendar 

Uncollected property taxes receivable, which have been collected within sixty days following year-
end are considered measurable and available and are recognized as revenue. The remaining balance 
is recorded as a deferred inflow of resources because it is not deemed available to finance 
operations of the current period. Property taxes are levied in July of each fiscal year. Property taxes 
attach as an enforceable lien on property as of July 1, and are payable in three installments on 
November 15, February 15, and May 15. All property taxes are billed and collected by Clackamas 
County and remitted to the Agency. Uncollected taxes, including delinquent amounts, are 
considered substantially collectible or recoverable through liens, and accordingly no allowance for 
uncollected taxes has been established. All property taxes receivable are due from property owners 
within the Agency’s boundaries. 
 
G. Long Term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide financial statement, long-term debt and other long long-term obligations 
are reported as liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 
 
H. Deferred Inflows of Resources 

In addition to liabilities, the statements will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of fund balance that 
applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until 
that time. The Agency only has one type of item that qualifies for reporting in this category, which 
arises only under the modified accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, the item “unavailable 
revenue,” is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report 
unavailable revenues from property taxes. These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow 
of resources in the period that the amounts become available.  
 
I. Fund Balance 

In the fund financial statements, fund balance for governmental funds is reported in classifications 
that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the Agency is bound to honor 
constraints on the specific purpose for which amounts in the funds can be spent. Fund balance is 
reported in five components – non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned.  
Currently, the Agency reports only one classification of fund balance – unassigned.  This is the 
residual classification used for those balances not assigned to another category. 
 
J. Use of Restricted Resources 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use: it is the Agency’s policy to 
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources, as they are needed. When unrestricted 
resources are available for use it is the Agency’s policy to use committed resources first, then 
assigned, and then unassigned as needed.  
 
 
 
 

13 - 28



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  

17 

 

K. Use of Estimates 

In preparing the Agency’s financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
(2) Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

A. Budgetary Information 

On or before June 30 of each year, the Agency enacts a resolution adopting the budget, 
appropriating the expenditures, and levying the property taxes. Prior to enacting this resolution, 
the proposed budget is presented to a budget committee consisting of members of the Agency 
Board of Directors and a like number of interested citizens. The budget committee presents the 
budget to the Agency Board of Directors for budget hearings prior to enactment of the resolution. 
The Agency budgets all funds as required by Oregon Local Budget Law.  

 
The resolution authorizing appropriations for the Agency’s fund sets the legal level of control by 
which expenditures cannot legally exceed appropriations. Expenditure categories of personal 
services, materials and services, capital outlay, debt service transfers, and contingency are the legal 
level of control for all other funds. The detail budget document, however, is required to contain 
more specific information for the above mentioned expenditure categories. Unexpected additional 
resources may be added to the budget through the use of a supplemental budget. A supplemental 
budget requires hearings before the public, publications in newspapers, and adoption by the 
Agency Board. Management may modify original and supplemental budgets by the use of 
appropriation transfers between the legal levels of control within a fund. Such transfers require 
approval by the Agency Board. Management may not amend the budget without seeking the 
approval of the Board.  

On May 9, 2023, the Urban Renewal Agency Board approved a budget amendment to increase 
appropriations for the demolition of the former City Hall building, offset by Contingency.  
Estimates came in higher than anticipated for removal of the building, necessitating the budget 
resolution. Appropriations lapse as of year-end. 

 
(3) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

At June 30, 2023 investments included in cash and cash equivalents of the Gladstone Urban 
Renewal Agency consist of the following: 
 

 Weighted Average 
Maturity (Years) 

 
Fair Value 

Investments in the State Treasurer’s Local 
Government Investment Pool 

 
0.00 

 
$2,951,569 

 
 
 
 
 

13 - 29



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  

18 

 
A. Interest rate risk  

The Agency does not have a formal investment policy that limits investments maturities as a 
means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 
 

B. Credit risk 

State statutes authorize the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency to invest in general obligations of 
the U.S. Government and its agencies, certain bonded obligations of Oregon municipalities, bank 
repurchase agreements, bankers’ acceptances, and the State Treasurer’s Oregon Local 
Government Investment Pool, among others. The Agency has no investment policy that would 
further limit its investment choices. 
 
C. Concentration of credit risk 

The Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency does not currently have an investment policy for 
concentration of credit risk. 
 
The State Treasurer’s Investment Pool operates in accordance with appropriate state laws and 
regulations, but is not regulated by other laws, organizations or regulations. The reported value of 
the Pool is the same as the fair value of Pool shares. Investments are regulated by the Oregon 
Short-Term Fund Board and approved by the Oregon Investment Council (ORS 294.805 to 
294.895). The Pool is not registered with the SEC as an investment company and is not rated. 
 
D. Custodial credit risk – deposits 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Agency’s deposits may not 
be returned. The Agency does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. The Federal 
Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) provides insurance for the Agency’s deposits up to 
$250,000 for the combined total of all deposit accounts at each financial institution.  The remaining 
deposits are covered by the Public Funds Collateralization program (PFCP) of the State of Oregon 
in accordance with ORS 295. Depositories qualified under this program are required to pledge 
collateral against any public funds deposits in excess of deposit insurance amounts. This provides 
additional protection for public funds in the event of a bank failure or loss. ORS 295 sets the 
specific value of the collateral, as well as the types of collateral that are acceptable. ORS 295 
creates a shared liability structure for participating depositories, better protecting public funds 
though still not guaranteeing that all funds are 100% protected. As of June 30, 2023, the book 
value of the Agency’s deposits was $33,759 and bank balance was $33,946. None of the Agency’s 
bank balances were exposed to custodial credit risk as they were fully insured. 
  

13 - 30



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  

19 

 
(4) Property Taxes 

Property tax transactions for the year ended June 30, 2023, were as follows: 

 
Property taxes receivable includes cash with County Treasurer. 

 
(5) Risk Management 

The Agency is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft, damage or destruction of 
assets, errors and omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters. Except for 
unemployment compensation, the Agency purchases commercial insurance to minimize its 
exposure to these risks. There has been no reduction in commercial insurance coverage from fiscal 
year 2022 to 2023. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage for any of the past 
three years. 
 
(6) Long Term Debt 
 
A.   Changes in General Long-Term Liabilities 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2023 long-term liabilities activity was as follows: 

 
B.   Direct Borrowings 
 
On July 31, 2018, the City and Agency directly borrowed, in two separate transactions, a total of 
$6,800,000 for construction of a new City Hall and Police Station within the Governmental 
Activities.  Because of the co-mingled relationship of these borrowings, information on each 
transaction is described below: 
 

a. $3,000,000 – General Fund Full Faith & Credit Note Payable – secured by the 
City’s full faith and credit and taxing power, but shall not entitle the lender to any  

Tax Year

Taxes 
Receivable 
July 1, 2022

2022-2023 
Levy Collections

Adjustments 
and Discounts

Taxes 
Receivable 

June 30, 2023

2022-2023 -$               1,101,769$  (1,054,728)$  (30,862)$      16,179$          
2021-2022 20,874           -                   (12,699)         (1,689)          6,486              
2020-2021 7,669             -                   (3,805)           (654)             3,210              
2019-2020 4,224             -                   (2,817)           (178)             1,229              
2018-2019 1,018             -                   (495)              (111)             412                 
2017-2018 387                -                   (90)                (22)               275                 
Prior Years 1,652             -                   (158)              (210)             1,284              

35,824$         1,101,769$  (1,074,792)$  (33,726)$      29,075$          

Amounts
Beginning Ending Due Within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental Activities

Note payable - URA 2,465,542$       -$                471,789$           1,993,753$      485,896$       

13 - 31



GLADSTONE URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2023  

20 

lien on, or pledge of, specific properties or revenue of the City.  The borrowing 
carries an interest rate of 3.00%. Interest is payable semi-annually on February 1 
and August 1 of each year, and principal is payable annually on August 1 through 
2029. 
 

b. $3,800,000 – Urban Renewal Agency Note Payable – secured by the Master 
Borrowing Declaration for the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency.  Funds will be 
collected annually by the “Divide the Taxes” revenue as will be assessed through 
the Urban Renewal Agency.  The borrowing carries an interest rate of 2.99%. 
Interest is payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 of each year, and 
principal is payable annually on August 1 through 2026. 

 
The City/Agency may prepay all or any portion of each note, with prepayment applied first to 
accrued interest and then to principal. Both of the borrowings contain an event of default clause 
that allows the lender to increase the interest rate by 5.00%, if not cured within five days, while 
the event of default continues. However, the amounts due from the City/Agency shall not be 
subject to acceleration. 
 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the Urban Renewal Agency direct borrowing is 
as follows: 

 
 

Fiscal
Year Principal Interest

2024 485,896$      52,349$     
2025 500,424        37,603       
2026 515,387        22,417       
2027 492,046        7,357         

1,993,753$   119,726$   

Series 2018 Note Payable
Urban Renewal Agency

13 - 32



 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

13 - 33



AUDIT COMMENTS AND DISCLOSURES 

13 - 34



 

 
Focused on Your Wants and Understanding Your Needs 

21 
 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

ON COMPLIANCE AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 

REPORTING BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH OREGON STATE REGULATION 

 

The Agency Officials 

Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency 

Gladstone, Oregon 

 

We have audited the basic financial statements of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency, a component unit of the City 

of Gladstone, Oregon, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023 and have issued our report thereon dated January 

30, 2024. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the provisions of the Minimum Standards of Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, prescribed by 

the Secretary of State.   

 

Compliance 

 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency’s financial statements 

are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 

contracts, and grant agreements, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) as specified  in the Oregon 

Administrative Rules 162-010-0000 through 162-010-0330 of the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal 

Corporations, as set forth below, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial 

statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, 

and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 

 

We performed procedures to the extent we consider necessary to address the required comments and disclosures which 

included, but were not limited to, the following:  

 

• Deposits of public funds with financial institutions (ORS Chapter 295). 

• Indebtedness limitations, restrictions, and repayments. 

• Budgets legally required (ORS Chapter 294). 

• Insurance and fidelity bonds in force or required by law. 

• Programs funded from outside sources.  

• Highway revenues used for public highways, roads, and streets. The Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency does 

not receive highway funds. 

• Authorized investment of surplus funds. (ORS Chapter 294). 

• Public contracts and purchasing (ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, and 279C). 

• Accountability for collecting or receiving money by elected officials. The Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency 

does not have any elected officials collecting or receiving money.  

 

In connection with our testing, nothing came  to our attention that caused us to believe the Gladstone Urban Renewal 

Agency was not in substantial compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 

13 - 35



 

22 

agreements, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified  in the Oregon Administrative Rules 

162-010-0000 through 162-010-0330 of the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations. 

 

Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Gladstone Urban Renewal 

Agency’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency’s internal control. 

Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency’s internal 

control.  

 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 

employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 

misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 

control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will 

not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination 

of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 

by those charged with governance. 

 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 

was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 

deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 

consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

 

Purpose of this Report 

 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 

results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 

compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Minimum Standards of Audits of 

Oregon Municipal Corporations, prescribed by the Secretary of State, in considering the entity’s internal control and 

compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
For Merina+Co 

Tualatin, Oregon 

January 30, 2024 

 

13 - 36



February
Regular Agenda





14



14 - 1



14 - 2



 
 

 
   

   
   

 E
xh

ib
it 

A
 

E
ve

rg
re

en
 L

n.
 S

to
rm

 D
ra

in
  -

 B
id

 T
ab

ul
at

io
n 

 

  

 

   
   

   
   

   

C
ity

 o
f G

la
ds

to
ne

 
In

fil
tr

at
io

n 
&

 In
flo

w
 P

ro
je

ct
 1

 &
 2

 –
 B

id
 T

ab
ul

at
io

n 
 

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  B
ID

D
E

R
 

B
ID

 A
M

O
U

N
T

 

B
ra

un
 C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

$1
,3

43
,5

35
.0

0 

La
w

so
n 

C
or

p.
  

$1
,3

49
,0

00
.0

0 

La
nd

is
 &

 L
an

di
s 

$1
,4

25
,3

70
.0

0 

S
LE

, I
nc

. 
$1

,4
38

,5
45

.0
0 

C
an

by
 E

xc
av

at
in

g 
$1

,6
30

,5
26

.0
0 

M
oo

re
 E

xc
av

at
io

n 
$1

,9
05

,7
35

.0
0 

P
ac

ifi
c 

E
xc

av
at

io
n 

$ 
2,

02
4,

00
0.

00
 

E
m

er
y 

&
 S

on
s 

$ 
2,

19
3,

91
7.

00
 

14 - 3



     Exhibit B  
 
 

   City of Gladstone  
 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT CONTRACT 
 

 

 
This Public Improvement Contract (the “Contract”), is made by and between the City of Gladstone, a political subdivision 
of the State of Oregon, hereinafter called “City,” and Contractor Name (No DBA/ABN), hereinafter called the “Contractor” 
(collectively the “Parties”), shall become effective on the date this Contract has been signed by all the Parties and all City 
approvals have been obtained, whichever is later. 

 

Project Name: Infiltration & Inflow Phase 1 & 2 

1. Contract Price, Contract Documents and Work. 
The Contractor, in consideration of the sum not to exceed $1,679,418.75 (the "Contract Price") which includes a 25% 

contingency ($335,883.75), to be paid to 

 

Braun Construction & Design, LLC.  
 

the Contractor by City in the manner and at the time hereinafter provided, and subject to the terms and conditions provided 
for in the Instructions to Bidders and other Contract Documents (as defined in the City of Gladstone General Conditions for 
Public Improvement Contracts (“City General Conditions”) and the City of Gladstone Supplemental General Conditions for Public 
Improvement Contracts (“City Supplemental General Conditions”)  referenced within the Instructions to Bidders), all of which 
are incorporated herein by reference, hereby agrees to perform all Work described and reasonably inferred from the 
Contract Documents. The Contract Price is the amount contemplated by the Total Bid, as indicated in the accepted Bid. 

 

Also, the following documents are incorporated by reference in this Contract and made a part hereof: 
 
• Information for Bidders 
• Proposer’s Bid Form 
• First Tier Subcontractor Disclosure 
• Bid Bond 
• Five Year Applicable and Consecutive Experience Record 
• Noncollusion Affidavit 
• Employee Drug Testing Program Certification Form 
• Public Improvement Contract Form 
• City of Gladstone General Conditions for Public Improvement Contracts (“City General Conditions”) 
• City of Gladstone Supplemental General Conditions for Public Improvement Contracts (“City Supplemental General Conditions”) 
• Construction Performance Bond 
• Construction Payment Bond 
• City of Gladstone Statutorily Required Provisions for Labor & Services for Public Improvements and Public Works Subject to 

ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870 
• Prevailing Wage Rates 
• Technical Specifications  
• Supplemental Technical Provisions 
• Plans, Specifications and Drawings   
• Detailed Scope of Work 
• [Addenda] 

14 - 4



[Type here] 

 

Page 2  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 
2. Representatives. 
Contractor has named   Jeanie Braun  as its' Authorized Representative to act on its behalf.  

 

The City designates Darren Caniparoli, Public Works Director, Gladstone Public Works, as its Authorized 
Representative in the administration of this Contract. The above- named individual shall be the initial point of contact for 
matters related to Contract performance, payment, authorization, and to carry out the responsibilities of the City. 

 
3. Key Persons. 
The Contractor’s personnel identified below shall be considered Key Persons and shall not be replaced during the project 
without the written permission of City, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. If the Contractor intends to substitute 
personnel, a request must be given to City at least 30 days prior to the intended time of substitution. When replacements 
have been approved by City, the Contractor shall provide a transition period of at least 10 working days during which the 
original and replacement personnel shall be working on the project concurrently. Once a replacement for any of these 
staff members is authorized, further replacement shall not occur without the written permission of City. The Contractor’s 
project staff shall consist of the following personnel: 
 

Project Executive:  Jeanie Braun shall be the Contractor’s project executive, and will provide 
oversight and guidance throughout the project term. 

 

Project Manager : Andrew Braun shall be the Contractor’s project manager and will participate in all 
meetings throughout the project term. 

 
Job Superintendent: XXXXXXXXXXXXX shall be the Contractor’s on-site job superintendent 
throughout the project term. 

 
4. Contract Dates. 
COMMENCEMENT DATE: Shall occur following Issuance of Notice to Proceed (“NTP”) but not prior to February 14, 
2024 
 
 
FINAL COMPLETION DATE: Shall occur no later than October 18, 2024  
 

Time is of the essence for this Contract. It is imperative that the Work in this Contract reach Substantial Completion and 
Final Completion by the above specified dates. 
 
Contractor and City acknowledge that City will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the times specified 
in this Section 4, plus any extensions that City permits in accordance with the General Conditions.  The Parties also 
acknowledge the delays, expense and difficulties involved in proving the precise, actual loss suffered by City if the Work 
is not completed on time.  Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, the Parties agree that as liquidated damages 

for delay, but not as a penalty, Contractor will pay City, or City may withhold from any sums due Contractor, $400.00 for 

each day that expires after the time specified in this Section 4 for Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially 
complete.  After Substantial Completion, if Contractor neglects, refuses, or fails to complete the remaining Work within 
the Contract Time or any extensions thereof permitted by City, Contractor will pay City, or City may withhold from any 

sums due Contractor, $400.00 for each day that expires after the time specified in this Section 4 for Final Completion 

until the Work is completed and ready for final payment. 

 
5. Insurance Certificates. 
In accordance with Section G.3.5 of the General Conditions, Contractor shall furnish proof of the required insurance 
naming City of Gladstone as an additional insured. Insurance certificates may be returned with the signed Contract or 
may be emailed to PWoffice@ci.gladstone.or.us 

 

6. Tax Compliance. 
Contractor must, throughout the duration of this Contract and any extensions, comply with all tax laws of this state and all 
applicable tax laws of any political subdivision of this state. Any violation of this section shall constitute a material 
breach of this Contract. Further, any violation of Contractor’s warranty in this Contract that Contractor has complied with  

14 - 5



[Type here] 

 

Page 3  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 
 
 
the tax laws of this state and the applicable tax laws of any political subdivision of this state also shall constitute a 
material breach of this Contract. Any violation shall entitle City to terminate this Contract, to pursue and recover any and all 
damages that arise from the breach and the termination of this Contract, and to pursue any or all of the remedies available 
under this Contract, at law, or in equity, including but not limited to: (A) Termination of this Contract, in whole or in part; (B) 
Exercise of the right of setoff, and withholding of amounts otherwise due and owing to Contractor, in an amount equal 
to City’s setoff right, without penalty; and (C) Initiation of an action or proceeding for damages, specific performance, 
declaratory or injunctive relief. City shall be entitled to recover any and all damages suffered as the result of 
Contractor’s breach of this Contract, including but not limited to direct, indirect, incidental and consequential damages, 
costs of cure, and costs incurred in securing replacement performance. These remedies are cumulative to the extent 
the remedies are not inconsistent, and City may pursue any remedy or remedies singly, collectively, successively, or in 
any order whatsoever. 

 

The Contractor represents and warrants that, for a period of no fewer than six calendar years preceding the effective 
date of this Contract, has faithfully complied with: (A) All tax laws of this state, including but not limited to ORS 305.620 
and ORS chapters 316, 317, and 318; (B) Any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of this state that applied 
to Contractor, to Contractor’s property, operations, receipts, or income, or to Contractor’s performance of or 
compensation for any work performed by Contractor; (C) Any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of this 
state that applied to Contractor, or to goods, services, or property, whether tangible or intangible, provided by 
Contractor; and (D) Any rules, regulations, charter provisions, or ordinances that implemented or enforced any of the 
foregoing tax laws or provisions. 

 

7. Confidential Information. 
Contractor acknowledges that it and its employees or agents may, in the course of performing their responsibilities under 
this Contract, be exposed to or acquire information that is confidential to the City. Any and all information of any form 
obtained by Contractor or its employees or agents in the performance of this Contract shall be deemed confidential 
information of the City (“Confidential Information”). Contractor agrees to hold Confidential Information in strict confidence, 
using at least the same degree of care that Contractor uses in maintaining the confidentiality of its own confidential 
information, and not to copy, reproduce, sell, assign, license, market, transfer or otherwise dispose of, give, or disclose 
Confidential Information to third parties or use Confidential Information for any purpose unless specifically authorized in 
writing under this Contract. 

 
8. Counterparts. 
This Contract may be executed in several counterparts, all of which when taken together shall constitute an agreement 
binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories to the same counterpart. Each copy of the 
Contract so executed shall constitute an original. 

 
9. Integration. 
All provisions of state law required to be part of this Contract, whether listed in the General or Supplemental Conditions 
or otherwise, are hereby integrated and adopted herein. Contractor acknowledges the obligations thereunder and that 
failure to comply with such terms is a material breach of this Contract. 

 

The Contract Documents constitute the entire agreement between the parties. There are no other understandings, 
agreements or representations, oral or written, not specified herein regarding this Contract.  
Contractor, by the signature below of its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges that it has read this Contract, 
understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions. 

 
 
 

In witness whereof, City of Gladstone executes this Contract and the Contractor does execute the same as of the day 
and year first above written. 

 

 

 

14 - 6



[Type here] 

 

Page 4  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 

Contractor DATA:  

 
Contractor Name:  Braun Construction & Design, LLC.  

 
Contractor CCB #:  167432   Expiration Date: 12/5/2025 
 
Metro License #: 9051 Exp: 11/1/2024                   Entity Type: Limited Liability Company (LLC)   
 
Insurance Documents Received:   Expiration:    W-9 Received: 
 
 
 

Payment information will be reported to the IRS under the name and taxpayer ID# provided by the Contractor. Information 
must be provided prior to contract approval. Information not matching IRS records could subject Contractor to 28 percent 
backup withholding. 

 
Contractor Name (No DBA/ABN) 

 
 

                                                           
 

Signature Date 

 
XXXXXXX 
Name / Title Printed 

City of Gladstone 

 
 

Signature Date 
Jacque Betz, City Administrator  

14 - 7



[Type here] 

 

Page 5  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

CITY OF GLADSTONE 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT CONTRACTS 

 

INSTRUCTIONS: The attached City of Gladstone General Conditions for Public Improvement Contracts ("City General Conditions”) apply to all designated Public 
Improvement contracts. Changes to the City General Conditions (including any additions, deletions or substitutions) should only be made by attaching Public Improvement 
Supplemental General Conditions. The text of these City General Conditions should not otherwise be altered. 

 

TABLE OF SECTIONS 
 

SECTION A - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
A.1 DEFINITION OF TERMS 

A.2 SCOPE OF WORK 

A.3 INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

A.4 EXAMINATION OF PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, AND 

PROJECT 

A.5 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS 

A.6 RETIREMENT SYSTEM STATUS AND TAXES 

A.7 GOVERNMENT EMPLOYMENT STATUS 

 
SECTION B - ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT 

 
B.1 CITY’S ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT 

B.2 CONTRACTOR'S MEANS AND METHODS 

B.3 MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP 

B.4 PERMITS 

B.5 COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS 

B.6 SUPERINTENDENCE 

B.7 INSPECTION 

B.8 SEVERABILITY 

B.9 ACCESS TO RECORDS 

B.10 WAIVER 

B.11 SUBCONTRACTS AND ASSIGNMENT 

B.12 SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 

B.13 CITY'S RIGHT TO DO WORK 

B.14 OTHER CONTRACTS 

B.15 GOVERNING LAW 

B.16 LITIGATION 

B.17 ALLOWANCES 

B.18 SUBMITTALS, SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA, AND SAMPLES 

B.19 SUBSTITUTIONS 

B.20 USE OF PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 

B.21 FUNDS AVAILABLE AND AUTHORIZED 

B.22 NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES 

 
SECTION C - WAGES AND LABOR 

 
C.1 MINIMUM WAGES RATES ON PUBLIC WORKS 

C.2 PAYROLL CERTIFICATION AND FEE REQUIREMENTS, 

ADDITIONAL RETAINAGE 

C.3 PROMPT PAYMENT AND CONTRACT CONDITIONS 

C.4 PAYMENT FOR MEDICAL CARE 

C.5 HOURS OF LABOR 

 
SECTION D - CHANGES IN THE WORK 

 
D.1 CHANGES IN THE WORK 

D.2 DELAYS 

D.3 CLAIMS REVIEW PROCESS 

 
SECTION E - PAYMENTS 

 
E.1 SCHEDULE OF VALUES 

E.2 APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT 

 
 

E.3 PAYROLL CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENT 

E.4 DUAL PAYMENT SOURCES 

E.5 RETAINAGE 

E.6 FINAL PAYMENT 

 
SECTION F - PROJECT SITE CONDITIONS 

 
F.1 USE OF PREMISES 

F.2 PROTECTION OF WORKERS, PROPERTY, AND THE PUBLIC 

F.3 CUTTING AND PATCHING 

F.4 CLEANING UP 

F.5 ENVIRONMENTAL CONTAMINATION 

F.6 ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN-UP 

 
SECTION G - INDEMNITY, BONDING AND INSURANCE 

 
G.1 RESPONSIBILITY FOR DAMAGES/INDEMNITY 

G.2 PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT SECURITY, PUBLIC WORKS 

BOND 

G.3 INSURANCE 

 
SECTION H - SCHEDULE OF WORK 

 
H.1 CONTRACT PERIOD 

H.2 SCHEDULE 

H.3 PARTIAL OCCUPANCY OR USE 

 
SECTION I - CORRECTION OF WORK 

 
I.1 CORRECTIONS OF WORK BEFORE FINAL PAYMENT 

I.2 WARRANTY WORK 

 
SECTION J - SUSPENSION AND/OR TERMINATION OF THE WORK 

 
J.1 CITY'S RIGHT TO SUSPEND THE WORK 

J.2 CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

J.3 COMPENSATION FOR SUSPENSION 

J.4 CITY'S RIGHT TO TERMINATE CONTRACT 

J.5 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE, NON- 

APPROPRIATION OF FUNDS, OR FORCE MAJEURE 

J.6 ACTION UPON TERMINATION 

 
SECTION K - CONTRACT CLOSE-OUT 

 
K.1 RECORD DOCUMENTS 

K.2 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE MANUALS 

K.3 COMPLETION NOTICES 

K.4 TRAINING 

K.5 EXTRA MATERIALS 

K.6 ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN-UP 

K.7 CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 

K.8 OTHER CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES 

K.9 SURVIVAL 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

14 - 8



[Type here] 

 

Page 6  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

SECTION L – GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
L.1 NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES 
L.2 SEVERABIITY 
L.3 ACCESS TO RECORDS 
L.4 WAIVER 
L.5 SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 
L.6 GOVERNING LAW 
L.7 APPLICABLE LAW 
L.8 NON-EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 
L.9 INTERPRETATION 
L.10 LITIGATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14 - 9



[Type here] 

 

Page 1  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

CITY OF GLADSTONE GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT CONTRACTS 
(“City General Conditions”) 

 
 

SECTION A 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
A.1 DEFINITION OF TERMS 

 
In the Contract Documents the following terms shall be as defined below: 

 
APPLICABLE LAWS, means all federal, state and local laws, codes, rules, regulations and ordinances, as amended applicable to the Work, to the Contract, or to the parties 
individually. 

 
ARCHITECT/ENGINEER, means the Person appointed by the City to make drawings and specifications and, to provide contract administration of the Work contemplated by 

the Contract to the extent provided herein or by supplemental instruction of City (under which City may delegate responsibilities to the Architect/Engineer), in accordance with 

ORS Chapter 671 (Architects) or ORS Chapter 672 (Engineers) and administrative rules adopted thereunder. 

 
AVOIDABLE DELAYS, mean any delays other than Unavoidable Delays, and include delays that otherwise would be considered Unavoidable Delays but that: (a) Could have 

been avoided by the exercise of care, prudence, foresight, and diligence on the part of the Contractor or its Subcontractors; (b) Affect only a portion of the Work and do not 

necessarily prevent or delay the prosecution of other parts of the Work nor the completion of the whole Work within the Contract Time; (c) Do not impact activities on the 

accepted critical path schedule; and (d) Are associated with the reasonable interference of other contractors employed by the City that do not necessarily prevent the 

completion of the whole Work within the Contract Time. 

 
BIDDER, means a bidder in connection with Instructions to Bidders or a proposer in connection with a Request for Proposals, or Solicitation Document. May also be referenced 

as “Offeror,” “Quoter” or “Proposer” based on the type of Solicitation Document. 

 
CHANGE ORDER, means a written order which, when fully executed by the Parties to the Contract, constitutes a change to the Contract Documents. Change Orders shall be 
issued in accordance with the changes provisions in Section D and, if applicable, establish a Contract Price or Contract Time adjustment. A Change Order shall not be 

effective until executed by both parties. 

 
CITY, means City of Gladstone or any component unit thereof.  However, nothing in these City General Conditions is intended to abrogate the separate design professional 
responsibilities of Architects under ORS Chapter 671 or of Engineers under ORS Chapter 672. 
 
CLAIM, means a demand by Contractor pursuant to Section D.3 for review of the denial of Contractor’s initial request for an adjustment of Contract terms, payment of money, 

extension of Contract Time or other relief, submitted in accordance with the requirements and within the time limits established for review of Claims in these City General 

Conditions. 

 
CONTRACT, means the written agreement between the City and the Contractor comprised of the Contract Documents which describe the Work to be done and the 
obligations between the parties. 

 
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, means the Contract, City General Conditions, Supplemental General Conditions if any, Plans, Specifications, the accepted Offer, Solicitation 

Document and addenda thereto, Instructions to Offerors, and Supplemental Instructions to Offerors. 

 
CONTRACT PERIOD, as set forth in the Contract Documents, means the total period of time beginning with the full execution of a Contract and, if applicable, the issuance of 

a Notice to Proceed and concluding upon Final Completion. 

 

CONTRACT PRICE, means the total price reflected in the Contract. 

 
CONTRACT TIME, means any incremental period of time allowed under the Contract to complete any portion of the Work as reflected in the Project schedule. 

 
CONTRACTOR, means the Person awarded the Contract for the Work contemplated. 

 
DAYS, are calendar days, including weekdays, weekends and holidays, unless otherwise specified. 

 
DEFECTIVE WORK, means Work that is not completed in accordance with the Specifications or the requirements of the Contract. 

 
DIRECT COSTS, means, unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents: the cost of materials, including sales tax and the cost of delivery; cost of labor which shall 

only include the applicable prevailing wage and fringe benefit (if applicable, and if paid to or on behalf of the employee) rate plus a maximum of a twelve percent (12%) 

markup on the prevailing wage (but not the fringe benefit) to cover Contractor’s labor burden including but not limited to social security, Medicare, unemployment 

insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, sick leave pay; substantiated Project cost increases for specific insurance (including, without limitation, Builder’s Risk 
Insurance and Builder’s Risk Installation Floater) or bond premiums; rental cost of equipment, and machinery required for execution of the Work; and the additional costs 

of field personnel directly attributable to the Work; travel expense reimbursement only if specifically authorized and only to the extent allowable under the City Contractor 

Travel Reimbursement Policy, hereby incorporated by reference. 

 
FINAL COMPLETION, means the final completion of all requirements under the Contract, including Contract Closeout as described in Section K but excluding Warranty 

Work as described in Section I.2, and the final payment and release of all retainage, if any. 

 
FORCE MAJEURE, means an act, event or occurrence caused by fire, riot, war, acts of God, terrorism, nature, sovereign, or public enemy, strikes, freight embargoes or any 

14 - 10



[Type here] 

 

Page 2  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

other act, event or occurrence that is beyond the control of the party to the Contract who is asserting Force Majeure. 

 
NOTICE TO PROCEED, means the official written notice from the City stating that the Contractor is to proceed with the Work defined in the Contract Documents. 

 
OFFER, means a bid in connection with Instructions to Bidders or a proposal in connection with a Request for Proposals, or Solicitation Document to do the work stated in 

the Solicitation Document at the price quoted. May also be referenced as “Bid,” “Quote,” or “Proposal” based on the type of Solicitation Document. 

 
OVERHEAD, means those items which may be included in the Contractor's markup (general and administrative expense and profit) and that shall not be charged as 

Direct Cost of the Work, including without limitation such Overhead expenses as wages or salary of personnel above the level of foreman (i.e., superintendents and 

project managers), labor rates and fringe benefits above the applicable prevailing wage and fringe benefit (if applicable, and if paid to or on behalf of the employee), 

Contractor’s labor burden for fringe benefit if paid to the employee, expenses of Contractor's offices and supplies at the Project Site (e.g. job trailer) and at Contractor’s 
principal place of business and including expenses of personnel staffing the Project Site office and Contractor’s principal place of business, and Commercial General 

Liability Insurance and Automobile Liability Insurance. 

 

OWNER, means the City of Gladstone or any component unit thereof.  Owner may elect, by written notice to Contractor, to delegate certain duties to more than one agent, 
including without limitation, to an Architect/Engineer.  However, nothing in these City General Conditions is intended to abrogate the separate design professional 

responsibilities of Architects under ORS Chapter 671 or of Engineers under ORS Chapter 672.    

 
PERSON, means a natural person or entity doing business as a sole proprietorship, a partnership, a joint venture, a corporation, a limited liability company or partnership, a 
nonprofit, a trust, or any other entity possessing the legal capacity to contract. 

 
PLANS, means the drawings which show the location, type, dimensions, and details of the Work to be done under the Contract. 

 

PRODUCT DATA, means illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, instructions, brochures, diagrams and other information furnished by the Contractor to illustrate 

materials or equipment for some portion of the Work. 

 
PROJECT, means the total undertaking to be accomplished for City by architects/engineers, contractors, and other others, including planning, study, design, construction, 

testing, commissioning, start-up, of which the Work to be performed under the Contract Documents is a part. 

 
PROJECT SITE, means the specific real property on which the Work is to be performed, including designated contiguous staging areas, that is identified in the Plans, 
Specifications and Drawings. 

 

PUNCH LIST, means the list of Work yet to be completed or deficiencies which need to be corrected in order to achieve Final Completion of the Contract. 

 
RECORD DOCUMENT, means the as-built Plans, Specifications, testing and inspection records, product data, samples, manufacturer and distributor/supplier warranties 

evidencing transfer of ownership to City, operational and maintenance manuals, shop drawings, correspondence, certificate(s) of occupancy, and other documents listed in 

Subsection 
B.9.1 of these City General Conditions, recording all Services performed. 

 
SAMPLES, means physical examples which illustrate materials, equipment or workmanship and establish standards by which the Work will be judged. 

 
SHOP DRAWINGS, means drawings, diagrams, schedules and other data specially prepared for the Work by the Contractor or a Subcontractor (including any sub-

subcontractor), manufacturer, supplier, or distributor to illustrate some portion of the Work. 

 
SOLICITATION DOCUMENT, means an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Request for Quotes, or other written document issued by City that outlines the required 

Specifications necessary to submit an Offer. 

 
SPECIFICATION, means any description of the physical or functional characteristics of the Work, or of the nature of a supply, service or construction item included in the 
Solicitation Document. Specifications may include a description of any requirement for inspecting, testing or preparing a supply, service or construction item for delivery and 

the quantities or qualities of materials to be furnished under the Contract. Specifications generally will state the results or products to be obtained and may, on occasion, 

describe the method and manner of doing the Work to be performed. Specifications may be incorporated by reference and/or may be attached to the Contract. 

 
SUBCONTRACTOR, means a Person having a direct contract with the Contractor, or another Subcontractor of any tier, to perform one or more items of the Work. 

 
SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION, means the date when the City accepts in writing the construction, alteration or repair constituting the Work or any designated portion 

thereof as having reached that state of completion when it may be used or occupied for its intended purpose. Substantial Completion of facilities with operating systems 
occurs only after thirty (30) continuous Days of successful, trouble-free operation of the operating systems as provided in Section K.3.2. 

 
SUBSTITUTIONS, means items that in function, performance, reliability, quality, and general configuration are the same or better than the product(s) specified. 

Substitutions also means the performance of the Work by a labor force other than what is submitted in the Offer. 

 
SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL CONDITIONS, means those conditions that remove from, add to, or modify these City General Conditions. Public Improvement Supplemental 
General Conditions may be included in the Solicitation Document or may be a separate attachment to the Contract. 

 
UNAVOIDABLE DELAYS, mean delays other than Avoidable Delays that are: (a) to the extent caused by any actions of the City, or any other employee or agent of the 

City, or by a separate contractor employed by the City; (b) to the extent caused by any Project Site conditions which differ materially from the conditions that would 

normally be expected to exist and inherent to the construction activities defined in the Contract Documents; or (c) to the extent caused by Force Majeure acts, or events 

or occurrences. 

 
WORK, means the furnishing of all materials, equipment, labor, transportation, services, incidentals, those permits and regulatory approvals not provided by the City 

necessary to successfully complete any individual item or the entire Contract and the carrying out of duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents for the 

14 - 11



[Type here] 

 

Page 3  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

Project. 

 
A.2 SCOPE OF WORK 
 

The Work contemplated under the Contract includes all labor, materials, transportation, equipment and services for, and incidental to, the completion of all work in 

connection with the Project described in the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall perform all Work necessary so that the Project can be legally occupied and fully 
used for the intended use as set forth in the Contract Documents. 

 
A.3 INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

 
A.3.1 Unless otherwise specifically defined in the Contract Documents, words which have well-known technical meanings or construction industry meanings are used in 

the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meanings. Contract Documents are intended to be complementary. Whatever is called for in one, is 
interpreted to be called for in all. However, in the event of conflicts or discrepancies among the Contract Documents, interpretations will be based on the following 

descending order of precedence: 

 
(a) The Contract and any amendments thereto, including Change Orders, with those of later date having precedence over those of an earlier date; 

(b) The Supplemental General Conditions; 

(c) City General Conditions; 

(d) Plans and Specifications; 

(e) The Solicitation Document, and any addenda thereto. 

 

A.3.2 In the case of an inconsistency between Plans and Specifications or within either document not clarified by addendum, the better quality or greater quantity of Work 

shall be provided in accordance with the City's interpretation in writing as determined in City’s sole discretion. 

 
A.3.3 If the Contractor finds discrepancies in, or omissions from the Contract Documents, or if the Contractor is in doubt as to their meaning, the Contractor shall at once 

notify the City. Matters concerning and interpretation of requirements of the Contract Documents will be decided by the City in the City’s sole discretion, who may 
delegate that duty in some instances to the Architect/Engineer. Responses to Contractor's requests for interpretation of Contract Documents will be made in writing 

by City (or the Architect/Engineer) within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with reasonable promptness. Contractor shall not proceed without direction in 

writing from the City (or Architect/Engineer). 

 
A.3.4 References to standard specifications, manuals, codes of any technical society, organization or association, to the laws or regulations of any governmental authority, 

whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the latest standard specification, manual, code, laws or regulations in effect in the jurisdiction where 
the Project Site is located on the first published date of the Solicitation Document, except as may be otherwise specifically stated. 

 
A.4 EXAMINATION OF PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, AND PROJECT SITE 

 
A.4.1 It is understood that the Contractor, before submitting an Offer, has made a careful examination of the Contract Documents; has become fully informed as to the quality 

and quantity of materials and the character of the Work required; and has made a careful examination of the location and conditions of the Work and the sources of 

supply for materials. The City will in no case be responsible for any loss or for any unanticipated costs that may be suffered by the Contractor as a result of the 

Contractor's failure to acquire full information in advance in regard to all conditions pertaining to the Work. No oral agreement or conversation with any officer, agent, or 
personnel of the City, or with the Architect/Engineer either before or after the execution of the Contract, shall affect or modify any of the terms or obligations herein 

contained. Contractor shall at all times be responsible for all utility locates regardless of the ownership of such utility infrastructure or service. 

 
A.4.2 Should the Plans or Specifications fail to particularly describe the materials, kind of goods, or details of construction of any aspect of the Work, Contractor shall have the 

duty to make inquiry of the City and Architect/Engineer as to what is required prior to performance of the Work. Absent Specifications to the contrary, the materials or 

processes that would normally be used to produce first quality finished Work shall be considered a part of the Contract requirements. 

 
A.4.3 Any design errors or omissions noted by the Contractor shall be reported promptly to the City, including without limitation, any nonconformity with Applicable Laws. 

 

A.4.4 If the Contractor believes that adjustments to cost or Contract Time are involved because of clarifications or instructions issued by the City (or Architect/Engineer) 

in response to the Contractor’s notices or requests for information, the Contractor must submit a written request to the City, setting forth the nature and specific 
extent of the request, including all time and cost impacts against the Contract as soon as possible, but no later than thirty (30) Days after receipt by Contractor of 

the clarifications or instructions issued. If the City denies Contractor’s request for additional compensation, additional Contract Time, or other relief that Contractor 

believes results from the clarifications or instructions, the Contractor may proceed to file a Claim under Section D.3, Claims Review Process. If the Contractor fails 

to perform the obligations of Sections A.4.1 to A.4.3, the Contractor shall pay such costs and damages to the City as would have been avoided if the Contractor 
had performed such obligations. 

 
A.4.5 If the Contractor believes that adjustments to cost or Contract Time are involved because of an Unavoidable Delay caused by differing Project Site conditions, the 

Contractor shall notify the City immediately of differing Project Site conditions before the area has been disturbed. The City will investigate the area and make a 

determination as to whether or not the conditions differ materially from either the conditions stated in the Contract Documents or those which could reasonably be 
expected in execution of this particular Contract. If Contractor and the City agrees that a differing Project Site condition exists, any adjustment to compensation or 

Contract Time will be determined based on the process set forth in Section D.2.2 for adjustments to or deletions from Work. If the City disagrees that a differing 

Project Site condition exists and denies Contractor’s request for additional compensation or Contract Time, Contractor may proceed to file a Claim under Section 
D.3, Claims Review Process. 

 
A.5 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS 

 
The service or services to be performed under the Contract are those of an independent contractor as defined in ORS 670.600. Contractor represents and warrants that it 

is not an officer, employee or agent of the City as those terms are used in ORS 30.265. 

 

14 - 12



[Type here] 

 

Page 4  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

A.6 RETIREMENT SYSTEM STATUS AND TAXES 

 
Contractor represents and warrants that it is not a contributing member of the Public Employees' Retirement System and will be responsible for any federal or state taxes 

applicable to payment received under the Contract. Contractor will not be eligible for any benefits from these Contract payments of federal Social Security, employment 
insurance, workers' compensation or the Public Employees' Retirement System, except as a self-employed individual. Unless the Contractor is subject to backup 

withholding, City will not withhold from such payments any amount(s) to cover Contractor’s federal or state tax obligations. 

 
A.7 GOVERNMENT EMPLOYMENT STATUS 

 
A.7.1 If this payment is to be charged against federal funds, Contractor represents and warrants that it is not currently employed by the Federal Government. This does 

not preclude the Contractor from holding another contract with the Federal Government. 

 

 
SECTION B 

ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT 

 
B.1 CITY’S ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT 

 
B.1.1 The City shall administer the Contract as described in the Contract Documents throughout the term of the Contract, including the one- year period for correction of 

Work. The City will act as provided in the Contract Documents, unless modified in writing in accordance with other provisions of the Contract. In performing these 

tasks, the City may rely on the Architect/Engineer or other agents to perform some or all of these tasks. 

 
B.1.2 The City may visit the Project Site at intervals appropriate to the stage of the Contractor’s operations (1) to become generally familiar with and to keep the City 

informed about the progress and quality of the portion of the Work completed, (2) to endeavor to guard the City against defects and deficiencies in the Work, and (3) to 

determine in general if Work is being performed in a manner indicating that the Work, when fully completed, will be in accordance with the Contract Documents. The 

City will not make exhaustive or continuous on-Project Site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work. Unless otherwise required in a Change Order, the 
City will neither have control over or charge of, nor be responsible for the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for the safety 

precautions and programs in connection with the Work. 

 
B.1.3 Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents or when direct communications have been specifically authorized, the City and Contractor shall communicate 

with each other within a reasonable time frame about matters arising out of or relating to the Contract. Communications by and with the Architect/Engineer’s consultants 

shall be through the Architect/Engineer. Communications by and with Subcontractors and material suppliers shall be through the Contractor. Communications by and 

with separate contractors shall be through the City. 

 
B.1.4 Based upon the Architect/Engineer’s evaluations of the Contractor’s Application for Payment, or unless otherwise stipulated by the City, the Architect/Engineer will 

review and certify the amounts due the Contractor and will issue Certificates for Payment in such amounts. 

 
B.2 CONTRACTOR'S MEANS AND METHODS; MITIGATION OF IMPACTS 

 
B.2.1 The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using the Contractor’s best skill and attention. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for and have control over 

construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures and for coordinating all portions of the Work under the Contract, unless the Contract 

Documents give other specific instructions concerning these matters. If the Contract Documents give specific instructions concerning construction means, methods, 
techniques, sequences or procedures, the Contractor shall evaluate the Project Site safety thereof and, except as stated below, shall be fully and solely responsible for 

the Project Site safety of such means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. 

 
B.2.2 The Contractor is responsible to protect and maintain the Work during the course of construction and to mitigate any adverse impacts to the Project, including those 

caused by authorized changes, which may affect cost, schedule, or quality. 

 
B.2.3 The Contractor is responsible for the actions of all its personnel, laborers, suppliers, agents, and Subcontractors on the Project. The Contractor shall enforce strict 

discipline and good order among Contractor’s employees and other persons carrying out the Work. The Contractor shall not permit employment of persons who are 
unfit or unskilled for the tasks assigned to them. 

 
B.3 MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP 

 
B.3.1 The intent of the Contract Documents is to provide for the construction and completion of every detail of the Work described. All Work shall be performed in a 

professional manner and, unless the means or methods of performing a task are specified elsewhere in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall employ methods that 

are generally accepted and used by the industry, in accordance with industry standards. 

 
B.3.2 The Contractor is responsible to perform the Work as required by the Contract Documents. Defective Work shall be corrected at the Contractor's sole expense and within 

a reasonable time frame. 

 
B.3.3 Work done and materials furnished may be subject to inspection and/or observation and testing by the City to determine if they conform to the Contract Documents. 

Inspection of the Work by the City does not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
B.3.4 Contractor shall furnish adequate facilities, as required, for the City to have safe access to the Work including without limitation walkways, railings, ladders, tunnels, 

and platforms. 

Producers, suppliers, and fabricators shall also provide proper facilities and access to their facilities. 

 
B.3.5 The Contractor shall furnish Samples of materials for testing by the City and include the cost of the Samples in the Contract Price. 

 

14 - 13



[Type here] 

 

Page 5  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

B.4 PERMITS 

 
Contractor shall obtain and pay for all necessary permits, licenses and fees, except for those specifically excluded in the Supplemental General Conditions, as required 

for the project. Contractor shall be responsible for all violations of the law. Contractor shall give all requisite notices to public authorities. 

 
B.5 COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS 

 
B.5.1 Contractor shall comply with Applicable Laws, as amended pertaining to the Work and the Contract. Failure to comply with such requirements shall constitute a 

breach of Contract and shall be grounds for Contract termination. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Contractor expressly agrees to comply with the 
following, as applicable and as may be amended from time to time: 

(i) Title VI and VII of Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; (ii) Section 503 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; (iii) the Health Insurance 

Portability and Accountability Act of 1996; (iv) the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended; (v) ORS Chapter 659A; as amended; (vi) all regulations 

and administrative rules established pursuant to any applicable laws; and (vii) all other applicable requirements of federal, state, county or other local government 
entity statutes, rules and regulations. 

 
B.5.2 Contractor shall comply with all applicable requirements of federal and state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations, and 

 
(a) Contractor shall not discriminate against Disadvantaged, Minority, Women or Emerging Small Business enterprises, as those terms are defined in ORS 

200.005, or a business enterprise that is owned or controlled by or that employs a disabled veteran, as that term is defined in ORS 408.225, in the awarding 

of subcontracts. 

 
(b) Contractor shall maintain, in current and valid form, all licenses and certificates required by Applicable Laws or the Contract when performing the Work. 

 
B.5.3 Contractor shall certify that it shall not accept a bid from Subcontractors to perform Work unless such Subcontractors are registered with the Construction 

Contractors Board in accordance with ORS 701.021 at the time they submit their bids to the Contractor. 

 
B.5.4 Contractor shall certify that each landscape contracting business, as defined in ORS 671.520(2), performing Work under the Contract holds a valid landscape 

construction professional license issued pursuant to ORS 671.560. 

 
B.5.5 The following notice is applicable to Contractors who perform excavation Work. ATTENTION: Oregon law requires you to follow rules adopted by the Oregon Utility 

Notification Center. Those rules are set forth in OAR 952-001-0010 through OAR 952- 001-0090. You may obtain copies of the rules by calling the center at (877) 

668-4001. 

 
B.5.6 Failure to comply with any or all of the requirements of B.5.1 through B.5.5 shall be a material breach of Contract and constitute grounds for Contract termination. 

Damages or costs resulting from such noncompliance shall be the responsibility of Contractor. 

 
B.6 SUPERINTENDENCE 

 
Contractor shall keep on the Project Site, during the progress of the Work, a competent superintendent and any necessary assistants who shall be satisfactory to the City and 

who shall represent the Contractor on the Project Site. Directions given to the superintendent by the City shall be confirmed in writing to the Contractor. 

 
B.7 INSPECTION 

 
B.7.1 City shall have access to the Work at all times. 

 
B.7.2 Inspection of the Work will be made by the City at its discretion. The City will have authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Contract Documents in the City’s 

sole discretion. Any Work found to be not in conformance with the Contract Documents, in the discretion of the City, shall be removed and replaced at the Contractor's 
expense. 

 
B.7.3 Contractor shall make or obtain at the appropriate time all tests, inspections and approvals of portions of the Work required by the Contract Documents or by Applicable 

Laws or orders of public authorities having jurisdiction. Unless otherwise provided, the Contractor shall make arrangements for such tests, inspections and approvals 

with an independent testing laboratory or entity acceptable to the City, or with the appropriate public authority, and shall bear all related costs of tests, inspections and 
approvals. Tests or inspections conducted pursuant to the Contract Documents shall be made promptly to avoid unreasonable delay in the Work. The Contractor shall 

give the City timely notice of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the City may be present for such procedures. Required certificates of testing, 

inspection or approval shall, unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents, be secured by the Contractor and promptly delivered to the City. 

 
B.7.4 As required by the Contract Documents, Work done or material used without required inspection or testing and/or without providing timely notice to the City may be 

ordered removed at the Contractor's expense. 

 
B.7.5 If directed to do so by City or other permitting authority any time before the Work is accepted, the Contractor shall uncover portions of the completed Work for 

inspection. After inspection, the Contractor shall restore such portions of Work to the standard required by the Contract. If the Work uncovered is unacceptable or was 

done without required testing or inspection or sufficient notice to the City, the uncovering and restoration shall be done at the Contractor's expense. If the Work 

uncovered is acceptable and was done with sufficient notice to the City, the uncovering and restoration will be paid for pursuant to a Change Order. 

 
B.7.6 If any testing or inspection reveals failure of the portions of the Work to comply with requirements established by the Contract Documents, all costs made necessary 

by such failure, including those of repeated procedures and compensation for the City’s and Architect/Engineer’s services and expenses, shall be at the Contractor’s 

expense. 

 
B.7.7 In City’s sole discretion, it may authorize other interested parties to inspect the Work affecting their interests or property. Their right to inspect shall not make them a 

party to the Contract and shall not interfere with the rights of the parties of the Contract. Instructions or orders of such parties shall be transmitted to the Contractor, 

through the City. 

14 - 14



[Type here] 

 

Page 6  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 
B.11 SUBCONTRACTS AND ASSIGNMENT 

 

B.11.1 Contractor shall require each Subcontractor, to the extent of the Work to be performed by the Subcontractor, to be bound by the terms and conditions of these 

General Conditions and Supplemental General Conditions, and to assume toward the Contractor all of the obligations and responsibilities which the Contractor 

assumes toward the City thereunder, unless (1) the same are clearly inapplicable to the subcontract at issue because of legal requirements or industry practices, 

or (2) specific exceptions are requested by Contractor and approved in writing by City. Where appropriate, Contractor shall require each Subcontractor to enter 

into similar agreements with sub- subcontractors at any level. 

 
B.11.2 At City’s request, Contractor shall submit to City prior to their execution either Contractor’s form of subcontract, or the subcontract to be executed with any 

particular Subcontractor. If City disapproves such form, Contractor shall not execute the form until the matters disapproved are resolved to City’s satisfaction. 

City’s review, comment upon or approval of any such form shall not relieve Contractor of its obligations under this Agreement or be deemed a waiver of such 

obligations of Contractor. 

 
B.11.3 Contractor shall not assign, sell, or transfer its rights, or delegate its responsibilities under the Contract, in whole or in part, without the prior written approval of the 

City. No such written approval shall relieve Contractor of any obligations of the Contract, and any transferee shall be considered the agent of the Contractor and 

bound to perform in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall remain liable as between the original parties to the Contract as if no assignment 
had occurred. 

 
B.13 CITY'S RIGHT TO DO WORK 

 
City reserves the right to perform other or additional work at or near the Project Site with other agents than those of the Contractor. If such work takes place within or next 

to the Project Site, Contractor shall coordinate work with the other contractors or agents, cooperate with all other contractors or forces, carry out the Work in a way that 

will minimize interference and delay for all agents involved, place and dispose of materials being used so as not to interfere with the operations of another, and join the 
Work with the work of the others in an acceptable manner and perform it in proper sequence to that of the others. The City will resolve any disagreements that may arise 

between or among Contractor and the other contractors over the method or order of doing all work (including the Work). In case of unavoidable interference, the City will 

establish work priority (including the Work) in the City’s sole discretion. 

 
B.14 OTHER CONTRACTS 

 
In all cases and at any time, the City has the right to execute other contracts related to or unrelated to the Work of the Contract. The Contractor of the Contract shall fully 

cooperate with any and all other contractors without additional cost to the City in the manner described in Section B.13. 

 
B.17 ALLOWANCES 

 
B.17.1 The Contractor shall include in the Contract Price all allowances stated in the Contract Documents. Items covered by allowances shall be supplied for such 

amounts and by such persons or entities as the City may direct. 

 
B.17.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents: 

 
(a) when finally reconciled, allowances shall cover the cost of the Contractor’s materials and equipment delivered at the Project Site and all required taxes, 

less applicable trade discounts; 

 
(b) Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling at the Project Site, labor, installation costs, Overhead, profit and other expenses contemplated 

for stated allowance amounts shall be included in the Contract Price but not in the allowances; 

 
(c) Whenever costs are more than or less than allowances, the Contract Price shall be adjusted accordingly by Change Order. The amount of the Change Order 

shall reflect (i) the difference between actual costs and the allowances under Section B.17.2(a) and (ii) changes in Contractor’s costs under Section B.17.2(b); 

 
(d) Unless City requests otherwise, Contractor shall provide to City a proposed fixed price for any allowance work prior to its performance. 

  

14 - 15



[Type here] 

 

Page 7  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 
B.18 SUBMITTALS, SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA AND SAMPLES 

 
B.18.1 The Contractor shall prepare and keep current, for the Architect’s/Engineer’s approval (or for the approval of City if approval authority has not been delegated to 

the Architect/Engineer), a schedule and list of submittals which is coordinated with the Contractor's construction schedule and allows the Architect/Engineer 

reasonable time to review submittals. City reserves the right to finally approve the schedule and list of submittals. Submittals include, without limitation, Shop 
Drawings, Product Data, and Samples. 

 
B.18.2 Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals are not Contract Documents. The purpose of their submittal is to demonstrate for those portions of the 

Work for which submittals are required by the Contract Documents the way by which the Contractor proposes to conform to the information given and the design 

concept expressed in the Contract Documents. Review of submittals by the Architect/Engineer is not conducted for the purpose of determining the accuracy and 

completeness of other details such as dimensions and quantities, or for substantiating instructions for installation or performance of equipment or systems, or for 
approval of safety precautions or, unless otherwise specifically stated by the Architect/Engineer, of any construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or 

procedures, all of which remain the responsibility of the Contractor as required by the Contract Documents. The Architect/Engineer’s review of the Contractor’s 

submittals shall not relieve the Contractor of its obligations under the Contract Documents. The Architect/Engineer’s approval of a specific item shall not indicate 
approval of an assembly of which the item is a component. Informational submittals upon which the Architect/Engineer is not expected to take responsive action may 

be so identified in the Contract Documents. Submittals which are not required by the Contract Documents may be returned by the Architect/Engineer without action. 

 
B.18.3 The Contractor shall review for compliance with the Contract Documents, approve and submit to the Architect/Engineer Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and 

similar submittals required by the Contract Documents with reasonable promptness and in such sequence as to cause no delay in the Work or in the activities of the 

City or of separate contractors. Submittals which are not marked as reviewed for compliance with the Contract Documents and approved by the Contractor may be 

returned by the Architect/Engineer without action. 

 

B.18.4 By approving and submitting Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals, the Contractor represents that the Contractor has determined and 

verified materials, field measurements and field construction criteria related thereto, or will do so, and has checked and coordinated the information contained 

within such submittals with the requirements of the Work and of the Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall perform no portion of the Work for which the 
Contract Documents require submittal and review of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals until the respective submittal has been 

approved by the Architect/Engineer. 

 
B.18.5 The Work shall be in accordance with approved submittals except that the Contractor shall not be relieved of responsibility for deviations from requirements of 

the Contract Documents by the Architect/Engineer’s review or approval of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals unless the Contractor 
has specifically informed the Architect/Engineer in writing of such deviation at the time of submittal and (i) the Architect/Engineer has given written approval to 

the specific deviation as a minor change in the Work, or (ii) a Change Order has been executed by City authorizing the deviation. The Contractor shall not be 

relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions in Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals by the Architect/Engineer’s review or approval 

thereof. 

 
B.18.6 In the event that City elects not to have the obligations and duties described under this Section B.18 performed by the Architect/Engineer, or in the event no 

Architect/Engineer is employed by City on the Project, all obligations and duties assigned to the Architect/Engineer hereunder shall be performed by the City. 
 

 
B.19 SUBSTITUTIONS 

 
The Contractor may make Substitutions only with the written consent of the City, after evaluation by the City and only in accordance with a Change Order. Substitutions 

shall be subject to the requirements of the Solicitation Document. By making requests for Substitutions, the Contractor represents that the Contractor has personally 

investigated the proposed substitute product; represents that the Contractor will provide the same warranty for the Substitution that the Contractor would for the product 

originally specified unless approved otherwise; certifies that the cost data presented is complete and includes all related costs under the Contract including redesign 
costs, and waives all claims for additional costs related to the Substitution which subsequently become apparent; and will coordinate the installation of the accepted 

Substitution, making such changes as may be required for the Work to be completed in all respects. 

 
B.20 USE OF PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 

 
Plans, Specifications and related Contract Documents furnished to Contractor by City or City’s Architect/Engineer shall be used solely for the performance of the Work 
under the Contract. Contractor and its Subcontractors and suppliers are authorized to use and reproduce applicable portions of such documents appropriate to the 

execution of the Work, but shall not claim any ownership or other interest in them beyond the scope of the Contract, and no such interest shall attach. Unless otherwise 

indicated, all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, in addition to copyrights, are retained by City. 

 
SECTION C 

WAGES AND LABOR 

 
C.1 PREVAILING WAGE RATES ON PUBLIC WORKS 

 
Contractor shall comply fully with the provisions of ORS 279C.800 through 279C.870. Pursuant to ORS 279C.830(1)(d), Contractor shall pay workers at not less than the 

specified minimum hourly rate of wage, and shall include that requirement in all subcontracts. If the Work is subject to both the state prevailing wage rate law and the 
federal Davis- Bacon Act, Contractor shall pay the higher of the applicable state or federal prevailing rate of wage. Contractor shall provide written notice to all workers of 

the number of hours per day and days per week such workers may be required to work. 
  

14 - 16



[Type here] 

 

Page 8  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 

C.2 PAYROLL CERTIFICATION AND FEE REQUIREMENTS 

 
C.2.1 In accordance with ORS 279C.845, the Contractor and every Subcontractor shall submit written certified statements to the City on the form prescribed by the 

Commissioner of the Bureau of Labor and Industries (“BOLI”), certifying the hourly rate of wage paid each worker which the Contractor or the Subcontractor has 

employed on the Project and further certifying that no worker employed on the Project has been paid less than the prevailing rate of wage or less than the 

minimum hourly rate of wage specified in the Contract, which certificate and statement shall be verified by the oath of the Contractor or the Subcontractor that the 

Contractor or Subcontractor has read the certified statement, that the Contractor or Subcontractor knows the contents of the certified statement, and, that to the 

Contractor’s or Subcontractor's best knowledge and belief, the certified statement is true. The certified statements shall set out accurately and completely the 

payroll records for the prior week, including the name and address of each worker, the worker's correct classification, rate of pay, daily and weekly number of 

hours worked, deductions made, and actual wages paid. Certified statements for each week during which the Contractor or Subcontractor has employed a worker 

on the Project shall be submitted once a month, by the fifth (5th) business day of the following month. The Contractor and Subcontractors shall preserve the 

certified statements for a period of ten (10) years from the date of completion of the Contract. 

 
C.2.2 Pursuant to ORS 279C.845(7), the City shall retain 25 percent of any amount earned by the Contractor on the Project until the Contractor has filed the certified 

statements required by section C.2.1. The City shall pay to the Contractor the amount retained under this subsection within 14 days after the Contractor files the 

required certified statements, regardless of whether a Subcontractor has failed to file certified statements. 

 
C.2.3 Pursuant to ORS 279C.845(8), the Contractor shall retain 25 percent of any amount earned by a first-tier Subcontractor on this Project until the first-tier Subcontractor 

has filed with the City the certified statements required by C.2.1. Before paying any amount retained under this subsection, the Contractor shall verify that the first-tier 
Subcontractor has filed the certified statement. Within 14 days after the first-tier Subcontractor files the required certified statement the Contractor shall pay the first-

tier Subcontractor any amount retained under this subsection. 

 
C.2.4 In accordance with statutory requirements and administrative rules promulgated by the Commissioner of the Bureau of Labor and Industries, the fee required by ORS 

279C.825(1) will be paid by City to the Commissioner. 

 
C.3 PROMPT PAYMENT AND CONTRACT CONDITIONS 

 
C.3.1 As a condition to City's performance hereunder, the Contractor shall: 

 
C.3.1.1 Make payment promptly, as due, to all persons supplying to Contractor labor or materials for the prosecution of the Work provided for in the Contract. 

 
C.3.1.2 Pay all contributions or amounts due the State Industrial Accident Fund or successor program from such Contractor or Subcontractor incurred in the performance of the 

Contract. 

 
C.3.1.3 Not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted against the City on account of any labor or material furnished. Contractor will not assign any claims that Contractor 

has against City, or assign any sums due by City, to Subcontractors, suppliers, or manufacturers, and will not make any agreement or act in any way to give 

Subcontractors a claim or standing to make a claim against the City. 
 

C.3.1.4 Pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees pursuant to ORS 316.167. 

 
C.3.2 As a condition to City’s performance hereunder, if Contractor fails, neglects or refuses to make prompt payment of any claim for labor or services furnished to the 

Contractor or a Subcontractor by any person in connection with the Project as such claim becomes due, the proper officer(s) representing the City may pay the 

claim and charge the amount of the payment against funds due or to become due the Contractor under the Contract. Payment of claims in this manner shall not 
relieve the Contractor or the Contractor’s surety from obligation with respect to any unpaid claims. 

 
C.3.3 Contractor shall include in each subcontract for property or services entered into by the Contractor and a first-tier subcontractor, including a material supplier, for 

the purpose of performing a construction contract, a payment clause that obligates the Contractor to pay the first-tier Subcontractor for satisfactory performance 

under its subcontract within ten (10) Days out of such amounts as are paid to the Contractor by the City under such contract. 

 
C.3.4 All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject workers who work under the Contract in the State of Oregon shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide 

the required Workers’ Compensation coverage, unless such employers are exempt under ORS 656.126. Contractor shall ensure that each of its Subcontractors 
complies with these requirements. 

 
C.4 PAYMENT FOR MEDICAL CARE 

 
As a condition to City's performance hereunder, Contractor shall promptly, as due, make payment to any person, co-partnership, association or corporation furnishing 
medical, surgical, and hospital care or other needed care and attention, incident to sickness or injury, to the employees of the Contractor, of all sums of which the 

Contractor agrees to pay for the services and all moneys and sums that the Contractor collected or deducted from the wages of employees under any law, contract or 

agreement for the purpose of providing or paying for the services. 

 
C.5 HOURS OF LABOR 

 
As a condition to City's performance hereunder, no person shall be employed to perform Work under the Contract for more than ten (10) hours in any one day or forty (40) 

hours in any one week, except in cases of necessity, emergency or where public policy absolutely requires it. In such instances, Contractor shall pay the employee at 

least time and a half pay: 

 
(a) For all overtime in excess of eight (8) hours a day or forty (40) hours in any one week when the work week is five consecutive Days, Monday through 

Friday; or 

14 - 17



[Type here] 

 

Page 9  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 
(b) For all overtime in excess of ten (10) hours a day or forty (40) hours in any one week when the work week is four consecutive Days, Monday through Friday; and 

 
(c) For all Work performed on Saturday and on any legal holiday specified in ORS 279C.540. 

 
This Section C.5 will not apply to Contractor's Work under the Contract to the extent Contractor is currently a party to a collective bargaining agreement with any labor 
organization. 

This Section C.5 shall not excuse Contractor from completion of the Work within the time required under the Contract. 

 
 

SECTION D 
CHANGES IN THE WORK 

 
D.1 CHANGES IN WORK 

 
D.1.1 The terms of the Contract shall not be waived, altered, modified, supplemented or amended in any manner whatsoever, without prior written agreement and then only 

after any necessary approvals have been obtained. A Change Order is required to modify the Contract, which shall not be effective until its execution by the parties to 

the Contract and all approvals required by public contracting laws have been obtained. 

 
D.1.2 It is mutually agreed that changes in Plans, quantities, or details of construction may be necessary or desirable during the course of construction. Within the general 

scope of the Contract, the City may at any time, without notice to the sureties and without impairing the Contract, require changes it deems necessary or desirable 
within the scope of this Project and consistent with this Section D.1. All changes to the Work shall be documented and Change Orders shall be executed under the 

conditions of the Contract Documents. Such changes may include, but are not limited to: 

 
(a) Modification of specifications and design. 

(b) Increases or decreases in quantities. 

(c) Increases or decreases to the amount of Work. 

(d) Addition or elimination of any Work item. 

(e) Change in the duration of the Project. 

(f) Acceleration or delay in performance of Work. 

(g) Deductive changes. 

 
Deductive changes are those that reduce the scope of the Work, and shall be made by mutual agreement whenever feasible. In cases of suspension or partial 

termination under Section J, City reserves the right to unilaterally impose a deductive change and to self- perform such Work, for which the provisions of Section B.13 
(City’s Right to Do Work) shall then apply. Adjustments in compensation shall be made under Section D.1.3, in which costs for deductive changes shall be based upon a 

Direct Costs adjustment together with the related percentage markup specified for profit, Overhead and other indirect costs, unless otherwise agreed to by City. 

 
D.1.3 The City and Contractor agree that adjustments to or deletions from the Work shall be administered and compensated according to the following: 

 
(a) Unit Pricing: Unit pricing may be utilized at the City’s option when unit prices or solicitation alternates were provided that established the cost for adjustments to 

Work, and a binding obligation exists under the Contract on the parties covering the terms and conditions of the adjustment to Work. 

 

(b) Fixed Fee: If the City elects not to utilize unit pricing, or in the event that unit pricing is not available or appropriate, fixed pricing may be used for adjustments to or 

deletions from the Work. In fixed pricing, the basis of payments or total price shall be agreed upon in writing between the parties to the Contract, and shall be 

established before the Work is done whenever feasible. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the mark-ups set forth in Section D.1.3(c) shall be utilized in establishing 

fixed pricing, and such mark-ups shall not be exceeded. Cost and price data relating to adjustments to or deletions from the Work shall be supplied by Contractor to 

City upon request, but City shall be under no obligation to make such requests.   

 

(c) Time and Material: In the event that unit pricing and fixed pricing are not utilized, then adjustments to or deletions from the Work shall be performed on a cost 

reimbursement basis for Direct Costs. Such Work shall be compensated on the basis of the actual, reasonable and allowable cost of labor, equipment, and material 

furnished on the Work performed. The Contractor or Subcontractor who performs the Work shall be allowed to add up to ten percent (10%) markup to the Direct 

Costs as full compensation for profit, Overhead and other indirect costs for Work performed with the Contractor’s or Subcontractor’s own agents 

 
Each ascending tier Subcontractor or the Contractor that did not perform the Work, will be allowed to add up to five percent (5%) supplemental markup on the 

Direct Costs of the Work (but not the above allowable markups) covered by a Change Order. No additional markup shall be permitted for any third tier or greater 
descending Subcontractor. 

 
Example: $20,000 of Direct Costs Work performed by a 2nd Tier Subcontractor 

 Markup Allowed Total Fee Plus Markup 

General Contractor 5% $1,000.00 

1st Tier Sub Contractor 5% $1,000.00 

2nd Tier Sub Contractor 10% $22,000.00 

 
(d) Payments made to the Contractor shall be complete compensation for Overhead, profit, and all costs that were incurred by the Contractor or by other agents 

furnished by the Contractor, including Subcontractors, for adjustments to or deletions from the Work pursuant to a Change Order. City may establish a maximum 
cost for additional Work under this Section D.1.3, which shall not be exceeded for reimbursement without additional written authorization from City in the form of a 

Change Order. Contractor shall not be required to complete such additional Work without additional authorization. 

 
D.1.4 Any necessary adjustment of Contract Time that may be required as a result of adjustments to or deletions from the Work must be agreed upon by the parties 

14 - 18



[Type here] 

 

Page 10  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

before the start of the revised Work unless City authorizes Contractor to start the revised Work before agreement on Contract Time adjustment. 

 
Contractor shall submit any request for additional compensation (and additional Contract Time if Contractor was authorized to start Work before an adjustment of 

Contract Time was approved) as soon as possible but no later than thirty (30) Days after receipt of City’s request for additional Work.  If Contractor’s request for 

additional compensation or adjustment of Contract Time is not made within the thirty (30) Day time limit, Contractor’s requests pertaining to that additional Work 
shall be barred. The thirty (30) Day time limit for making requests shall not be extended for any reason, including without limitation Contractor’s claimed inability to 

determine the amount of additional compensation or adjustment of Contract Time, unless an extension is granted in writing by City. If the City denies Contractor’s 

request for additional compensation or adjustment of Contract Time, Contractor may proceed to file a Claim under Section D.3, Claims Review Process. No other 
reimbursement, compensation, or payment will be made, except as provided in Section D.1.5 for impact claims. 

 
D.1.5 If any adjustment to Work under Section D.1.3 causes an increase or decrease in the Contractor's cost of, or the Contract Time required for the performance of 

any other part of the Work under the Contract, Contractor shall submit a written request to the City, setting forth the nature and specific extent of the request, 

including all time and cost impacts against the Contract as soon as possible, but no later than thirty (30) Days after receipt of City’s request for adjustments to or 

deletions from the Work by Contractor. 

The thirty (30) Day time limit applies to claims of Subcontractors, suppliers, or manufacturers who may be affected by City’s request for adjustments to or deletions from 
the Work and who request additional compensation or an extension of Contract Time to perform; Contractor has responsibility for contacting its Subcontractors, 

suppliers, or manufacturers within the thirty (30) Day time limit, and including their requests with Contractor’s requests. If the request involves Work to be completed by 

Subcontractors, or materials to be furnished by suppliers or manufacturers, such requests shall be submitted to the Contractor in writing with full analysis and 
justification for the adjustments to compensation and Contract Time requested. The Contractor shall analyze and evaluate the merits of the requests submitted by 

Subcontractors, suppliers, and manufacturers to Contractor prior to including those requests and Contractor’s analysis and evaluation of those requests with 

Contractor’s requests for adjustments to compensation or Contract Time that Contractor submits to the City. Failure of Subcontractors, suppliers, manufacturers or 

others to submit their requests to Contractor for inclusion with Contractor’s requests submitted to City within the time period and by the means described in this section 
shall constitute a waiver of these Subcontractor claims. The City will not consider direct requests or claims from Subcontractors, suppliers, manufacturers or others not 

a party to the Contract. The consideration of such requests and claims under this section does not give any Person, not a party to the Contract the right to bring a claim 

against City, whether in this claims process, in litigation, or in any dispute resolution process. 

 
If the City denies the Contractor’s request for adjustment to compensation or Contract Time, the Contractor may proceed to file a Claim under Section D.3, Claims 
Review Process. 

 
D.1.6 No request or Claim by the Contractor for additional costs or an adjustment of Contract Time shall be allowed if made after receipt of final payment application under 

the Contract. Final payment application must be made by Contractor within the time required under Section E.6.4. 

 
D.1.7 It is understood that changes in the Work are inherent in construction of this type. The number of changes, the scope of those changes, and the effect they have on the 

progress of the original Work cannot be defined at this time. The Contractor agrees that it will work in good faith with City to undertake changes, when agreed upon by 

execution of a Change Order. Each change will be evaluated for extension of Contract Time and increase or decrease in compensation based on its own merit. 

 
D.2 DELAYS 

 
D.2.1 Contractor shall not be entitled to additional compensation or additional Contract Time for Avoidable Delays. 

 
D.2.2 In the event of Unavoidable Delays, Contractor may be entitled to the following: 

 
(a) Contractor may be entitled to additional compensation or additional Contract Time, or both, for Unavoidable Delays described in Section D.2.1.2 (a) and (b). 

 
(b) Contractor may be entitled to additional Contract Time for Unavoidable Delays described in Section D.2.1.2(c) and (d). 

 
In the event of any requests for additional compensation or additional Contract Time, or both, as applicable, arising under this Section D.2.2 for Unavoidable Delays, 

other than requests for additional compensation or additional Contract Time for differing Project Site conditions for which a review process is established under Section 

A.4.5, Contractor shall submit a written notification of the delay to the City within two (2) Days of the occurrence of the cause of the delay. This written notification shall 

state the cause of the potential delay, the Project components impacted by the delay, and the anticipated additional Contract Time extension or the additional 
compensation, or both, as applicable, resulting from the delay. Within seven (7) Days after the cause of the delay has been mitigated, or in no case more than thirty 

(30) Days after the initial written notification, the Contractor shall submit to the City, a complete and detailed request for additional compensation or additional Contract 

Time, or both, as applicable, resulting from the delay. If the City denies Contractor’s request for additional compensation or adjustment of Contract Time, the Contractor 

may proceed to file a Claim under Section D.3, Claims Review Process. 

 
If Contractor does not timely submit the notices required under this Section D.2, Contractor’s Claim shall be barred. 

  

14 - 19



[Type here] 

 

Page 11  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 
D.3 CLAIMS REVIEW PROCESS 

 
D.3.1 All Contractor Claims shall be referred to the City for review. Contractor’s Claims, including Claims for adjustments to compensation or Contract Time, shall be 

submitted in writing by Contractor to the City within five (5) Days after a denial of Contractor’s initial request for an adjustment of Contract terms, payment of 
money, extension of Contract Time or other relief, provided that such initial request has been submitted in accordance with the requirements and within the time 

limits established in these City General Conditions. Within thirty (30) Days after the initial Claim, City shall receive from Contractor a complete and detailed 

description of the Claim (the “Detailed Notice”) that includes all information required by Section D.3.2. Unless the Claim is made in accordance with these time 

requirements, it shall be barred. 

 
D.3.2 The Detailed Notice of the Claim shall be submitted in writing by Contractor and shall include all information, records and documentation necessary for the City to 

properly and completely evaluate the claim, including, but not limited to a detailed, factual statement of the basis of the Claim, pertinent dates, Contract provisions 

which support or allow the Claim, reference to or copies of any documents which support the Claim, the dollar value of the Claim, and the Contract Time 

adjustment requested for the Claim. If the Claim involves Work to be completed by Subcontractors, the Contractor will analyze and evaluate the merits of the 
Subcontractor claim prior to forwarding it and that analysis and evaluation to the City. The City will not consider direct claims from Subcontractors, suppliers, 

manufacturers, or others not a party to the Contract. Contractor agrees that it will make no agreement, covenant, or assignment, nor will it commit any other act that 

will permit or assist any Subcontractor, supplier, manufacturer, or other to directly or indirectly make a claim against City. 

 
D.3.3 The City, through the Architect/Engineer (or other employee or agent assigned by the City) will review all Claims and take one or more of the following preliminary 

actions within ten (10) Days of receipt of the Detailed Notice of a Claim: (1) request additional supporting information from the Contractor; (2) inform the Contractor 

and City in writing of the time required for adequate review and response; (3) reject the Claim in whole or in part and identify the reasons for rejection; (4) 
recommend approval of all or part of the Claim; (5) arrange a meeting with the Contractor for formal review of the Claim; or (6) propose an alternate resolution. 

 
D.3.4 Once the Engineer or Project Manager determines the City is in receipt of a properly submitted claim, the Engineer or Project Manager may arrange a meeting, as 

agreed by the parties, with the Contractor in order to present the claim for formal review and discussion. A person authorized by the Contractor to execute Change 

Orders on behalf of the Contractor must be present and attend all claim meetings. 

D.3.5 The City’s decision, through the Architect/Engineer (or other employee or agent assigned by the City), shall be final and binding on the Contractor unless appealed by 
written notice to the City within fifteen (15) Days of receipt of the decision. The Contractor must present written documentation supporting the Claim within fifteen (15) 

Days of the notice of appeal. After receiving the appeal documentation, the City, through the appropriate department director, shall review the materials and render a 

decision within thirty (30) Days after receiving the appeal documents. 

 
D.3.6 If, at any step in the claim decision or review process, the Contractor fails to promptly submit requested information or documentation that the City deems necessary to 

analyze the claim, the Contractor is deemed to have waived its right to further review, and the Claim will not be considered properly filed and preserved. 

 
D.3.7 Both parties agree to exercise their best efforts in good faith to resolve all disputes within sixty (60) Days of the issuance of the appeal in Section D. 3.4 above. If the 

parties are unable to resolve their issues through mediation or otherwise, either party may seek redress through all available remedies in equity or in law. 

 
D.3.8 Unless otherwise directed by City, Contractor shall proceed with the Work while any Claim, or mediation or litigation arising from a Claim, is pending. Regardless of the 

review period or the final decision of the City, the Contractor shall continue to diligently pursue the Work as identified in the Contract Documents. In no case is the 

Contractor justified or allowed to cease or delay Work, in whole or in part, without a written stop work order from the City. 

 
 

SECTION E 
PAYMENTS 

 
E.1 SCHEDULE OF VALUES 

 
The Contractor shall submit, by or before the pre-construction conference (as described in Section H.1.3), a schedule of values ("Schedule of Values") for the Contract Work. 

This schedule shall provide a breakdown of values for the Contract Work and will be the basis for progress payments. The breakdown shall demonstrate reasonable, 

identifiable, and measurable components of the Work. Unless objected to by the City, this schedule shall be used as the basis for reviewing Contractor's applications for 

payment. If objected to by City, Contractor shall revise the schedule of values and resubmit the same for approval of City. 

 
E.2 APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT 

 
E.2.1 City shall make progress payments on the Contract monthly as Work progresses, in accordance with the requirements of this Section E.2 and ORS 279C.570. 

Applications for payment shall be based upon estimates of Work completed and the Schedule of Values. As a condition precedent to City’s obligation to pay, all 

applications for payment shall be approved by the City. A progress payment shall not be considered acceptance or approval of any Work or waiver of any defects 
therein. City shall pay to Contractor interest in accordance with ORS 279C.570 for overdue invoices, not including retainage, due the Contractor. Overdue invoices will 

be those that have not been paid within the earlier of: 

 
(a) Thirty (30) days after receipt of the invoice; or 

 
(b) Fifteen (15) days after the payment is approved by the City. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in instances when an application for payment is filled out incorrectly, or when there is any defect or impropriety in any submitted 

application or when there is a good faith dispute, City shall so notify the Contractor within fifteen (15) Days stating the reason or reasons the application for payment is 

defective or improper or the reasons for the dispute. A defective or improper application for payment, if corrected by the Contractor within seven (7) Days of being 
notified by the City, shall not cause a payment to be made later than specified in this section unless interest is also paid. Payment of interest will be postponed when 

payment on the principal is delayed because of disagreement between the City and the Contractor. 

 

14 - 20



[Type here] 

 

Page 12  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

City reserves the right, instead of requiring the Contractor to correct or resubmit a defective or improper application for payment, to reject the defective or 

improper portion of the application for payment and pay the remainder of the application for such amounts which are correct and proper. 

 
City, upon written notice to the Contractor, may elect to make payments to the Contractor only by means of Electronic Funds Transfers (“EFT”) through 

Automated Clearing House (“ACH”) payments. If City makes this election, the Contractor shall arrange for receipt of the EFT/ACH payments. 

 
E.2.2 Contractor shall submit to the City an application for each payment and, if required, receipts or other vouchers showing payments for materials and labor including 

payments to Subcontractors. Contractor shall include in its application for payment a schedule of the percentages of the various parts of the Work completed, 
based on the Schedule of Values which shall aggregate to the payment application total, and shall include, on the face of each copy thereof, a certificate in 

substantially the following form: 

 
"I, the undersigned, hereby certify that the above bill is true and correct, and the payment therefore, has not been received. 

 
Signed:   Dated:  _” 

 
E.2.3 Generally, applications for payment will be accepted only for materials that have been installed. Under special conditions, applications for payment for stored 

materials will be accepted at City's sole discretion. Such a payment, if made, will be subject to the following conditions: 

 
(a) The request for stored material shall be submitted at least thirty 

(30) Days in advance of the application for payment on which it appears. Applications for payment shall be entertained for major equipment, components or 
expenditures only. 

 
(b) The Contractor shall submit applications for payment showing the quantity and cost of the material stored. 

 
(c) The material shall be stored in a bonded warehouse and City shall be granted the right to access the material for the purpose of removal or inspection at any time 

during the Contract Period. 

 
(d) The Contractor shall name the City as co-insured on the insurance policy covering the full value of the property while in the care and custody of the Contractor 

until it is installed. A certificate noting this coverage shall be issued to the City. 

 
(e) Payments shall be made for materials and equipment only. The submitted amount in the application for payment shall be reduced by the cost of transportation 

from the storage site to the Project Site and for the cost of an inspector to verify delivery and condition of the goods at the storage site. The cost of storage and 
inspection shall be borne solely by the Contractor. 

 

(f) Within sixty (60) Days of the application for payment, the Contractor shall submit evidence of payment covering the material and/or equipment stored and of payment 

for the storage site. 
 

(g) Payment for stored materials and/or equipment shall in no way indicate acceptance of the materials and/or equipment or waive any rights under the Contract for the 

rejection of the Work or materials and/or equipment not in conformance with the Contract Documents. 

 
(h) All required documentation shall be submitted with the respective application for payment. 

 
E.2.4 The City reserves the right to withhold all or part of a payment, or may nullify in whole or part any payment previously made, to such extent as may be necessary in the 

City’s opinion to protect the City from loss because of: 

 
(a) Work that is defective and not remedied, or that has been demonstrated or identified as failing to conform with Applicable Laws or the Contract Documents; 

 
(b) third party claims filed or evidence reasonably indicating that such claims will likely be filed unless security acceptable to the City is provided by the Contractor; 

 
(c) failure of the Contractor to make payments properly to Subcontractors or for labor, materials or equipment (in which case City may issue checks made payable 

jointly to Contractor and such unpaid persons under this provision, or directly to Subcontractors and suppliers at any level under Section C.3.2); 

 
(d) reasonable evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of the Contract Price; 

 
(e) damage to the Work, City or City’s agent; 

 
(f) reasonable evidence that the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time required by the Contract, and that the unpaid balance would not be adequate to 

cover actual or liquidated damages for the anticipated delay; 

 
(g) failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents; or 

 
(h) assessment of liquidated damages, when withholding is made for offset purposes. 

 
E.2.5 Subject to the provisions of the Contract Documents, the amount of each progress payment shall be computed as follows: 

 
(a) Take that portion of the Contract Price properly allocable to completed Work as determined by multiplying the percentage completion of each portion of the Work by 

the share of the total Contract Price allocated to that portion of the Work in the Schedule of Values, less retainage as provided in Section E.5. Pending final 

determination of cost to the City of changes in the Work, no amounts for changes in the Work can be included in applications for payment until the Contract Price 

has been adjusted by a Change Order; 

 

14 - 21



[Type here] 

 

Page 13  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

(b) Add that portion of the Contract Price properly allocable to materials and equipment delivered and suitably stored at the Project Site for subsequent 

incorporation in the completed construction (or, if approved in advance by the City pursuant to Section E.2.3, suitably stored off the Project Site at a 
location agreed upon in writing), less retainage as provided in Section E.5;  Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the City; and 

 
(c) Subtract any amounts for which the City has withheld or nullified payment as provided in the Contract Documents. 

 
E.2.6 Contractor’s applications for payment shall not include requests for payment for portions of the Work for which the Contractor does not intend to pay to a 

Subcontractor or material supplier. 

 
E.2.7 The Contractor warrants to City that title to all Work covered by an application for payment will pass to the City no later than the time of payment. The Contractor 

further warrants that upon submittal of an application for payment all Work for which payments are received from the City shall be free and clear of liens, claims, 
security interests or encumbrances in favor of the Contractor, Subcontractors, material suppliers, or other persons or entities making a claim by reason of having 

provided financing, labor, materials and equipment relating to the Work. 

 
E.2.8 If Contractor disputes any determination by City with regard to any application for payment, Contractor nevertheless shall continue to expeditiously perform the 

Work. No payment made hereunder shall be or be construed to be final acceptance or approval of that portion of the Work to which such partial payment relates or 

shall relieve Contractor of any of its obligations hereunder. 

 
E.3 PAYROLL CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENT 

 
City’s receipt of payroll certification pursuant to Section C.2 of the Contract shall be a condition precedent to City’s obligation to pay any progress payments or final 
payment otherwise due. 

 
E.4 DUAL PAYMENT SOURCES 

 
Contractor shall not be compensated for Work performed under the Contract from any state agency other than the agency that is a party to the Contract. 

 
E.5 RETAINAGE 

 
E.5.1 Retainage shall be withheld and released in accordance with the requirements set forth in Local Contract Review Board Rules or the applicable City standard. 

 
E.5.1.1 City may reserve as retainage from any progress payment in an amount not to exceed five percent of the payment. As Work progresses, City may reduce the 

amount of retainage on or may eliminate retainage on any remaining monthly Contract payments after fifty (50) percent of the Work under the Contract is 

completed if, in the City's discretion, such Work is progressing satisfactorily. Elimination or reduction of retainage shall be allowed only upon written application 

by the Contractor, which application shall include written approval of Contractor's surety; except that when the Work is ninety-seven and a half percent (97.5%) 
completed in City’s estimation, the City may, at its discretion and without application by the Contractor, reduce the retained amount to hundred (100) percent of 

the value of the Work remaining to be done. Upon receipt of written application by the Contractor, City shall respond in writing within a reasonable time. 

 
E.5.1.2 Contractor may request in writing: 

 
(a) to be paid amounts which would otherwise have been retained from progress payments where Contractor has deposited acceptable bonds and securities of 

equal value with City or in a custodial account or other mutually agreed account satisfactory to City, with an approved bank or trust company to be held in lieu 

of the cash retainage for the benefit of     City; 
 

(b) for construction projects over $1,000,000, that retainage be deposited in an interest bearing account, established through the City Treasurer for county agencies, 

in a bank, savings bank, trust company or savings association for the benefit of City, with earnings from such account accruing to the Contractor; or 

 
(c) that the City allow Contractor to deposit a surety bond for the benefit of City, in a form acceptable to City, in lieu of all or a portion of funds retained, or to be 

retained. Such bond and any proceeds therefrom shall be made subject to all claims in the manner and priority as set forth for retainage. 

 
When the City has accepted the Contractor's election of option (a) or (b), City may recover from Contractor any additional costs incurred through such election by 

reducing Contractor's final payment. Where the City has agreed to Contractor's request for option (c), Contractor shall accept like bonds from Subcontractors and 

suppliers on the Project from which Contractor has required retainages. 

 
E. 5.1.3 The retainage held by City shall be included in and paid to the Contractor as part of the final payment of the Contract Price. The City shall pay to Contractor interest at 

the rate of two thirds of one percent per month on the final payment due Contractor, interest to commence forty-five (45) Days after the date which City receives 

Contractor’s final approved application for payment and Work under the Contract has been completed and accepted and to run until the date when final payment is 
tendered to Contractor. The Contractor shall notify City in writing when the Contractor considers the Work complete and deliver to City its final application for 

payment and City shall, within fifteen (15) Days after receiving the written notice and the application for payment, either accept the Work or notify the Contractor of 

Work yet to be performed on the Contract. If City does not within the time allowed notify the Contractor of Work yet to be performed to fulfill contractual obligations, 
the interest provided by this subsection shall commence to run forty-five (45) Days after the end of the fifteen (15) Day period. 

 
E.5.1.4 City will reduce the amount of the retainage if the Contractor notifies the City that the Contractor has deposited in an escrow account with a bank or trust company, in 

a manner authorized by the City, bonds and securities of equal value of a kind approved by the City and such bonds and securities have in fact been deposited. 

 
E.5.1.5 Contractor agrees that if Contractor elects to reserve a retainage from any progress payment due to any Subcontractor or supplier, such retainage shall not 

exceed five percent of the payment, and such retainage withheld from Subcontractors and suppliers shall be subject to the same terms and conditions stated in 

Subsection E.5 as apply to City’s retainage from any progress payment due to Contractor. 

 
E.6 FINAL PAYMENT 

 

14 - 22



[Type here] 

 

Page 14  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

E.6.1 Upon completion of all the Work under the Contract, the Contractor shall notify the City, in writing, that Contractor has completed Contractor’s obligations under 

the Contract and shall prepare its application requesting final payment. The amount of final payment will be the difference between the total amount due the 
Contractor pursuant to the Contract Documents and the sum of all payments previously made. Upon receipt of such notice and application for payment, the City 

will inspect the Work, and, if acceptable, submit to Contractor a recommendation as to acceptance of the completed Work and the final estimate of the amount 

due the Contractor. If the Work is not acceptable, City will notify Contractor within fifteen (15) Days of Contractor’s request for final payment. Upon approval of 

this final application  for payment by the City and compliance by the Contractor with provisions in Section K, and Contractor’s satisfaction of other provisions of 
the Contract Documents as may be applicable, the City shall pay to the Contractor all monies due under the provisions of these Contract Documents. 

 
E.6.2 Neither final payment nor any remaining retained percentage shall become due until the Contractor submits to the City (1) a certificate evidencing that insurance 

required by the Contract Documents to remain in force after final payment is currently in effect and will not be canceled or allowed to expire until at least thirty (30) 

Days' prior written notice has been given to the City, (2) a written statement that the Contractor knows of no substantial reason that the insurance will not be 
renewable to cover the period required by the Contract Documents, (3) consent of surety, if any, to final payment and (4), if required by the City, other data 

establishing payment or satisfaction of obligations, such as receipts, releases and waivers of liens, claims, security interests or encumbrances arising out of the 

Contract, to the extent and in such form as may be designated by the City. If a Subcontractor refuses to furnish a release or waiver required by the City, the 

Contractor may furnish a bond satisfactory to the City to indemnify the City against such lien. If such lien remains unsatisfied after payments are made, the 
Contractor shall refund to the City all money that the City may be compelled to pay in discharging such lien. 

 
E.6.3 Acceptance of final payment by the Contractor, a Subcontractor or material supplier shall constitute a waiver of claims by that payee except those previously made 

in writing and identified by that payee as unsettled at the time of final application for payment. 

 
E.6.4 Contractor agrees to submit its final payment application within ninety (90) Days after Substantial Completion, unless written extension is granted by City. 

Contractor shall not delay final payment application for any reason, including without limitation nonpayment of Subcontractors, suppliers, manufacturers or others 

not a party to the Contract, or lack of resolution of a dispute with City or any other person of matters arising out of or relating to the Contract. If Contractor fails to 
submit its final payment application within ninety (90) Days after Substantial Completion, and Contractor has not obtained written extension by City, all requests or 

Claims for additional costs or an extension of Contract Time shall be barred. 

 

 
SECTION F 

PROJECT SITE CONDITIONS 

 
F.1 USE OF PREMISES 

Contractor shall confine equipment, storage of materials and operation of Work to the limits indicated by Contract Documents, Applicable Laws, permits or directions of 

the City. Contractor shall follow the City's instructions regarding use of premises, if any. 

 
F.2 PROTECTION OF WORKERS, PROPERTY AND THE PUBLIC 

 
F.2.1 Contractor shall maintain continuous and adequate protection of all of the Work from damage and shall protect the City, workers and property from injury or loss 

arising in connection with the Contract. Contractor shall remedy acceptably to the City any damage, injury, or loss, except such as may be directly due to errors in 

the Contract Documents or caused by authorized representatives or personnel of the City. Contractor shall adequately protect adjacent property as provided by law 

and the Contract Documents. 

 

F.2.2 Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of all personnel on the Project Site or otherwise engaged in the undertaking of the Work and shall comply 
with the Contract Documents, best practices and all applicable provisions of federal, state and municipal safety laws and building codes to prevent accidents or injury to 
persons on, about or adjacent to the premises where the Work is being performed. Contractor shall erect and properly maintain at all times, as required by the 
conditions and progress of the Work, all necessary safeguards for protection of workers and the public against any hazards created by construction. Contractor shall 
designate a responsible employee or associate on the Project Site, whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents.  The name and position of the person designated 
shall be reported to the City. The City has no responsibility for Project Site safety. Project Site safety shall be the responsibility of the Contractor. 

 
F.2.3 Contractor shall not enter upon private property without first obtaining permission from the property owner, or its duly authorized representative. Contractor shall be 

responsible for the preservation of all public and private property along and adjacent to the Work contemplated under the Contract and shall use every precaution 

necessary to prevent damage thereto. In the event the Contractor damages any property, the Contractor shall at once notify the property owner and make, or arrange 

to make, full restitution. Contractor shall, immediately and in writing, report to the City, all pertinent facts relating to such property damage and the ultimate disposition 
of the claim for damage. 

 
F.2.4 Contractor shall be responsible for protection of adjacent work areas including impacts brought about by activities, equipment, labor, utilities, vehicles and materials 

on the Project Site. 

 
F.2.5 Contractor shall at all times direct its activities in such a manner as to minimize adverse effects on the environment. Handling of all materials shall be conducted so no 

release will occur that may pollute or become hazardous. 

 
F.2.6 In an emergency affecting the safety of life or limb or of the Work or of adjoining property, the Contractor, without special instruction or authorization from the City, shall 

act reasonably to prevent threatened loss or injury, and shall so act, without appeal, if instructed by the City. Any compensation claimed by the Contractor on account of 

emergency work shall be determined in accordance with section D. 

 
F.2.7 Contractor shall comply with all City safety rules and regulations, if applicable. Prior to commencement of any Work, Contractor and Subcontractors shall be 

required to complete an City Contractor Safety Orientation and submit all City required safety plans. 

 
F.2.8 Contractor shall demonstrate that an employee drug testing program is in place. 

 
F.3 CUTTING AND PATCHING 

 

14 - 23



[Type here] 

 

Page 15  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

F.3.1 If applicable, Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating all cutting, fitting, or patching of the Work to make its several parts come together properly and fit to receive 

or be received by work of other contractors or Subcontractors shown upon, or reasonably implied by, the Contract Documents. 

 
F.3.2 If applicable, Contractor shall be responsible for restoring all cut, fitted, or patched surfaces to an original condition; provided, however, that if a different condition is 

specified in the Contract Documents, then Contractor shall be responsible for restoring such surfaces to the condition specified in the Contract Documents. 

 
F.4 CLEANING UP 

 
From time to time as may be prudent or ordered by the City and, in any event, immediately after completion of the Work, the Contractor shall, at its own expense, clean up and 

remove all refuse and unused materials of any kind resulting from the Work. If Contractor fails to do so within twenty-four (24) hours after notification by the City the work may 

be done by others and the cost charged to the Contractor and deducted from payment due the Contractor. 

 
F.5 ENVIRONMENTAL CONTAMINATION 

 
F.5.1. Contractor shall be held responsible for and shall indemnify, defend (with counsel of City’s choice), and hold harmless City from and against any costs, expenses, 

damages, claims, and causes of action, or any of them, resulting from all spills, releases, discharges, leaks and disposal of environmental pollution, including 

storage, transportation, and handling during the performance of the Work or Contractor’s obligations under the Contract which occur as a result of, or are 
contributed by, the negligence or actions of Contractor or its personnel, agents, or Subcontractors or any failure to perform in accordance with the Contract 

Documents (except to the extent otherwise void under ORS 30.140). Nothing in this section F.5.1 shall limit Contractor's responsibility for obtaining insurance 

coverages required under Section G.3 of the Contract, and Contractor shall take no action that would void or impair such coverages. 

 
F.5.1.1 Contractor agrees to promptly dispose of such spills,  releases, discharge or leaks to the satisfaction of City and regulatory agencies having jurisdiction in a 

manner that complies with Applicable Laws. Cleanup shall be at no cost to the City and shall be performed by properly qualified and, if applicable, licensed 
personnel. 

 
F.5.1.2 Unless otherwise approved in the Solicitation Document, Contractor shall obtain the City's written consent prior to bringing onto the Project Site any (i) 

environmental pollutants or 

(ii) hazardous substances or materials, as the same or reasonably similar terms are used in any Applicable Laws. In any event, Contractor shall provide prior 
written notice to City when hazardous materials are brought on to the Project Site. The Contractor, at all times, shall: 

 
(a) properly handle, use and dispose of all environmental pollutants and hazardous substances or materials on the Project Site, in accordance with all 

Applicable  Laws; 

 
(b) be responsible for any and all spills, releases, discharges, or leaks of (or from) environmental pollutants or hazardous substances or materials which 

Contractor has brought onto the Project Site; and 

 
(c) promptly clean up and remediate, without cost to the City, such spills, releases, discharges, or leaks to the City's satisfaction and in compliance with all 

Applicable Laws. 

 
F.5.2 Contractor shall report all reportable quantity releases, as such releases are defined in Applicable Laws. Upon discovery, regardless of quantity, Contractor 

must verbally report all releases to the City in a prompt manner. A written follow-up report shall be submitted to City within 48 hours of the telephonic report. 

Such written report shall contain, as a minimum: 

 
(a) Description of items released (identity, quantity, manifest numbers, and any and all other documentation required by law). 

 
(b) Whether amount of items released is EPA/DEQ reportable, and, if so, when reported. 

 
(c) Exact time and location of release, including a description of the area involved. 

 
(d) Containment procedures initiated. 

(e) Summary of communications about the release between Contractor and State, local or federal officials other than City. Any communication to the press will 

be done by City and Contractor will defer to City. 

 
(f) Description of cleanup procedures employed or to be employed at the Project Site, including disposal location of spill residue. 

 
(g) Personal injuries, if any, resulting from, or aggravated by, the release. 

 
F.6 ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN-UP 

 
F.6.1 Unless disposition of environmental pollution is specifically a part of the Contract, or was caused by the Contractor (reference F.5 Environmental Contamination), 

Contractor shall immediately notify City of any hazardous substance(s) which Contractor discovers or encounters during performance of the Work required by the 

Contract. "Hazardous substance(s)" means any hazardous, toxic and radioactive materials and those substances defined as “hazardous substances,” “hazardous 

materials,” “hazardous wastes,” “toxic substances,” or other similar designations in any federal, state, or local law, regulation, or ordinance, including without limitation 
asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyl (“PCB”), or petroleum, and any substances, materials or wastes regulated by 40 CFR, Part 261 and defined as hazardous in 40 CFR 

S 261.3. In addition to notifying City of any hazardous substance(s) discovered or encountered, Contractor shall immediately cease working in any particular area of the 

Project where a hazardous substance(s) has been discovered or encountered if continued work in such area would present a risk or danger to the health or wellbeing of 

Contractor's or any Subcontractor's work force, property or the environment. 

 
F.6.2 Upon being notified by Contractor of the presence of hazardous substance(s) on the Project Site, not brought on to the Project Site by Contactor, City shall arrange for 

the proper disposition of such hazardous substance(s). 
 

14 - 24



[Type here] 

 

Page 16  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 
SECTION G 

INDEMNITY, BONDING, AND INSURANCE 

 
G.1 RESPONSIBILITY FOR DAMAGES / INDEMNITY 

 
G.1.1 Contractor shall be responsible for all damage to property, injury to persons, and loss, expense, inconvenience, and delay that may be caused by, or result from, the 

carrying out of the Work to be done under the Contract, or from any act, omission or neglect of the Contractor, its Subcontractors, employees, guests, visitors, invitees 
and agents. 

 
G.1.2 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold harmless the City and its elected officials, officers, 

directors, agents, and employees (collectively "Indemnitees") from and against all liabilities, damages, losses, claims, expenses, demands and actions of any nature 

whatsoever which arise out of, result from or are related to: 

(a) any damage, injury, loss, expense, inconvenience or delay described in this Section G.1; (b) any accident or occurrence which happens or is alleged to have 

happened in or about the Project Site or any place where the Work is being performed, or in the vicinity of either, at any time prior to the time the Work is fully 

completed in all respects; (c) any failure of the Contractor to observe or perform any duty or obligation under the Contract Documents which is to be observed or 
performed by the Contractor, or any breach of any agreement, representation or warranty of the Contractor contained in the Contract Documents or in any 

subcontract; (d) the negligent acts or omissions of the Contractor, a Subcontractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or any one of them or anyone 

for whose acts they may be liable, regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or expense is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder (except to 

the extent otherwise void under ORS 30.140); and (e) any lien filed upon the Project or bond claim in connection with the Work. Such obligation shall not be 
construed to negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or obligations of indemnity which would otherwise exist as to a party or person described in this Section G.1.2. 

 
G.1.3 In claims against any person or entity indemnified under Section G.1.2 by an employee of the Contractor, a Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by 

them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, the indemnification obligation under Section G.1.2 shall not be limited on amount or type of damages, 

compensation or benefits payable by or for the Contractor or a Subcontractor under workers' compensation acts, disability benefit acts or other employee benefit 
acts. 

 
G.2 PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT SECURITY; PUBLIC WORKS BOND 

 
G.2.1 When the Contract price is $50,000 or more, the Contractor shall furnish and maintain in effect at all times during the Contract Period a performance bond in a 

sum equal to the Contract Price and a separate payment bond also in a sum equal to the Contract Price.  Contractor shall furnish such bonds even if the 
Contract Price is less than the above thresholds if otherwise required by the Contract Documents. 

  

G.2.2 Bond forms furnished by the City and notarized by Contractor's surety company authorized to do business in Oregon are the only acceptable forms of 
performance and payment security, unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents. 

 
G.2.3 Before execution of the Contract, the Contractor shall file with the Construction Contractors Board, and maintain in full force and effect, the separate public works 

bond required by Oregon Revised Statutes, Chapter 279C.830 and 279C.836, unless otherwise exempt under those provisions.  The Contractor shall also 

include in every subcontract a provision requiring the Subcontractor to have a public works bond filed with the Construction Contractors Board before starting 

work, unless otherwise exempt, and shall verify that the Subcontractor has filed a public works bond before permitting any Subcontractor to start Work.   

  

14 - 25



[Type here] 

 

Page 17  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 
G.3 INSURANCE 

 
G.3.1 Primary Coverage: Insurance carried by Contractor under the Contract shall be the primary coverage. The coverages indicated are minimums unless otherwise 

specified in the Contract Documents. 

 
G.3.2 Workers' Compensation: All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject workers who work under the Contract in the State of Oregon shall comply with 

ORS 656.017 and provide the required Workers’ Compensation coverage, unless such employers are exempt under ORS 656.126. This shall include Employer’s 

Liability Insurance with coverage limits of not less than the minimum amount required by statute for each accident. Contractors who perform the Work without the 
assistance or labor of any employee need not obtain such coverage if the Contractor certifies so in writing. Contractor shall ensure that each of its Subcontractors 

complies with these requirements. The Contractor shall require proof of such Workers’ Compensation coverage by receiving and keeping on file a certificate of 

insurance from each Subcontractor or anyone else directly employed by either the Contractor or its Subcontractors. 

 
G.3.3 Builder's Risk Insurance: 

 
G.3.3.1 Builder's Risk: During the term of the Contract, for new construction the Contractor shall obtain and keep in effect Builder's Risk insurance on an all risk forms, 

including earthquake and flood, for an amount equal to the full amount of the Contract, plus any changes in values due to modifications, Change Orders and loss of 
materials added. Such Builder's Risk shall include, in addition to earthquake and flood, theft, vandalism, mischief, collapse, transit, debris removal, and architect's fees 

“soft costs” associated with delay of Project due to insured peril. Any deductible shall not exceed $50,000 for each loss, except the earthquake and flood deductible 

which shall not exceed 2 percent of each loss or $50,000, whichever is greater. The deductible shall be paid by Contractor. The policy will include as loss payees City, 

the Contractor and its Subcontractors as their interests may appear. 

 
G.3.3.2 Builder's Risk Installation Floater: For work other than new construction, Contractor shall obtain and keep in effect during the term of the Contract, a Builder's Risk 

Installation Floater for coverage of the Contractor's labor, materials and equipment to be used for completion of the Work performed under the Contract. The minimum 

amount of coverage to be carried shall be equal to the full amount of the Contract. The policy will include as loss payees City, the Contractor and its Subcontractors as 

their interests may appear. City may waive this requirement at its sole and absolute discretion. 

 
G.3.3.3 Such insurance shall be maintained until City has occupied the facility. 

 
G.3.3.4 A loss insured under the Builder’s Risk insurance shall be adjusted by the City and made payable to the City as loss payee. The Contractor shall pay Subcontractors 

their just shares of insurance proceeds received by the Contractor, and by appropriate agreements, written where legally required for validity, shall require 

Subcontractors to make payments to their Sub-subcontractors in similar manner. The City shall have power to adjust and settle a loss with insurers. 

 
G.3.4 General Liability Insurance: 

 
G.3.4.1 Commercial General Liability: Upon execution of a Contract, Contractor shall obtain, and keep in effect at Contractor's expense for the term of the Contract, 

Commercial General Liability Insurance (“CGL”) covering bodily injury and property damage in the amount of not less than $2,000,000 per claim and $2,000,000 per 
occurrence in a form satisfactory to City. This insurance shall include personal injury liability, products and completed operations, and contractual liability coverage 
for the indemnities provided under the Contract (to the extent contractual liability coverage for the indemnity is available in the marketplace), and shall be issued on 
an occurrence basis written on ISO Form GC 00 01 (12 04 or later) or an equivalent form approved in advance by City. The CGL shall provide separation of insured 
language. The policy or policies obtained by Contractor for purposes of fulfilling the requirements of this section shall be primary insurance with respect to the City.  
Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the City shall be excess and shall not contribute to it. 

 
G.3.4.2 Automobile Liability: Contractor shall obtain, at Contractor's expense, and keep in effect during the term of the Contract, Automobile Liability Insurance covering owned, 

and/or hired vehicles, as applicable. The coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance. Contractor shall provide proof of 
insurance of not less than $2,000,000 per claim and $2,000,000 per occurrence. Contractor and its Subcontractors shall be responsible for ensuring that all non-owned 
vehicles maintain adequate Automobile Liability insurance while on Project Site. 

 
G.3.4.3 City may adjust the insurance amounts required in Section G.3.4.1 and G.3.4.2 based upon institution specific risk assessments through the issuance of Supplemental 

General Conditions and a Contract. 

 
G.3.4.4 To the extent that the Contract Documents require the Contractor to provide professional design services, design-build, or certifications related to systems, 

materials, or equipment, the Contractor shall (1) purchase and maintain professional liability/errors-and-omissions insurance with limits of not less than 

$2,000,000 for each claim and $2,000,000 general annual aggregate and (2) cause those Subcontractors (of any tier) who are providing professional design 
services including any design- build services to procure and maintain professional liability/errors-and-omissions insurance with limits of not less than $2,000,000 

for each claim and $2,000,000 general annual aggregate. This policy shall be for the protection of the City, its elected officials, officers, agents and employees 

against liability for damages because of personal injury, bodily injury, death, or damage to property, including loss of use thereof, and damages because of 

negligent acts, errors and omissions in any way related to the Contract. The City, at its option, may require a complete copy of the above policy. 

 
G.3.4.5 "Tail" Coverage: If any of the required liability insurance is arranged on a "claims made" basis, "tail" coverage will be required at the completion of the Contract 

for a duration of 36 months or the maximum time period available in the marketplace if less than 36 months. Contractor shall furnish certification of "tail" coverage 

as described or continuous "claims made" liability coverage for 36 months following Final Completion. Continuous "claims made" coverage will be acceptable in 
lieu of "tail" coverage, provided its retroactive date is on or before the effective date of the Contract. City’s receipt of the policy endorsement evidencing such 

coverage shall be a condition precedent to City’s obligation to make final payment and to City’s final acceptance of Work or services and related warranty (if any). 

 
G.3.4.6 Umbrella Liability (if required by City through issuance of Supplemental General Conditions): Contractor shall obtain, at Contractor’s expense, and keep in effect 

during the term of the Contract, Umbrella liability Insurance over and above the general liability, automobile liability and workers’ compensation coverage if 

required by City in specified limits at time of requirement. 

 
G.3.4.7 Pollution Liability may be required by City through issuance of Supplemental General Conditions. 

 
G.3.5 Additional Insured: The general liability insurance coverage, automobile liability, umbrella, and pollution liability if required, shall include the City as additional 

14 - 26



[Type here] 

 

Page 18  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

insureds but only with respect to the Contractor's activities to be performed under the Contract. The additional-insured endorsement for CGL insurance must be 

written on ISO Form CG 20 10 (10 01) and CG 20 37 (10 01), or their equivalent, but shall not use either of the following forms: CG 20 10 (10 93) or CG 20 10 
(03 94). Proof of insurance must include a copy of the endorsement showing “City of Gladstone, its elected officials, agents, officers, and employees” as 

scheduled insureds. 

 
If Contractor cannot obtain an insurer to name the City as additional insureds, Contractor shall obtain at Contractor's expense, and keep in effect during the term 

of the Contract, City’s and Contractors Protective Liability Insurance, naming the City as additional insureds with not less than a $2,000,000 limit per occurrence. 

This policy must be kept in effect for 36 months following Final Completion. As evidence of coverage, Contractor shall furnish the actual policy to City prior to 

execution of the Contract. 

G.3.6 Notice of Cancellation or Change: If the Contractor receives a non-renewal or cancellation notice from an insurance carrier affording coverage required herein, or 

receives notice that coverage no longer complies with the insurance requirements herein, Contractor agrees to notify the City within five (5) business days with a copy 

of the non-renewal or cancellation notice, or written specifics as to which coverage is no longer in compliance. When notified by City, the Contractor agrees to stop 
Work pursuant to the Contract at Contractor’s expense, unless all required insurance remain in effect. Any failure to comply with the reporting provisions of this 

insurance, except for the potential exhaustion of aggregate limits, shall not affect the coverages provided to the City and its institutions, divisions, officers, and 

employees. 

 
City shall have the right, but not the obligation, of prohibiting Contractor from entering the Project Site until a new certificate(s) of insurance is provided to City 

evidencing the replacement coverage. The Contractor agrees that City reserves the right to withhold payment to Contractor until evidence of reinstated or replacement 
coverage is provided to City. 

 

G.3.7 Certificate(s) of Insurance/Insurance Carrier Qualification: As evidence of the insurance coverage required by the Contract, the Contractor shall furnish certificate(s) of 

insurance to the City prior to execution of the Contract. The certificate(s) will specify all of the parties who are additional insureds or loss payees for the Contract. A 

renewal certificate shall be sent to City at least 10 days prior to coverage expiration. Insurance coverage required under the Contract shall be obtained from insurance 

companies or entities acceptable to the City and that are eligible to provide such insurance under Oregon law. Eligible insurers include admitted insurers that have 
been issued a certificate of authority from the Oregon Department of Consumer and Business Services authorizing them to conduct an insurance business and issue 

policies of insurance in the state of Oregon, and certain non- admitted surplus lines insurers that satisfy the requirements of applicable Oregon law and which are 

subject to approval by the City. The Contractor shall be financially responsible for all deductibles, self-insured retentions and/or self- insurance included hereunder. 
Any deductible, self-insured retention and/or self-insurance in excess of $50,000 shall be subject to approval by the City in writing and shall be a condition precedent 

to the effectiveness of any Contract. 

 
SECTION H 

SCHEDULE OF WORK 

 
H.1 CONTRACT PERIOD 

 
H.1.1 Time is of the essence. The Contractor shall at all times carry on the Work diligently, without delay and punctually fulfill all requirements herein.   

 
H.1.2 Notice to Proceed. Unless otherwise directed in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall commence Work on the Project Site within fifteen (15) Days of the Notice to 

Proceed. Notwithstanding the Notice to Proceed, Contractor shall not be authorized to proceed with the Work until all initial Contract requirements, including the 

Contract, performance bond and payment bond, and certificates of insurance, have been fully executed and submitted in a form acceptable to City. 

 
H.1.3 Unless otherwise not required in the Construction Documents, Contractor shall participate in a pre-construction conference with the City’s representative and 

designated design team. The purpose of this pre-construction conference is to review the Contractor’s proposed Schedule of Values and to review any other 

Project logistics to be coordinated between the parties. Unless specifically extended by a Change Order, all Work shall be complete by the date contained in the 

Contract Documents. The City shall have the right to accelerate the completion date of the Work, which may require the use of overtime. Such accelerated Work 
schedule shall be an acceleration in performance of Work under Section D.1.2(f) and shall be subject to the provisions of Section D.1. 

 
H.1.4 The City shall not waive any rights under the Contract by permitting the Contractor to continue or complete in whole or in part the Work after the date described 

in Section H.1.2 above. 

 
H.2 SCHEDULE 

 
H.2.1 Contractor shall provide, by or before the pre-construction conference, the initial as-planned schedule for review and acceptance by the City. The submitted 

schedule must illustrate Work by Project components, labor trades, and long lead items broken down by building and/or floor where applicable. If City shall so elect, 

Contractor shall provide the schedule in CPM format showing the graphical network of planned activities, including i) a reasonably detailed list of all activities 

required to complete the Work; ii) the time and duration that each activity will take to completion; and iii) the dependencies between the activities. Schedules 

lacking adequate detail, or unreasonably detailed, will be rejected. The schedule shall include the following: Notice to Proceed or the date the Work commences, if 

no Notice to Proceed is issued by City, Substantial Completion, and Final Completion. Schedules shall be updated monthly, unless otherwise required by the 

Contract Documents, and submitted with the monthly application for payment. Acceptance of the Schedule by the City does not constitute agreement by the City as 

to the Contractor's sequencing, means, methods, or durations. Any positive difference between the Contractor's scheduled completion and the Contract completion 

date is float owned by the City. City reserves the right to negotiate the float if it is deemed to be in City’s best interest to do so. In no case shall the Contractor make 

a claim for delays if the Work is completed within the Contract Time but after Contractor's scheduled completion. 

 

H.2.2 All Work shall be completed between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents.  

 
H.3 PARTIAL OCCUPANCY OR USE 

 
The City may occupy or use any completed or partially completed portion of the Work at any stage, provided such occupancy or use is consented to by public 

authorities having jurisdiction over the Work. Such partial occupancy or use may commence whether or not the portion is substantially complete, provided the City 

and Contractor have reasonably accepted in writing the responsibilities assigned to each of them. Approval by the Contractor to partial occupancy or use shall not 

14 - 27



[Type here] 

 

Page 19  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

be unreasonably withheld. Immediately prior to such partial occupancy or use, the City and Contractor shall jointly inspect the area to be occupied or portion of the 

Work to be used in order to determine and record the condition of the Work. Partial occupancy or use of a portion or portions of the Work shall not constitute 
acceptance of Work not complying with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

 
SECTION I 

CORRECTION OF WORK 

 
I.1 CORRECTION OF WORK BEFORE FINAL PAYMENT 

 
The Contractor warrants to the City that materials and equipment furnished under the Contract will be of good quality and new unless otherwise required or permitted by the 

Contract Documents, that the Work will be free from defects, and that the Work will conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents. Work failing to conform to these 

requirements shall be deemed defective. Contractor shall promptly remove from the premises and replace all defective materials and equipment as determined by the City, 
whether incorporated in the Work or not. Removal and replacement shall be without loss or expense to the City, and Contractor shall bear the cost of repairing all Work 

destroyed or damaged by such removal or replacement. Contractor shall be allowed a period of no longer than thirty (30) Days after Substantial Completion for completion of 

defective (Punch List) work. At the end of the thirty- day period, or earlier if requested by the Contractor, City shall arrange for inspection of the Work by the Architect/Engineer. 
Should the work not be complete, and all corrections made, the costs for all subsequent reinspections shall be borne by the Contractor. If Contractor fails to complete the 

Punch List work within the thirty (30) Day period, City may perform such work and Contractor shall reimburse City all costs of the same within ten (10) Days after demand 

without affecting Contractor’s obligations. 

 
I.2 WARRANTY WORK 

 
I.2.1 The Warranty Period will begin when Contractor has completed the Punch List work, all improvements are accepted by the City, and the final certificate of payment has 

been issued. 
 

I.2.2 Contractor shall provide a Warranty Security valued at 10% of the Contract Price, however the minimum Warranty Security shall be $5,000. The Security shall be in a 
form acceptable to the City Attorney. 

 
I.2.3 The Warranty Period shall be for a minimum of one year.  

 
I.2.4 Neither the final certificate of payment nor any provision of the Contract Documents shall relieve the Contractor from responsibility for Defective Work. Contractor shall 

correct all defects that appear in the Work within the Warranty Period. The City shall give Contractor notice of defects with reasonable promptness. Contractor shall 
perform such warranty work within a reasonable time after City’s demand and at Contractors sole expense. Latent defects shall be remedied by the Contractor at any 
time they become apparent. If Contractor fails to complete the warranty work within such period as City determines reasonable, City may perform such work and 
Contractor shall reimburse City all costs of the same within ten (10) Days after demand, without affecting Contractor’s obligations. In the event of warranty work 
consisting of emergency repairs, Contractor shall perform the warranty Work by correcting defects within twenty-four (24) hours of notification by City, unless otherwise 
specified in the Contract Documents. Should Contractor fail to respond within the specified response time, the City may, at its option, complete the necessary repairs 
using another contractor or its agents. If City completes the repairs using City’s agent, Contractor shall pay City at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times the standard 
hourly rate of City's agent, plus related overhead and any direct non-salary costs. If City completes the repairs using another contractor, Contractor shall pay City the 
amount of City’s direct costs billed by the other contractor for the work, plus the direct salary costs and related overhead and direct non-salary expenses of City’s agents 
who are required to monitor that contractor’s work. Work performed by City using City’s own agents or those of another contractor shall not affect the Contractor's 
contractual duties under these provisions, including warranty provisions. 

 
I.2.5 Nothing in this Section I.2 provision shall negate guarantees or warranties for periods longer than one year including without limitation, such guarantees or warranties 

required by other sections of the Contract Documents for specific installations, materials, processes, equipment or fixtures. 
 

I.2.6 In addition to Contractor's warranty, manufacturer's warranties shall pass to the City and shall not take effect until such portion of the Work covered by the applicable 
warranty has been accepted in writing by the City. 

 
I.2.7 Nothing contained in this Section I.2 shall be construed to establish or limit a period of limitation with respect to other obligations which the Contractor might have under 

the Contract Documents. Establishment of the period for correction of Work as described in this Section I.2 relates only to the specific contractual obligation of the 
Contractor to correct the Work, and has no relationship to the time within which the obligation to comply with the Contract Documents may be sought to be enforced, nor 
to the time within which proceedings may be commenced to establish the Contractor’s liability with respect to the Contractor’s obligations other than specifically to correct 
the Work. 

 
I.2.8 If the City prefers to accept Work which is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, the City may do so in its sole discretion instead of 

requiring its removal and correction, in which case the Contract Price will be reduced in an amount the City determines to be appropriate and equitable. The City is 
entitled to receive this amount whether or not final payment has been made. Prior to final payment, the City may offset the amount from any payment it owes to the 
Contractor.  

 
I.2.9 The Warranty Security does not expire and may only be released after a final inspection has been completed by the City and the minimum warranty period has elapsed. 

At the time of final warranty inspection, any items not completed or maintained to City standards will be included in a punch list provided to Contractor. These items 
shall be addressed prior to the release of the Warranty Security. The City may require an extension of the Warranty Period for more than the minimum one year if the 
improvements show signs of failure or defects in workmanship during inspection and work is necessary and completed to correct these deficiencies. The one-year 
Warranty Period shall be extended with respect to those portions of Work performed after final certificate of payment has been issued by the period of time between 
final certificate of payment and the actual performance of the Work, and shall be extended by corrective Work performed by the Contractor pursuant to this Section, as 
to the Work corrected. Once the Warranty Period has passed, and there are no failures or defects in workmanship found by City inspection, the Warranty Period will 
end, and the Warranty Security will be released. Contractor shall remove from the Project Site portions of the Work which are not in accordance with the requirements 
of the Contract Documents and are neither corrected by Contractor nor accepted by the City. 

 
 

SECTION J 
SUSPENSION AND/OR TERMINATION OF THE WORK 

 

14 - 28



[Type here] 

 

Page 20  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

J.1 CITY'S RIGHT TO SUSPEND THE WORK 

 
J.1.1 The City has the authority to suspend portions or all of the Work due to the following causes: 

 
(a) Failure of the Contractor to correct unsafe conditions; 

 
(b) Failure of the Contractor to carry out any provision of the Contract; 

 
(c) Failure of the Contractor to carry out orders; 

 
(d) Conditions, in the opinion of the City, which are unsuitable for performing the Work; 

 
(e) Time required to investigate differing Project Site conditions; or 

 
(f) Any reason considered to be in the public interest. 

 
J.1.2 The City shall notify Contractor and the Contractor's Surety in writing of the effective date and time of the suspension, and City shall notify Contractor and 

Contractor’s surety in writing to resume Work. 
 

J.2 CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
J.2.1 During the period of the suspension, Contractor is responsible to continue maintenance at the Project just as if the Work were in progress. This includes, but is not 

limited to, protection of completed Work, maintenance of access, protection of stored materials, temporary facilities, and clean-up. 

 
J.2.2 When the Work is recommenced after the suspension, the Contractor shall replace or renew any Work damaged during the suspension, remove any materials or 

facilities used as part of temporary maintenance, and complete the Work in every respect as though its prosecution had been continuous and without suspension. 

 
J.3 COMPENSATION FOR SUSPENSION 

 
Depending on the reason for suspension of the Work, the Contractor or the City may be due compensation by the other party. If the suspension was required due to acts 

or omissions of Contractor, the City may assess the Contractor actual costs of the suspension in terms of administration, remedial work by the City's agents or another 

contractor to correct the problem associated with the suspension, rent of temporary facilities, and other actual costs related to the suspension, and any liquidated 

damages arising from the delay. If the suspension was caused by acts or omissions of the City, the Contractor may be due compensation which shall be defined using 
Section D, Changes in Work. If the suspension was required through no fault of the Contractor or the City, neither party shall owe the other for the impact. 

 
J.4 CITY'S RIGHT TO TERMINATE CONTRACT 

 
J.4.1 The City may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy, and after giving Contractor seven (7) Days’ written notice and an opportunity to cure, terminate the 

Contract in whole or in part under the following conditions: 

 
(a) If Contractor should, voluntarily or involuntarily, seek protection under the United States Bankruptcy Code and Contractor as debtor-in-possession or the Trustee 

for the estate fails to assume the Contract within a reasonable time; 

 
(b) If Contractor should make a general assignment for the benefit of Contractor's creditors; 

 
(c) If a receiver should be appointed on account of Contractor's insolvency; 

 
(d) If Contractor should repeatedly refuse or fail to supply an adequate number of skilled workers or proper materials to carry on the Work as required by the Contract 

Documents, or otherwise fail to perform the Work in a timely manner; 

 
(e) If Contractor should repeatedly fail to make prompt payment to Subcontractors or for material or labor, or should disregard laws, ordinances or the instructions of 

the City; 

 
(f) If Contractor is otherwise in breach of any part of the Contract; or 

 
(g) If Contractor is in violation of Applicable Laws, either in the conduct of its business or in its performance of the Work. 

 

J.4.2 At any time that any of the above occurs, City may exercise all rights and remedies available to City at law or in equity, and, in addition, City may take 

possession of the premises and of all materials and appliances and finish the Work by whatever method it may deem expedient. In such case, the Contractor 

shall not be entitled to receive further payment until the Work is completed. If the City's cost of finishing the Work exceeds the unpaid balance of the Contract 

Price, Contractor shall pay the difference to the City. 

 
J.5 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE, NONAPPROPRIATION OF FUNDS, OR FORCE  MAJEURE 

 
J.5.1 City may terminate the Contract in whole or in part whenever City determines: (a) that termination of the Contract is in the best interest of City or the public; (b) that 

the City failed to receive funding, appropriations, allocations or other expenditure authority as contemplated by City’s budget and City determines, in its sole 

determination, and its assessment and ranking of the policy objectives explicit or implicit in City’s budget, City may determine it is necessary to and may terminate 

the Contract.; or (c) in the event of Force Majeure. 

 
J.5.2 The City shall provide the Contractor with seven (7) Days prior written notice of a termination for City’s or for public convenience. After such notice, the Contractor 

14 - 29



[Type here] 

 

Page 21  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

shall provide the City with immediate and peaceful possession of the premises and materials located on and off the premises for which the Contractor received 

progress payment under Section E. Compensation for Work terminated by the City under this provision will be according to Section E. In no circumstance shall 
Contractor be entitled to lost profits for Work not performed due to termination. If the Contract is terminated for public convenience, neither the Contractor not its 

Surety shall be relieved of liability for damages or losses suffered by the City as a result of defective, unacceptable or unauthorized Work completed or performed. 

 
J.6 ACTION UPON TERMINATION 

 
J.6.1 Upon receiving a notice of termination, and except as directed otherwise by the City, Contractor shall immediately cease placing further subcontracts or orders for 

materials, services, or facilities. In addition, Contractor shall terminate all subcontracts or orders to the extent they relate to the Work terminated and, with the prior 
written approval of the City, settle all outstanding liabilities and termination settlement proposals arising from the termination of subcontracts and orders. 

 
J.6.2 As directed by the City, Contractor shall, upon termination, transfer title and deliver to the City all Record Documents, information, and other property that, if the 

Contract had been completed, would have been required to be furnished to the City. 

 
J.6.3 Upon City’s notice of termination pursuant to either SectionJ.4 or J.5, if City shall so elect, Contractor shall assign to the City such subcontracts and orders as 

City shall specify. In the event City elects to take assignment of any such subcontract or order, Contractor shall take such action and shall execute such 
documents as City shall reasonably require for the effectiveness of such assignment and Contractor shall ensure that no contractual arrangement between it and 

its subcontractors or suppliers of any tier or sub-tier shall prevent such assignment.   
 

 

SECTION K 
CONTRACT CLOSE OUT 

 
K.1  RECORD DOCUMENTS 

 
As a condition of final payment (refer also to section E.6), Contractor shall comply with the following: Contractor shall provide Record Documents for the entire Project to 

City. Record Documents shall depict the Project as constructed and shall reflect each and every change, modification, and deletion made during the construction. Record 

Documents are part of the Work and shall be provided prior to the City's issuance of final payment. Record Documents include all modifications to the Contract 
Documents unless otherwise directed. 

 

K.2 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE MANUALS 

 
As part of the Work, Contractor shall submit two completed operation and maintenance manuals ("O & M Manuals") for review by the City prior to submission of any pay 

request for more than 75% of the Work. City’s receipt of the O & M Manuals shall be a condition precedent to any payment thereafter due. The O & M Manuals shall contain a 
complete set of all submittals, all product data as required by the specifications, training information, telephone list and contact information for all consultants, manufacturers, 

installer and suppliers, manufacturer's printed data, record and shop drawings, schematic diagrams of systems, appropriate equipment indices, warranties and bonds. The 

City shall review and return one O & M Manual for any modifications or adjustments required. Prior to submission of its final pay request, Contractor shall deliver two (2) 

complete and approved sets of O & M Manuals in paper form and one (1) complete and approved set in electronic form to the City and City’s receipt of the O & M Manuals 
shall be a condition precedent to City’s obligation to make final payment. 

 
K.3 COMPLETION NOTICES 

 
K.3.1 Contractor shall provide City written notice of both Substantial and Final Completion. The certificate of Substantial Completion shall state the date of Substantial 

Completion, the responsibilities of the City and Contractor for security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and insurance, and the time within which the 

Contractor shall finish all items on the Punch List accompanying the Certificate. Both completion notices must be signed and notarized by the Contractor and signed by 

the Architect/Engineer (if applicable) and City to be valid. The City shall provide the final signature on the notices. The notices shall take effect on the date they are 
signed by the City. 

 
K.3.2 Substantial Completion of a facility with operating systems (e.g., mechanical, electrical, HVAC) shall be that degree of completion that has provided a minimum of thirty 

(30) continuous Days of successful, trouble-free operation, which period shall begin after all performance and acceptance testing has been successfully demonstrated to 

the City. All equipment contained in the Work, plus all other components necessary to enable the City to operate the facility in the manner that was intended, shall be 

complete on the Substantial Completion date.  The Contractor may request that a Punch List be prepared by the City with submission of the request for the Substantial 
Completion notice. 

 
K.4 TRAINING 

 
As part of the Work, and prior to submission of the final application for payment, the Contractor shall schedule with the City training sessions for all equipment and systems as 

required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall schedule training sessions at least two weeks in advance of the date of training to allow City to provide its personnel with 

adequate notice. If assignments arise because of termination under Section J.4, then such assignments shall not relieve Contractor of liability hereunder. The O & M Manual 
shall be used as a basis for training. In addition to any off-Project Site training required by the Contract Documents, training shall include a formal session conducted at the 

Project Site after the equipment and/or system is completely installed and operational in its normal operating environment. 

 
K.5 EXTRA MATERIALS 

 
As part of the Work, Contractor shall provide spare parts, extra maintenance materials, and other materials or products in the quantities specified in the Contract Documents 

prior to final payment. Delivery point for extra materials shall be designated by the City. 

 

K.6 ENVIRONMENTAL CLEAN-UP 

As part of the Final Completion notice, or as a separate written notice submitted with or before the notice of Final Completion, the Contractor shall notify the City that all 

environmental and pollution clean-up, remediation and closure have been completed in accordance with all Applicable Laws and pursuant to the authority of all agencies 

having jurisdiction, and Contractor shall provide City with any and all documentation related to the same, including but not limited to directives, orders, letters, certificates 

14 - 30



[Type here] 

 

Page 22  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

and permits related to or arising from such environmental pollution. The notice shall reaffirm the indemnification given under Section F.5.1 above. Contractor’s completion 

of its obligations under this Section K.6 and City’s receipt of documents evidencing such completion shall be a condition precedent to City’s obligation to make final 
payment. 

 
K.7 CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 

 
City’s receipt of an unconditioned certificate of occupancy from the appropriate state and/or local building officials shall be a condition precedent to City’s obligation to 

make final payment, except to the extent failure to obtain an unconditional certificate of occupancy is due to the fault or neglect of City. 

 
K.8 OTHER CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
The Contractor shall be responsible for returning to the City all property of City issued to Contractor during construction such as keys, security passes, Project Site 

admittance badges, and all other pertinent items. 

 

Upon notice from City, Contractor shall be responsible for notifying the appropriate utility companies to transfer utility charges from the Contractor to the City. The utility 
transfer date shall not be before Substantial Completion and may not be until Final Completion, if the City does not take beneficial use of the facility and the Contractor's 

agents continue with the Work. 

 
The City’s property is drug free and weapons free areas and the use of tobacco products is only allowed in designated areas. Contractor shall be required to ensure that 

its employees, Subcontractors and agents shall comply with these requirements. 
 

K.9 SURVIVAL 

 
All warranty and indemnification provisions of the Contract, and all of Contractor’s other obligations under the Contract that are not fully performed by the time of Final 
Completion or termination, shall survive Final Completion or any termination of the Contract. 

 
 

SECTION L 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
L.1 NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES 

 
City and Contractor are the only parties to the Contract and are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms. Nothing in the Contract gives, is intended to give, or shall be 

construed to give or provide any benefit or right, whether directly, indirectly, or otherwise, to third persons unless such third persons are individually identified by name 
herein and expressly described as intended beneficiaries of the terms of the Contract. 

 
L. 2  SEVERABILITY 

 
If any provision of the Contract is declared by a court to be unenforceable, illegal, or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and provisions shall not be 
affected and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the Contract did not contain the particular provision held to be invalid. 

 
L. 3  ACCESS TO RECORDS 

L.3.1 Contractor shall keep, at all times on the Project Site, one record copy of the complete Contract Documents, including the Plans, Specifications, addenda, and Change 
Orders (if any) in good order and marked currently to record field changes and selections made during construction, and one record copy of Shop Drawings, Product Data, 

Samples and similar submittals, and shall at all times give the City access thereto. 

 
L.3.2 Contractor shall retain and the City and its duly authorized representatives shall have access, for a period not less than ten (10) years, to all Record Documents, financial 
and accounting records, and other books, documents, papers and records of Contractor which are pertinent to the Contract, including records pertaining to Overhead and indirect 
costs, for the purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts and transcripts. If for any reason, any part of the Work or the Contract shall be subject to litigation, Contractor shall 
retain all such records until all litigation is resolved and Contractor shall continue to provide City and/or its agents with full access to such records until such time as all litigation is 
complete and all periods for appeal have expired and full and final satisfaction of any judgment, order or decree is recorded and City receives a record copy of documentation from 
Contractor.   

 
L.4 WAIVER 
 
Failure of the City to enforce any provision of the Contract shall not constitute a waiver or relinquishment by the City of the right to such performance in the future nor of the right to 
enforce any other provision of the Contract.   

 
L.5  SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 
 
The provisions of the Contract shall be binding upon and shall accrue to the benefit of the parties to the Contract and their respective permitted successors and assigns.   

 
L.6  GOVERNING LAW  
 
The contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon without giving effect to the conflict of law provisions thereof.   

 
L.7  APPLICABLE LAW 
 
Contractor hereto agrees to comply in all ways with applicable local, state and federal ordinances, statutes, laws and regulations.   

 
L.8  NON-EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 

14 - 31



[Type here] 

 

Page 23  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

 
Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the rights and remedies expressly afforded under the provisions of the Contract shall not be deemed exclusive, and shall 
be in addition to and cumulative with any and all rights and remedies otherwise available at law or in equity.  The exercise by either Party of any one or more of such 
remedies shall not preclude the exercise by it, at the same or different times, or any other remedies for the same default or breach, or for any other default or breach, by 
the other Party.   
 

L. 9 INTERPRETATION 
 
The titles of the section of the Contract are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 
 
L.10 LITIGATION 
 
Any Claim between City and Contractor that arises from or relates to the Contract and that is not resolved through the Claims Review Process in Section D.3 shall be brought and 
conducted solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court of the County of Clackamas for the State of Oregon’ provided, however, if a Claim must be brought in a federal forum, 
then it shall be brought and conducted solely and exclusively within the United States District Court for the District of Oregon.  In no event shall this section be construed as a 
waiver by the City of any form of defense or immunity, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity based on the Eleventh Amendment to the Constitution of 
the United States or otherwise, from any claim or from the jurisdiction of any court.  CONTRACTOR, BY EXECUTION OF THIS CONTRACT, HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE 
PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS REFERENCED IN THIS SECTION.    
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14 - 32



[Type here] 

 

Page 24  City of Gladstone Public Improvement Contract      
 

CITY OF GLADSTONE SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT CONTRACTS 
(“City Supplemental General Conditions”) 

 
All number references in the City Supplemental General Conditions shall be understood to refer to the subsection in the General Conditions bearing like numbers, and shall 
represent modifications and/or additions to the specified section.  

SECTION A 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Section A3.1 shall be modified as follows: 

 
A3.1 Unless otherwise specifically defined in the Contract Documents, words which have well-known technical meanings or construction industry meanings are used in 

the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meanings. Contract Documents are intended to be complementary. Whatever is called for in one, is 

interpreted to be called for in all. However, in the event of conflicts or discrepancies among the Contract Documents, interpretations will be based on the following 
descending order of precedence: 

 
(a) The Contract and any amendments thereto, including Change Orders, with those of later date having precedence over those of an earlier date; 

(b) The City Supplemental General Conditions; 

(c) City General Conditions; 

(d) Plans and Specifications; 

(e) Supplemental Technical Provisions; 

(f) Technical Specifications; 

(g) The Invitation to Bid, and any addenda thereto. 
 

SECTION D 

CHANGES IN THE WORK 
 

Section D.2 shall be modified as follows: 
 
D.2.1 Contractor shall not be entitled to additional compensation or additional Contract Time for Avoidable Delays. 
 
D.2.1.1 Avoidable delays include delays which could have been avoided by the exercise of care, prudence, foresight, and diligence on the part of the Contractor or its Subcontractors, 

including, but not limited to, the following: 
 

(a) Delays which may in themselves be unavoidable but which affect only a portion of the Work and do not necessarily prevent or delay the prosecution of other 
parts of the Work nor the completion of the whole Work within the Contract time. 

(b) Delays which do not impact activities on the accepted critical path schedule. 
(c) Time associated with the reasonable interference of other contractors employed by the Owner which do not necessarily prevent the completion of the whole 

Work within the Contract time. 
 
D.2.1.2 Unavoidable delays include those which result from causes beyond the control of the Contractor and which could not have been avoided by the exercise of care, 

prudence, foresight, and diligence on the part of the Contractor or its Subcontractors.  Delays caused by Force Majeure, war, public enemy, freight embargoes, and 
strikes which occur despite the Contractor's reasonable efforts to avoid them, shall be considered as unavoidable. 

 
(a) If the Contractor believes that adjustments to cost or Contract Time are involved because of an Unavoidable Delay caused by differing Project Site Conditions, a 

review process is established under Section A.4.5. 
(b) Claims by the Contractor based on adverse weather conditions must be substantiated by documentation that weather conditions were abnormal for the specific 

time period claimed, could not have been anticipated by the Contractor, and adversely impacted the Project.  A rain, windstorm, high water, or other natural 
phenomenon for the specific locality of the Work, which might reasonably have been anticipated from the previous ten (10) years historical records of the general 
locality of the Work, shall not be construed as abnormal.  It is hereby agreed that rainfall greater than the following cannot be reasonably anticipated: 
i. Daily rainfall equal to, or greater than, 0.75 inch during a month when the monthly rainfall exceeds the normal monthly average by twenty-five percent (25%) 

or more. 
ii. Daily rainfall equal to, or greater than, 1.00 inch at any time. 
iii. The National Weather Service National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) rain gauge at the Portland International Airport, Portland, Oregon, 

shall be considered the official agency of record for weather information. 
 
D2.2 In the event of Unavoidable Delays, Contractor may be entitled to the following: 
 

(a) Contractor may be entitled to additional compensation or additional Contract Time, or both, for Unavoidable Delays described in Section D.2.1.2 (a). 

 
(b) Contractor may be entitled to additional Contract Time for Unavoidable Delays described in Section D.2.1.2 (b). 

 
In the event of any requests for additional compensation or additional Contract Time, or both, as applicable, arising under this Section D.2.2 for Unavoidable Delays, 

other than requests for additional compensation or additional Contract Time for differing Project Site conditions for which a review process is established under Section 

A.4.5, Contractor shall submit a written notification of the delay to the City within two (2) Days of the occurrence of the cause of the delay. This written notification shall 
state the cause of the potential delay, the Project components impacted by the delay, and the anticipated additional Contract Time extension or the additional 

compensation, or both, as applicable, resulting from the delay. Within seven (7) Days after the cause of the delay has been mitigated, or in no case more than thirty 

(30) Days after the initial written notification, the Contractor shall submit to the City, a complete and detailed request for additional compensation or additional Contract 

Time, or both, as applicable, resulting from the delay. If the City denies Contractor’s request for additional compensation or adjustment of Contract Time, the Contractor 
may proceed to file a Claim under Section D.3, Claims Review Process. 

 
If Contractor does not timely submit the notices required under this Section D.2.2, Contractor’s Claim shall be barred. 

14 - 33





15



City of Gladstone 
Staff Report  

              
 
Report Date:  February 6, 2024  
Meeting Date:  February 13, 2024  
To:     Gladstone City Council 
From:    Jacque M. Betz, City Administrator    
 
AGENDA ITEM 
 
Gladstone Town Center Stakeholder Advisory Committee; Appointment of Committee Members 
 
HISTORY/BACKGROUND 
 
At the January 9, 2024 City Council meeting the Council accepted a grant from the Department 
of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) to enact parking reform and establish a Town 
Center (also considered a “climate-friendly area”), which is a geographic area within the city that 
provides opportunities for residents to access services with reduced dependence on single-
occupancy vehicles. This is in accordance with Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012-0420-
0450. As part of this work staff was provided direction to convene a stakeholders committee to 
review information and provide recommendations on milestones. 
 
Per Resolution No. 1227, a resolution which adopted Gladstone City Council rules, Section R 
allows for the creation of an ad hoc committee (a public body created by Council for a particular 
purpose, issue, or need). City staff can make recommendations to the Mayor who will then appoint 
the chosen individuals with the consent of the Council by a majority vote at a Council meeting. 
 
The following individuals have expressed an interest in being on the Gladstone Town Center 
Stakeholder Advisory Committee (SAC). 
 

 Dr. Bob Everett, DMD 
 Liz Banta, Cookie Pot and The Brew 
 Bryce Colson, Bound to Happen 
 Kaleb Eisele, Gladstone Park- Seventh Day Adventist Church 
 Lisa Eirene, Gladstone resident 
 Glen Hamburg, Metro 
 Kelly Reid, Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) 
 City Councilor (to be determined at this Council meeting) 
 Planning Commissioner (to be determined at the February 20, 2024 PC meeting) 

 
The SAC members will be provided materials one week in advance of each meeting. They will be 
asked to review the materials and be prepared to discuss and ask questions at each of the SAC 
meetings. 
  
We will strive for a general consensus of the SAC on a recommendation for the Town Center 
boundary, citywide parking reform and updates to the City’s Development Code, Comprehensive 

15 - 1



15 - 2



16



16 - 1



16 - 2



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Metro 2019 Bond Measure to 

Protect and Connect Nature and People 

Local Share Handbook 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 2021 

Photo Photo Photo 

16 - 3



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Public service 
We are here to serve the public 

with the highest level of 
integrity. 

 

Excellence 

We aspire to achieve exceptional 
results. 

 

 

Teamwork 

We engage others in ways that foster 
respect and trust. 

 
 

Respect 

We encourage and appreciate 
diversity in people and ideas. 

 
 

Innovation 

We take pride in coming up with 
innovative solutions. 

 
 

Sustainability 
We are leaders in demonstrating 

resource use and protection. 

 

Metro’s values and purpose 
 

We inspire, engage, teach and invite people to 

preserve and enhance the quality of life and the 

environment for current and future generations. 

16 - 4



Metro brings together greater Portland to preserve farms and forests, protect water and 

wildlife, and create communities people want to call home. Led by an elected council, this 

unique government helps plan for the future and offers places, services and tools that make life 

better today. 

Metro Parks and Nature protects water quality, fish and wildlife habitat, and creates 

opportunities to enjoy nature close to home through a connected system of parks, trails and 

natural areas. 

 

 

STAY IN TOUCH WITH NEWS, STORIES AND THINGS TO DO. 

oregonmetro.gov/news 

 

Follow oregonmetro 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
METRO COUNCIL PRESIDENT 

Lynn Peterson 

 

METRO COUNCILORS 

Shirley Craddick, District 1 

Christine Lewis, District 2 

Gerritt Rosenthal, District 3 

Juan Carlos González, District 4  

Mary Nolan, District 5 

Bob Stacey, District 6 

 

AUDITOR 

Brian Evans 

 
 
 

600 NE Grand Ave. Portland, 

OR 97232-2736 

503-797-1700

16 - 5



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 5 - 

2019 PARKS AND NATURE LOCAL SHARE HANDBOOK  
 

PART 1: BOND INTENT AND PRINCIPLES - 7 - 

1 INTRODUCTION - 7 - 

2 PURPOSE OF THIS HANDBOOK - 7 - 

3 2019 BOND EMPHASIS ON EQUITY - 8 - 

4 2019 BOND MEASURE PRINCIPLES - 9 - 

PART 2: LOCAL SHARE CRITERIA AND ELIGIBLE INVESTMENTS - 11 - 

5 LOCAL SHARE PROGRAM CRITERIA - 11 - 

 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND RACIAL EQUITY - 11 - 
 SUPPORTING RESILIENT COMMUNITIES (PROGRAM CRITERIA 5) - 15 - 

6 ELIGIBLE LOCAL SHARE INVESTMENTS - 16 - 

 NATURAL AREA OR PARK LAND ACQUISITION - 16 - 
 FISH AND WILDLIFE HABITAT RESTORATION, HABITAT CONNECTIVITY ENHANCEMENTS - 18 - 
 MAINTAINING OR DEVELOPING PUBLIC ACCESS FACILITIES AT PUBLIC PARKS AND NATURAL AREAS - 18 - 
 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF LOCAL OR REGIONAL TRAILS - 19 - 
 ENHANCED OR NEW LEARNING/ENVIRONMENTAL EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES - 19 - 

7 LOCAL SHARE PROJECT-SPECIFIC CRITERIA - 20 - 

 CLIMATE RESILIENCY CRITERIA - 20 - 
 ADDITIONAL PROJECT-SPECIFIC CRITERIA - 21 - 

PART 3: RESPONSIBILITIES, PROJECT PROPOSALS AND FUNDING - 25 - 

8 RESPONSIBILITIES OF METRO AND PARK PROVIDERS - 25 - 

 METRO - 25 - 
 COMMUNITY OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE - 25 - 
 PARK PROVIDERS - 25 - 

Table of Contents 

16 - 6



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 6 - 

9 DISTRIBUTION OF FUNDS - 26 - 

 ALLOCATION OF LOCAL SHARE FUNDS - 26 - 
 ELIGIBLE CAPITAL COSTS - 26 - 
 10% CAP ON STAFF, OVERHEAD, AND INDIRECT PROJECT COSTS - 26 - 
 BUDGETING - 27 - 

10 PROJECT PROPOSAL AND APPROVAL - 27 - 

 STEPS FROM PROJECT SUBMITTAL TO APPROVAL - 27 - 
 PROJECT SUBMITTAL PACKAGE - 28 - 
 RELEASE OF FUNDS - 29 - 

11 TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE - 30 - 

 STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT - 30 - 
 EQUITY IN CONTRACTING - 30 - 
 LAND ACQUISITION - 30 - 
 LAND STABILIZATION AND HABITAT ENHANCEMENT - 30 - 
 DEMOGRAPHIC AND PARK USAGE GEOSPACIAL DATA - 30 - 

12 MONITORING AND DATA TRACKING - 30 - 

 TRACKING OUTCOMES - 30 - 
 REPORTING IMPACTS - 30 - 

13 ADDITIONAL RESOURCES - 31 - 

14 AMENDMENTS TO HANDBOOK - 31 - 

 
 
  

16 - 7



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 7 - 

 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

Over the past quarter century, under the leadership of the Metro Council and in collaboration with 

dozens of partners, the people of the greater Portland metropolitan area have protected, restored and 

developed a remarkable system of parks and natural areas, with plans to ultimately link them by what is, 

even today, an extensive trail network. This deliberate and thoughtful effort sets us apart from other 

metropolitan regions and contributes significantly to our quality of life, matched in few other places.  

The success of this collaborative effort is due in no small part to the work of local jurisdictions in placing 

land in public ownership, connecting communities with their natural environment and providing for the 

wellbeing of adults and children through outdoor recreation. 

Building on this legacy, on November 5, 2019, voters across greater Portland approved Metro’s 2019 

Bond Measure to Protect and Connect People to Nature (the “bond measure”), authorizing Metro to issue 

general obligation bonds in the amount of $475 million (“bond funds”) to fund natural area and water 

quality protection and to connect people to nature. The bond measure is comprised of six funded 

programs:  

1. Protect and restore land, $155 million 

2. Support local projects (local share), $92 million 

3. Nature in Neighborhoods capital grants, $40 million 

4. Take care of Metro parks, $98 million 

5. Create trails for walking and biking, $40 million 

6. Advance large-scale community visions, $50 million 

 

2 PURPOSE OF THIS HANDBOOK 

This local share program handbook defines the general process Metro intends to use to distribute $92 

million dollars of bond funds to the cities, counties and other park providers enumerated in the bond 

measure for land acquisition and eligible capital projects. The local share program builds upon the 

success of the 1995 and 2006 bond measures, which distributed $25 million and $44 million 

respectively to local park providers for land acquisition, water quality and habitat restoration, trail 

connections, community parks and capital improvements that provide environmental education and 

connect people with nature.  

This local share program handbook describes key overall bond measure and local share program 

criteria. This handbook is not intended to create or constitute any legally binding obligations, but 

rather it is intended to describe desired outcomes and provide general guidance to eligible park 

providers across the region on how to access their local share allocation. It also provides guidance for 

local share implementation, addressing how bond funds may be administered to ensure delivery of 

the outcomes described in the bond measure. 

PART 1: BOND INTENT AND PRINCIPLES  

16 - 8



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 8 - 

 
 

 

3 2019 BOND EMPHASIS ON EQUITY 

Metro works to improve the quality of life for greater Portland's 1.5 million residents. Here in the 

Pacific Northwest, quality of life is often described in terms of access to, and enjoyment of, the 

abundant natural beauty that defines our part of the planet and the fish and wildlife that grace our 

lands and waters. Previous bond measures provided the means to acquire today’s network of natural 

areas, restore habitat and ecological functions to these sites and open them for public enjoyment 

where appropriate. This bond measure builds upon past accomplishments with an aim to further 

protect land, water and habitat while supporting and encouraging human connection to nature. This 

bond does so with a greater emphasis on making access and investments more equitable. 

Like most of the nation, the Portland region’s communities are becoming more diverse. It is projected 

that by the year 2045, communities of color will be the majority. In recent years, a growing recognition 

of the inequities in our public systems has prompted Metro to step forward to address racial equity. 

Racism is a deeply rooted system that continues to perpetuate inequities for Black, Indigenous, and other 

people of color across every facet of life and, therefore, they experience worse outcomes in every 

indicator of social well-being. Although these inequities are faced by other historically marginalized 

groups–people with low incomes, seniors and people with disabilities, people with limited English 

proficiency, immigrants and refugees, and people who have experienced or are experiencing housing 

instability–the pervasiveness and systemic nature of racism disproportionately impacts communities of 

color. It is because of this that Metro has identified racial equity as the measure to ensure that all people 

who live, work and recreate in the greater Portland area have opportunities to share in and help define a 

thriving, livable and prosperous region. By addressing the barriers experienced by communities of color, 

we will effectively also identify solutions and remove barriers for other under-resourced communities.  

If we make full use of the opportunities afforded by this bond to break down these barriers, it will make 

outsized impacts and do far more to meet the complex needs in our region. When park and natural area 

projects are selected, built, and maintained in a way that seeks to lift up and give power to voices that 

have been historically marginalized, decisions are ultimately made that benefit everyone. When 

everyone can enjoy parks and natural areas, they become essential elements of vibrant communities.  

Metro embraces its responsibility to help remove the barriers of institutional racism that keep our 

region from achieving its fullest potential. In 2016, the Metro Council identified racial equity as the lens 

through which it seeks to identify and remove institutional barriers and increase equitable outcomes for 

Black and Indigenous communities and other communities of color in greater Portland (See Metro’s 

Strategic Plan to Advance Racial Equity, Diversity and Inclusion in Section 13-Additional Resources) 

Therefore, in developing the 2019 bond measure, Metro reached out to a broader set of stakeholders 

than it had for previous measures and focused on elevating the voices of historically marginalized 

communities, including members of the urban Indigenous community and leaders from culturally 

specific organizations, while tapping the deep knowledge of conservation practitioners and park 

providers throughout the region.  

This expanded group of stakeholders helped shape the structure, content and criteria of the 2019 bond 

16 - 9



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 9 - 

measure. As a result, this parks and nature bond measure is different from those passed in 1995 and 

2006. Like past measures, this one focuses on protecting wildlife habitat and water quality, making 

park improvements and connecting people to nature close to home. In contrast, this bond measure 

prioritizes serving people of color, Indigenous people, people with low incomes, people with varying 

abilities and other historically marginalized groups that have not benefited equitably from past 

investments. It requires that all programs funded by this bond are shaped through meaningful 

stakeholder engagement, are developed using a racial equity lens and work to make the region more 

resilient to climate change.  

 

4 2019 BOND MEASURE PRINCIPLES 
 

Based on community and partner engagement and input from stakeholders, the voter-approved bond 

measure included the following guiding principles in Exhibit A of the bond measure (See Section 13-

Additional Resources). Local park providers must apply these principles when selecting projects for 

local share funding: 

Serve communities through inclusive engagement, transparency and accountability. 

Continue to build trust and relationships through engagement of the region’s diverse communities in 

the identification, planning and implementation of all Metro bond-funded projects. Develop tools to 

evaluate and report on impacts, and adjust course as needed. 

Advance racial equity through bond investments.  

Set aspirational goals for workforce diversity and use of minority-owned and diverse contractors 

identified through Oregon Certification Office for Business Inclusion and Diversity (COBID) and work to 

reduce barriers to achieving these goals. Demonstrate accountability by tracking outcomes and 

reporting impacts. 

Protect clean water for people, fish and wildlife. 

Increase the emphasis on water quality as well as quantity in regional land acquisition priorities, 

including but not limited to protecting headwaters and preventing flooding in urban areas. 

Protect and restore culturally significant native plant communities. 

Prioritize protection and restoration of culturally significant native plants in partnership with greater 

Portland’s Indigenous community in regional land acquisition and management plans. 

Protect, connect and improve habitat for native fish and wildlife. 

Focus on habitat protection for native fish species, such as salmon, trout, steelhead and lamprey, in 

regional land acquisition and management plans. Restore and enhance habitat for wildlife prioritized in 

state, federal and regional conservation plans and/or identified as priorities through community 

engagement. Consider additional opportunities for natural resource protection on working lands 

consistent with Metro’s commitment to protect the agricultural economy and working lands in the 

greater Portland region. 

Take care of what we have. 

16 - 10



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 10 - 

Maintain, update and reinvest in regional and local destinations, particularly those with high visitation 

and use by communities of color or places/projects identified by communities of color. 

Make parks and natural areas more accessible and inclusive. 

Increase access for those experiencing disabilities through investments using universal design 

principles and projects that comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act. Work with communities of 

color, greater Portland’s Indigenous community and other historically marginalized groups to identify 

opportunities for culturally responsive public improvements. 

Connect more people to the land and rivers of our region. 

Provide people with new or improved access to local rivers and streams, natural areas and places for 

multi-generational activities, healing spaces and community gatherings. Leverage other public and 

private investments in affordable housing and transportation. 

Invest in trails for biking and walking. 

Focus on closing gaps and completing ready-to-build projects that fulfill the Regional Trails Plan, 

particularly those identified as priorities by communities of color. Consider proximity to affordable 

housing and transit and connections to regional or local parks. 

Support community-led parks and nature projects. 

Require greater community engagement and racial equity strategies for local, community-led projects 

funded by the bond. Prioritize projects identified and created by communities of color and other 

historically marginalized groups. Hold partners accountable for tracking outcomes and reporting 

impacts. 

Make communities more resilient to climate change. 

Reduce impacts of climate change through conservation and park development. Emphasize flood 

control, water quality and availability, urban forest canopy, habitat connectivity, food security and 

community access to water. 

  

16 - 11



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 11 - 

 

PART 2: LOCAL SHARE CRITERIA AND ELIGIBLE INVESTMENTS 

 

5 LOCAL SHARE PROGRAM CRITERIA 

Every program funded by this bond, including investments made through the local share program, must 

be shaped through meaningful community engagement and advance racial equity. Park providers should 

start by considering how they do or will apply community engagement and racial equity criteria and how 

outcomes from applying these criteria will inform project identification, selection and implementation. 

Demonstrating successful integration of these criteria will be a key component of project approval and 

overall success of the program.  

 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND RACIAL EQUITY 

Each park provider must select and propose a portfolio of projects for local share funding with the aim of 

advancing racial equity in our region. All local share program investments must satisfy all six community 

engagement and racial equity criteria outlined in the bond legislation (See Bond Measure Exhibit A in 

Section 13-Additional Resources). Program Criteria 1, 2 and 4 below should influence selection and 

design of projects. Program Criteria 3, 5 and 6 below must guide development of each park provider’s 

portfolio of local share-funded work.  

The six criteria are: 

Program Criteria 1: Meaningfully engage with communities of color, Indigenous communities, 

people with low incomes and other historically marginalized communities in planning, 

development and selection of projects (addressed in Section 5.1.1).  

Program Criteria 2: Prioritize projects and needs identified by communities of color, Indigenous 

communities, low-income and other historically marginalized groups (addressed in Section 5.1.1).  

Program Criteria 3: Demonstrate accountability for tracking outcomes and reporting impacts, 

particularly as they relate to communities of color, Indigenous communities, people with low 

incomes and other historically marginalized communities (addressed in Section 12).  

Program Criteria 4: Improve the accessibility and inclusiveness of developed parks (addressed in 

Section 7.2.2).  

Program Criteria 5: Include strategies to prevent or mitigate displacement and/or gentrification 

resulting from bond investments (addressed in Section 5.1.2).  

Program Criteria 6: Set aspirational goals for workforce diversity and use of COBID contractors 

and work to reduce barriers to achieving these goals; demonstrate accountability by tracking 

outcomes and reporting impacts (addressed in Section 5.1.2).  

Meaningful engagement is an important first step in addressing racial equity. A thoughtful, inclusive 

approach to community engagement lifts up and gives power to voices that have been historically 

silenced. Because the needs and desires of historically marginalized groups have been overlooked for so 

long, it makes sense that extra care be given to addressing historic inadequacies in stakeholder 

engagement that influences investment decisions.  

 

16 - 12



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 12 - 

With its focus on improvements to parks and natural areas, this bond also strives to advance racial 

equity by making public spaces safe and welcoming for historically marginalized communities. By doing 

so, park providers make these spaces safe for all park visitors. 

 
 MEANINGFUL ENGAGEMENT (PROGRAM CRITERIA 1 & 2) 

Most public agencies fulfill some level of stakeholder engagement when planning publicly funded 

projects. Of Oregon’s nineteen statewide land use planning goals, Goal One calls for "the opportunity for 

citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process." Meaningful engagement requires that we go 

beyond minimums. The International Association for Public Participation, a professional organization 

that promotes high standards for the practice of public engagement, sets out principles for public 

participation as follows: 

1. Those affected by a decision have a right to be involved in the decision-making process. 

2. The public's contribution will influence the decision.  

3. Decisions last longer when the needs and interests of all participants are recognized and 
communicated, including those of decision makers.  

4. Those potentially affected by, or interested in, the outcome are sought after and invited to 
participate.  

5. Participants should help design how they participate.  

6. Participants are provided the information in a form they need to participate in a meaningful way.  

7. Participants are informed of how their input affected the decision. 
 

Meaningful engagement means those who hold power and authority over outcomes share that power 

and decision making with members of the community who are most impacted by those outcomes. It 

means ideas and desires are genuinely sought from those interested in a project or whose lives could be 

affected by, improved or negatively impacted by it. It means communication is designed to take place at 

the convenience of members of the community. It requires developing creative tools and new 

approaches that draw people into dialog and working to make the process of designing public projects 

relevant for regular folks. It means the contributions of those who participate in shaping and evaluating 

public projects are honored and put into practice where feasible. In the ideal, it means engagement is led 

by, and decision-making power is ceded to, the community affected by the decision. 

The interests of historically marginalized groups, in particular Black and Indigenous communities and 

other communities of color, have been largely absent from public project deliberations and members of 

these groups have had limited opportunity to influence outcomes. There are a number of contributing 

factors. Due to historic well-documented societal actions and government policies that contributed to or 

sanctioned oppression, erasure, exploitation and genocide, members of historically marginalized 

communities have been systematically excluded from roles of influence. Oregon has a particularly 

troubling history of racist policies and actions. Today, these communities may be understandably 

distrustful, intimidated or reticent to speak out to government representatives or others in power. 

Traditional public engagement activities have not been structured to engage these groups. They have 

required people to participate at times, in processes and under circumstances that pose challenges for 

groups that already lack access to these opportunities. Yet plans benefit from ideas and scrutiny from the 

widest possible swath of the community. When specific groups or demographic sectors are excluded, 

16 - 13



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 13 - 

intentionally or not, resulting public projects likely will not serve the needs of those groups or sectors 

and may lack the color and creativity that would come from broader contributions.  

The aim of this bond is to address that historic wrong through deliberate efforts to engage 

representatives from these groups in a thoughtful and empathetic way, on their terms. By so doing, 

Metro and partners will open opportunities for people from across the region, from all backgrounds and 

walks of life, to help shape the features of their communities, to help all members of the community 

connect with nature close to home, and to make parks and natural areas more welcoming and accessible. 

It is anticipated that, if this effort is successful, Black and Indigenous communities, other communities of 

color, people with low incomes and other historically marginalized communities will have decision-

making influence, see how they have directly impacted project outcomes and feel parks were built for 

them. Black, Indigenous, immigrant and other communities of color will find space for cultural needs and 

practices. They will see their identities and values reflected in park site selection, design, interpretation 

and care over time. 

 

LOCAL SHARE ENGAGEMENT EXPECTATIONS 

Metro will hold park providers accountable for meaningfully engaging communities of color and other 

historically marginalized communities and for reporting to Metro how this engagement determined local 

share priorities, implementation strategies and project impacts. Metro will work with each park provider 

to consider current efforts and, where needed, identify opportunities to expand and enhance 

engagement to meet bond requirements.  

As park providers consider their engagement with historically marginalized communities, it should be 

noted that federally-and state-recognized Indian Tribes are sovereign nations and engagement between 

each city and county and the federally- and state-recognized Tribes with treaty rights to lands and 

waters within the metro area constitutes government-to-government engagement, as distinguished from 

interactions with other stakeholders and community groups. There are also community-based 

organizations representing urban Indigenous communities. Engagement with these community-based 

organizations, while important and valuable, does not constitute or take the place of formal discussions 

with the Tribes. Metro is building more formalized relationships with each of the recognized Tribes with 

historic ties to this region and will share information and insights with park providers as these 

relationships develop. 

As park providers consider how best to meet the needs and desires of historically marginalized 

communities, the 2019-2023 Oregon Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP) (See 

Section 13-Additional Resources) may prove a useful beginning technical resource. The only recent 

region-wide survey on the topic of outdoor recreation that used statistically valid sample sizes for 

different racial, ethnic, age and income groups, it identified relative popularity of and demand for various 

outdoor recreation activities and opportunities among these groups.  

See Sections 10.2, 11.1 and 12 below for more specific direction on how to meet engagement 

requirements and track outcomes (Program Criteria 3).  

 

 

 

16 - 14



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 14 - 

 ECONOMIC EQUITY (PROGRAM CRITERIA 6) 

The bond creates an opportunity to promote shared economic prosperity throughout the region by 

ensuring the participation of underrepresented workers and contractors on capital projects. It is Metro’s 

goal to work with partner agencies to advance concrete strategies to support female and people of color 

workers and contractors on bond-funded capital projects. These goals are in alignment with Metro’s 

Strategic Plan to Advance Racial Equity, Diversity and Inclusion and the Metro Council-adopted 

Construction Career Pathways Regional Framework.  

This bond measure also requires that bond funds be used to advance racial equity by establishing 

aspirational goals for equity in contracting and contractor workforce diversity. Metro recognizes that 

each park provider will be starting from a different place and wants to ensure that goals push the 

boundaries of current processes but are still achievable. 

Diversifying the construction industry is a key strategy for addressing the region’s shortage of skilled 

workers in the construction workforce. If left unaddressed, this shortage will drive up construction costs 

for decades to come. This bond invests in our collective ability to address these shortages and expand 

access to well-paying construction jobs for all residents, including women and people of color. Through 

these efforts, we can strengthen our regional economy and avoid higher construction costs for public 

projects over time. Metro will work with park providers to incorporate strategies to advance contracting 

equity and contractor and subcontractor workforce diversity into intergovernmental agreements 

(“IGAs”) as described below.  

 

LOCAL SHARE CONTRACTING EXPECTATIONS  

Local partners that have existing policies that align with the Construction Career Pathways Regional 

Framework and established utilization goals for contractors certified by Oregon’s Certification Office for 

Business Inclusion and Diversity (COBID) should apply those policies and goals to bond-funded projects. 

Policies that align with the Construction Career Pathways Regional Framework are those that identify a 

level of project cost for which diversity goals will be applied, in which workforce diversity will be 

tracked, respectful workplace training will be provided and workforce agreements will be put into 

practice. Policies that promote the utilization of COBID certified firms are those that establish 

aspirational goals and tracking systems for the utilization of people of color- and women-owned firms as 

well as other firms that qualify under the state COBID program.  

For park providers that do not have existing policies, Metro will work with partners to rightsize the 

Construction Career Pathways Regional Framework and equity-in-contracting strategies to 

accommodate their organization’s individual capacity while also advancing equity goals. Through joint 

discussions between Metro and park provider staff, Metro will develop thresholds based on total project 

cost and other factors to guide which components of the Construction Career Pathways Regional 

Framework must be implemented, including workforce diversity tracking, application of workforce 

diversity goals, respectful workplaces training and utilization of workforce agreements. Goals will be 

established prior to development of IGAs and documented in each park provider’s IGA. 

Metro recognizes that this is a new approach for some local governments in the region. The goal is to 

create a pathway for agencies to build the capacity and infrastructure to advance workforce and equity-

in-contracting strategies. In order to support agencies in implementing the agreed-upon strategies, 

Metro expects to provide technical assistance which may include support in collecting and tracking 

workforce equity data, procurement strategies that advance workforce diversity and implementation of 

16 - 15



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 15 - 

respectful workplace training (See Section 11). Metro will also work with park providers to identify 

utilization goals for certified contractors.  

Tracking workforce diversity is a key component of implementing workforce and contracting equity 

strategies. Metro will work with park providers to identify specific tracking tools and agreements on 

data sharing and reporting requirements (See Section 12). 

The COBID system offers what is currently the best option available for identifying and attracting 

businesses owned by minorities, women and service-disabled veterans. Park providers should set 

aspirational goals, some of which could be assistance to contractors versus utilization targets. Park 

providers should seek contractors through this system while also documenting efforts to help reduce 

contractors’ barriers to certification and support success of certified firms. Because of the constraints of 

the current system, this may require effort and creativity. For example, park providers might identify 

specific COBID-eligible firms and assist them in gaining certification or engage with minority-focused 

chambers of commerce or circulate notification of upcoming projects to community-based organizations 

that support historically marginalized communities. It is helpful for procurement managers across the 

region to share resources and approaches. Metro anticipates holding roundtables where park providers 

and procurement staff can share ideas, techniques and lessons learned.  

 

 SUPPORTING RESILIENT COMMUNITIES (PROGRAM CRITERIA 5) 

New parks add so much to neighborhoods and communities. Trees, flowers, pathways and areas to 

socialize and exercise connect people to nature and boost the livability of neighborhoods. But that can 

come at the price of equity. When parks and trails are built or improved in historically marginalized 

areas, ostensibly to serve the local residents, the surrounding neighborhood may see higher housing 

prices and rent increases. The term “green gentrification” is used to describe this process of housing 

price increases and influxes of new, wealthier and often white residents in low-income communities of 

color. Research indicates the threat is real in many cities and can lead to displacement of longtime 

residents and businesses.  

Generally, this is not an issue that parks departments and districts can solve alone. To avoid 

displacement from gentrification, communities need to identify strategies and implement policies, 

ideally well in advance of the addition of new amenities such as parks. Local governments have the 

authority and are best equipped to address this issue holistically through a mixture of policies that keep 

housing affordable and support better paying jobs, implemented in conjunction with plans for new or 

improved parks. Ideally, public agencies should work with community-based organizations to identify 

anti-displacement strategies for areas surrounding parks, trails and natural areas in advance of 

improvements.  

 

LOCAL SHARE COMMUNITY RESILIENCY EXPECTATIONS  

How do you improve access to parks and natural areas but not contribute to this shift in property values 

and land uses that has potential to detrimentally affect a community? 

A few recommendations: 

 Projects should reflect the scale, context and needs of the surrounding community. Park 

improvements should serve the needs of the existing community while maintaining or enhancing 

16 - 16



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 16 - 

its culture and character. This is just one more compelling reason to plan parks in consultation 

with residents and culturally-focused community-based organizations. Equitably engage 

community in selecting park, nature and trail projects. Encourage participation of those who may 

be impacted by parks and nature investments. Prioritize the voices of those who have been 

traditionally underrepresented.  

 Community engagement with local residents and community-based organizations can help raise 

the local governments’ understanding of challenges residents face and the opportunities for 

solutions. Assist in the growth of partnerships that can create alliances, identify mutual goals and 

values, identify financial support, and build relationships with community ambassadors. 

 Designing parks and developing displacement-avoidance strategies should go hand in hand and 

involve collaboration between park, employment and housing organizations. 

 Combine the creation and preservation of affordable housing with initiatives to create better 

paying jobs for local residents. Partner with workforce development agencies and programs to 

develop job skills within the community around investment areas. Protect locally-owned small 

businesses through direct contracting with COBID certified businesses.  

 Integrate displacement avoidance into policies, laws and funding measures as was done with this 

bond. Anti-displacement housing- and land-use policies include: inclusionary zoning, density 

bonuses, developer impact fees, rent control. Support programs that make it easier for low-

income homeowners and renters to stay in place: anti-eviction protections, renter education 

workshops, and property tax freezes or down-payment assistance for low-income homeowners.  

 Share successes and failures with colleagues across the region to learn collectively which 

practices are most effective.  

Park providers should be prepared to describe measures their community is taking to prevent 

gentrification and displacement, particularly as it relates to bond-funded, capital projects. Metro is 

developing additional anti-displacement direction for all six bond programs and will share results when 

available. 

 

6 ELIGIBLE LOCAL SHARE INVESTMENTS 

The bond measure identified the following five types of capital investments as eligible for local share 

funding.  

 NATURAL AREA OR PARK LAND ACQUISITION 

Land acquisition includes the purchase (fee title or easements) of regionally or locally-determined 

significant natural areas, wildlife habitat, trail corridors, neighborhood or community parks, and 

out-of-pocket capital costs associated with property acquisition. “Stabilization" of newly acquired 

lands may also be a permissible capital expense and consists of the initial actions exercised after 

the purchase of a property, typically completed within five years, required to put the property into 

the condition for which it was purchased. Stabilization activities are often the first steps toward 

meaningful fish and wildlife habitat enhancement and may include preventing further degradation 

of natural resource values, vegetation management, tree and shrub planting, replacement, 

installation or removal of structures such as culverts, gates or fences, protecting property security 

16 - 17



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 17 - 

and minimizing health and safety risks. Each park provider must determine which acquisition and 

stabilization-related expenses constitute capital costs based on its financial policies and in 

compliance with state laws. Land banking, defined as acquiring property for a future use, is also 

permissible. Notwithstanding the forgoing, all properties purchased with bond funds must be 

maintained for their intended natural area, wildlife habitat, water quality, trail or recreation 

purpose.  

Agreements for local park providers to acquire any interest in land must be negotiated with willing 

sellers only and local park providers may not exercise their powers of eminent domain in the 

implementation of this bond measure. Metro has some limited technical assistance capacity available to 

assist local park providers with real estate transactions (see Section 11.3). For all land acquisitions, park 

providers must perform a commercially reasonable level of due diligence, as determined by Metro 

(including, but not limited to, title reviews and environmental assessments) to confirm there are no 

material restrictions or issues that would impede the park provider’s use of the land in accordance with 

the intent of the bond and applicable bond criteria.  In addition, park providers must obtain an appraisal 

for each land acquisition to ensure bond funds are being used to acquire property at fair market value. 

As referenced above, land acquisition costs that may be paid for with bond funds include the purchase 

price and all capital costs related to pre-purchase due diligence including appraisals, purchase of options, 

earnest money for purchase and sale agreements, environmental assessments, and other third-party 

reports. Metro intends to provide local partners with purchase funds prior to closing, while other due 

diligence costs will be on a reimbursement basis. The details of funding will be addressed in each 

provider’s IGA.  

The bond measure provides for property and trail acquisition funds through two other bond 

programs, and local park providers should be aware of how these interrelate with local share 

funding.  

 Within the Protect and Restore Land program (formerly referred to in the 2006 bond as 

“regional share”) there are several land acquisition target areas, including the urban target 

area, that overlap with the jurisdictions of local park providers. Metro encourages 

partnership through the acquisition and management of properties in local park providers’ 

jurisdictions, and park providers should consider coordinating their proposed land 

acquisition projects with Metro’s land acquisition staff to leverage expertise and funds in 

the most meaningful way. Local park providers should note that funds from the Protect and 

Restore Land program are intended to be used to purchase and restore regionally 

significant fish and wildlife habitat and not to backfill local priorities that are not funded 

through local share such as pocket or neighborhood parks.   

 As outlined in Section 6.4 below, the Create Trails for Walking and Biking program includes 

approximately $10 million for acquisition of property for trail easements to fill gaps in 

regional trail corridors. In past years, this has been funded through the “regional share” 

program of the bond. As in previous years, Metro intends to continue to negotiate purchase 

agreements to acquire trail corridors on behalf of local partners and convey these property 

rights to local park providers at closing. This arrangement will be documented through 

separate IGAs. 
 

16 - 18



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 18 - 

 FISH AND WILDLIFE HABITAT RESTORATION, HABITAT CONNECTIVITY ENHANCEMENTS 

Habitat restoration or enhancement can greatly increase the value of existing or newly protected land in 

providing connectivity, fish and wildlife habitat, water quality and human enjoyment. This is equally or 

especially true in the more urbanized portions of our region where natural habitat is scarcer, land is 

more expensive, the human footprint is larger and many more barriers to connectivity exist than in more 

rural areas. Often, if done thoughtfully, improvements can be incorporated into public access projects, 

creating important co-benefits. In some cases, restoration may be the only option to bring nature to 

neighborhoods that are truly nature deficient. 

During creation of the bond measure, stakeholders identified several priorities for habitats and species 

of concern, including: a focus on water quality and quantity; headwaters, wetlands and floodplains; 

prairie, savanna and oak; habitat for salmon, steelhead, trout and lamprey and species prioritized by the 

Indigenous community as well as those identified in federal, state and regional prioritizations.   

Many of the same types of actions that improve fish and wildlife habitat and increase scenic beauty are 

also key to improving our region’s resilience to a changing climate for nature and people. Restoring and 

reconnecting headwaters, wetlands and floodplains improves absorption of rainwater, reduces flooding, 

lowers water temperature and enhances late-season flow, benefiting fish and water users alike. 

Increased shade cools water and reduces the urban heat island effect. Better connected habitat not only 

supports healthier fish, wildlife and native plant populations, but allows nature to better adapt to a 

changing climate without expensive human intervention. 

Habitat enhancement work can also be a path to providing economic and stewardship opportunities to 

Black, Indigenous and other people of color and other historically marginalized communities. Ensuring 

such benefits do in fact accrue is a focus of this bond measure and requires thoughtful crafting and 

execution of requests for proposals and bids and similar work that turn restoration ideas into reality. In 

some cases, investment in restoration and enhancement can provide more economic benefits to 

historically marginalized communities than land protection due to existing inequities in land ownership. 

Bond investments are however, limited to capital projects. While many restoration efforts, such as 

stabilization, dam removal, floodplain levee de-construction, replacement of culverts with bridges; and 

placement of large wood in streams could be considered “capital” under a local park provider’s capital 

policy, other efforts, including ongoing maintenance and general operations would not be considered 

capital and therefore cannot be paid for with bond funds. Each local park provider receiving bond funds 

must comply with its own capital accounting policies and confer with local finance staff to determine 

whether proposed project-related costs are capital and thus eligible for funding. 

 MAINTAINING OR DEVELOPING PUBLIC ACCESS FACILITIES AT PUBLIC PARKS AND 
NATURAL AREAS 

Well designed and constructed public access facilities make parks more welcoming, safer and more 

enjoyable. They should enhance visitors’ connection to nature. These facilities can vary considerably and 

should be designed with consideration for anticipated future volume of visitation and the intended park 

or natural area experience. Facilities at less developed sites might include trailheads, natural soft surface 

trails and benches at key locations. Sites that receive large numbers of visitors might benefit from 

restrooms, parking at the trailhead and some hard trail surfaces. On sites that include water features 

such as wetlands, creeks or lakes, extra effort should be made to provide visitors with safe, meaningful 

and enjoyable access. Depending on the site and the fragility of the natural feature, this might mean 

16 - 19



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 19 - 

providing overlooks, boardwalks and viewpoints or wading areas and paddle launches. Parks and 

natural areas provide sites for community and family gatherings. This use can be supported with 

facilities such as picnic shelters. Community gardens provide a different kind of access. They facilitate 

hands-on engagement with nature, open opportunity for social interaction and education and support 

climate resilience by expanding access to fresh food and serving as stepping stone pollinator habitat. 

While this bond measure can fund a variety of access facilities, the stated purpose of the bond measure is 

to protect nature and provide people access to nature. As such, bond funds may not be used to fund 

sports facilities, including but not limited to basketball courts and swimming pools.  

 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF LOCAL OR REGIONAL TRAILS 

The bond measure includes a $40 million program to “create trails for walking and biking.” It will invest 

in regional trails, with up to $10 million allocated for willing-seller easements and property acquisitions 

to be led by Metro, as referenced in Section 6.1. The program also includes a competitive grant program 

which will award funds to local agencies for regional trail planning, design and construction.  

Local share funds can also be applied to trail projects but with greater flexibility. Trail program funds are 

limited to projects already identified on Metro’s regional trails system plan map. These “regional” trails 

typically connect multiple cities, are wide, paved, and are designed with bicycles in mind. Similarly, local 

share funds can be used for regional trails (e.g. a segment of a waterfront greenway that forms part of a 

longer trail connecting other communities), however they can also be used to fund trails that are not 

regional in scale. These include local in-park trails or any trails that offer people a way to experience 

nature close to home. Examples include a new bridge over a creek in a local natural area or a new 

mountain bike trail network within a local park. Trailhead amenities are also eligible for local share 

funding. Local share-funded trails do not have restrictions on length, width, surface material or user type 

(such as bicyclists or pedestrians) as long as they are consistent with ADA guidance.  

Park providers who invest local share funds in construction of trails, trail segments and trailhead 

amenities are responsible for ongoing management of these facilities including costs associated with 

maintaining and renewing or replacing them. New wayfinding signage along regional trails must follow 

the Intertwine Regional Trails Signage Guidelines. 

 ENHANCED OR NEW LEARNING/ENVIRONMENTAL EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 

Offering visitors information and insights about the natural and cultural history of a site helps deepen 

their experience and sense of connection. Information about nature can be shared with visitors in a 

variety of ways. Interpretation is a communication process that supports development of emotional and 

intellectual connections between the interests of the audience and the meanings of the site and its 

features and history. It involves translating technical language into terms and ideas that people who 

don’t have technical knowledge can readily understand and it provides opportunity for the audience to 

form their own intellectual and emotional connections with the place and its features. It can take place 

anywhere and tends to make use of signs, videos, kiosks, art and presentations. Environmental or nature 

education is more of a curriculum-based structured program offered in a specific setting to students over 

a longer period of time. Often its goals and specific learning objectives are tied to a state’s learning 

standards. Environmental education facilities may include classrooms, labs, presentation settings and 

designated outdoor sites equipped for learning specific objectives such as outdoor learning laboratories 

and outdoor museums.  

Both interpretive and environmental education facilities qualify for local share investment. The 

16 - 20



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 20 - 

investments must be capital. If a proposed facility will be shared for other uses such as meeting space or 

outdoor equipment rentals, local share should fund the percentage of the facility budget focused on 

nature education and connection. Kiosks, displays and interpretive signs must be designed using ADA 

access standards, with attention to cultural perspectives and for a variety of learning styles and sensory 

capabilities. Signs should be accessible to people of different ages and heights and to people in 

wheelchairs.  

 

7 LOCAL SHARE PROJECT-SPECIFIC CRITERIA 

In addition to satisfying required community engagement and racial equity program criteria described 

above, each project proposed for local share funding must meet at least one of the climate resiliency 

criteria below as well as at least one of the additional project-specific criteria below. These criteria 

intertwine and park providers are encouraged to identify projects that meet multiple criteria. 

 

 CLIMATE RESILIENCY CRITERIA 

 
 REDUCE IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE THROUGH CONSERVATION AND PARK 

DEVELOPMENT. 

We are witnessing effects of climate change in more extreme wildfires and weather events that 

threaten our biological and human communities. In response to guidance from climate scientists and 

climate modeling for the Pacific Northwest, we must anticipate hotter, drier and longer summers, 

winter rains that come in fewer but stronger storms, a reduced snowpack and, in general, more 

volatile weather.  

While Metro and partners work to systematically reduce our collective impact on the earth’s climate, 

we need to take steps to adapt to the anticipated changes we will face in our own communities in the 

intervening years. Climate resilience is the capability to anticipate, prepare for, respond to, and recover 

from significant threats with minimum damage to social well-being, the economy, and the 

environment. Climate scientists are in overwhelming agreement that the fundamental approach to 

increasing landscape-scale resilience in our natural ecosystems is having a connected network of well-

managed natural areas that enable systems and species to self-adapt to climate change. 

This bond measure identifies a variety of avenues for parks and natural areas to help buffer the effects 

of climate change, helping protect both our ecological systems and our built environment. Many 

actions supporting climate resilience provide multiple benefits that help meet other regional 

objectives also identified in this bond. Land protection provides opportunities to improve and connect 

habitat, and provide access for people. Native plantings in parks provide habitat while also saving 

water by reducing need for supplemental summer irrigation. Protection of wetlands and riparian areas 

also can help connect people to the waterways of the region and serve as low-impact flood storage. 

Trails used for human transportation, if located and designed well, may also serve as wildlife corridors 

allowing species to migrate as needed. Pollinator gardens and bird-friendly plantings provide 

“stepping stone” habitat for these flying species while providing wildlife viewing and educational 

opportunities for park visitors. Community gardens provide gardeners an intimate connection to living 

16 - 21



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 21 - 

organisms while contributing to food security. Thus, holistic designs can result in multiple benefits 

within the same project.  

Every project funded by the bond must satisfy at least one of the following climate resilience criteria 

(See Bond Measure Exhibit A in Section 13–Additional Resources): 

 Protect, connect and restore habitat to support strong populations of native plants, fish and 

wildlife that can adapt to changing climate. 

 Protect and restore floodplains, headwaters, streams and wetlands to increase their capacity to 

handle stormwater to protect vulnerable communities from flooding.  

 Increase tree canopy in developed areas to reduce heat island effects. 

 Use low-impact development practices and green infrastructure in project design and 

development.  

 Invest in segments of the regional trail system to expand active transportation opportunities for 

commuting, recreation and other travel. Consider local trails that also serve this purpose. 

Metro is developing climate resilience direction for other programs funded by this bond. More 

information will be shared with park providers as it becomes available. If desired, Metro will provide 

more specific direction and guidance on methods to meet climate resiliency criteria on a case-by-case 

basis and encourages park providers to explore options that serve the unique needs of their 

communities. 

 

 ADDITIONAL PROJECT-SPECIFIC CRITERIA 

 
 IMPROVE CRITICAL CAPITAL INFRASTRUCTURE TO ENSURE THAT PARKS ARE SAFE AND 

WELCOMING. 

During development of the bond measure, stakeholders stated their desire that the region take care of 

what we have before building new park improvements. Park providers should consider this feedback 

when selecting capital projects. Taking care of what we already have can be interpreted as investments 

in capital upgrades, or replacement of existing infrastructure to increase durability, efficiency and 

effectiveness. Metro recommends park providers prioritize replacement of dysfunctional infrastructure 

that poses a threat to visitor safety. This might mean addressing water access facilities, road or trail 

surfaces, staircases, railings, accessibility updates, etc. Lighting and strategically-located visibility can 

also help visitors feel safe. Improvements should be low impact and enhance, but not harm, water 

quality, wildlife and fish habitat and should not reduce the ability of park users to connect with nature.  

 

 IMPROVE ACCESSIBILITY AND INCLUSIVENESS OF DEVELOPED PARKS.  
(PROGRAM CRITERIA 4) 

While a well-built and well-maintained park can help convey a sense of safety to visitors, it is important 

that park managers consider other, perhaps less immediately tangible features of a park that may 

16 - 22



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 22 - 

influence visitors’ sense of safety. These may include the choice of who is honored in the park’s name and 

how the site is interpreted. Consultation with Black and Indigenous communities and other communities 

of color during park planning will help identify and address some of these culturally-specific concerns 

that influence visitor’s sense of safety. Any signage, interpretation, access points, art and other 

improvements should reflect the values and needs of the community, including historically marginalized 

groups, so that members of the community feel the park was built for their use and they are welcome.  

Cultural access and inclusiveness can be achieved by providing a variety of outdoor experiences and 

settings, as identified through consultation with historically marginalized communities, where all 

visitors have choices for how they use park facilities and connect to nature. Efforts should be made to 

eliminate travel challenges and financial costs as barriers to experiencing nature. Projects should ensure 

that people of color, Indigenous people, people with disabilities and other marginalized communities feel 

that parks and their amenities are shaped by and for them. 

Developed parks should be accessible to people of all abilities and inclusive to people of all backgrounds, 

cultures and means. At a minimum, capital projects funded by local share must meet applicable federal 

Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) standards and state accessibility standards (see Oregon 

Structural Specialty Code). It is quite common that projects designed to meet these minimum standards 

miss the mark in execution. For this reason, Metro recommends extra care and scrutiny at all stages of a 

project, from scoping through project close-out. Reliance on the promise of well-intentioned designers, 

contractors, and permitting agencies for whom achieving ADA compliance is not a first priority has 

resulted in many inaccessible experiences for people experiencing disabilities. Ongoing care and 

stewardship of capital projects so that they continue meeting or exceeding accessibility standards is an 

important element of maintaining an accessible environment. 

Metro also recommends that parks and natural areas designed for public enjoyment meet the federal 

Guidelines for Outdoor Developed Areas. Applying this detailed design guidance, mandatory for federal 

land agencies and projects that receive federal funding, is considered best practice for local jurisdictions 

and others. In the years to come, it is anticipated that these guidelines will become requirements for 

Metro and local jurisdictions as well.  

In addition, community members living with a disability have asked Metro to provide better information 

about the accessibility of its sites. This includes information the agency provides online to help visitors 

plan their experience, as well as information available onsite upon arrival. Providing information that 

empowers individuals to make their own determination of what is accessible for themselves is the key. 

Models, examples and resources exist. Access Recreation, a local community-based project, has 

developed Guidelines for Providing Trail Information for People with Disabilities and has demonstrated 

their application through the Access Trails Project.  

Various resources exist to support implementation of accessible parks, trails and natural areas projects. 

Metro can provide resources, initial scoping assistance and high-level project consultation on a project-

by-project basis. 

 

 PROVIDE CULTURALLY RESPONSIVE PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS AS IDENTIFIED BY GREATER 
PORTLAND’S INDIGENOUS COMMUNITY AND/OR COMMUNITIES OF COLOR. 

New or upgraded capital projects must be planned and developed with knowledge and sensitivity, in 

consultation with historically marginalized communities. Cultural representation in developed parks and 

natural areas should be shaped by representative members of the cultural community in focus. 

16 - 23



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 23 - 

Interpretive features and information about the improvements should be presented in the languages of 

the people of that culture and community members should see themselves accurately reflected in the 

stories told through park design and interpretation. Projects should support park use preferences 

expressed by Black, Indigenous and communities of color so that cultural practices can be observed and 

shared in a variety of safe and welcoming settings. Park providers are encouraged to explore 

opportunities to collaborate with federally- and state-recognized Tribes with historic ties to the region 

as well as local Indigenous communities to identify land for protection that can support native culturally 

significant plants and animals. 

 

 IMPROVE THE VISITOR EXPERIENCE BY INVESTING IN NEW OR EXISTING PARK AMENITIES. 

Park amenities are the elements of park construction that accommodate visitor activities and enrich the 

visitor experience. They may include, but are not limited to, benches, picnic tables, shelters, educational 

or interpretive displays, bike racks, lighting, restrooms, trails, trailheads, boat docs, boardwalks and 

playgrounds. To qualify for local share funding, new or upgraded amenities must help connect people to 

nature. They must meet universal design principles. They should be low-impact and enhance, not harm, 

water quality, fish and wildlife habitat or the ability of park users to connect with nature. Amenities 

should be identified and designed in consultation with stakeholders, specifically communities of color 

and people with disabilities. The intent is to create a variety of nature experiences close to home where 

communities, especially historically marginalized communities, are able to safely and confidently 

connect with nature in their desired way and they should support pursuit of mental, spiritual and 

physical health and cultural healing. 

 

 IMPROVE ACCESS TO NATURE FOR LOCAL COMMUNITIES IDENTIFIED AS “NATURE-
DEFICIENT.” 

Metro is developing greater definition of nature deficiency and direction on addressing it for all six bond 

programs and will share the results of that work when it becomes available. 

 

 IMPROVE THE EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE OF 
DEVELOPED PARKS. 

Taking care of what we already have starts with design and choosing materials, surfaces, placement and 

other features for durability and efficiency of maintenance. Local share capital projects should be 

thoughtfully designed to lower resource use and contribute financial savings over each project’s lifespan. 

This honors the investments made by our community. Toward this end, Metro recommends that local 

partner maintenance and operations staff are consulted during project selection, design and 

development processes. Efficient and effective operations and maintenance not only ensure cost savings 

but also contribute to better working conditions for park staff and increased worker satisfaction. Note 

that costs for operations and maintenance on their own are not considered “capital costs” and therefore 

not eligible for bond funding. 

 

 PROVIDE NEW OR EXPANDED ACCESS TO NATURE, PARTICULARLY IN PROXIMITY TO 
NEIGHBORHOODS, CENTERS, CORRIDORS OR TRANSIT. 

Connecting people to nature is a primary goal of the bond measure and park providers should consider 

16 - 24



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 24 - 

this as an element of projects funded by the local share program. To address nature deficiency in 

historically marginalized communities, opportunities for discovery and ease of access are key elements. 

People should be able to experience nature close to home, accessed through a variety of modes of 

transportation. To the extent possible, parks and natural areas should be located in areas where they are 

most needed and where they will enhance community life. This will require coordination and 

collaborative partnerships with urban planners and community representatives to create a more holistic 

approach to removing barriers to access.  

 

 IMPROVE ACCESS TO WATER WITH SCENIC AND/OR RECREATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES. 
Water is not only a primary human need but also a significant element of many cultural and spiritual 
practices. During development of the bond, stakeholders, in particular members of the metro-area 
Indigenous community, expressed a desire to experience a closer connection to water. Park providers 
should consider investing local share funds in new or upgraded capital infrastructure that honors the 
broader community’s stated desire. This opens opportunities to consult with historically marginalized 
communities on ways to recognize water’s cultural and spiritual significance and healing powers. 
Creating stronger connections to water also offers opportunities for communities to bolster appreciation 
of the importance of keeping water clean and abundant and the importance of water to wildlife while 
also addressing community safety. 
 

 ACQUIRE LAND THAT COULD PROVIDE FUTURE ACCESS TO NATURE FOR PEOPLE, SCENIC 
VIEWS, AND COMMUNITY GATHERING SPACES. 

Land acquisition is an excellent use of local share funds. Park providers should give thought to protecting 

special places like river and stream banks, headwaters, floodplains, wetlands, oak and prairie habitat, 

forests, and culturally significant sites as they consider climate resilience and connecting people to 

nature. Authentic engagement with community to identify priorities will be critical, especially in areas 

with populations of historically marginalized people who lack parks or natural areas in proximity to 

their neighborhoods or that can be easily accessed by transit. Land purchased for trail routes and 

resource protections, such as riparian zones, can also serve as wildlife corridors, greatly expanding 

habitat and supporting wildlife movement in a changing climate. Partnership or collaboration with 

Indigenous communities and Tribal governments is encouraged and can lead to protection of key 

sensitive or culturally significant sites and plant communities.  

 

 PROTECT AND IMPROVE WATER QUALITY AND QUANTITY, WITH AN EMPHASIS ON 
HEADWATERS, WETLANDS, FLOODPLAINS, RIPARIAN AREAS. 

Park providers should consider using local share funds to purchase and restore land that protects 

headwaters, river and stream riparian areas, water bodies, wetlands and confluences. This can help keep 

these critical features of a healthy watershed ecologically intact and functioning in order to provide 

habitat, ecological services and climate resilience such as recharging groundwater and flood control. This 

also opens opportunities to connect people with nature via the waters of their communities–a desire 

expressed by stakeholders when developing this bond measure.   

 
  

16 - 25



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 25 - 

 

 

8 RESPONSIBILITIES OF METRO AND PARK PROVIDERS 

The local share program is guided by regional goals and oversight by Metro and implemented by local 

park providers. Metro and the city, county and district park providers must work together to ensure that 

bond-driven actions and investments advance desired regional outcomes that honor the commitments 

made to the region’s voters. 

 METRO  

The Metro Council provides policy direction for the local share program through approval of an IGA 

template and monitoring of program implementation and outcomes, with input from the Community 

Oversight Committee described in Section 8.2 below. 

 

The Metro Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) will direct Metro’s Parks and Nature staff to administer the 

local share program and work in partnership with local park provider staff to identify, screen, and 

support alignment of projects for local share funding. Metro staff will process and approve requests for 

release of local share allocations to local providers and will provide technical support, to be further 

described in an IGA.  

 COMMUNITY OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 

An independent community advisory committee, initially appointed by the Metro Council in March of 

2021, will help assure the implementation of all six bond programs over the duration of the bond in 

accordance with promises made to voters. Among other responsibilities, this community oversight 

committee will provide an independent, outside review of implementation of the local share program, 

including efforts to meet the meaningful stakeholder engagement, racial equity and climate resiliency 

criteria and outcomes described in the bond. Their role will be to review the previous year’s 

accomplishments and make recommendations for programmatic improvements rather than to weigh in 

on approval of park providers’ projects. 

 PARK PROVIDERS 

The local share program provides funding to the 27 cities, counties and park districts identified in the 

bond measure as park providers. To be eligible to receive Metro bond measure funds, park providers 

must: 

A. Identify qualifying projects that meet local share program criteria, that have been prioritized 

and shaped through meaningful stakeholder engagement and include a strategy for advancing 

racial equity. 

B. Integrate features into local share projects that help make the recipient’s community or area of 

the region more resilient to effects of climate change;  

C. Design projects to meet at least one of the local share project-specific criteria; and 

D. Comply with all terms of an IGA with Metro obligating the local park provider to, among other 

things, provide funding reports, project updates, contract utilization figures and generally 

PART 3: RESPONSIBILITIES, PROJECT PROPOSALS AND FUNDING         

16 - 26



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 26 - 

comply with the bond measure, this local share handbook and applicable law. 

Park providers are responsible for stakeholder engagement, project management, leveraging additional 

funds and for ownership, operations, management and liability responsibilities for completed projects. 

 

9 DISTRIBUTION OF FUNDS  

 ALLOCATION OF LOCAL SHARE FUNDS 

Allocation of local share funds was defined in the bond measure based on population within each 

provider’s boundary. The population numbers were generated in December 2018 by the Metro Research 

Center using data from the American Community Survey along with methodology they developed for 

estimating population for custom, non-census geographies.  

The local share allocation uses a two-step formula. The first step allocates the total local share amount to 

the three metro-area counties based on assessed value. Clackamas =21.85%; Multnomah = 42.76%; 

Washington = 35.39%. The second step allocates the amounts within the counties to park providers 

based on population using the latest population estimates from Portland State University as well as 

analysis for overlapping jurisdictions such as park districts. The formula also sets a base 

allocation ($200k) for cities in the bottom quartile in population. 

These funds are available to each of the identified park providers for projects deemed by Metro to meet 

the local share criteria. Program funds will be committed and disbursed on a project-by-project basis 

following execution of IGAs. Distribution of bond funds will be conditioned on a park providers’ ongoing 

demonstration of progress as presented through regular staff-to-staff conferences, quarterly updates and 

an annual financial report and progress summary as stipulated in each IGA (see Section 10).  

Funds from the bond measure should not be used to replace local funding. There is not a requirement 

that recipients demonstrate an explicit percentage match, however park providers must provide 

information on how the local share bond funds were leveraged to obtain non-bond funds or a rationale 

for why leveraging additional funding was not possible. Recipients must demonstrate a good faith effort 

to draw in additional sources of funding.  

The bond funds are available to each park provider for 10 years from the date an IGA is signed. Metro 

Council at its discretion may allow one additional two-year extension.  

 ELIGIBLE CAPITAL COSTS 

The local share program is funded using tax-exempt general obligation bond proceeds.  As such, the bond 

funds may only be used to pay for expenditures that constitute qualified capital costs, consistent with the 

Oregon Constitution and federal tax law.   Capital costs are costs that are considered capital under 

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and may include the costs of capital construction, 

capital improvements and land acquisition. Capital costs do not include costs of routine maintenance, 

supplies or general operating expenses. Each park provider must, based on its own financial and 

accounting policies, ensure that bond funds received are only used to pay for capital costs 

 10% CAP ON STAFF, OVERHEAD, AND INDIRECT PROJECT COSTS 

Local share bond funds may not be used to pay for staff, overhead, and indirect project costs that exceed 

10% of the cost of any project.  A comprehensive list of costs subject to the 10% cap is being compiled by 

16 - 27



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 27 - 

Metro and will be provided to each local park provider. The 10% cap will be applied on a project-by-

project basis and each park provider will be responsible for tracking and accounting for its costs to 

ensure compliance with the 10% cap. 

 BUDGETING 

Each park provider will be required to submit a project budget with each project proposal. The project 

budget submitted must outline the total project cost summarized by major spending category and must 

include whether each line is a direct project cost or an administrative capital cost. The park provider 

should prepare project scopes and budgets with care, applying conservative estimates. A percentage of 

project budget must be set aside as contingency to cover unforeseen expenses. The amount of 

contingency should be based on each park provider’s standard project management practices. It is 

anticipated that project budgets will be best estimates and construction costs will likely fluctuate over 

the life of each IGA. If projects are completed under budget, park providers may apply the savings to 

other local share projects. If projects are completed over budget, Metro does not have additional funds to 

cover added expenses or project budget overages, so the park providers will be required to cover the 

overage. Alternatively, it would be permissible for a park provider to apply remaining local share 

allocation (i.e., unused funds from other projects not yet underway) to the overage, which would lower 

available funds for subsequent projects. Otherwise, budget overages are the responsibility of the park 

provider.  

 

10 PROJECT PROPOSAL AND APPROVAL  

 STEPS FROM PROJECT SUBMITTAL TO APPROVAL 

A. Initial contact by park provider with Metro staff; 

B. Meeting(s) between park provider and Metro staff to consider potential projects. 

C. Metro staff and park provider visit project sites as appropriate and explore project 
options.  

D. Park provider fulfills any unmet requirements to meet bond criteria, as determined 

in consultation with Metro staff. 

E. Park provider fine tunes proposed projects in collaboration with Metro staff.  

F. Park provider and Metro staff reach preliminary agreement on a single proposed 

project or portfolio of proposed projects. 

G. Metro works with park provider to establish equity in contracting goals. 

H. Park provider completes and sends submittal package (see Section 10.2). 

I. Metro staff reviews and approves submittal package or requires adjustments; 

J. Metro staff works with park provider to establish aspirational goals in support of 
Construction Career Pathways Regional Framework. 

K. Park provider seeks and receives approval for single proposed projects or project 
portfolio from park provider’s governing body at a public meeting. The setting is at 
the discretion of each park provider but should be based on its standard process 
for approval of investments in park projects. 

16 - 28



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 28 - 

L. Metro and each park provider negotiate an IGA identifying an approved list of local 
share projects stipulating the conditions under which bond funds will be released.  

M. Park provider’s governing body and Metro approve IGA. 

 

 PROJECT SUBMITTAL PACKAGE 

Prior to execution of the local share IGA, a park provider must submit a completed package that 

describes how their project or portfolio of projects meets bond criteria. The submittal package must 

include the following components: 

A. Description of each project, its intent and its benefit to the community.  

B. Each project location, site or facility attributes, where appropriate. 

C. Stabilization plan for land acquisitions, as appropriate. 

D. Each project scope of work and timeline. 

E. Each project budget including contingency, funding breakdown between local share funds and 

any other funding sources acquired.  

F. Each project’s budget narrative, describing the budget, explaining how local share funding is 

being used and how it is leveraging other sources. If not leveraging, explain why.  

G. Description of how the projects were selected and prioritized through meaningful community 

engagement, specifically with historically marginalized communities. If engagement plan was 

developed, include. 

H. Description of how continued engagement will influence project planning, implementation and 

impacts.  

I. Description of how each project will meet equity in contracting criteria including, where 

appropriate, park provider’s current policies on racial equity in contracting and workforce 

diversity. Include agency-wide or project-specific aspirational goals for contracting with 

COBID-certified firms. Describe efforts made to reduce barriers. Identify any existing 

expectations for supporting construction career pathways (Metro will work directly with each 

park provider to confirm goals). 

J. Description of how each project will meet local share criteria in the bond measure and further 

described in this handbook 

K. Description of how park provider will track, measure and evaluate project’s success at meeting 

bond criteria (Metro will provide guidance; see Section 12). 

Metro will provide a submittal package form, including self-assessments and templates for use by park 

providers. If provider is prepared to proceed with some projects but does not have all projects identified 

initially, the IGA will be amended at a later date to include additional approved projects, which will be 

approved in the same manner set forth in this handbook.   

 

 

16 - 29



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 29 - 

 RELEASE OF FUNDS 

Once a project or group of projects gains Metro staff approval and a local share IGA is executed by the 

parties, bond funds will be released to the park provider on a project-by-project basis in accordance with 

the terms of the IGA.  

Metro anticipates release of funds may be done in stages upon completion of benchmarks as set forth 

below. Each IGA will fully address funding benchmarks and reporting requirements which are currently 

expected to reflect those set forth below.  

  In the case of real property acquisition, release of funds may be made at the time of expenditure, 

directly to the seller through an escrow account. Out-of-pocket eligible capital costs will be 

reimbursed.  

 Metro may, at its discretion, advance a portion of the projected budget (“Initial Advance”) for 

each approved project that is ready to commence. Park providers must provide proof of 

utilization of the Initial Advance before requesting additional reimbursement payments from 

the local share program. Costs eligible for reimbursement must have been incurred after 

Metro Council’s approval of the first bond sale on March 19, 2020. 

 After using the Initial Advance, park providers will seek reimbursement for additional costs 

incurred in arrears. In order to seek reimbursement from Metro, park providers will be 

required to submit an invoice and an itemized statement of expenses for each project. 

Invoices will be paid on a net 30 basis. Park providers may seek reimbursement as 

frequently as once per quarter. At a minimum, park providers must submit a reimbursement 

request at least once annually for costs incurred through June 30. Those annual 

reimbursement requests must be received prior to July 15 each year for Metro to account for 

all funds it is obligated to pay in that fiscal year. Park providers who cannot meet this 

deadline must provide their best estimate by July 15 and follow up with a report of actual 

expenses as soon as possible thereafter. 

 Each park provider must submit an annual progress report on July 15 each year which details the 

progress, successes and challenges of each approved project and the ways it has met the 

principles and goals outlined above and in their IGA. Metro local share staff will provide guidance 

on what should be included in progress reports, consult with park provider throughout the year 

and will make site visits as appropriate.  

  Final payment will be released at the close of each project following receipt and formal 

acceptance of project close-out report by Metro staff. Metro staff and elected officials will be 

provided opportunity to attend opening ceremonies for completed facilities and the park 

provider will acknowledge Metro’s contribution to the completed projects through 

appropriate signage at project site.  

  When 12 years have elapsed from the execution of an IGA, the Metro Council will reallocate 

unspent and unobligated funds from this local share program area to another bond program 

area(s), up to any maximum program funding amounts (See Bond Measure Exhibit C in 

Section 13–Additional Resources).   
 

 

16 - 30



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 30 - 

 

11 TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE 

 STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

Metro will share resources and consult with park providers on methods and techniques for meaningful 

engagement, specifically those methods Metro has found effective in engaging with Black and Indigenous 

communities and communities of color. Metro anticipates convening partners across the region 

periodically to share experiences and successes and collectively improve practices. 

 EQUITY IN CONTRACTING 

Metro will consult with park providers to establish aspirational goals for equity in contracting, 

workforce diversity and support for construction career pathways. This will be done for approved 

projects in advance of development of IGAs. Metro will be available for ongoing support as projects 

progress.  

 LAND ACQUISITION 

Metro’s land acquisition experts value opportunities for partnering and will make themselves available 

as feasible to consult with park providers on acquisition efforts. Metro may provide technical assistance 

regarding real estate negotiation and related due diligence services for any approved project using local 

share funds that involves real property acquisition. Metro and the local park provider must agree to 

terms for this assistance in a separate land acquisition services IGA and services will be subject to the 

availability of Metro staff and resources.  

 LAND STABILIZATION AND HABITAT ENHANCEMENT 

In development of the regional natural areas system, Metro staff have accumulated considerable 

experience in land stabilization and habitat enhancement. They appreciate opportunities to consider 

park providers’ proposed projects and consult on approaches and techniques. They offer this assistance 

on a limited basis, subject to the availability of Metro staff and resources.  

 DEMOGRAPHIC AND PARK USAGE GEOSPACIAL DATA 

Metro staff can provide guidance on collecting park and trail usage data. Metro will assist with data 

support as feasible and provide guidance, subject to the availability of Metro staff and resources. (See 

links to the Oregon Parkland Map application and Intertwine annual trail count program in Section 13–

Additional Resources.) 

 

12 MONITORING AND DATA TRACKING  

 TRACKING OUTCOMES  

Metro is defining expectations and developing processes for tracking outcomes for all six bond programs 

and will share the results of that work when it becomes available. 

 REPORTING IMPACTS 

Metro is defining expectations and developing processes for reporting impacts for all six bond programs 

and will share the results of that work when it becomes available. 

16 - 31



2019 Parks and Nature Bond Local Share Handbook 

 

 

 

March 2021 

 

 

- 31 - 

 

 

13 ADDITIONAL RESOURCES  

Below you will find a list of additional resources park providers may wish to consult as they identify and 

prioritize projects and otherwise meet the bond measure criteria. Metro will add to this list as additional 

resources become available. 

 

Bond measure Exhibit A (Metro’s 2019 Bond Measure to Protect and Connect Nature and People)  

Bond measure Exhibit C (Support Local Projects: “Local Share” Guidelines) - included in link above 

Strategic Plan to Advance Racial Equity, Diversity and Inclusion 

2019 Parks and Nature Bond Measure Engagement Summary   

IAPP Public Participation Spectrum  

Spectrum of Community Engagement to Ownership  

Oregon Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP)  

The Oregon Parkland Map application  

Intertwine annual trail count program           

Construction Careers Pathways Regional Framework    

 

 

14 AMENDMENTS TO HANDBOOK 

This handbook may be revised by Metro as the local share program is further developed and refined.  

This handbook is not a contract and is not binding upon Metro or any park provider. The terms of this 

handbook are provided for informational purposes and intended to provide general guidance about the 

implementation of the local share program, however neither Metro nor any park provider will be 

obligated in any manner until an IGA has been executed and delivered. This handbook may not serve as 

the basis of any claim, including any claim of contract, reliance, estoppel or breach of good faith.   

 

16 - 32



16 - 33



16 - 34



16 - 35



16 - 36



16 - 37



16 - 38



16 - 39



16 - 40



16 - 41



16 - 42



17



17 - 1



17 - 2



 
Friends of Gladstone Nature Park Metro Grant Proposal 
All-Inclusive Bird Viewing Blind 
 
 
SUMMARY 
An All-Inclusive Bird Viewing Blind near the new ADA loop trail will enable all visitors to 
experience the park’s 86 bird species. It will blend with exis�ng habitat, include features for the 
blind and visually-impaired, and contain bird-friendly na�ve plants iden�fied by indigenous 
names and uses. 
 
PROGRAM NARRATIVE 
 
This proposal is for an All-Inclusive Bird Viewing Blind in the Gladstone Nature Park that would 
enable people with all abili�es and cultures to enjoy a birding experience in the park. The All-
Inclusive Bird Viewing Blind will help them learn about the park’s wide variety of bird species. 
The blind will blend with exis�ng habitat and include features for blind and visually-impaired 
visitors and those with varying abili�es. FOGNAP will install bird-friendly na�ve plants near the 
blind that are iden�fied by indigenous names and uses.  
 
Portland Audubon members have iden�fied 86 species of birds in the Nature Park. The Park’s 
Oak Woodland and Savannah habitat contains many na�ve species that atrac�ve birds, rabbits, 
squirrels, cayotes, racoons, skunks, mice, tree frogs, and newts. Birders can use the so� trails, 
but those with mobility issues are reluctant to leave the paved path near the meadow in order 
to experience areas more populated by birds and other animals. 
 
The All-Inclusive Bird Viewing Blind will have a clearly-marked, paved trail leading to a shelter. 
The shelter will contain comfortable sea�ng and areas to observe birds and wildlife without 
disturbing them. Signage in mul�ple languages and formats will help visitors iden�fy birds and 
na�ve plants. The Blind will facilitate individuals and small groups and blend in with the trees 
and surrounding fauna.  
 
This project was mo�vated by two recent major improvements to the Nature Park. The City of 
Gladstone has installed a modern crosswalk on Webster Road (near the entrance to the park) 
that allows improved pedestrian traffic to the park. The city is construc�ng a new, paved, ADA 
accessible loop trail (in development with Oregon State Park funding) that allows visitors with 
mobility issues expanded access to the more thickly-wooded prime birding areas of the park. 
The All-Inclusive Bird Viewing Blind will be a quiet shelter atached to the loop trail with sea�ng 
where visitors can rest and watch for birds. 
 
The park is directly accessible to Somerset Lodge, a senior living community; Tukwilla Springs, a 
suppor�ve housing facility with over 50 percent Na�ve American residents; and Exceed 

17 - 3



 
Enterprises with clients who have diverse abili�es. The Webster Ridge Apartments adjacent to 
the park have ground floor units that are ADA compa�ble.  
 
Two local schools are within walking distance of the Nature Park. All of Gladstone’s schools 
access the park frequently.  
 
The master plan for the park, developed by the city in 2020, addresses but does not name a bird 
blind: 

The two overlooks offer more secluded spots for small gatherings or lookouts for birds 
watching for raptors flying overhead or other birds moving through the trees. The 
overlooks also contain low walls to allow seating in addition to the park benches that are 
fully ADA-compliant (with backrests and arms). The western overlook and its connecting 
path are wood chipped surfaced. The eastern overlook along the loop path is paved for 
universal access. (“Overlooks,” Page 7) 

 
Signage in mul�ple languages and formats will be included to facilitate access for non-na�ve 
speakers, and those with differing abili�es. Bird-friendly plants will be labeled with Na�ve 
American names and descrip�ons of how the plants are used in local na�ve cultures. FOGNAP is 
interested in adding features that support blind or vision-impaired visitors to fully use the park. 
Braille text could be embedded in all signage for that community. 
 
As more visitors discover the Nature Park, we are commited to providing all-access to the 
park’s habitat. People o�en visit the park with strollers, walkers and wheelchairs but are limited 
to the one paved trail on the north side. A bird enthusiast from the nearby senior community 
does birding at the Nature Park in a powered wheelchair but is limited to the paved trail. Exceed 
Enterprise clients stroll the paved path on nice days, but are not able to use the chipped trails 
because of stability issues. Residents with ADA compa�ble apartments on the first floor of the 
adjacent apartment complex would also appreciate addi�onal accessibly in the park. 
 
The All-Inclusive Bird Viewing Blind will benefit ci�zens with many abili�es to enjoy the variety 
of birds and animals in our unique and wonderful Nature Park. It will be a feature that is likely to 
atract birders and nature enthusiasts from the wider community. 
 

17 - 4



17 - 5





 
 

PRELIMINARY 
CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA 
PLANNING 
DOCUMENT 





Gladstone City Council Preliminary Agendas 
 
 

 February 27, 2024 
City Council Work Session 

5:30 PM 

 

 Unilateral Flushing Program 
 

PWD Caniparoli 

 Educational Session on System Development 
Charges 
 

PWD Caniparoli/CA Betz 

 March 12, 2024 
Regular City Council Meeting 

6:30 PM 

 

  Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports (February 

2024) 
 

 

 Introduction of new police officers, school resource 
officer 

PC Schmerber 

Report Clackamas Fire District 
 

 

Presentation Clackamas Community College Bond Proposal for 
November 2024 
 

 

Public 
Hearing 

Consider approval of an ordinance amending Chapter 
17.78 Home Occupations 
 

CR Bannick/PC Austin/EA Kratz 

 Consider awarding a contract for the Evergreen 
Stormline Replacement Project 
 

PWD Caniparoli 

 Consider awarding a contract to complete the Oak 
Lodge Water Services infrastructure projects per the 
IGA 
 

PWD Caniparoli  

 Adopt an ordinance to amend Gladstone Municipal 
Code and creating the Gladstone Youth Advisory 
Council  
 

CA Betz 

 Consider creating an ad-hoc committee to act as a 
Tree Board 

 
PWD Caniparoli 

 Consider approving a resolution establishing 
immunity from certain personal injury or property 
damage claims described in HB 2865 (Parks 
Immunity) 
 

CA Jacobs/CA Betz 

 Consider approving a resolution to update the 
Gladstone Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 

CA Betz/PWD Caniparoli/PC 
Schmerber 

Council Agenda Planning - 1



Gladstone City Council Preliminary Agendas 
 
 

 March 26, 2024 
City Council Work Session 

5:30 pm 

 

 Gladstone Urban Renewal District Preliminary 
Analysis of Possible Substantial Amendment (begin 
discussion on old library property) 
 

CA Betz/ EC Jory/Consultants 

 Gladstone Police Department Wellness Program 
 

PC Schmerber/Officer 
Gilliam/Chaplain Smith 

 Discussion on Temporary Signs Per GMC 17.52.100 CA Betz/PC Schmerber 
 

  
 

 

 April 9, 2024 
City Council Regular Meeting 

6:30 PM 

 

  Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports (March 

2024) 
 

 

Report Clackamas Fire District 
 

 

 Consider approving the contract to complete paving 
projects (includes Webster Road between Cason Rd 
to the city limits. 
 

PWD Caniparoli 

 Consider approval of a resolution observing Arbor 
Day (April 27, 2024 Gladstone Nature Park) 
 

PWD Caniparoli/CA Betz 

 Consider awarding a contract to complete the 
Unilateral Flushing Program 
 

PWD Caniparoli 

 Consider approval of an ordinance to amend 
Gladstone Municipal Code Chapter 2.12 City 
Administrator Duties, 3.16 Fire Department Fire 
Trust Fund, 2.32, 2.24 Public Library  

CR Bannick/CR Brucker 

 April 23, 2024 
City Council Work Session 

5:30 PM 

 

Joint meeting 
with Planning 

Commission 

Climate Friendly & Equitable Communities Related 
to Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 66-012-0012 
Parking Reform 

PC Austin/CA Betz 

  
 

 

Council Agenda Planning - 2



Gladstone City Council Preliminary Agendas 
 
 

  
 

 

 May 14, 2024 
City Council Regular Meeting 

6:30 pm 

 

  Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports (April 

2024) 
 

 

Report Clackamas Fire District  
 

 

 Policy guidance on the Climate Friendly & Equitable 
Communities related to Oregon Administrative Rule 
(OAR) 66-012-0012 

PC Austin/CA Betz 

 Appoint members to the Gladstone Youth Council 
 

City Council 

 Consider approving a contract for a new fiscal 
Auditor 
 

FC Brucker 

  
 

 

 May 28, 2024 
City Council Work Session 

5:30 pm 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 June 11, 2024 
City Council Regular Meeting 

6:30 pm 

 

  Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports (May 

2024) 
 

 

Report Clackamas Fire District 
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

   

Council Agenda Planning - 3



Gladstone City Council Preliminary Agendas 
 
 

 
 June 25, 2024 

City Council Work Session 
5:30 PM 

 

  
 

 

 July 9, 2024 
City Council Regular Meeting 

6:30 PM 

 

  Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports (June 

2024) 
 

 

Report Clackamas Fire District 
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 July 23, 2024 
City Council Work Session 

5:30 PM 

 

 Advisory Tree Board discussion on proposed Tree 
Ordinance 
 

PWD Caniparoli/CA Betz 

  
 

 

 August 13, 2024 
Regular City Council Meeting 

6:30 PM 

 

  Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports (July 

2024) 
 
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

Council Agenda Planning - 4



Gladstone City Council Preliminary Agendas 
 
 

 August 27, 2024 
City Council Work Session 

5:30 PM 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 September 10, 2024 
Regular City Council Meeting 

6:30 PM 

 

  Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports (August 

2024)  
 

 

 Consider approving an ordinance to rezone the 
Gladstone Nature Park property and the Meldrum Bar 
Park parcel to Open Space (The City needs to get 
legal descriptions of both properties) 
 

PC Austin 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 September 24, 2024 
City Council Work Session 

5:30 PM 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 
 

October 8, 2024 
City Council Regular Meeting 

6:30 PM 

 

  Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports 

(September 2024) 
 
 

 

Public 
Hearing 

Consider approval of Climate Friendly & Equitable 
Communities Policy on parking reform 
 

 

Council Agenda Planning - 5



Gladstone City Council Preliminary Agendas 
 
 

 Consider approval of an ordinance to approve a Tree 
Ordinance in the Gladstone Municipal Code 
 

PC Austin/CA Betz 

 October 22, 2024 
City Council Work Session 

5:30 PM 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 November 12, 2024 
City Council Regular Meeting 

6:30 PM 

 

  Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports (October 

2024) 
 

 

 Consider approval of the Capital Improvement Plan 
(CIP) 
 

PWD Caniparoli/CA Betz 

  
 

 

 November 26, 2024 
City Council Work Session 

5:30 PM 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 December 10, 2024 
City Council Regular Meeting 

6:30 PM 

 

  
 Financials 
 Legal costs on projects 
 Minutes from previous Council meetings 
 Department Head Monthly Reports 

(November 2024) 
 

 

 Jacque out of office 
 

 

  
 

 

   

Council Agenda Planning - 6



Gladstone City Council Preliminary Agendas 
 
 

 

 
 December 24, 2024 

City Council Work Session 
5:30 PM 

 

 Break for Holidays 
 

 

 To Be Set 
 

 

   
 Acceptance of Oregon Parks and Recreation 

Committee Grant for the paved loop trail at the 
Gladstone Nature Park 
 

CA Betz/PWD Caniparoli 

 Use of ARPA Funds 
 

 

 Consider approval of a contract with Clackamas 
County for Behavior Health Mobile Crisis position in 
the Gladstone Police Department 

PC Schmerber 

   

Council Agenda Planning - 7


